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Corporate Information (Continued)
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Corporate Information (Continued)
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Financial Highlights
MG E

Year 2021 Year 2020 Changes
—EC-F Z%C% BAtEs
RMB’000 RMB’000
NREFT NEEFT
Contracted sales amount BRHESR 27,925,100 21,944,100 27.3%
Revenue WA 4,968,682 7,438,948 -33.2%
Profit for the Year FRAE 38,526 1,111,245 -96.5%
Profit Attributable to Owners of the Company AARERFEAEEERT 73,132 827,874 -91.2%
The basic earnings per share (RMB Cents) BREARH (AEESD) 1.3 14.6
Total Cash’ BEe 7,895,697 5,911,701 33.6%
Total Assets nEE 57,240,309 41,819,964 36.9%
Total Equity (Net Assets) s (3EE) 11,930,084 11,413,937 4.5%
Debt to Asset Ratio BELE 79.2% 72.7%
Net Gearing Ratio? FEEF 76.3% 83.9%
Cash to Short-term Debt Ratio® REIEELS 2.18 1.62
Debt to Asset Ratio after Advance Recelvables’ IR E E & &% 66.9% 65.6%
Current Ratio (Times) TELEE (f2) 14 1.7

i Total Cash = cash and cash equivalents + restricted cash

= Net Gearing Ratio = (interest-bearing liabilities - total cash) / total equity
g Cash to short-term debt ratio = total cash/ short-term borrowings
& Debt to Asset Ratio after Advance Receivables = (total liabilities —

advance receivables) / (total assets — advance receivables)

! BRE=-[eRRTFEY+ZRFERE

2 FaEX- GREEERRS) /BT
g REWEL=ERE EHPER
4 FRBRRENEERER=- (BEE-TE

AR BEE - FAWERT)
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Chairman’s Statement
FEHRS

Shi Zhongan, Chairman
EE HaHE

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of Zhong An Group Limited (‘Zhong An” or the “Company”) and
its subsidiaries (together the “Group”), | am pleased to present the annual
results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2021 (“2021”).

REVIEW OF RESULTS

The audited consolidated revenue in 2021 was RMB4,968.7 million,
representing a decrease of approximately 33.2% from that of 2020. The
gross profit in 2021 was RMB1,476 million, representing a decrease of
approximately 34.2% from that of 2020. The profit attributable to owners
of the parent company in 2021 was about RMB73 million, representing a
decrease of approximately 91% from that of 2020. The basic earnings per
share was RMB1.3 cents (2020: RMB14.6 cents). The board (the “Board”)
of directors of the Company did not proposed to declare a final dividend for
the year 2021 (2020: Nil).

Zhong An Group Limited 2021 Annual Report
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Chairman’s Statement (Continued)

MARKET AND BUSINESS REVIEW

In 2021, the global economy gradually recovered from the tremendous
impact of the COVID-19 pandemic. Under strong leadership of the central
government, China not only took the lead in controlling the spread of
the pandemic, but also took the lead in economic recovery, maintaining
the trend of recovery over the past one year, achieving two goals of
higher growth and lower inflation, with good momentum in economic
development. With the gradual implementation of macro-control policies
such as the three red lines and centralized land supply, the model of high
leverage, high turnover and high risk in the real estate market began to
adjust and change, as the industry has shifted gears in cyclical fluctuations.
Local governments are continuously guided by the principle of “housing is
for accommodation, not for speculation” and the goal of “stabilizing land
prices, housing prices and expectations”, implement policies for different
cities, and strive to promote a virtuous circle and steady and healthy
development of the real estate industry.

The year of 2021 was a year of steady development for Zhong An. Despite
the turbulent market conditions and frequent occurrence of “black swans”,
Zhong An has always adhered to the core business philosophy of “stability”
and moved forward steadily. Under the circumstance that the market
environment is constantly changing, everyone in the Group is united to
overcome the obstacles and difficulties. We also managed to keep pace
with the times, actively embrace changes, achieve self-transformation, and
successfully make a record high for the contracted sales. While maintaining
economies of scale, the Group also enhanced the service quality in all
aspects, and strived for high-quality development.

Wenzhou Future City
BINER R E

ERHRE ()
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Chairman’s Statement (Continued)

ERHRSE ()

In the past year, the Group had a total of 49 projects on sale in several
cities and regions within the Yangtze River Delta Region, achieving
a rapid growth in contracted sales for three consecutive years while
fulfilling the goal of cash collection ahead the schedule. With the excellent
quality of Hangzhou workmanship, several projects, including the low-
density residential Guyue Mansion in Shaoxing, Zhejiang province, the
signature project I0C Chaoyue in Hangzhou, Zhejiang province, and
Lotus Mansion, Cloud Land G&7I &£ &F), have won a number of regional
honors. For the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group recorded
contracted sales of approximately RMB27.925 billion, representing an
increase of approximately 27.3% as compared with the sales of 2020. The
contracted sales area was approximately 1,175,362 sqg.m., representing
an increase of approximately 6.9% as compared with that of 2020, and
contracted average selling price was approximately RMB23,759 per sg.m.,
representing an increase of approximately 19.0% from the previous year.

In terms of finance, the Group continued to maintain the three red lines
in “green lights”, was re-elected the “Top 10 Financial Stability for Listed
Real Estate Companies in Hong Kong” with solid financial data, and was
awarded the honorary title of “Top 10 Investment Value for Listed Real
Estate Companies in Hong Kong” with strong development potential. In the
future, Zhong An will continue to insist on financial stability as a prerequisite
for rapid corporate development and take every step forward steadily and
well.

In terms of land bank, the Group has continued the market cultivation
strategy in the Yangtze River Delta region with a precise deployment and
insist on a land acquisition strategy with urban development value as the
core, which ensures the stable development of the Group. In the past
year, the Group has expanded the high quality land resources through
various means such as bidding and auction, mergers and acquisitions,
and industry-driven acquisition. A total of 12 land transactions were made
in the cities of Hangzhou, Ningbo, Wenzhou, Quzhou, Shaoxing, Jinhua in
Zhejiang province, and Xiangtan city in Hunan province, with a total gross
floor area of 1.93 million sg.m. and an expanded value of approximately
RMB28.4 billion. To date, the Group has acquired 3 land parcels for “future
communities” in Zhejiang Province and has become a pioneer in the
construction and operation of “future communities” in Zhejiang Province.
The Group will combine Zhong An’s features and advantages to build
a cozy and futuristic “new city” with a sense of belonging through the
creation of different living scenes in “future communities”.

Zhong An Group Limited 2021 Annual Report
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Chairman’s Statement (Continued)

In the future, the Group will continue to extensively develop in the economic
region of the Yangtze River Delta and pursue a prudent strategy of land
acquisition to optimize its reserve structure by acquiring high-quality and
lower-cost land that meets market demand in a timely manner while
maintaining a sound financial position. As of December 31, 2021, the total
gross floor area of the land bank of the Group was approximately 10.48
million sg.m., mainly located in several cities and regions in the Yangtze
River Delta, Kunming, Yunnan province, and Qingdao, Shandong province,
which is expected to support the development for the next five years at an
average cost of approximately RMB3,110 per sg.m..

In the past year, the Group has adhered to its unswerving motto of “Enjoy a
Better Life” (FtEEIF 4 7E) and enhanced the depth and density of the full
cycle service. From the birth of the children’s community “Creation Camp”,
the implementation of the “2021 New Home Program” (20215 B 5t
£1), to the release of the online “Zhong An Group Public Sharing Club” (&
ZEBRZEE) app, we have connected the four dimensions of community,
rights, service and experience, from offline to the cloud, to meet the full
range of needs of the Zhong An family from home ownership services to
community daily life. Through a series of interactive upgrades, the content
of living services will cover every corner of the community. In the steps of
creation and deep cultivation, the Group has delivered more than 5,000
housing units in different cities, with a centralized delivery rate of over 90%.
In 2022, the Group will further deepen the operation and service process of
the “Full-lifecycle System” and continuously polish and improve its product
and service content to create a better life for more urban homeowners.
Meanwhile, we will combine the branding capabilities of Zhong An to
bring our diversified industries closer to life and to perpetuate the spirit of
Hangzhou workmanship.

Besides commitment into the development of residential projects, a
subsidiary of the Company, China New City Commercial Development
Limited (“CNC”, together with its subsidiaries, the “CNC Group”), that is
listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, also carry forwards
the development of commercial, investment properties and hotel business
to create value-generating urban complexes with its professional team. In
the past year, CNC actively integrated its internal and external resources,
expanded business in various industries, started strategic cooperation
with various well-known enterprises, accelerated the promotion of urban
renewal, and empowered regional economic and social development with
high quality. Not only did we enhance our hotel management, commercial
operation and other major businesses, we also maintained our steady
development in the business of film and television, education, cultural
tourism and others.

ERHRE ()
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Chairman’s Statement (Continued)

ERHRSE ()

In respect of commercial operation, Highlong Plaza was officially renamed
as Xiaoshan Zhong An Plaza and will start afresh with a new positioning,
a new image, a new logo and a new business model, actively exploring
immersive and experiential shopping centers to suit the habits and needs
of local consumers. Meanwhile, the Group strives to open up the “Future
Community Integrated Operation” segment and actively builds the brand
of “Life for All"” (RZE45E), which will open up a new era of life in the
commercial segment.

In respect of hotel operations, the management actively promoted
and achieved the goals of business collectivization and management
standardization. The Group actively cultivated internal strength during
the epidemic, and comprehensively improved the “ingenuity quality” and
“artisan spirit” of the hotels through vocational skills competitions and won
a number of industry awards.

In terms of property management, Zhong An Intelligent Living Service
Limited (“Zhong An Intelligent Living”) has further expanded the operation
scale, and achieved rapid growth in terms of revenue, profit, expansion
projects and contracted area under management as compared with the
same period last year. In respect of the development of community value-
added business, the operation scale and category of existing community
retail business were further expanded. With the grand opening of the
flagship rental and sales centre (FA& #.0y) during the year, we entered
the new track for rental and sales of community property at a low cost;
upgraded and optimized the application of intelligent terminal and
management platforms for projects under management, such as video
intercom, access gate and robot application, which have improved the
service capabilities and customer experience on one hand and laid a
solid foundation for cost reduction on the other. Adhering to the service
philosophy of “Lifelong Happiness and Companion by Zhong An”, Zhong
An Intelligent Living has added various new projects during the year
and continued to be honored as one of the “Top 100 Property Service
Enterprises in China” in 2021.

Zhong An Group Limited 2021 Annual Report
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Chairman’s Statement (Continued)

OUTLOOK AND DEVELOPMENT STRATEGY

Looking forward to the year 2022, despite the tremendous pressure from
the rebound of the COVID-19 pandemic and changes in the domestic
and foreign economic environment, China’s ability to prevent and control
the pandemic is strong, and the fundamentals of a resilient economy with
sufficient potential for long-term improvement remain unchanged, and the
economy will continue to recover steadily. Investments in fixed assets will
remain the “ballast” for the stable operation of the economy. The real estate
market, as one of the pillar industries of the whole society, will play an
important role in the stable development of the economy. With the gradual
improvement of the financing, credit and other monetary policies of the real
estate market, and the gradual establishment of a long-term mechanism,
the real estate market will gradually enter a virtuous cycle and maintain
healthy development.

As one of the most economically active, open and innovative regions
in China, the Yangtze River Delta region has been gaining influence
and momentum on China’s economy. The hosting of the 2022 Asian
Games in Hangzhou will be conducive to the overall economic and social
development of Hangzhou and drive the economic development of other
cities in Zhejiang Province, thus promoting the realization of common
prosperity in Zhejiang Province. The Group will continue to adhere to the
strategic layout of “rooting in Zhejiang and deeply cultivating in the Yangtze
River Delta” and make full use of its brand advantages for continuous
development and progress. Meanwhile, the Group will continuously
adhere to the core concept of “Enjoying a Better Life”, maintain stable
development, break through market restrictions, and strive to build a
sustainable business development path of creating a better life for the
society and realizing asset appreciation for customers. The Group will also
actively comply with the regulatory rules including the “three red lines”
imposed by the central government to maintain the strategic and financial
stability.

Chaoyue Mansion
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Chairman’s Statement (Continued)

ERHRSE ()

Nan Hu Ming Yue
mHEEA

Twenty-four years of hard work have honed Zhong An’s excellent team
and created its unique values. Zhong An has been operating steadily
and developing healthily without touching the “three red lines”. The
management team has the courage to take responsibility, dare to be the
first, and be innovative and proactive. In the future, the Group will continue
to steadfastly uphold the strategic policy of healthy development and
steady progress, and focus on the people-oriented approach as a core. On
one hand, we will continue to develop steadily to focus on the bright future
and create a better future with the cities. On the other hand, we will create
a harmonious working environment, a stable career prospect and a happy
life in Zhong An for our employees.

The Group will continue to take innovative ideas as its advantages, rely on
financial stability, take diversified development as its orientation, and take
giving back to the society as its belief. It will open up new opportunities in
the changing situation, maintain high-quality development, and continue
to provide customers with better products and services, with outstanding
achievements to create higher value for the city. In 2022, Zhong An will stay
united and go all out to take the opportunities and meet the challenges of
the industry, shoulder new responsibilities and missions, and continue to
write a brilliant chapter in the new year.

Zhong An Group Limited 2021 Annual Report
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Chairman’s Statement (Continued)

ERHRE ()

FINAL DIVIDEND KEARR R

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the EEEFEBREZERPRE (20202
year (Dividend for 2020: Nil). FRE ) o
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS Bt

On behalf of the Board, | would like to express my sincere gratitude to the BB AANEARESGHRINELSE
support and trust of our shareholders and business partners as well as the BHENRNZFNEZAEE UKEEBET

dedicated efforts of all our employees. FEE W TIERUR OGS !
Shi Zhongan hfish %

Chairman FE

The People’s Republic of China, 24 March 2022 FrEE A REAE 202243824 H
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEEREDSR

RESULTS

The audited consolidated revenue of the Group for 2021 was RMB4,968.7
million, representing a decrease of about 33.2% from that of 2020. The
gross profit for 2021 was RMB1,476.1 million, representing a decrease of
about 34.2% from that of 2020. The profit attributable to owners of the
parent for 2021 was about RMB73.1 million, and the profit attributable to
owners of the parent for 2020 was about RMB827.9 million. The basic
earnings per share was RMB1.3 cents (2020: RMB14.6 cents).

INDUSTRY REVIEW

According to the National Bureau of Statistics of the PRC, in 2021, the
gross domestic product (“GDP”) of China amounted to RMB114,367
billion, representing an increase of 8.1% as compared with that of the
previous year, based on comparable prices. In the face of complex
domestic and international situations and various risks and challenges,
China has maintained a leading position globally in epidemic control and
economic development, and the national economy has operated within
a reasonable range. The 14th Five-Year Plan has got off to a good start.
Steps have been taken to build a new development pattern, and as a
result, new achievements in terms of high-quality development have been
made.

In 2021, the nationwide investment in property development amounted
to RMB14,760.2 billion, representing a growth of 4.4% as compared
with that of last year. Among which, residential investment amounted to
RMB11,117.3 billion, representing a growth of 6.4%. In 2021, the gross
floor area (“GFA”) of commodity properties sold was 1,794.33 million
sg.m., representing a growth of 1.9% as compared with that of last year.
Among which, the growth of GFA of residential properties sold was 1.1%,
while the growth of GFA of office buildings sold was 1.2%, and the decline
of GFA of commercial business properties sold was 2.6%. The sales of
commodity properties amounted to RMB18,193.0 billion, representing a
growth of 4.8%. Among which, the growth of sales of residential properties
was 5.3%, while the decline of sales of office buildings and commercial
business properties were 6.9% and 2.0% respectively.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

In 2021, the land area purchased by property development enterprises
was 215.90 million sg.m., representing a decline of 15.5% as compared
with that of last year; the premium of the land transactions amounted to
RMB1,775.6 billion, representing a growth of 2.8% as compared with
that of last year. The area under construction by property development
enterprises was 9,753.87 million sg.m., representing a growth of 5.2% as
compared with that of last year. Among which, the area under construction
for residential properties was 6,903.19 million sg.m., representing a growth
of 5.3%. The area of newly commenced properties was 1,988.95 million
sg.m., representing a decline of 11.4%. Among which, the area of newly
commenced residential properties was 1,463.79 million sg.m., representing
a decline of 10.9%. The completed construction area of properties was
1,014.12 milion sq.m., representing a growth of 11.2%. Among which,
the completed construction area of residential properties was 730.16
million sq.m., representing a growth of 10.8%. At the end of 2021, the
area of commodity properties pending for sale was 510.23 million sg.m.,
representing an increase of 8.58 million sgq.m. as compared with the end of
November 2021. Among which, the area of residential properties pending
for sale increased by 4.80 million sg.m., the area of office buildings pending
for sale increased by 0.94 million sg.m. and the area of commercial
business properties pending for sale increased by 0.46 million sg.m.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The recognised revenue of properties delivered by the Group in 2021 was
about RMB4,278.0 million (2020: RMB6,750.1 million), representing a
decrease of about 36.6% as compared to that of 2020, which was mainly
due to the fact that a considerable part of the properties sold by the Group
in recent years are not due to be delivered, resulting in a decrease in the
total GFA of the properties delivered in 2021 compared with that of 2020,
and a corresponding decrease in the amount that can be included in the
recognized revenue of the current year.

The GFA of properties sold and delivered by the Group in 2021 was about
227,597 sg.m. (2020: 552,737 sg.m.), representing a decrease of about
58.8% as compared to that of 2020.

The recognised average selling price per sq.m. achieved by the Group in
2021 was about RMB18,796.4, representing an increase of about 53.9%
from RMB12,212.1 in the previous year. It is due to the increase in the
portion of sales of properties with higher selling prices in the year under
review.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

BEEESWED R (B)

During the year under review, the total recognised GFA sold for the major REBEFE AEEFZEENERRHE
projects of the Group and the respective recognised revenue are as follows: HREMEERIEEWAUWT :

% of interest
attributable

Recognised Recognised to the Group

GFA sold amount FERL

Projects City B = ZIEBRD

EHE b ] HE@mR HEWA KBS
sg.m. RMB million

FEK  ARBEEET

Zhejiang

AL
Landscape Bay Hangzhou 802 11.4 92.6%
=84 LN
Hidden Dragon Bay Hangzhou 3,390 4.3 61.0%
F=3EE LN
International Office Centre (IOC) Phase A3 Hangzhou 5,093 190.1 65.9%
B B A HRDAS LN
White Horse Palace Hangzhou 126 6.6 90.0%
SPSEElie] LN
White Horse Manor Hangzhou 2,268 1.9 90.0%
B W LN
Nan Hu MingYu Hangzhou 18,645 858.9 59.9%
ERlEENE LN
Ideal Bay Hangzhou 770 15.6 45.9%
B LN
Xixi Manhattan Hangzhou 862 138.7 30.3%
FARERIR LN
Xixi New City Hangzhou S 23.7 90.0%
[EpESis ) LN
Chaoyang Yinzuo Hangzhou S 1.0 65.9%
FA SR B LN
Xixi Future Square Hangzhou 47,201 1,223.9 90.0%
FARERKE LN
Jade Mansion Yuyao 2,638 59.2 93.0%
IEREE BN
Zhong An Times Square Phase |l Yuyao 6,888 61.3 61.3%
ReRAES BN
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

EEE AT (8)

% of interest
attributable

Recognised Recognised to the Group
GFA sold amount AEEG
Projects City B B ZIEE#ER
EHE i) HEmRA HEWA HEZL
sqg.m. RMB million
FHAK  ANEREHGET
Zhong An Times Square Phase | Yuyao 580 4.4 59.3%
ReRAES Rk
Cixi Landscape Garden Cixi 7,513 52.4 90.0%
RE LK BEZ
Cixi New City Cixi 10,182 111.9 65.9%
BOEAI T BZE
Typha Lotus Garden Yiwu 60,085 1,015.4 58.5%
ST ESE e
Comphor Tree Bay Lishui 18,617 207.9 90.0%
ERE =3
Anhui
Z8
Vancouver City Huaibei 26,762 222.2 100.0%
i B EE I G
Shandong
1T
Qingdao New City Qingdao 20,275 192.2 100.0%
B ST 55
227,597 4,278.0

The average cost of properties sold per sq.m. of the Group was about
RMB13,138.1 in 2021, representing an increase of about 51.4% from
RMB8,676.9 in the previous year. It was due to the higher development
cost of relevant projects recognised for sale during the year under review.
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R —EEW
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

BEEESWED R (B)

Progress of development on the major projects
Hangzhou, Zhejiang Province
Lotus Mansion (Xiaoshan)

It is located in a comprehensive transportation hub of South Railway
Station, Xiaoshan District, Hangzhou. It consists of high-rise, small high-
rise and multi-storey buildings with a total floor area of approximately
45,338 sg.m., and a total GFA of approximately 99,732 sg.m., and is for
residential use. The project commenced construction in the third quarter of
2020 and started the pre-sale in the fourth quarter of 2020. It is expected
to be completed in 2022. The volume of pre-sales of the project during the
year under review was within expectation.

Shunyuan Mansion

It is located in the area of Yinhu, Fuyang District, Hangzhou, It consists
of high-rise and small high-rise buildings and shops with a total floor
area of approximately 54,493 sg.m. and a total GFA of approximately
180,783 sg.m., and is for residential use. The project commenced
construction in the third quarter of 2020 and started the pre-sale in
the third quarter of 2020. It is expected to be completed in 2023. The
volume of pre-sales of the project during the year under review was within
expectation.

Fashion Color City

It is located in Xinjie Village, Xiaoshan District, Hangzhou. It consists
of hardcover loft apartments, large flat floor apartments and shops,
with a total floor area of approximately 26,087 sg.m. and a total GFA
of approximately 78,261 sg.m., and is for commercial use. The project
commenced construction in the third quarter of 2020 and started the pre-
sale in the fourth quarter of 2020. It is expected to be completed in 2022.
The volume of pre-sales of the project during the year under review was
within expectation.

Cloud Land

It is located in Hangzhou City of Future Science and Technology Yuhang
District, Hangzhou. It consists of multi-storey buildings, with a total floor
area of approximately 46,737 sg.m. and a total GFA of approximately
74,779 sqg.m., and is for residential use. The project commenced
construction in the first quarter of 2021 and started the pre-sale in
the third quarter of 2021. It is expected to be completed in 2023. The
volume of pre-sales of the project during the year under review was within
expectation.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

International Office Centre (I0C)

IOC is a large-scale integrated commercial complex located in Qianjiang
Century City (85T tH423), Xiaoshan District, Hangzhou, comprising
serviced apartments, shopping malls and offices. The total site area of Plot
A'is 92,610 sg.m. and the planned total GFA is 798,795 sq.m. The project
is constructed in three phases, consisting of Plots A1, A2 and A3. Among
which, Plot A3 was completed in 2015, comprising serviced apartments,
shops and underground parking spaces with a total GFA of approximately
327,996 sg.m. The construction of Plot A2 has commenced in 2019 with a
total GFA of approximately 263,555 sg.m. The project started the pre-sale
in the third quarter of 2020, and is expected to be completed in 2022. The
volume of pre-sales of the project during the year under review was within
expectation.

Xixi Future Square

Xixi Future Square (Royal Bay) is located at Xian Lin Street, Yuhang District,
Hangzhou and consists of residential and commercial parcels, with a total
GFA of about 109,782 sg.m., among which, the GFA of housing stock
amounted to 16,788 sg.m. The project consists of multi-storey, small high-
rise and high-rise buildings as well as townhouses, and is surrounded by
well-developed community facilities. The project is constructed in three
phases: Plot E, Plot C and Plot F, with a total GFA of about 92,994 sqg.m.,
and commenced construction in 2019. Plot E was opened for sale in the
fourth quarter of 2020. The pre-sales of Plots C and F started in the second
quarter of 2020. It was completed in 2021. The volume of sales of the
project during the year under review was within expectation.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

BEEESWED R (B)

Nan Hu Ming Yue

It is located in Yuhang District, Hangzhou and consists of high-rise blocks,
courtyards and commercial areas with a total GFA of approximately
406,664 sg.m. The project commenced construction in April 2019 and
started the pre-sale in the third quarter of 2019. The part of courtyards of
the project was completed by the end of 2021, and the part of high-rise
blocks is expected to be completed in 2022. The volume of pre-sales of
the project during the year under review was within expectation.

Ruiyuan Mansion

It is located in Yinhu Street, Fuyang District, Hangzhou, and consists
of high-rise buildings, large flats and shops, with a total floor area of
approximately 39,480 sg.m., and a total GFA of approximately 94,752
sg.m., and is for residential use. The project commenced construction in
the third quarter of 2021 and started the pre-sale in the fourth quarter of
2021. It is expected to be completed in 2023. The volume of pre-sales of
the project during the year under review was within expectation.

Lotus Mansion (Chun’an)

It is located in the area of Pearl Peninsula, Chun’an County, Hangzhou,
and consists of high-rise buildings and villas, with a total floor area
of approximately 22,417 sg.m., and a total GFA of approximately
48,870 sg.m., and is for residential use. The project commenced
construction in the third quarter of 2021 and started the pre-sale in the
fourth quarter of 2021. It is expected to be completed in 2023. The
volume of pre-sales of the project during the year under review was within
expectation.

Beigan Project

It is located in Beigan Technology Innovation Park, Xiaoshan District,
Hangzhou, and consists of large flats and shops, with a total floor
area of approximately 12,819 sg.m., and a total GFA of approximately
44,867 sq.m., and is for commercial use. The project commenced
construction in the fourth quarter of 2021 and is expected to start the pre-
sale in the second quarter of 2022 and is expected to be completed in
2024.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Ningbo, Zhejiang Province
Cixi Zhong An Landscape Gard\Cixi New City

This is a residential property project in Cixi, Zhejiang Province. The total
site area is about 197,655 sg.m. The residential project includes the
commercial portion which provides supporting services to local residents,
with a total GFA of about 510,125 sg.m., consisting of multi-storey
apartments which is constructed in six phases. So far, the residential
part was sold out apart from some parking lots and a few housings.
Commercial Phase |, with a total GFA of about 28,158 sq.m., commenced
construction in July 2019, started the pre-sale in the third quarter of 2020,
and completed in 2021. Commercial Phase I, with a total GFA of about
72,000 sg.m., commenced construction in the second quarter of 2021,
and is expected to be completed in 2023.

Chaoyue Mansion

It is located at the south site of Dagi Songhuajiang Road Station in Beilun
District, Ningbo, and consists of small high-rise buildings, with a total floor
area of approximately 17,393 sg.m., and a total GFA of approximately
31,307 sg.m., and is for residential use. The project commenced
construction in the third quarter of 2021 and started the pre-sale in the
fourth quarter of 2021. It is expected to be completed in 2023. The
volume of pre-sales of the project during the year under review was within
expectation.

Yiwu, Zhejiang Province
Xiuhu Lotus Garden

It is located in the West Plot of Hutang, Yiwu, Zhejiang Province. It is
mainly composed of courtyards, with a total floor area of approximately
49,428 sq.m., and a total GFA of approximately 52,214 sg.m., and is for
residential use. The project commenced construction in the first quarter of
2021 and started the pre-sale in the third quarter of 2021. It is expected
to be completed in 20283. The volume of pre-sales of the project during the
year under review was within expectation.

BEEmESH (B)

ANIEERT
HOERZ UK ORI

IR A ZEMNEEMEEE 42 EH
HEBEXA197,655F A Ko ZEETEBE B1F
AEMEREEEERBNHERD 42
EBREEBNAS10,125F K BEZBA
BhEER DNEBEK BRIA L BRES
DBEAKRLVEERUIN FEHHEEE-
FE—HA BB EmMAELN28,158F H K ¥
2019 7HR T » W R2020F 55 = T ERED
FEE 2021 EB B T o —H» E
ETEA72,000 5K R2021 FE ZFEM
T FEEAR2023F B T o

IR

IR i@ & ARAATE T B uh R 3R
FERNSEBAM - B(EHEFEAI17,393
FHK BEEEmMBLA31,307FH K E
AEAR - BENR202VFE=FEHIT »
2021 FENMEEBTEE > TEHANN20235F
BT -HROEEFE ZBEERERaTER-

ANIERET
F itk

MR IAESTNERMIE TEHAMK
ARAY c ABAL N AEAV49,428F 5 K » 4B R EE
E 452,214 F K fEEEBE - ZIER
R2021FFE—FER T > R2021FF=
ERETEE > FEEAF2023F B T - R EIEEF
E>rzBEERERaTER-

REEBERAT T —FEFR

25



26

Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

BEEESWED R (B)

Lakeside Mansion

It is located in Beiyuan Street, Yiwu, Zhejiang Province. It is mainly
composed of houses, villas, flats and shops, with a total floor area of
approximately 20,411 sg.m., and a total GFA of approximately 32,658
sg.m., and is for residential use. The project commenced construction in
the fourth quarter of 2021 and is expected to start the pre-sale in the first
quarter of 2022, and is expected to be completed in 2023.

Wenzhou, Zhejiang Province
Shunyuan Mansion

It is located in the core area of Wenzhou. It consists of finely furnished
high-rise buildings, with a total floor area of approximately 30,236 sqg.m.
and a total GFA of approximately 84,963 sg.m., and is for residential use.
The project commenced construction in the second quarter of 2020,
and started the pre-sale in the third quarter of 2020. It is expected to be
completed in 2023. The volume of pre-sales of the project during the year
under review was within expectation.

Future Center

It is located in Longgang Future Community, Wenzhou. It consists of
high-rise buildings and shops, with a total floor area of approximately
69,369 sg.m. and a total GFA of approximately 168,141 sg.m., and is
for residential use. The project commenced construction in the fourth
quarter of 2021, and started the pre-sale in the fourth quarter of 2021. It is
expected to be completed in 2024. The volume of pre-sales of the project
during the year under review was within expectation.

Shunyuan Mansion
[[EREYS)
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Shaoxing, Zhejiang Province
Guyue Mansion

It is located in the west of the main urban area of Shaoxing, and is
composed of courtyards and shops, with a total floor area of approximately
43,412 sgq.m. and a total GFA of approximately 52,528 sqg.m., and is for
residential use. The project commenced construction in the third quarter
of 2020, and started the pre-sale in the first quarter of 2021. It is expected
to be completed in 20283. The volume of pre-sales of the project during the
year under review was within expectation.

Future City

It is located in Fuquan Future Community, Keqgiao District, Shaoxing,
and is composed of talent housings, offices and shops. The project
also includes the construction of repurchase housings. The project
covers a total floor area of approximately 78,484 sg.m. and a total GFA
of approximately 211,907 sg.m., and is for residential use. The project
commenced construction in the fourth quarter of 2021, and is expected to
be completed in 2024.

Zhoushan, Zhejiang Province
Ruyi Mansion

It is located in Putuo District, Zhoushan, and is composed of small high-
rise buildings and shops, with a total floor area of approximately 22,484
sg.m. and a total GFA of approximately 44,968 sg.m., and is for residential
use. The project commenced construction in the third quarter of 2020,
and started the pre-sale in the fourth quarter of 2020. It is expected to be
completed in 2022. The volume of pre-sales of the project during the year
under review was within expectation.

Taizhou, Zhejiang Province
Heyuan Mansion

It is located in the Evergrande East Plot of Hongjia Street, Jiaojiang District,
Taizhou, and is composed of high-rise and small high-rise buildings,
with a total floor area of approximately 39,742 sg.m. and a total GFA
of approximately 86,838 sg.m., and is for residential use. The project
commenced construction in the fourth quarter of 2020, and started the
pre-sale in the fourth quarter of 2020. It is expected to be completed in
20283. The volume of pre-sales of the project during the year under review
was within expectation.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

BEEESWED R (B)

Future City

It is located in Taizhou High-tech Zone, and is composed of high-rise
buildings, with a total floor area of approximately 122,354 sgq.m. and a total
GFA of approximately 283,088 sg.m., and is for residential use. The project
commenced construction in the fourth quarter of 2020, and started the
pre-sale in the second quarter of 2021. It is expected to be completed in
20283. The volume of pre-sales of the project during the year under review
was within expectation.

Quzhou, Zhejiang Province
Cloud Chen Square

It is located in the area of Quzhou high-speed railway station, and
is composed of high-rise buildings, stores on the ground floor and
supermarkets, with a total floor area of approximately 72,774 sq.m. and
a total GFA of approximately 106,250 sg.m., and is for residential use.
The project commenced construction in the second quarter of 2021,
and started the pre-sale in the third quarter of 2021. It is expected to be
completed in 2023. The volume of pre-sales of the project during the year
under review was within expectation.

Huaibei, Anhui Province
Vancouver City

This is a low-density residential project in Huaibei, Anhui Province, which
includes townhouses, multi-storey apartments and shopping units. The
project is developed in phases, and its sales and pre-sales during the
year under review were within expectation. The Huaibei Bright Hotel G& 15
BIR4EELE) , with a GFA of about 67,061 sg.m., was put into business
in September 2017. The GFA of Phase V south project is approximately
100,000 sg.m., and the project commenced construction in the third
quarter of 2021, started the pre-sale in the third quarter of 2021, and is
expected to be completed in 2023. The volume of pre-sales of the project
during the year under review was within expectation.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Nanjing, Jiangsu Province
Future Mansion

It is located in Gaochun District Development Zone, Nanjing, Jiangsu
Province, and is composed of high-rise and small high-rise buildings,
with a total floor area of approximately 67,085 sgq.m. and a total GFA
of approximately 154,297 sg.m., and is for residential use. The project
commenced construction in the third quarter of 2020, and started the pre-
sale in the third quarter of 2021. It is expected to be completed in 2023.
The volume of pre-sales of the project during the year under review was
within expectation.

Wuxi, Jiangsu Province
Future Mansion

It is located in Yangjia Village, Jiangyin, Wuxi, Jiangsu Province, and
is composed of high-rise, small high-rise and multi-storey buildings,
with a total floor area of approximately 29,952 sg.m. and a total GFA
of approximately 47,923 sg.m., and is for residential use. The project
commenced construction in the fourth quarter of 2020, and started the
pre-sale in the fourth quarter of 2021. It is expected to be completed in
2023.

Qingdao, Shandong Province
Qingdao New City

It is located in Hetao District, Hongdao Economic Zone, Qingdao City,
mainly consists of high-rise residential buildings, apartments, offices and
stores with a total floor area of 51,376 sg.m. and a GFA of approximately
111,483 sg.m. Among which, the planned building area of the residential
plot is 53,254 sqg.m. The pre-sale started in the fourth quarter of 2019, and
was completed in 2021.
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Future City (Residential)

It is located in Huangdao District, Qingdao, mainly consists of high-
rise, small high-rise, and multi-storey buildings and talent apartments,
with a total floor area of approximately 58,596 sg.m. and a total GFA
of approximately 158,209 sg.m., and is for residential use. The project
commenced construction in the second quarter of 2021 and started the
pre-sale in the second quarter of 2021. It is expected to be completed in
20283. The volume of pre-sales of the project during the year under review
was within expectation.

Future City (Commercial)

It is located in Huangdao District, Qingdao, mainly consists of shops,
apartments, supermarkets, hotels and villas, with a total floor area
of approximately 26,486 sg.m. and a total GFA of approximately
39,729 sqg.m., and is for commercial use. The project commenced
construction in the fourth quarter of 2021, and is expected to be
completed in 2024.

Kunming, Yunnan Province
Yunxing Imperial Palace

It is located in the area of Yongshan Street Office, Xishan District, Kunming,
and mainly consists of high-rise residential buildings, apartments and stores
with a total floor area of 37,024 sg.m. and a total GFA of approximately
283,932 sg.m. The project commenced construction in the second quarter
of 2020, and is expected to be completed in 2024.

Overseas
Amber Rise

This project is in Vancouver, British Columbia, Canada with a total GFA of
about 7,719 sg.m. The site is located in a wealthy district with about an
about-20-minute drive to the downtown of Vancouver City. A total of 12
townhouses with individual swimming pools and deluxe design will be built
in 3 phases. The construction commenced in 2016, and the construction
of 3 detached houses has been completed.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Contracted sales in 2021

As at 31 December 2021, the contracted GFA sold by the Group was
about 1,175,362 sg.m. (2020: 1,099,215 sqg.m.) with the contracted
amount of about RMB27,925.1 million (2020: RMB21,944.1 million),
representing a year-to-year increase of approximately 27.3%. The details of
the contracted sales from the major projects are set out below:

BEEmESH (B)

2021FESAHE

HE2021F12831H  AEBHNEEH
EmBLNA1,175,862F /5 K (20204
1,099,215 5 K) » &RHEEWRABY
ARM27,925. 1B 87t (20205 ¢ AR
21,944 185 8&7t) ' [BILE EAH27.3% £ &
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% of interest
attributable

Contracted Contracted to the Group
GFA sold amount AEEL
Projects City =G| =1 ZIEB RS
HE W HEER HEWA MBS
sqg.m. RMB million
FHAK  ANREHET
Zhejiang
A
Nan Hu Ming Yu Hangzhou 7,026 394.8 59.9%
m IR A GIRAN
Xixi Future Square Hangzhou 1,484 114.4 90.0%
FARERKE GIRAN
Cloud Land Hangzhou 76,723 2,903.0 90.0%
ST = BB U
Xiaoshan Lotus Mansion Hangzhou 57,317 2,027.0 90.0%
LR U
Shunyuan Mansion Hangzhou 61,390 1,306.3 90.0%
I TR A GIRAN
Fashion Color City Hangzhou 4,417 127.7 59.3%
BR¥Z 15 GIRAN
Others (Residential) Hangzhou 194 12.4 90.0%
Hith ((F=) U
International Office Centre (IOC)A3 Hangzhou 5,963 194.2 65.9%
FRHE AR IDAS U
International Office Centre (IOC)A2 Hangzhou 35,161 1,740.1 65.9%
PR3 A R A2 U
Xixi New City Hangzhou 927 30.1 65.9%
EpESit ] GIRAN
Ruiyuan Mansion Hangzhou 32,747 690.4 90.0%
I JR BB GIRAN
Chun’an Lotus Mansion Hangzhou 1,985 21.6 100.0%
E R IR U
Lin Qi Yun Fu Hangzhou 18,341 399.8 22.5%
EREEERT U
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
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% of interest
attributable

Contracted Contracted to the Group
GFA sold amount AEEG
Projects City =G| =1 ZIEE#ER
HE i) HEER HEWA MBS
sq.m. RMB million
FHAK ANEREHGET
Majestic Mansion Hangzhou 900 12.7 18.0%
AR LI
Chenhan Mansion Hangzhou 55,037 1,402.6 22.5%
RHE LI
Yunqiqiling Hangzhou 16,762 349.7 36.0%
EEZHE LM
Xinnongdu Hangzhou 43,931 440.8 25.2%
R ER LM
Others (Commercial) Hangzhou 1,226 17.5 59.3%
Hith (F5 %) BTN
Jade Mansion Yuyao - 6.1 93.0%
SRR Rk
Zhong An Times Square Yuyao 206 1.4 59.3%
Phase |
ReRAES Rk
Zhong An Times Square Yuyao 11,190 72.9 61.3%
Phase Il
ReRAES 8 Rk
Cixi Landscape Garden Cixi - 2.3 90.0%
BE LK BZE
Cixi New City Cixi 2,432 26.1 65.9%
BOEATI T =E
Chaoyue Mansion Ningbo 7,551 197.3 90.0%
#15E IF B
Shunyuan Mansion Ningbo 31,497 818.7 44 1%
JIE IR B =
Comphor Tree Bay Lishui 2,359 43.4 90.0%
ERE =/
Jiang Lin Mansion Lishui 41,611 929.7 31.5%
S % BB =/
Ideal Era Home Lishui 11,686 1561.6 13.5%
EHARARE =/
Typha Lotus Garden Yiwu 2,650 75.8 58.5%
ST ES0 e
Xiuhu Lotus Garden Yiwu 18,795 875.9 58.5%
75 1 B e
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

BEEmESH (B)

% of interest
attributable

Contracted Contracted to the Group

GFA sold amount EEEL

Projects City =G| =1 ZIEE#ER

EH mH HEmRA HEWA HE 2L
sqg.m. RMB million

FrEoR  AREHET

Chaoming Yiwu 90,243 2,682.6 31.5%
il e
Baolong House Yiwu 3,308 51.0 31.5%
BHRettxR e
Shunyuan Mansion Wenzhou 44,861 1,290.8 90.0%
JIE IR B PRl
Wenzhou Future Center Wenzhou 19,819 319.7 45.0%
AMNKERE PRl
Glory One Wenzhou 32,960 7121 22.5%
REHE PRl
Casa Banyan Wenzhou 2,335 54.5 21.6%
TAERER BN
Sky Tree (Residential) Wenzhou 61,003 1,022.5 22.5%
RZER (FE) BN
Guyue Mansion Shaoxing 12,123 632.2 90.0%
HHEAB R B
Tang Song He Ming Shaoxing 13,304 574.7 44 1%
FIEMB B
Cloud Chen Square Quzhou 31,593 501.1 45.9%
EYRE &
Ruyi Mansion Zhoushsan 19,009 262.1 90.0%
WMEF AL
Heyuan Mansion Taizhou 69,919 1,170.4 90.0%
AR AT aim
Taizhou Future City Taizhou 128,711 2,391.2 90.0%
aNRRLE am

Jiangsu

LBk
Nanjing Future Mansion Nanjing 13,338 104.0 90.0%
I RARE R
Jiangyin Future Mansion Wuxi 5,294 90.7 90.0%
IREARRE i
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

EEENRAST (8)

% of interest
attributable

Contracted Contracted to the Group
GFA sold amount REREG
Projects City =1 &R ZIEB
EHH i) HEmmRA HEWA MBS
sq.m. RMB million
FHAK ANEREHGET
Anhui
Z8
Vancouver City Huaibei 44,056 390.9 100.0%
ST EE, bl
Shandong
1T
Qingdao New City Qingdao 9,408 84.3 100.0%
SEM™ 58
Zhong An Future City Qingdao 22,570 204.0 90.0%
RLZRKE 58
1,175,362 27,925.1

Tong Song He Ming
FHIEMS
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LAND BANK

In 2021, the Group acquired a total of 12 new projects with a total GFA
of approximately 1.93 million sg.m. The total land costs amounted to
approximately RMB11.1 billion. The average land cost of the new land
acquired was approximately RMB5,738 per sg.m.

Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

EEE AT (8)

T fEE

20214 > AEEMIGIE B H 1208 ABEE
EEAB198E T A KB I HMAYAR
A1 1270 FTUREE T A 55 T AR AR 49
BEFEHAANRES 7385

% of interest

attributable
to the Group
No. Projects City Land cost Site Area Total GFA FEEEN
Fi% 1B il T R BEEER R
(RMB milion) (sq.m.) (sg.m.)
ANREBEET (FrA) (FrK)
1 Sky Tree (Commercial) Wenzhou 1,430 87,108 217,770 22.5%
KR () bl
2 Sky Tree (Residential) Wenzhou 676 41,640 104,100 22.5%
RER (EE) bl
3 Tang Song He Ming Shaoxing 2,165 100,462 105,485 44.1%
KIERB e
4 Cloud Chen Square Quzhou 946 72,774 106,250 45.9%
EvRE i
5 Ruiyuan Mansion Hangzhou 945 39,480 94,752 90.0%
Nl LBl
6 Chun’an Lotus Mansion Hangzhou 208 22,417 48,870 100.0%
FLIRA o
7 Chaoyue Mansion Ningbo 601 17,393 31,307 44.1%
IR B
8 Wenzhou Future City Wenzhou 1,053 69,369 168,141 45.0%
RNRIRIE EM
9 Shaoxing Future City Shaoxing 964 78,484 211,907 51.3%
BERKHE e
10 Lakeside Mansion Yiwu 946 20,411 32,658 90.0%
A ED &5
11 Beigan Project Hangzhou 256 12,819 44,867 59.3%
IT#IER LBl
12 Xiangtan Project Xiangtan 850 292,671 768,255 36.0%
HEEE e
11,099 855,028 1,934,362
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

BEEESWED R (B)

As at 31 December 2021, the total GFA of the Group’s land bank was
about 10.48 million sg.m., out of which the total unsold or undelivered GFA
of the completed property projects was about 1.75 million sg.m. As at 31
December 2021, the average acquisition cost of the Group’s overall land
bank was about RMB3,110 per sq.m.

During the year under review, the GFA of the properties of which the
construction was newly commenced by the Group was about 1.91 million
sg.m.

OTHER BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT

The businesses of the Group are diversifying which provide the basis for
securing more stable income in the future and diversification of investment
risks. The Group will steadily promote an asset-light business model
and gradually broaden the scope of property services and business
operation which includes hotel operation, commercial leasing, office
building management and property services, and will continue to adopt
new business models and types such as the promotion and development
of new agricultural and healthcare industries at the same time, so as to
enhance the linkage between the upstream and downstream business,
to promote the synergetic development of our property business and to
maintain a trend of sustainable development.

HOTEL OPERATION

There are four hotels currently under operation, namely Holiday Inn
Hangzhou Xiaoshan, Hangzhou Qiandao Lake Bright Resort Hotel, Huaibei
Bright Hotel and Ningbo Bright Hotel. Among them, Ningbo Bright Hotel
officially commenced business in October 2019, and its operational
performance is good. The Group recorded a revenue of approximately
RMB173.2 million generated from hotel operations (2020: approximately
RMB182.5 million), representing a decrease of approximately 5.1%
during the year under review and the overall hotel occupancy rate was
approximately 40% (2020: approximately 43%).
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

COMMERCIAL LEASING

The leasing revenue for 2021 was about RMB122.3 million, representing a
decrease of about 15.6% as compared to RMB144.8 million in 2020.

Currently, Highlong Plaza, International Office Centre (IOC), Zhong An
Square and the shopping units of Hidden Dragon Bay constitute the
main source of leasing income of the Group. Highlong Plaza consists
of office buildings, a shopping centre, a hotel, serviced apartments and
underground parking lots. The serviced apartments at Highlong Plaza
were sublet to and managed by independent operators, i.e. Ningbo Sanbi
Hotel and Hangzhou Youbang Hotel. The operational performance was
satisfactory. The overall leasing rate was 87% (2020: 94%)).

PROPERTY MANAGEMENT AND OTHER SERVICES

The revenue generated from property management and other services
in 2021 was about RMB395.2 million, representing an increase of about
9.3% as compared to RMB361.5 million in 2020. The Group provides
quality property management services to the communities located in
properties developed by the Group and other developers. The services are
further enhanced by the provision of travel tours, housekeeping and nanny
services, etc. The provision of customer-oriented services and the wide
variety of services offered have strengthened the Group’s corporate brand
management.

The businesses of the Group are diversifying which provide the basis for
securing more stable income in the future and diversification of investment
risks. The Group will steadily promote an asset-light business model
and gradually broaden the scope of property services and business
operation which includes hotel operation, commercial leasing, office
building management and property services, and will continue to adopt
new business models and types such as the promotion and development
of modern agriculture, education and culture, film and television
entertainment, leisure tourism, and healthcare industries, at the same time,
so as to enhance the linkage between the upstream and downstream
business, to promote the synergetic development of our property business
and to maintain a trend of sustainable development.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
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AWARDS AND RECOGNITIONS RIAREKE
The Group had received the following awards and accolades from the PRC 7~ & B 74 (O] BE 5 2 € R B BT A 58 AT 1448
government and recognised authorities during the year under review: MEEEU T RIBREE

Awards Awarded parties/projects

38

218

RS EE

2021 Top 100 China Real Estate Developers
2021 B E M ER M

2021 Top 10 Hong Kong Listed Domestic Property Companies with
Financial Stability
2021 R KPETEH L Bt E A B W BB IR M TOP10

2021 Top 10 Hong Kong Listed Domestic Property Companies with
Investment Value

2021 ABEEE LB EQBKREBETOP10

2021 Top 100 China Real Estate Enterprise Brand Value
20214 5 & d i B {ETOP100

2021 Top 50 Real Estate Enterprises in
the Yangtze River Delta Region

2021 R =A@ Eih Es05m b

2021 Top 200 Private Enterprises in Zhejiang Province
2021 4L 8 R & 220038

2021 China’s Top 100 Property Management
Service Providers

2021 Y ¥R F EaRb

Zhong An Group Limited
REEEBRAT

Zhong An Group Limited
REEEBRAT
Zhong An Group Limited
REEEBRAT

Zhong An Group Limited
REEEBRAT

Zhong An Group Limited
REEEBRAT

Zhong An Group Limited
REEEBRAT

Zhejiang Zhong An Property Management Co., Ltd.

T IRZMERTARAE
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

HUMAN RESOURCES

As at 31 December 2021, the Group employed a total of 4,911 staff (2020:
4,573 staff). In 2021, the staff cost of the Group was about RMB541.1
million (2020: about RMB391.0 million), representing an increase of about
38.4% (2020: 24.3%). The increase was mainly due to the increase in
quality staff recruited during the year under review following the continuous
development of the business. The employees’ remuneration policy was
determined by reference to factors such as remuneration information
in respect of the local market, the overall remuneration standard in the
industry, inflation level, corporate operating efficiency and performance of
the employees. The Group conducts performance appraisals on a yearly
basis for its employees, the results of which are taken into account in the
annual salary review and promotion assessment. The Group’s employees
are considered for the entitlement of annual discretionary bonus based
on their performance conditions and appraisal results. To attract high
calibre professionals and solidify the management of the Group, eligible
participants (including employee of the Group) may be granted options
to subscribe for shares in the Company pursuant to the share option
scheme adopted by the Company. The Group also provides continuous
learning and training programs to its employees to enhance their skills and
knowledge, so as to maintain the Group’s attractiveness to talents and their
competitiveness in the market.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company may distribute dividends by way of cash or by other
means that the Board considers appropriate. Any proposed distribution of
dividends is subject to the discretion of the Board and, where applicable,
the approval of the shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”).
The Board will consider various factors before declaring or recommending
any payment of dividends. These factors include the results of operation of
the business of the Group, the retained earnings and distributable reserves
of the Company and each of the members of the Group, the Group’s actual
and anticipated financial performance, the general business conditions
and strategies, the Group’s anticipated working capital requirements and
future expansion plans, the general economic conditions and business
cycle of the Group, the future prospects of the business of the Group,
Shareholders’ interests, statutory and regulatory restrictions on the
payment of dividends and other internal or external factors that the Board
deems appropriate.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
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FINANCIAL ANALYSIS
Revenue

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group recorded a total
revenue of approximately RMB4,968.7 million, representing a decrease
of approximately 33.2% compared with that of RMB7,438.9 million in
2020. Among which, the revenue arising from the sale of properties had
constituted and is expected to constitute continually the vast majority of
the Group’s total revenue, accounting for approximately 86.1% of the
total income of the year. The decrease in the revenue was mainly due to
the fact that a considerable part of the properties pre-sold by the Group
in recent years are not due to be delivered, resulting in a decrease in the
total GFA of the properties delivered in 2021 compared with that of 2020,
and a corresponding decrease in the amount that can be included in the
recognized revenue of the current year.

Cost of sales

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group’s cost of sales
was approximately RMB3,492.5 million, representing a decrease of
approximately 32.8% as compared with that of RMB5,194.0 million in
2020.

Gross profit

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group recorded gross profit
of about RMB1,476.1 million, representing a decrease of about 34.2% as
compared to that of about RMB2,244.9 million in the previous year. The
gross profit margin was approximately 29.7%, decreased by approximately
0.5 percentage points as compared to that of 2020. The gross profit
margin remained at a high level in the industry.

Other income and gains, net

The other income and gains of the Group amounted to approximately
RMB310.1 million for the year ended 31 December 2021, representing
an increase of 90.7% as compared with that of RMB162.6 million in
2020. This is mainly due to the increase of dividend income from equity
investments at fair value through other comprehensive income and changes
in fair value of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss during the
year.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Selling and distribution expenses

The selling and distribution expenses increased by about 33.9% from
about RMB322.5 million in 2020 to about RMB431.9 million in 2021. This
is mainly due to the increase in sales commission and marketing expenses
with the growth of the contracted sales amount.

Administrative expenses

Administrative expenses were increased by about 45.6% from about
RMB525.1 million in 2020 to about RMB764.5 million in 2021. This is
primarily attributable to increased headcounts for the development of the
Group.

Other expenses

Other expenses increased by about 95.3% from about RMB107.9 million
in 2020 to about RMB210.7 million in 2021. This is mainly due to the
increase of impairment of goodwill and impairment provision for property
and equipment during the year.

Finance costs

Finance costs decreased by about 10.0% from about RMB250.1 million in

2020 to about RMB225.1 million in 2021. This is mainly due to the increase
of capitalized interest amount during the year.

Income tax expenses

Income tax expenses decreased by about 66.9% from about RMB566.7
million in 2020 to about RMB187.5 million in 2021. This is primarily due to
the decrease of profit of tax during the year.

Capital structure

As at 31 December 2021, 5,635,809,800 shares in the Company were in
issue (31 December 2020: 5,635,809,800 shares).
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As at 31 December 2021, the Group had total assets of approximately
RMB57,240.3 million (2020: approximately RMB41,820.0 million) which
were financed by current liabilities of approximately RMB30,848.8 million
(2020: approximately RMB17,280.8 million), non-current liabilities of
approximately RMB14,461.4 million (2020: approximately RMB13,125.2
million) and shareholders’ equity of approximately RMB11,930.1 million
(2020: approximately RMB11,413.9 million).

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had an aggregate amount of cash
and cash equivalents and restricted cash of about RMB7,895.7 million
(2020: RMB5,911.7 million).

As at 31 December 2021, the Group’s interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings amounted to approximately RMB16,993.9 million (2020:
approximately RMB15,493.4 million).

The maturity profile of the borrowings was as follows:
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As at As at

31 December 31 December

2021 2020

%2021 F220204F

12A31H 12831H

RMB’000 RMB’000

ANRBHEFT ANEEFT

Within 1 year or on demand —FREBREK 3,618,903 3,653,485
Over 1 year but within 2 years ZR—FBIORWE 7,608,194 4,146,616
Over 2 years but within 5 years ZIRMEBILRAE 4,715,491 6,482,697
Over 5 years EEUE 1,051,273 1,210,631
16,993,861 15,493,429

Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings bear interest at fixed rates and
floating rates. As at 31 December 2021, the Group’s interest-bearing bank
and other borrowings bore average effective interest rate of 6.20% (2020:
6.27%).
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The denominated amounts of the borrowings were as follows:

BEEmESH (B)

BRERNE7EBEEEMT

2021 2020

20214 20204

RMB’000 RMB’000

ABEFT NEBETF T

RMB loans and borrowings ARBEERKRER 16,990,633 15,489,651
GBP loans and borrowings HEEE TR AR 3,228 3,778
16,993,861 15,493,429

During the year under review, the total cost of borrowings of the Group was
approximately RMB793.4 million (2020: approximately RMB697.1 million),
and, among which, interests with an amount of approximately RMB578.9
million (2020: approximately RMB463.4 million) were capitalized.

The Group maintained a healthy liquidity position. The current ratio, being
a ratio of total current assets to total current liabilities, was approximately
1.41 (2020: approximately 1.70). The ratio of interest-bearing bank
and other borrowings to total assets was approximately 0.30 (2020:
approximately 0.37). The net gearing ratio of the Group (defined as net debt
divided by total equity) was approximately 0.76 (2020: approximately 0.84)
(net debt is defined as total interest-bearing bank and other borrowings
less cash and cash equivalent and total restricted cash). The Group
always adopts a prudent financial policy in its operation and business
development.

Capital commitments

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had capital commitments of about
RMB6,984.0 million (2020: approximately RMB2,517.3 million) in respect
of property and project development expenditure. It is expected that the
Group will finance such commitments from its own funds, cash proceeds
from sales and external financing (such as bank loans).

REIEEE ) AEBNERMELIENA
R #8793.48 8 7t (20204 : H AR 1697 .1
BET)  MARABHNARKS78.98E T
(2020%F : WARME463.4H587T) BE X
ke

NEBEFEBRINABES KR RENELE
(FHEEEERTHEREBEILEER) Y
A1.41 (20204 : £91.70) o st BiRTTRHE
HEREEESENLEEL%50.30 (2020
F 037 AEENFEELE (EES
FEBBRMUAERER) 49750.76 (20204 © 4
0.84) (FEBNEEATERITREME
TRERAREANESEEYRZRERE
HEE) cAREETERBEEEREBERAA
—ERRRAB BN BB

BRI

20215E128310 » NE B R B # E R 1E
BREZ HHEARMERIEGARE,984.0
BET (2020 : S ARH2,517.38 8
7T) cEH B EBAEENBEEES HE
EIEER RSN AR E (BIINIRITER) BEE
AEBAES

RLEBBRAE T —FER

43



44

Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

BEEESWED R (B)

Contingent liabilities

As at 31 December 2021, the contingent liabilities of the Group were about
RMB7,438.2 million (2020: approximately RMB4,933.4 million), which were
guarantees provided by the Group in favour of certain banks for the grant of
mortgage loans to buyers of the Group’s properties.

Pledge of assets

As at 31 December 2021, investment properties of the Group with
a carrying value of about RMB2,681.6 million (2020: approximately
RMB3,185.1 million), properties under development of about RMB24,189.0
million (2020: approximately RMB8,989.5 million), completed properties
held for sale of about RMB823.7 million (2020: approximately RMB1,325.9
million), property and equipment of about RMB1,185.5 million (2020:
approximately RMB1,237.0 million), restricted cash of about RMB64.1
million (2020: approximately RMB40.6million), 100% equity interest in a
subsidiary of the Group of about RMB40.0 million (2020: RMB40.0 million)
were pledged to secure the banking facilities and other borrowings of the
Group.

Foreign exchange risk

As the sales, purchase and external financings of the Group in 2021 and
2020 were made mainly in Renminbi, the Group was exposed to relatively
minor foreign exchange risks. The Group did not use any foreign exchange
hedging instruments to hedge foreign exchange risks in 2021 and 2020.

Interest rate risk

The interest rates of a certain portion of the Group’s loans were floating.
Upward fluctuations in interest rates will increase the interest cost of new
loans and existing loans. Given that a certain portion of loans are RMB
loans and the stable domestic economic situation of the PRC, the Group
currently does not use any derivative instruments to hedge its interest rate
risks.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Events after the reporting period

There was no event occurred that bears significant effect to the Group
between the year end date and the date of this annual report.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE
ASPECTS

The Group is always committed to maintaining the highest environmental
and social standards to ensure sustainable development of its business.
A report on the environmental, social and governance aspects is being
prepared with reference to Appendix 27 (Environmental, Social and
Governance Reporting Guide) to the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) and will be published respectively on the
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange in due course.

PROSPECTS

Looking forward to 2022, the macro-economy is still in the forefront of
stability. With the continuous improvement of the long-term mechanism
of the property market and the effect of city-based policies, the property
investment in 2022 is expected to develop steadily and healthily.

The Group will maintain a prudent view in the short term and an optimistic
view in the long term, continue to work deep into the Yangtze River Delta
economic circle, make full use of its brand advantages in the Yangtze River
Delta region, and constantly optimize marketing strategies and channels to
achieve stable growth in sales and maximize profits. With the continuous
upgrading of cities, while people are pursuing high-quality residential
products, they also demand higher standards of property developers. The
Group will adhere to the brand concept of “Enjoying a Better Life” and
build a full-scale layout around “real estate +”. From “building houses” to
“building lifestyles”, the Group will leverage its strengths in products and
services, and strive to provide Chinese families with a full life cycle of better
life solutions by creating a diversified lifestyle.
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Corporate Governance Report
TEELARS

The Board is committed to maintaining good corporate governance
in safeguarding the interests of the Shareholders and enhancing
Shareholders’ value.

(A) CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company has adopted, in so far as they are applicable, the code
provisions (the “code provisions”) of the Corporate Governance
Code (the “CG Code”) contained in Appendix 14 to the Listing
Rules.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Board had applied
the principles of the code provisions contained in, and complied with,
the CG Code (as in force as at 31 December 2021).

The Board will review the management structure of the Group
from time to time and will adopt appropriate measures as may
be desirable for future development of the operating activities or
business of the Group.

(B) DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by Directors on terms no less exacting than the required
standard set out in the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules
(the “Model Code”).

Following specific enquiries by the Company, all Directors confirmed
with the Company that they had complied with the required standard
set out in the Model Code and the Company’s code of conduct
regarding Directors’ securities transactions during 2021.

(C) BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Directors during 2021 were as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr Shi Zhongan (Chairman)

Mr Zhang Jiangang (Chief Executive Officer)
Ms Shen Tiaojuan

Ms Jin Ni

Ms Shi Jinfan

Independent non-executive Directors

Professor Pei Ker Wei

Dr Loke Yu (alias Loke Hoi Lam) (with professional qualification in
accordance with Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules)
(resigned on 10 June 2021)

Mr Zhang Huagiao

Mr Fung Che Wai Anthony
(appointed on 26 November 2021)
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

Save as disclosed herein, during 2021, the Board had at all times
met the requirements of Rules 3.10(1) and 3.10(2) of the Listing
Rules relating to the appointment of at least three independent non-
executive Directors with at least one independent non-executive
Director possessing appropriate professional qualifications, or
accounting or related financial management expertise.

Following the resignation of Dr Loke Yu on 10 June 2021 (the
“Resignation”), (i) the number of independent non-executive
Directors (‘INEDs”) on the Board and the number of members on
the Audit Committee had fallen below the minimum number as
required under Rules 3.10(1) and 3.21 of the Listing Rules; (i) the
number of INEDs had not represented at least one-third of the Board
as required under Rule 3.10A of the Listing Rules; and (i) INEDs
had not constituted a majority of the Remuneration Committee as
required under Rule 3.25 of the Listing Rules. Since the Resignation,
the Company had been actively identifying potential candidate(s) with
appropriate expertise and relevant qualifications to fill the vacancy
occasioned. Such efforts, however, was impeded by the continuous
implementation of social distancing measures and cross-border
restrictions in Hong Kong as a result of the ongoing COVID-19
pandemic, which had substantially restricted the Company’s ability
to identify and meet directly with potential candidate(s) among
others. Hence, the Company had been unable to comply with the
requirements under Rules 3.11, 3.23 and 3.27 of the Listing Rules
to fill up the vacancy occasioned by the Resignation within three
months. On 13 September 2021, the Stock Exchange granted to the
Company a waiver from strict compliance and a time extension of
one month to 9 October 2021 to comply with Rules 3.10(1), 3.10A,
3.21 and 3.25 of the Listing Rules. On 28 October 2021, the Stock
Exchange granted to the Company a waiver from strict compliance
and a further time extension of grace period to 26 November 2021 to
comply with Rules 3.10(1), 3.10A, 3.21 and 3.25 of the Listing Rules.
After the appointment of Mr Fung Che Wai Anthony as an INED
and a member of each of the Audit Committee, the Remuneration
Committee and the Nomination Committee of the Company on
26 November 2021, the Company was in compliance with Rules
3.10(1), 3.10(A), 38.21 and 3.25 of the Listing Rules.

The three independent non-executive Directors represent more than
one-third of the Board, the proportion of which is higher than what is
required by Rule 3.10A of the Listing Rules. The Board believes there
is sufficient independence element in the Board to safeguard the
interests of Shareholders.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)
TEERRSE (@)

The Board meets regularly throughout 2021 to discuss the overall
strategy, the operational and financial performance of the Group.
The Directors can attend meetings in person or through other
electronic means of communication in accordance with the articles of
association of the Company (the “Articles”).

A total of 8 Board meetings were held during 2021. The individual
attendance of each Director was as follows:

BEFFN2021EFRNE ARG
EEMNERER EEAMBRE-
EFTTHBESMERXRBELRTR
EE=EAR) (TR BB EME
B2 ME=E-

NEERNEFERTOHIRES
EER -REFMNENHERNT

Number of attendance

HERE
Mr Shi Zhongan il e 8
Mr Zhang Jiangang REXHH S 8
Ms Shen Tiaojuan TLgIE 8
Ms Jin Ni EBIERZ T 8
Ms Shi Jinfan &N+ 8
Professor Pei Ker Wei BREHE 8
Dr Loke Yu (resigned on 10 June 2021) MEsBMIE t (722021465 10H §HE) 3
Mr Zhang Huagiao R AL 8
Mr Fung Che Wai Anthony BERKE
(appointed on 26 November 2021) (3R20214F 11526 H #EZ1E) 2

All Directors at that time had attended the annual general meeting of
the Company held on 10 June 2021.

The Board operates and exercises its power in accordance with the
Articles. In addition, the Board has also specifically resolved that all
transactions/contracts/other matters of the Group that are subject
to the disclosure requirement in accordance with the Listing Rules
should be approved by the Board in advance.

The Company has received from each of its independent non-
executive Directors an annual confirmation of his independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Board considers
that all the independent non-executive Directors are independent in
accordance with the guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

All Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skKills.
During 2021, each of Mr Shi Zhongan, Mr Zhang Jiangang, Ms Shen
Tiaojuan, Ms Jin Ni, Ms Shi Jinfan, Professor Pei Ker Wei, Dr Loke
Yu (resigned on 10 June 2021), Mr Zhang Huagiao and Mr Fung
Che Wai Anthony (appointed on 26 November 2021) had attended
seminars and/or training sessions, and had read materials and
updates relating to the latest development of the Listing Rules and
other applicable regulatory requirements. The Board considered the
continuous professional development participated and undertaken by
the Directors are sufficient to discharge their duties.

The Company had arranged liability insurance for Directors and
senior management of the Company with appropriate coverage
in respect of legal action against them arising from their duties
performed.

Save as disclosed in the section of “Biographical Details of Directors
and Senior Management” in this annual report, there are no
relationships (including financial, business, family or other material/
relevant relationships) among members of the Board.

Functions of the Board and the Senior Management

The Board is responsible for providing effective and responsible
leadership for the Group. The Board is responsible for formulating the
Group’s overall objectives and strategies, monitoring and evaluating
its operating and financial performance and reviewing the corporate
governance standard of the Group. It also decides on matters
such as annual and interim results, accounting policies, proposal
of declaration of dividends, major transactions, appointment or re-
appointment of Directors after considering, when necessary and
appropriate, the recommendations from the committees established
by the Board.

Senior management is delegated by the Board with the responsibility
for the execution of the business plans and strategies adopted by
the Board, assisting the Board in the preparation of the financial
statements for approval by the Board, the establishment of adequate
procedures put forward by the Board and/or the committees
established by the Board and reporting regularly to and seeking
approval from the Board on important matters from time to time.
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EXERRS ()

Appointment, re-election and removal of Directors

The Articles provide that any Director appointed by the Board to fill a
casual vacancy in the Board or as an additional member of the Board
shall hold office only until the next following general meeting of the
members of the Company and shall then be eligible for re-election at
such meeting.

In accordance with the Articles, at each annual general meeting, one
third of the Directors for the time being, shall retire from office by
rotation provided that every Director (including those appointed for a
specific term) shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least once
every three years and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.
The Shareholders may, at any general meetings convened and
held in accordance with the Articles, remove a Director by ordinary
resolution at any time before the expiration of his/her period of office
notwithstanding anything contrary in the Articles or in any agreement
between the Company and such Director and may by ordinary
resolution elect another person in his/her stead.

Board Committees

The Board has established four committees and has delegated
various responsibilities to the committees, including the remuneration
committee (the “Remuneration Committee”), the nomination
committee (the “Nomination Committee”), the audit committee
(the “Audit Committee”) and the governance committee (the
“Governance Committee”). All the Board committees perform their
distinct roles in accordance with their respective terms of reference
which are available for inspection by Shareholders on the Company’s
website. The Board committees are provided with sufficient
resources to discharge their duties and, upon reasonable request,
are able to seek independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances, at the Company’s expense.
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(D) CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the roles of
chairman and chief executive should be separate and should not
be performed by the same individual. The division of responsibilities
between the chairman and chief executive should be clearly
established and set out in writing.

As at the date of this annual report, the positions of chairman
and chief executive officer are held by Mr Shi Zhongan and Mr
Zhang Jiangang respectively. Mr Shi Zhongan, is our chairman and
executive Director. He is primarily responsible for the strategic and
development planning of the Group. He also supervises project
planning and the overall business operation. Mr Zhang Jiangang
is our chief executive officer and executive Director. He focuses
on the Company’s business development and daily management
and operations generally. The respective responsibilities of Mr Shi
Zhongan and Mr Zhang Jiangang are clearly defined and set out in
writing.

The Company has established a general division of responsibilities
between the chairman and chief executive officer in writing. Further,
the roles of chairman and chief executive officer are separated and
performed by different individuals. In this connection, the Board is of
the opinion that the Company has complied with the code provision
A.2.1 sets out in the CG Code as at 31 December 2021.

The Board believes that the balance of power and authority is
sufficiently maintained by the operation of the Board, comprising the
executive Directors and independent non-executive Directors.

The chairman had held a meeting with all independent non-executive
Directors in the absence of executive Directors. No specific or other
issues had been raised or discussed as it had been concluded that
all issues which would be discussed had been properly dealt with in
the meetings of the Board.
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(E)

(F)

EXERRS ()

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The independent non-executive Directors have been appointed for a
specific term of office of two years.

All independent non-executive Directors possess extensive
academic, professional and industry expertise and management
experience and have provided their professional advice to the Board.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The chairman of the Remuneration Committee is Professor Pei Ker
Wei (an independent non-executive Director) and the members are
Ms Shen Tiaojuan (an executive Director), Ms Jin Ni (an executive
Director), Dr Loke Yu (an independent non-executive Director)
(resigned on 10 June 2021), Mr Zhang Huagiao (an independent
non-executive Director) and Mr Fung Che Wai Anthony (appointed
on 26 November 2021).

The Company has adopted written terms of reference for the
Remuneration Committee. The role and function of the Remuneration
Committee include the following:

(@ to make recommendations to the Board on the Company’s
policy and structure for all remuneration of Directors and
senior management and on the establishment of a formal and
transparent procedure for developing remuneration policy;

(b)  to have the delegated responsibility to determine the specific
remuneration packages of all executive Directors and senior
management, including benefits in kind, pension rights and
compensation payments, including any compensation payable
for loss or termination of their office or appointment, and make
recommendations to the Board of the remuneration of non-
executive Directors;

(c) to review and approve performance-based remuneration by
reference to corporate goals and objectives resolved by the
Board from time to time;

(d)  to review and approve the compensation payable to executive
Directors and senior management in connection with any loss
or termination of their office or appointment to ensure that
such compensation is determined in accordance with relevant
contractual terms and that such compensation is otherwise fair
and not excessive for the Company;
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(e) to review and approve compensation arrangements relating
to dismissal or removal of Directors for misconduct to ensure
that such arrangements are determined in accordance with
relevant contractual terms and that any compensation payment
is otherwise reasonable and appropriate;

(] to ensure that no Director or any of his/her associates is
involved in deciding his/her own remuneration; and

(9) to review and approve the remuneration report of the Group, if
any.

The basis of the emolument payable to the Directors (including
independent non-executive Directors) is determined with reference to
the range of prevailing directors’ fee for director of listed companies
in Hong Kong and is subject to the approval of the Remuneration
Committee. The Remuneration Committee will consider factors
such as salaries paid by comparable companies, time commitment,
experience and responsibilities of the Directors, employment
conditions elsewhere in the Group and desirability of performance-
based remuneration.

2 meetings of the Remuneration Committee were held during 2021.
The Remuneration Committee had reviewed the remuneration policy
of the Group, assessed the performance of all Directors and their
terms of employment under their respective service contracts and
(if applicable) their renewal. In fulfiling its roles and functions, the
Remuneration Committee had ensured that no Director or any of his/
her associates was involved in deciding his/her own remuneration.
The individual attendance of each member was as follows:
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(G) NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The chairman of the Nomination Committee is Mr Shi Zhongan
(an executive Director and the chairman of the Company) and the
members are Professor Pei Ker Wei (an independent non-executive
Director), Dr Loke Yu (an independent non-executive Director)
(resigned on 10 June 2021), Mr Zhang Huagiao (an independent
non-executive Director) and Mr Fung Che Wai Anthony (appointed on
26 November 2021).

The Company has adopted written terms of reference for the
Nomination Committee. The role and function of the Nomination
Committee are as follows:

(@)

to review the structure, size and composition (including
the skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board at least
annually;

to identify individuals suitably qualified to become members
of the Board and may select individuals nominated for
directorship;

to review the board diversity policy of the Company (the
“Diversity Policy”) and the progress on achieving the
objectives set for implementing the Diversity Policy, and
to make disclosure of its review results in the corporate
governance report of the Company’s annual report;

to assess the independence of the independent non-executive
Directors;

to make recommendations to the Board on relevant matters
relating to, among others, the appointment or re-appointment
of Directors and succession planning for Directors (in particular,
the chairman and the chief executive officer of the Company);

to give full consideration to, among others, the skills and
expertise required from members of the Board and the relevant
requirements of the Listing Rules with regard to Directors and
such like in the discharge of the Nomination Committee’s
duties;
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(99 inrespect of any proposed service contracts to be entered into
by any members of the Group with its director or proposed
director, which require the prior approval of the Shareholders
at general meeting under Rule 13.68 of the Listing Rules, to
review and provide recommendations to the Shareholders
(other than Shareholders who are Directors with a material
interest in the relevant service contracts and their respective
associates) as to whether the terms of the service contracts
are fair and reasonable and whether such service contracts
are in the interests of the Company and the Shareholders as a
whole, and to advise Shareholders on how to vote;

(h)  to ensure that on appointment to the Board, non-executive
Directors (including independent non-executive Directors)
receive a formal letter of appointment setting out what is
expected of them in terms of time commitment, committee
service and involvement outside meetings of the Board;

(i) to conduct exit interviews with any Director upon his/her
resignation in order to ascertain the reasons for his/her
departure; and

1) to consider other matters, as defined or assigned by the Board
from time to time.

The determination and review by the Board during 2021 of the
Diversity Policy involved the consideration of various elements
including gender, age, culture, qualification, ability, work experience,
leadership and professional ethics of the candidates and against
the objective criteria set out by the Board. The Board recognizes
the importance of having a diverse Board and considers the above
essential elements (which have been taken into account when
determining the existing composition of the Board) in maintaining
a competitive advantage and achieving sustainable growth for the
Group.

To ensure the composition of the Board has a balance of skills,
experience and diversity of perspectives appropriate to the
requirements of the Company’s business, the Company has, with
the recommendation of the Nomination Committee, adopted a
formal, considered and transparent procedures for the selection,
appointment and re-appointment of Directors.
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The nomination procedures are as follows: candidates for
directorship are selected by the Nomination Committee subject
to the review and approval of the Board in accordance with the
Articles. The criteria adopted by the Nomination Committee in
selecting and approving candidates for directorship are based on
the Diversity Policy including whether the candidates are appropriate
in terms of experience and the potential contribution to the Group
and with reference to the candidates’ professional knowledge,
industry experience, personal ethics, integrity and skills, as well as
the ability of the candidates to devote sufficient time to the Board
and/or various committees established by the Board on which
they serve so as to allow them to benefit from the skills, expertise,
and varied backgrounds and diversity of the candidates through
their participation in the meetings of the Board and/or committees
established by the Board.

If a candidate is proposed to be appointed as an independent non-
executive Director (INED), his or her independence shall be assessed
in accordance with, among other things, the factors (including
independence criteria) as set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules,
subject to any amendments as may be made by the Stock Exchange
from time to time. Where applicable, the totality of the candidate’s
education, qualifications and experience shall also be evaluated
to consider whether he/she has the appropriate professional
qualifications or accounting or related financial management
expertise for filling the office of an INED with such qualifications or
expertise as required under Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules.

If a candidate is a member of the Nomination Committee, he/she
will abstain from voting at the meeting of the Nomination Committee
when his/her own nomination is being considered.

3 meetings of the Nomination Committee were held during 2021.
The Nomination Committee nominated and the Board recommended
the re-election of Directors at the 2021 annual general meeting, and
reviewed the structure, size and composition of the Board.
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The individual attendance of each member of the Nomination

Committee was as follows:
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Mr Shi Zhongan A2 ek 3

Professor Pei Ker Wei BREHE 3

Dr Loke Yu (resigned on 10 June 2021) MESBMIEt (722021465 10H §HE) 1

Mr Zhang Huagiao R E 3
Mr Fung Che Wai Anthony BERE

(appointed on 26 November 2021) (72202111526 H EZ1T) 1

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group was charged
RMB5,040,000 for the audit services provided by the Company’s
independent auditor, Ernst & Young. Details of the audit services and
their relevant fees are as follows:

For audit of annual results for RMB4,095,000
the year ended
31 December 2021

For review of interim results for RMB945,000
the six months ended
30 June 2021
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EXERRS ()

() AUDIT COMMITTEE

The chairman of the Audit Committee is Professor Pei Ker Wei
and the members are Mr Zhang Huagiao and Mr Fung Che Wai
Anthony (appointed on 26 November 2021). All members of the Audit
Committee are independent non-executive Directors.

The role and functions of the Audit Committee include the following:

(@  to be primarily responsible for making recommendations to the
Board on the appointment, reappointment and removal of the
external auditor, and to approve the remuneration and other
terms of engagement of the external auditor, and any questions
of resignation or dismissal of the external auditor;

(b) to review and monitor the external auditor’s independence
and objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process in
accordance with applicable standards;

(c) to discuss before the audit commences, with the external
auditor the nature and scope of the audit and reporting
obligations and ensure co-ordination where more than one
audit firm is involved;

(d) to develop and implement policy on engaging an
external auditor to supply non-audit services. The Audit
Committee should report to the Board, identify and make
recommendations any matters where action or improvement is
needed. The Audit Committee should also review the non-audit
services provided by the external auditor on an annual basis, to
ensure that the independence of such external auditor will not
be affected;

(e)  to monitor integrity, accuracy and fairness of the Company’s
financial statements and annual report and accounts, half-year
report and, if prepared for publication, quarterly reports, and
to review significant financial reporting judgments contained in
them;
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to review, in draft form and before submission to the Board, the
Company’s annual report and accounts, half-year report and, if
prepared for publication, quarterly report, focus particularly on:

Vi.

Vil

Vii.

X.

any changes in accounting policies and practices;

major judgmental areas;
significant adjustments resulting from the audit;

the going concern assumptions and any qualifications;

compliance with accounting standards;

compliance with the Listing Rules and other legal
requirements in relation to financial reporting;

the fairness and reasonableness of any connected
transaction and the impact of such transaction on the
profitability of the Group and whether such connected
transactions (if any) have been carried out in accordance
with the terms of the agreement governing such
transactions;

whether all relevant items have been adequately
disclosed in the Group’s financial statements and
whether the disclosures give a fair view of the Group’s
financial conditions;

any significant or unusual items that are, or may need to
be, reflected in such reports and accounts; and

the cash flow position of the Group;

and to provide advice and comments thereon to the Board;
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in regard to (e) and (f) above:

(i) members of the Audit Committee should liaise with the
Board and the senior management of the Group and the
Audit Committee must meet, at least twice a year, with
the Company’s auditors; and

(i) the Audit Committee should consider any significant
or unusual items that are, or may need to be, reflected
in such reports and accounts. It should give due
consideration to any matters that have been raised by
the Company’s staff responsible for the accounting,
the financial reporting and internal audit functions,
compliance officer or auditors;

to discuss problems and reservations arising from the interim
and final audits, and any matters the auditors may wish to
discuss (in the absence of management where necessary);

to review the Company’s financial controls and, unless
expressly addressed by a separate board risk committee, or by
the Board itself, to review the Company’s internal control and
risk management systems;

to discuss the internal control and risk management systems
with management to ensure that management has performed
its duty to have effective systems. This discussion should
include the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications
and experience, training programmes and budget of the
Company'’s accounting and financial reporting function;

to review the Company’s statement on internal control
systems (where one is included in the annual report) prior to
endorsement by the Board;

to consider major investigations findings on internal control
matters as delegated by the Board or on its own initiative and
management’s response to these findings;
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where an internal audit function exists, to review the internal
audit programmes, to ensure co-ordination between the
internal and external auditors, and to ensure that the internal
audit function is adequately resourced and has appropriate
standing within the Company and to review and monitor the
effectiveness;

to review the Group’s financial and accounting policies and
practices;

to conduct exit interviews with any Director, general manager,
financial controller or internal audit manager upon his/
her resignation in order to ascertain the reasons for his/her
departure;

to prepare work reports for presentation to the Board and to
prepare summary of work reports for inclusion in the Group’s
interim and annual reports;

to consider the appointment of any person to be an Audit
Committee member, a secretary, auditors and accounting
staff either to fill a casual vacancy or as an additional Audit
Committee member, secretary, auditors and accounting staff or
dismissal of any of them;

to consider the major findings of internal investigations and
management’s response;

to review the external auditor’'s management letter, any material
queries raised by the auditor to management about the
accounting records, financial accounts or systems of control
and management’s response;

to ensure that the Board will provide a timely response to the
issues raised in the external auditor's management letter;

to report to the Board on the matters in the code provisions
contained in the CG Code set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing
Rules (as amended from time to time) and/or any of the matters
set out above as well as the Audit Committee’s decisions
or recommendations, unless there are legal or regulatory
restrictions on their abilities to do so (such as restriction on
disclosure due to regulatory requirements);
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EXERRS ()

)

to review arrangements employees of the Company can use,
in confidence, to raise concerns about possible improprieties
in financial reporting, internal control or other matters. The
Audit Committee should ensure that proper arrangements are
in place for fair and independent investigation of these matters
and for appropriate follow-up action;

to act as the key representative body for overseeing the
Company’s relations with the external auditor; and

to consider other matters, as defined or assigned by the Board
from time to time.

A total of 5 meetings of the Audit Committee were held during 2021.
The work performed by the Audit Committee during 2021 included
the following:

reviewed the annual report and results announcement of the
Company for the year ended 31 December 2020;

reviewed the interim report and interim results announcement
of the Company for the six months ended 30 June 2021;

reviewed the accounting principles and practices adopted by
the Group and other financial reporting matters;

reviewed the results of external audit and had discussion with
external auditors on any significant findings and audit issues;

reviewed the results of internal audit and had discussion with
internal auditors on any significant findings and internal control
issues;

discussed with the external auditors before the audit
commenced, the nature and scope of the audit and the
respective relevant issues; and

considered and approved the service contract of the external
auditors for the year ended 31 December 2021.
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The individual attendance of each member of the Audit Committee
was as follows:

EXERRS (B)

BEREEEEMENER HEXRN
-

Number of attendance

HERE

Dr Loke Yu (resigned on 10 June 2021) MESBMIEt (7220214645 10H §HE) 1

Professor Pei Ker Wei BREHE 5

Mr Zhang Huagiao R AL 5
Mr Fung Che Wai Anthony BERKE

(appointed on 26 November 2021) (72202111526 H EZ1T) 1

GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE

The Company has set up the Governance Committee and the terms
of reference adopted complied with the requirement of the Listing

Rules.

The chairman of the Governance Committee is Mr Shi Zhongan (an
executive Director). The remaining members are Mr Zhang Jiangang
(an executive Director), Ms Shen Tiaojuan (an executive Director),
Professor Pei Ker Wei (an independent non-executive Director) and
Mr Zhang Huagiao (an independent non-executive Director).

The role and functions of the Governance Committee include the
following:

@)

to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices
on corporate governance and make recommendations to the
Board;

to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management of the
Company;

to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements of the
Company;

to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and
Directors; and

to review the Company’s compliance with the code provisions
under the CG Code and the disclosure in the Corporate
Governance Report.
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TEERRSE (@)

(K)

1 meeting of the Governance Committee was held during 2021.
The Governance Committee had reviewed the effectiveness of the
policies and practices on corporate governance for the Group,
discussed and reviewed the Board’s and the Group’s compliance
with the code provisions under the CG Code and the prevailing
Listing Rules during 2021.

The individual attendance of each member of the Governance
Committee was as follows:

R2021EEREZEERTIRNEH
EREEEEEEAEEREER
RERBENARE SmkERES
BRAEBN2021FERNETERT
AN Z PR EHRRIRYE R

S AEBERMERER EFEER

- MR

Number of attendance

HERH
Mr Shi Zhongan et 1
Mr Zhang Jiangang RERHH S 1
Ms Shen Tiaojuan LigIE 1
Professor Pei Ker Wei BREHE 1
Mr Zhang Huagiao R AL 1

The terms of reference of the Governance Committee are available
on the Company’s website.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES IN PREPARING
THE ACCOUNTS

The Directors acknowledge that they are responsible for the
preparation of accounts which give a true and fair view of the
Company and the Group.

The statement of the auditor of the Company about its reporting
responsibilities on the accounts of the Group is set out in the section
headed “Independent Auditor’s Report” in this annual report.
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INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT

The Board is responsible for maintaining sound and effective
internal control and risk management systems over the Group’s
asset and Shareholders’ interests, as well as for reviewing such
systems’ effectiveness on an annual basis. Such systems are
designed to provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance
against misstatement or loss, and to manage risks of failure in the
Group’s operational systems. The systems include a well-established
organisational structure with clearly defined lines of responsibility
and authority, which is designed to safeguard assets from
inappropriate use, maintain proper accounts and ensure compliance
with applicable laws and regulations. Regular reviews and internal
audits are carried out to monitor compliance with internal control
procedures focusing on those areas of the Group’s activities with the
greatest perceived risk.

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the Board along with the
Audit Committee have reviewed the effectiveness of the Group’s
internal control and risk management systems and was of the view
that the Group’s internal control and risk management systems were
effective and adequate. Such review had covered all material controls
including financial, operational and compliance controls and risk
management functions.

The Board and the Audit Committee have also reviewed the
adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and experience, training
programmes and budget of its accounting, internal audit and financial
reporting functions for 2021 and are satisfied with the results.

The Group also adopts procedures to manage the handling and
dissemination of inside information, so as to ensure that inside
information remains confidential until the disclosure of such
information is appropriately approved, and the dissemination of such
information is efficiently and consistently made.
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TEERRSE (@)

(M) COMPANY SECRETARY

(N)

Mr Pang Heung Fai was the company secretary of the Company,
appointed on 5 May 2021. The biography of Mr Pang is set out in
the section headed “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior
Management” of this annual report.

For the year ended 31 December 2021, Mr Pang had taken no less
than 15 hours of relevant professional training.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Convening extraordinary general meeting and putting
forward proposals at Shareholders’ meetings

Pursuant to article 64 of the Articles, an extraordinary general
meeting shall be convened on the written requisition of one or more
Shareholders made to Directors or the company secretary specifying
the objects of the meeting, provided that such requisitionists held as
at the date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the
paid up capital of the Company which carries the right of voting at
general meetings of the Company. Such meeting shall be held within
2 months after the deposit of such requisition. If the Board does not
within 21 days from the date of deposit of the requisition proceed
duly to convene the meeting, the requisitionist(s) themselves may
convene the extraordinary general meeting in the same manner and
all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of
the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to them by the Company.

Pursuant to article 113 of the Articles, if a Shareholder, who is
entitled to attend and vote at the relevant general meeting, wishes to
nominate a person (not being the nominating Shareholder) to stand
for election as a Director, he or she should lodge to the company
secretary notice in writing of the intention to propose a person for
election as a Director and notice in writing by that person of his/her
willingness to be so elected at least 7 clear days before the date of
such general meeting and the period for lodgement of such notices
shall commence no earlier than the day after the despatch of the
notice of such general meeting appointed for such election and shall
be at least 7 clear days in length.
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Detailed procedures for Shareholders to propose a person for
election as a Director are available on the Company’s website.

The Company welcomes enquiries from its Shareholders. The Board
or designated senior management or the company secretary will
review Shareholders’ enquiries on a regular basis. Specific enquiries
and suggestions by Shareholders can be sent in writing to the
Board or the company secretary by e-mail at ir@zafc.com or at the
address of the Company’s head office in the PRC or principal place
of business in Hong Kong.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During 2021, no amendments were made to the constitutional
documents of the Company.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company attaches great importance to communication
with the Shareholders. A number of means are used to promote
greater understanding and dialogue with the Shareholders.
The means of access includes the release by the Company of
the various corporate communication of the Company via the
website of the Stock Exchange and the website of the Company
(http://www.zhongangrouphk.com). Shareholders are encouraged
by the Company to attend general meetings of the Company where
the chairman of the Company and other members of the Board and
(if appropriate) the auditors of the Company are available to answer
questions. Shareholders are encouraged to communicate with the
Company for any enquiries in relation to the affairs of the Group.
Shareholders may contact the Company in writing to the Company’s
head office in the PRC or principal place of business in Hong Kong or
by e-mail at ir@zafc.com.

(@) General meetings

It is important that the Shareholders have access to clear and
meaningful data which enables them to have a constructive
dialogue with the Company. Shareholders can raise any
questions and comments on the performance or future
business directions of the Company and on any resolutions to
be considered at the annual general meeting and extraordinary
general meeting. The Audit Committee’s chairman was present
and available to answer questions raised at the annual general
meeting during the year.
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EXERRS ()

Results Presentation

Due to the coronavirus pandemic, the Company held the
annual results presentation respectively via live webcast
after the results announcements. The chairman and the
senior management of the Company participated in and
answered questions about the Group’s operation and financial
performance.

Investor conferences

The Company treasures every opportunity to communicate
with and explain its strategies to investors and Shareholders
through active participation in investors’ conferences hosted
by reputable investment banks, securities houses and research
institutes.

Ongoing communication with the investor
community

Face-to-face meetings on irregular basis and an ongoing
schedule of teleconferencing calls with institutional investors
and research analysts were held throughout the year.
Questions and comments on the Company raised at the
meetings were summarized and reported to the senior
management team after the meetings. Regular meetings with
research analysts were organized which provided a different
channel for the analysts to communicate with the members of
the Board. All these serve the multi-purposes of maintaining
market surveillance and close contact with investors as well as
gathering constructive suggestions from the capital market.

Arrange site visits and reverse roadshows

The Group from time to time arranged site visits to the Group’s
major property buildings for investors and analysts during
the year, which provided them not only the opportunities to
better understand the Group’s businesses, but also the daily
operations, and independent market surveillance.
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()  Electronic communication through the
Company’s website and professional investor
relations webpage

The Company’s website is www.zhongangrouphk.com
which contains important corporate data, Directors’ resume,
organizational structure, company news and other information.
The website contains a professional investor relations page,
which publishes information on interim and annual reports,
announcements and circulars, so that the Shareholders and
investment communities of the Company can obtain the latest
information about the Company in a timely manner.

For and on behalf of the Board
Zhong An Group Limited

Shi Zhongan
Chairman

The People’s Republic of China, 24 March 2022
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Biographical Details of Directors and
Senior Management

EEREREEAERE

DIRECTORS
Executive Directors

Mr Shi Zhongan, aged 59, is the chairman of the Company and an
executive Director. He also serves as the chairman of the Nomination
Committee and the Governance Committee. Mr Shi is also the chairman
and the non-executive director of CNC, a subsidiary of the Company,
whose shares are listed on the Stock Exchange. Mr Shi also holds
directorships in certain of the Company’s subsidiaries. Mr Shi is primarily
responsible for the strategic and development planning of the Group. He
also supervises project planning and the overall business operation. Mr
Shi joined the Group since the establishment of the first member of the
Group, Zhong An Group Co., Ltd. (formerly known as Zhejiang Zhong‘an
Property Development Co., Ltd.) (“Zhong An Group”). Mr Shi served
as a tax officer in the finance and revenue bureau of Xiaoshan District of
Hangzhou (formerly known as Xiaoshan City) and the general manager
of Hangzhou Xiaoshan Milkyway Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.
(“Milkyway Real Estate”). Mr Shi graduated from an Executive Master
of Business Administration program co-organized by the State University
of Arizona and Shanghai National Accounting College in June 2007. From
2005 to 2006, Mr Shi completed a program for executive officers, focusing
on globalization and real estate developers, co-organized by Harvard
University, Tsinghua University, The University of Hong Kong and the United
States Military Academy. In the same period, Mr Shi completed a program
for presidents of real estate companies organized by Zhejiang University. Mr
Shi obtained a doctorate degree in business administration jointly offered
by Shanghai Advanced Institute of Finance (SAIF) and the W. P. Carey
School of Business of Arizona State University (ASU), United States of
America in May 2017. Mr Shi has over 29 years of experience in property
development and property investment. Mr Shi is the sole director and the
sole shareholder of Whole Good Management Limited (“Whole Good”),
which is the controlling shareholder of the Group. Mr Shi is the father of Ms.
Shi Jinfan, an executive Director.
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EFREREEAERE (B)

Mr Zhang Jiangang, aged 52, an executive Director, was appointed as
the chief executive officer of the Company with effect from 23 August 2018,
and is a member of the Governance Committee. He also holds directorship
in a subsidiary of the Company. He is primarily in charge of strategy
implementation and operation management. Mr Zhang joined the Group
in March 2003. He served as the general manager and vice president of
Zhong An Group and the general manager and assistant to the chairman of
Anhui Zhong An Real Estate Co., Ltd. (a subsidiary of the Company). From
1995 to 2003, Mr Zhang served as the office manager, assistant to general
manager and vice general manager of Milkyway Real Estate. Mr Zhang has
27 years of experience in construction and property development.

Ms Shen Tiaojuan, aged 59, is an executive Director and the vice
president of the Company and also holds directorships in certain of its
subsidiaries. Ms Shen also serves as members of the Remuneration
Committee and the Governance Committee. She is primarily responsible
for the financial operation and fund management of the Group. She joined
the Group in December 1997. Prior to joining the Group, Ms Shen was the
chief accountant of White Swan Industry Co., Ltd. from 1995 to 1997, the
chief accountant of Hangzhou Hualing Electrics Co., Ltd. in 1994, and the
chief accountant and finance manager of Hangzhou Guanghua Chemical
Fibres Factory from 1980 to 1993. Ms Shen has 40 years of experience in
the financial operation of property development.

Ms Jin Ni, aged 46, has been appointed as an executive Director
responsible for human resources management, administrative management
and marketing operation with effect from 3 April 2020, and is a member
of the Remuneration Committee. She has over 21 years of experience in
sales, operations and management of commercial projects. She was the
deputy general manager, office manager and deputy sales manager from
August 1999 to October 2010 of Zhong An Group (an indirect non-wholly
owned subsidiary of the Company), the general manager of Hangzhou
Zhong An Highlong Commercial Buildings Co., Ltd. (an indirect non-wholly
owned subsidiary of the Company), from March 2006 to January 2010, the
assistant to the president of the Company from January 2010 to November
2010, the vice president of the Company from July 2011 to May 2014,
and the executive director and vice chairlady of the board of directors
of CNC from 9 July 2014 to 2 April 2020. Ms Jin graduated from the
Zhejiang University of Technology with a bachelor’'s degree in administrative
management.
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Ms Shi Jinfan, aged 29, joined the Company since 2015 and has been
appointed as an executive Director responsible for capital market operation
with effect from 3 April 2020. She has been the assistant to the president
of the Company since March 2018 and the vice president of Zhong An
Capital (a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company) since December
2018, responsible for equity investment business and assisting in the
management of asset management business of Zhong An Capital. Ms
Shi served as the assistant to the president of CNC and the assistant to
the president and general manager of Zhong An Movie and TV Culture
Development Co., Ltd. (an indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company) successively. Ms Shi graduated from Queen Mary University
of London with a bachelor’s degree in engineering. Mr Shi Zhongan, an
executive Director, is the father of Ms Shi.

Independent non-executive Directors

Professor Pei Ker Wei (“Professor Pei”) (PhD), aged 65, has been
an independent non-executive Director since 17 October 2007. He
also serves as the chairman of the Remuneration Committee and the
Audit Committee and members of the Nomination Committee and the
Governance Committee. Professor Pei worked as assistant professor,
associate professor and professor at Arizona State University, chairman of
North America Chinese Accounting Professors Academy and chairman of
the global commission of American Accounting Academy. He is currently a
member of the American Accounting Academy, he was the Executive Dean
of Chinese Programmes at the W.P. Carey School of Business of Arizona
State University, U.S. (2012-2018) and Associate Dean of the same school
between 2003-2012. Professor Pei is also serving as an independent
non-executive director of Want Want China Holdings Limited and Zhejiang
Expressway Co., Ltd., both companies shares are listed on the Stock
Exchange, and he had served as an independent non-executive director
of MMG Limited (a company listed on the Stock Exchange) between
2016-2019 and an independent director of Baoshan Iron & Steel Co., Ltd.,
(a company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange, between 2006-2019).
Professor Pei received his MBA from the Southern lllinois University, the
U.S. in 1981 and PhD from the University of North Texas, the U.S. in 1986.
Professor Pei has served as a consultant for a number of multi-national
companies, including Motorola Inc., Intel Corporation, Bank of America
Corporation, Dial Corporation, Raytheon Company, Cisco Systems Inc. and
Honeywell International Inc. Professor Pei is also an external director of
China Merchants Group.
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Mr Zhang Huagiao, aged 59, was appointed an independent non-
executive Director with effect from 1 January 2013. He also serves as
a member of the Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee, the
Governance Committee and the Remuneration Committee. Mr Zhang
graduated from the Graduate School of the People’s Bank of China with
a master’s degree in economics in 1986 and from the Australian Nationa
University with a master’s degree in economics in January 1991. Mr Zhang
has about 29 years of experience in the financial sector. He is currently
an independent non-executive director of Fosun International Limited,
Logan Property Holdings Company Limited, Luye Pharma Group Ltd.
and Radiance Holdings (Group) Company Limited, the shares of these
companies are all listed on the Stock Exchange. On 20 January 2020, he
resigned as chairman and non-executive director of China Smartpay Group
Holdings Limited, whose shares are listed on the Stock Exchange. On 28
May 2021, he resigned as an independent non-executive director of China
Huirong Financial Holdings Limited, a company listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange, and has been appointed as an independent non-
executive director of Haitong International Securities Group Limited, a
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, on the same
day.
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Mr Fung Che Wai Anthony (“Mr Fung”), aged 53, was appointed an
independent non-executive Director with effect from 26 November 2021.
He also serves as a member of the Audit Committee, the Nomination
Committee and the Remuneration Committee. Mr Fung has over 29
years of experience in accounting and corporate finance. He obtained his
bachelor’s degree in accountancy from Hong Kong Polytechnic University
in October 1992. He is a fellow member of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants (ACCA) and the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (HKICPA). From 1992 to 1999, Mr Fung successively
served as a staff accountant, semi senior accountant, senior accountant
and manager in Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, primarily focused on audit
planning and control. From 1999 to 2007, he was a director of Winsmart
Consultants Limited, where he mainly advised the clients on corporate
finance and investor relations related matters. From 2008 to 2010, Mr
Fung served as the vice president of NagaCorp Limited, a company listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 3918), where he
assisted in developing investor relations procedures, policies and strategies
for the company and in liaising with investors and analysts. From 2011 to
2014, Mr Fung was the chief financial officer and the company secretary
of Zall Development (Cayman) Holding Co., Ltd., now known as Zall
Smart Commence Group Ltd., a company listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange (stock code: 2098), where he was responsible for
financial and compliance matters. From 2014 to 2017, Mr Fung was the
chief financial officer and the company secretary of Kong Sun Holdings
Limited, a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 0295), where he was responsible for the overall financial
operation, company secretarial matters and investor relations. Since 2017,
he serves as the chief financial officer and the company secretary of Beijing
Enterprises Urban Resources Group Limited, a company listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 3718). Mr Fung served
as an independent non-executive director of S&P International Holding
Limited, a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock
code: 1695) from July 2017 to October 2021. He currently serves as an
independent non-executive director of each of FY Financial (Shenzhen) Co.,
Ltd., a company listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange (stock code:
8452), and KWG Living Group Holdings Limited, a company listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 3913).

Zhong An Group Limited 2021 Annual Report

BEEREE (VB E)) » 5358 122022511
Ho6HEZTABIUIENTES -tk
EEZEES RELEZEGATNEE TN
B BRER S RATIME L mES #29
FERB-HN—NN_E+ABEHBELK
BREESENABET B HAEEISH AR
A GREBEHIATHNEFEE
BE—ANZEE-AANE BEREREH
S EBMABRETG T TEAR PR
G SR RSIE T EEENE
et RER - B—AANEE-_STS+
FEoFRAB R EBRERARBRIES
FERCEMERKREEMARBAEER
EEFRHER - B_ZENEE_T—F
FEoERERERIERBRATE (—RIPH
REFER ETHAE BRH MRS 3918)) &
RIS BB ASIREREEMFRRER
BUER R SRS A R BA R EE B e D AT BBt 4% o B
TE——FECTUFEOERENREHE
B (M2 ERERAE (RBAESHEHE
BEARAT — KRB EREHHNAT
(BR1D1L5% - 2098) ) EEERMBERA
INE aEMEREGREE-B-2—M@
EECE—+E BRENTLERERA
B (—RPRBXFAENRLETHNAT @RDA
%0 0205)) EEEREMBERAAMNSE
EEERUKEE NENEEERRES
R BT —tFiE HAILZEHRHER
EEERAE (—RPBRZFAERLETHAR
3 (BR1P1LE - 3718)) ETXTEEMBER
NEMEEREB _E—HELtRE_E
T—E+ARBEERSRAD RN
RETENR ETHAE BRBIE 1 1695)) i
EBIUIERITEZ - HIED N =REE
& CRI) BRAR (—RIPZFGEM L
BAT (BBDHSE: 8452)) REaRIKEEHR
ZERAERAE (—RPBRZMAERLETHAR
B (BR1P1LEE © 3913)) EEBIUIENTE
go



Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management (Continued)

EFREREEAERE (B)

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr Jin Jianrong, aged 53, is the vice president of the Company and also
holds directorships in certain of its subsidiaries. He is in charge of project
operation management of the Group. He joined the Group in September
2004, and served as an executive Director. Prior to joining the Group, he
was the deputy general manager in charge of construction matters of
Zhejiang Lvdu Real Estate Development Company from 2003 to 2004, and
a construction manager of Zhejiang Wanxiang Real Estate Company from
1997 to 2002. He was responsible for project management of Hangzhou
Xiaoshan Milkyway Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. from 1995 to 1997,
and was a project manager and worker of Xuxian Construction Co., Ltd.
from 1987 to 1994. Mr Jin received a bachelor’s degree in civil engineering
and management from the Sichuan University in 2006. He has about 34
years of experience in operation and management of property companies.

Mr Shi Haibin, aged 48, is the vice president of the Company, and
responsible for engineering management and cost management of the
company. Mr Shi joined the Group in September 2019. Prior to this,
he served as the deputy general manager of east China region and the
deputy general manager of Shanghai business division of C&D Real Estate
Corporation Limited from October 2015 to March 2019. Mr Shi obtained a
master’s degree in MBA from Xiamen university in 2003. He has 26 years
of experience in real estate management.
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Mr Shi Nanlu, aged 39, has been appointed as an executive director
and chief executive officer of CNC with effect from 3 April 2020. He is
responsible for the daily operation and management, strategic investments
and new business exploration of CNC. He joined the Group in June 2010.
He has served as the manager of the capital management department,
manager of the fund management department and deputy director of the
Group. He has been a vice president of CNC since June 2015. He has
many years of experience in financial management. Mr Shi received his
undergraduate degree in finance and accounting from The University of
Manitoba in Canada in June 2007.

Mr Liu Bo, aged 34, has been appointed as the executive director and
vice president of CNC with effect from 3 April 2020. He is responsible
for overall daily operations and management of CNC. He joined CNC
in July 2016. Prior to this, he worked in the investment department of
He Jun Capital from December 2012 to July 2013, and in the business
development department of Wan Xiang Trust from August 2013 to June
2016. He has many years of experience in financial investment and fund
management. Mr Liu holds a Master’s Degree in Actuarial Science from the
Boston University in December 2012.

Mr Pang Heung Fai, aged 49, is the chief financial officer and company
secretary of the Company, has over 10 years of experience in holding
senior financial management positions in a couple of Hong Kong and
overseas listed companies of different industries. Mr. Pang graduated from
the Hong Kong Polytechnic University with degrees of Bachelor of Science,
Bachelor of Arts and Master of Corporate Finance, and obtained the
degree of Juris Doctor from the Chinese University of Hong Kong. Mr. Pang
is a fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants
(FCCA).
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The Directors are pleased to present their annual report to Shareholders
and the audited financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2021.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company’s principal activity is investment holding. The principal
activities of the Group are property development, leasing and hotel
operation. The nature of the principal activities has not changed during the
year under review.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Group’s profit for the year under review and the state of affairs of the
Company and the Group at that date are set out in the financial statements
on pages 114 to 121.

The Board proposed not to declare a final dividend for the year 2021 (2020:
Nil).

SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the published results and assets, liabilities and non-
controlling interests of the Group for the last five financial years, as
extracted from the audited financial statements and restated/reclassified as
appropriate, is set out on page 300. This summary does not form part of
the audited financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW, FINANCIAL KEY PERFORMANCE
INDICATORS AND FUTURE DEVELOPMENT

A discussion on the business review of the Group and an analysis of the
performance of the Group based on certain financial key performance
indicators for the year under review are set out in the section headed
“Management Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report.
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PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT AND INVESTMENT
PROPERTIES

Details of movements in the property and equipment and investment
properties of the Group and the Company during the year under review are
set out in notes 12 and 13 to the financial statements respectively. Further
details of the Group’s investment properties are set out on pages 205 to
221.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS

Details of the movements in the ordinary Shares and share options of the
Company during the year under review are set out respectively in notes 34
and 35 to the financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company
during the year under review are set out in the consolidated statement of
changes in equity and note 36 to the financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2021, the Company’s accumulated losses amounted
to RMB307,876,000 and the Company’s share premium amounted to
RMB2,989,383,000. By passing an ordinary resolution of the Company,
dividends may also be declared and paid out of share premium account
or any other fund or account which can be authorized for this purpose in
accordance with the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company may distribute dividends by way of cash or by other
means that the Board considers appropriate. Any proposed distribution of
dividends is subject to the discretion of the Board and, where applicable,
the approval of the Shareholders. The Board will consider various factors
before declaring or recommending any payment of dividends. These
factors include the results of operation of the business of the Group, the
retained earnings and distributable reserves of the Company and each
of the members of the Group, the Group’s actual and expected financial
performance, the general business conditions and strategies, the Group’s
expected working capital requirements and future expansion plans, the
general economic conditions and business cycle of the Group’s business,
the future prospects of the business of the Group, Shareholders’ interests,
statutory and regulatory restrictions on the payment of dividend and other
internal or external factors that the Board deems appropriate.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

A)

Zhong An Group Limited — the Scheme

On 15 May 2009, the Shareholders approved the adoption of a share
option scheme (the “Scheme”) of the Company pursuant to and in
compliance with the requirements of Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.
The salient terms of the rules of the Scheme are set out below:

1. Purpose of the Scheme:

As incentives or rewards to the eligible participants under the
Scheme for their contribution to the Group.

2. Participants of the Scheme:

(@ any employee (whether full time or part time, including
any executive Director but excluding any non-executive
Director) of the Company or any of its subsidiaries or
any equity entity (the “Invested Entity”) in which any
members of the Group holds an equity interest;

(b) any non-executive Directors (including independent
non-executive Directors) of the Company or any of its
subsidiaries or any Invested Entity;

(c) any supplier of goods or services to any member of the
Group or any Invested Entity;

(d) any customer of any member of the Group or any
Invested Entity;

(e)  any person or entity that provides research, development
or other technological support to any member of the
Group or any Invested Entity;
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(f) any Shareholder of any member of the Group or any
Invested Entity or any holder of any securities issued by
any member of the Group or any Invested Entity;

(@ any adviser (professional or otherwise) or consultant to
any area of business or business development of any
member of the Group or any Invested Entity; and

(h)  any other group or classes of participants who have
contributed or may contribute by way of joint venture,
business alliance or other business arrangement to the
development and growth of the Group.

Maximum number of Shares available for subscription:

The maximum number of Shares which may be allotted and
issued upon exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet
to be exercised under the Scheme and any other share option
schemes adopted by the Group shall not exceed 30 per cent.
of the share capital of the Company in issue from time to time.

Subject to the rules of the Scheme, the Company may seek
approval of its Shareholders in general meeting to refresh the
General Scheme Limit (as referred to in paragraph 4 below)
provided that the total number of Shares which may be allotted
and issued upon exercise of all options to be granted under the
Scheme and any other share option scheme(s) of the Group
must not exceed 10% of the Shares in issue as at the date of
approval of the refreshed limit. For the purpose of calculating
the refreshed limit, such options (including those outstanding,
cancelled, lapsed or exercised in accordance with the Scheme
and any other share option scheme(s) of the Group) previously
granted under the Scheme and any other share option
scheme(s) of the Group will not be counted.
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Total number of Shares available for issue under the Scheme:

The total number of Shares which may be allotted and issued
upon the exercise of all options (excluding such options
which have lapsed in accordance with the terms of the
Scheme and any other share option scheme(s) of the Group)
to be granted under the Scheme and any other share option
scheme(s) of the Group must not in aggregate exceed 10%
of the Shares in issue on the date of approval of the Scheme
(the “General Scheme Limit") or upon the date of approval
of the refreshment of the General Scheme Limit (and, in the
case of the Company, not exceeding 236,763,540 Shares
(the “Refreshed General Scheme Limit”), representing 10%
of the total issued share capital of the Company as at 23
September 2013).

As disclosed in the announcement dated 12 October 2017, the
Bonus Issue (details of which are contained in the Company’s
circular dated 8 September 2017) was made on the basis
of one Bonus Share for every one existing Share held by
qualifying Shareholders whose names are on the register
of members of the Company on the record date (that is, 4
October 2017). As at the record date, the Company had
2,918,298,400 Shares in issue and, accordingly, an aggregate
of 2,918,298,400 bonus Shares were issued under the bonus
issue on 12 October 2017 on the above basis. As a result of
the bonus issue, the exercise price of such outstanding options
and the number of Shares to be allotted and issued upon
full exercise of the subscription rights attaching thereto were
adjusted pursuant to the terms of the Scheme. On 12 October
2017, the adjusted number of Shares that can be subscribed
for upon exercise of the outstanding options in full immediately
after the bonus issue was 360,933,322 Shares.
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Maximum entitlement of each participant under the Scheme:

The total number of Shares issued and which may fall to
be issued upon the exercise of the options granted under
the Scheme and other share option scheme(s) of the Group
(if any) (including both exercised or outstanding options) to
each participant in any 12-month period shall not exceed
1 per cent of the issued share capital of the Company for
the time being (the “Individual Limit"). Any further grant
of options, which would result in the Shares issued and to
be issued upon exercise of all options granted and to be
granted to such participant (including exercised, cancelled and
outstanding options) under the Scheme and other share option
scheme(s) of the Group (if any), in any 12-month period up to
and including the date of such further grant in excess of the
Individual Limit shall be subject to Shareholders’ approval in
general meeting of the Company with such participant and his
associates abstaining from voting.

Amount payable on acceptance of option:

A nominal amount of HK$1 is payable upon acceptance of the
grant of an option.

Minimum period for which an option must be held before it can
be exercised and the exercise period of the option:

Unless otherwise determined by the Directors and stated in
the offer to a grantee, there is no minimum period under the
Scheme for the holding of an option before it can be exercised.
An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of
the Scheme at any time during a period to be determined and
notified by the Directors to the relevant grantee, which period
may commence on a day after the date upon which the offer
for the grant of options is made but shall end in any event not
later than 10 years from the date of grant of the option subject
to the provisions of early termination thereof.
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8. Basis of determining the exercise price of an option:

Directors’ Report (Continued)

The exercise price shall be determined by the Directors but
shall not be less than the highest of the nominal value of the
Shares; the closing price of the Shares on the Stock Exchange
on the date of grant; and the average closing price of the
Shares on the Stock Exchange for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of the offer for the grant.

9. Performance targets:

Unless the Directors otherwise determined and stated in the
offer for the grant of the options to a grantee, a grantee is not
required to achieve any performance targets before any options
granted under the Scheme can be exercised.

10. Life of the Scheme:

The Scheme was expired on 14 May 2019.

OUTSTANDING OPTIONS UNDER THE SCHEME

Details of options (the “Options”) granted under the Scheme and
outstanding at the beginning and at the end of the year under review are as

10.
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follows:
Outstanding at
Outstanding at Number of 31 December Exercise price
1 January 2021 Options Number of 2021 of Option
20215 exercised Options lapsed 1R20215F Date of HKS$ per Share
Name of participants 1818 BT BEX 12A31H  Options granted Exercise period BIRETEE
SHERR HRATHE FEREHE e A B RTE i =hC] Eoxid il SRET
Category 1: Directors 4,600,000 - (4,600,000) - 22 January 2011 22 January 2014 to 0.93
FE B 2011515228 21 January 2021
Shi Zhongan 20145158220 %
iilaskeS 202118218
(Note 1)
(Haz1)
4,600,000 - (4,600,000) -
Shen Tiaojuan 2,400,000 - (2,400,000) - 22 January 2011 22 January 2014 to 0.93
PR3] 2011515228 21 January 2021
2014FE182HE
2021518218
(Note 1)
(Haz1)
2,400,000 - (2,400,000) -
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Outstanding at
Outstanding at Number of 31 December Exercise price
1 January 2021 Options Number of 2021 of Option
120215 exercised Options lapsed #2021 Date of HK$ per Share
Name of participants 1818 B BEX 128310 Options granted  Exercise period BRETEE
SHERR HRITHE BREYE BREYE KT i =P i Eeyid il BikET
Zhang Jiangang 2,200,000 - (2,200,000) — 22 January 2011 22 January 2014 to 0.93
TRE 2011515228 21 January 2021
2014518220 F
2021516218
(Note 1)
(Hfzt1)
2,200,000 - (2,200,000) -
Jin Ni 1,800,000 - (1,800,000 - 22 January 2011 22 January 2014 to 0.93
E 2011515228 21 January 2021
201451822HF
2021518218
(Note 1)
(Hfzt1)
1,800,000 - (1,800,000) -
Professor Pei Ker Wei 600,000 S (600,000) S 22 January 2011 22 January 2014 to 0.93
BREHE 2011516228 21 January 2021
201451822HE
2021518218
(Note 1)
(Hfzt1)
600,000 - (600,000) -
Dr Loke Yu (Note 3) 600,000 - (600,000) - 22 January 2011 22 January 2014 to 0.93
MEsMIEL (as) 2011518228 21 January 2021
201451822HE
2021518218
(Note 1)
(Hfzt1)
600,000 - (600,000) -
12,200,000 - (12,200,000) -
Category 2: Employees 13,000,000 - (18,000,000) - 22 January 2011 22 January 2014 to 0.93
%058 ER 2011€1822H 21 January 2021
2014F15228E
202118218
(Note 1)
(1)
13,000,000 - (13,000,000) -
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Outstanding at
Outstanding at Number of 31 December Exercise price
1 January 2021 Options Number of 2021 of Option
120215 exercised Options lapsed #2021 Date of HK$ per Share
Name of participants 1818 B BEX 128310 Options granted  Exercise period BRETEE
SHENR HRITHE BREYE BREYE W RITEE RHBEH e BRET
Category 3: Suppliers 67,000,000 - (67,000,000) - 22 January 2011 22 January 2014 to 0.93
of goods or services 2011515228 21 January 2021
$38 | EmARBRMED 201415220 %
2021518218
(Note 1)
(Hfzt1)
67,000,000 - (67,000,000 -
Category 4: Others 29,200,000 - (29,200,000) - 22 January 2011 22 January 2014 to 0.93
S48 Efth 201118228 21 January 2021
201451822HF
2021518218
(Note 1)
(Hfzt1)
51,000,000 - - 51,000,000 10 July 2013 10 July 2013 to 0.73
2013%7H10H 9 July 2023
201357H10HE
2023%7H9H
(Note 2)
(Hizt2)
80,200,000 - (29,200,000) 51,000,000
Total 172,400,000 - - 51,000,000
st
Notes: ez -

1. On 22 January 2011, the Company had granted 80,000,000 Options

which may be exercisable after three years from the date of grant (the
“Lock-in Period”) provided that the Grantee has achieved the prescribed
performance target during the Lock-in Period and has passed the
Company’s assessment, and be exercisable before the expiry of the
Option Period on 21 January 2021. The closing price of the Share
immediately before the date of granting the Options was HK$1.85 per
Share.

On 10 July 2013, the Company had granted 78,000,000 Options which
may be exercisable between 10 July 2013 and 9 July 2023. The closing
price of the Share immediately before the date of granting the Options
was HK$1.43 per Share.

Dr. Loke Yu resigned on 10 June 2021.
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Other details of the Scheme are set out in the section headed “Directors’
and Chief Executives’ interests in securities of the Company” and note 35
to the financial statements.

(B) Zhong An Group Limited — the New Share Option
Scheme

On 6 June 2019, the Shareholders approved the adoption of a
new share option scheme (the “New Share Option Scheme”) of
the Company pursuant to and in compliance with the requirements
of Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules. No share option was granted,
lapsed, exercised or cancelled by the Company under the New Share
Option Scheme during the year ended 31 December 2021.

The salient terms of the rules of the New Share Option Scheme are
set out below:

1.  Purpose of the New Share Option Scheme:

The purpose of the New Share Option Scheme is to enable
the Group to grant options to the Eligible Participants referred
to in paragraph (2) below to recognize and reward their
contributions and as incentives for retaining them for their
contribution or potential contribution to the Group for the long-
term growth and development of the Group.

2. Participants of the New Share Option Scheme:

The Directors may, at their absolute discretion, invite any
person belonging to any of the following classes of participants
(the “Eligible Participants”) to take up options to subscribe
for Shares:

(@ any employee (whether full time or part time, including
any executive director but excluding any non-executive
director) of the Company, any of its subsidiaries, or any
entity (the “Invested Entity”) in which any member of
the Group holds any equity interest;
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any non-executive directors (including independent
non-executive directors) of the Company, any of its
subsidiaries or any Invested Entity;

any supplier of goods or services to any member of the
Group or any Invested Entity;

any customer of the Group or any Invested Entity;

any person or entity that provides research, development
or other technological support to the Group or any
Invested Entity;

any shareholder of any member of the Group or any
Invested Entity or any holder of any securities issued by
any member of the Group or any Invested Entity;

any adviser (professional or otherwise) or consultant to
any area of business or business development of any
member of the Group or any Invested Entity; and

any person or entity who has contributed or may
contribute as a party to any joint venture, business
alliance or other business arrangement with the Group to
the overall development and growth of the Group.
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Maximum number of Shares available for subscription:

The maximum number of Shares which may be allotted and
issued upon exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet
to be exercised under the New Share Option Scheme and any
other share option schemes adopted by the Group shall not
exceed 30 per cent. of the relevant class of securities of the
Company in issue from time to time.

Subject to the rules of the New Share Option Scheme, the
Company may seek approval of its Shareholders in general
meeting to refresh the New General Scheme Limit (as referred
to in paragraph 4 below) provided that the total number of
Shares which may be allotted and issued upon exercise of all
options to be granted under the New Share Option Scheme
and any other share option scheme(s) of the Group must not
exceed 10% of the Shares in issue as at the date of approval
of the refreshed limit. For the purpose of calculating the
refreshed limit, such options (including those outstanding,
cancelled, lapsed or exercised in accordance with the New
Share Option Scheme and any other share option scheme(s)
of the Group) previously granted under the New Share Option
Scheme and any other share option scheme(s) of the Group
will not be counted.

Total number of Shares available for issue under the
New Share Option Scheme:

The total number of Shares which may be allotted and issued
upon the exercise of all options (excluding such options which
have lapsed in accordance with the terms of the New Share
Option Scheme and any other share option scheme(s) of the
Group) to be granted under the New Share Option Scheme
and any other share option scheme(s) of the Group must not
in aggregate exceed 10% of the Shares in issue on the date
of approval of the New Share Option Scheme (the “New
General Scheme Limit”) or upon the date of approval of the
refreshment of the New General Scheme Limit (and, in the
case of the Company, not exceeding 581,039,080 Shares (the
“Refreshed New General Scheme Limit”), representing 10%
of the total issued share capital of the Company as at 6 June
2019). As at 31 December 2021, the number of Shares that
remained available for issue under the Refreshed New General
Scheme Limit was 581,039,080.
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Maximum entitlement of each participant under the
New Share Option Scheme:

The total number of Shares issued and which may fall to be
issued upon the exercise of the options granted under the
New Share Option Scheme and any other schemes of the
Group (including both exercised or outstanding Options) to
each grantee in any 12-month period shall not exceed 1% of
the relevant class of securities of the Company in issue (the
“Individual Limit”). Any further grant of options in excess of
the Individual Limit in any 12-month period up to and including
the date of such further grant must be separately approved
by the Shareholders in general meeting of the Company with
such grantee and his close associates (or his associates if such
grantee is a connected person of the Company) abstaining
from voting.

Amount payable on acceptance of option:

A nominal consideration of HK$1 is payable on acceptance of
the grant of an option.

Minimum period for which an option must be held
before it can be exercised and the exercise period of
the option:

An option may be accepted by a participant within 21 days
from the date of the offer for grant of the option.

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of
the New Share Option Scheme at any time during a period to
be determined and notified by the Directors to each grantee,
which period may commence from the date of acceptance of
the offer for the grant of options but shall end in any event not
later than 10 years from the date of grant of the option subject
to the provisions for early termination thereof. Unless otherwise
determined by the Directors and stated in the offer for the grant
of options to a grantee, there is no minimum period required
under the New Share Option Scheme for the holding of an
option before it can be exercised.
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8. Basis of determining the exercise price of an option:

The subscription price for Shares under the New Share Option
Scheme shall be a price determined by the Directors but shall
not be less than the highest of (i) the closing price of Shares
as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on
the date of the offer for grant, which must be a business day;
(i) the average closing price of Shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheet for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of the offer for the grant; and
(iii) the nominal value of a Share.

9. Performance targets:

Unless the Directors otherwise determined and stated in
the offer of the grant of options to a grantee, a grantee is
not required to achieve any performance targets before any
options granted under the New Share Option Scheme can be
exercised. No performance targets are specifically stipulated
under the New Share Option Scheme.

10. Life of the New Share Option Scheme:

The New Share Option Scheme will remain in force for a period
of 10 years commencing on the date on which the New Share
Option Scheme is adopted and will therefore expire on 5 June
2029.

(C) China New City Commercial Development Limited —
the CNC Scheme

On 20 May 2015, the shareholders of the Company approved the
adoption of a share option scheme (the “CNC Scheme”) of CNC,
a non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company incorporated in
the Cayman Islands whose issued shares are listed on the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 1321). The adoption of the CNC Scheme was
also approved by the shareholders of CNC on 20 May 2015. The
salient terms of the rules of the CNC Scheme are set out below:
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Purpose of the CNC Scheme

As incentives or rewards to the eligible participants under the
CNC Scheme for their contribution to the CNC Group.

Participants of the CNC Scheme

(@ any employee (whether full-time or part-time, including
any executive director but excluding any non-executive
director) of CNC, any of CNC'’s subsidiaries or any entity
(the “CNC Invested Entity”) in which any member of the
CNC Group holds an equity interest (the “CNC Eligible
Employees’);

(b) any non-executive directors (including independent
non-executive directors) of CNC, any of the CNC’s
subsidiaries or any CNC Invested Entity;

(c) any supplier of goods or services to any member of the
CNC Group or any CNC Invested Entity;

(d) any customer of any member of the CNC Group or any
CNC Invested Entity;

(e)  any person or entity that provides research, development
or other technological support to any member of the
CNC Group or any CNC Invested Entity;

) any adviser (professional or otherwise) or consultant to
any area of business or business development of any
member of the CNC Group or any CNC Invested Entity;
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(@ any other group or classes of participants who have
contributed or may contribute by way of joint venture,
business alliance or other business arrangement to the
development and growth of the CNC Group;

and, for the purposes of the CNC Scheme, the offer for the
grant of CNC option may be made to any company wholly
owned by one or more persons belonging to any of the above
classes of participants.

Maximum number of shares of CNC (the “CNC
Shares”) available for subscription

The maximum number of CNC Shares which may be issued
upon the exercise of all outstanding CNC options granted and
yet to be exercised under the CNC Scheme and any other
share option scheme(s) adopted by the CNC Group must not
in aggregate exceed 30% of the share capital of CNC in issue
from time to time.

Subject to the rules of the CNC Scheme, CNC may seek
approval of its shareholders in general meeting to refresh the
CNC General Scheme Limit (as referred to in paragraph 4
below) provided that the total number of CNC Shares which
may be allotted and issued upon exercise of all CNC options to
be granted under the CNC Scheme and any other share option
scheme(s) of the CNC Group must not exceed 10% of the
CNC Shares in issue as at the date of approval of the refreshed
limit. For the purpose of calculating the refreshed limit, such
CNC options (including those outstanding, cancelled, lapsed or
exercised in accordance with the CNC Scheme and any other
share option scheme(s) of the CNC Group) previously granted
under the CNC Scheme and any other share option scheme(s)
of the CNC Group will not be counted.
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Total number of CNC Shares available for issue under
the CNC Scheme

The total number of CNC Shares which may be allotted and
issued upon the exercise of all CNC options (excluding such
CNC options which have lapsed in accordance with the terms
of the CNC Scheme and any other share option scheme(s) of
the CNC Group) to be granted under the CNC Scheme and
any other share option scheme(s) of the CNC Group must not
in aggregate exceed 10% of the CNC Shares in issue on the
date of approval of the CNC Scheme on 20 May 2015 (that is,
not exceeding 173,800,000 CNC Shares, representing 10% of
the total issued share capital of CNC as at that date) (the “CNC
General Scheme Limit"). As at 31 December 2021, the
number of CNC Shares that remained available for issue under
the CNC Scheme was 173,800,000.

Maximum entitlement of each participant under the
CNC Scheme

The total number of CNC Shares issued and which may fall
to be issued upon the exercise of the options granted under
the CNC Scheme and any other share option scheme(s) of the
CNC Group (including both exercised or outstanding options)
to each grantee in any 12-month period shall not exceed 1% of
the issued share capital of CNC for the time being (the “CNC
Individual Limit”). Any further grant of CNC options in excess
of the CNC Individual Limit in any 12-month period up to and
including the date of such further grant must be separately
approved by the CNC shareholders in general meeting with
such grantee and his associates abstaining from voting.

Amount payable on acceptance of CNC option

A nominal consideration of HK$1 is payable on acceptance of
the grant of a CNC option.
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10.

11.

Minimum period for which a CNC option must be held
before it can be exercised and the exercise period of a
CNC option

Unless otherwise determined by the CNC directors and stated
in the offer to a grantee, there is no minimum period under the
CNC Scheme for the holding of a CNC option before it can
be exercised. A CNC option may be exercised in accordance
with the terms of the CNC Scheme at any time during a period
to be determined and notified by the CNC directors to the
relevant grantee, which period may commence on a day after
the date upon which the offer for the grant of CNC options is
made but shall end in any event not later than 10 years from
the date of grant of the CNC option subject to the provisions of
early termination thereof.

Performance targets

Unless the CNC directors otherwise determined and stated in
the offer for the grant of CNC options to a grantee, a grantee
is not required to achieve any performance targets before
any CNC options granted under the CNC Scheme can be
exercised.

Basis of determining the exercise price of a CNC
option

The exercise price shall be a price determined by the CNC
directors but shall not be less than the highest of the nominal
value of a CNC Share; the closing price of the CNC Shares on
the Stock Exchange; and the average closing price of CNC
Shares on the Stock Exchange for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of the offer for the grant.

Life of the CNC Scheme

The CNC Scheme will expire on 19 May 2025.

Outstanding Options under the CNC Scheme

CNC had not granted any options under the CNC Scheme
during the year under review.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles or the
Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, which would oblige the Company
to offer new Shares on a pro rata basis to existing Shareholders.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

Aggregate sales attributable to the five largest customers of the Group
accounted for less than 30% of the Group’s total revenue for the year
under review.

Aggregate purchases from to the five largest suppliers of the Group
accounted for less than 30% of the Group’s total purchases for the year
under review.

DIRECTORS AND DIRECTORS’
CONTRACTS

SERVICE

The Directors during the year under review and up to the date of this report
were as follows:

Executive Directors
Mr Shi Zhongan

Mr Zhang Jiangang
Ms Shen Tiaojuan
Ms Jin Ni

Ms Shi Jinfan

Independent non-executive Directors

Professor Pei Ker Wei

Dr Loke Yu (alias Loke Hoi Lam) (resigned on 10 June 20217)
Mr Zhang Huagiao

Mr Fung Che Wai Anthony (appointed on 26 November 2021)

In accordance with article 108(A) and 108(B) of the Articles, Ms Jin Ni,
Ms Shi Jinfan and Professor Pei Ker Wei will retire by rotation at the
forthcoming annual general meeting (the “AGM”), and being eligible will
offer themselves for re-election at the AGM. In accordance with article 112
of the Articles, Mr Fung Che Wai Anthony will retire and, being eligible, will
offer himself for re-election at the AGM.
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No Director (including the Directors proposed to be re-elected at the AGM)
has a service contract with the Company which is not determinable by the
Company within one year without payment of compensation, other than
statutory compensation.

The Company has received, from each of the independent non-executive
Directors, an annual confirmation of his/her independence pursuant to
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and the Company still considers all of the
independent non-executive Directors to be independent.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS AND CONTRACTS

There was no transaction, arrangement or contract of significance
subsisting during or at the end of the year under review in which a Director
(or an entity connected with a Director) either directly or indirectly, is or was
materially interested.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors and senior management of the Group
are set out in the section headed “Biographical Details of Directors and
Senior Management” of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

Details of the Directors’ emoluments on a named basis are set out in note 8
to the financial statements.

Remuneration for each of the Directors are determined based on, among
others, emoluments paid by comparable companies, his/her time of
commitment and responsibilities towards the Company and whether
the remuneration package is competitively attractive to retain him/her as
director.

The Company and CNC has each maintained a share option scheme for
the purpose of providing incentives and rewards to the eligible participants
for their contributions to the Group.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, no emoluments were paid by
the Group to any of the Directors or the five highest paid individuals as an
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss
of office.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S REMUNERATION SR EIEA B
The remuneration of the members of the senior management by band for HE2021F12H31H LA SHREEAS
the period ended 31 December 2021 is set out below: ZEBNARRIE R
Number
of persons
A
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 75 £ 1,500,000 70 3
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 75 22,000,000/ 75 1
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2,000,001 7t 2,500,000 7T 1

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS EZERTIETBASNAEAFE

IN SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY FHYE =

As at 31 December 2021, to the best knowledge of the Company, the R2021F12831H  IBARBIMMA EE X
interests and short positions of the Directors and chief executives of the KRB EBITHRAERARA REMEHE
Company in the Shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company B (RESRPERG (B RBEEG)
or any associated corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the BEXVELFRTE 2 &) 2 B~ RIS R E

Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”)) as recorded in the register HEER AL ARES SR AEKRAIFHEI52
required to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified BREEZELMzEAERRRE > WIkIE
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for THRAINEES T EITAERETS

Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers set out in Appendix RGZIEEFHBABTNERNAD R
10 to the Listing Rules, were as follows: Frz R EBNMT !
(1) Long positions in Shares of the Company 1) RAEABRMOITFE
Number of Shares held and nature of interest in the Company: RAEARBDFENRMDEE DM
= -

Approximate
percentage of

Capacity and Number and interest (Note 2) Long/Short
Name of Director  nature of interest class of securities held REEREA position
BEEiMS B RkiEEEE FrFsE s 8B KRR B drz2) W %R
Mr Shi Zhongan Interest of controlled 3,262,411,200 Shares of HK$0.1 57.89% Long
corporation (Note 1) each in the share capital of the
Company
ik REGEEER (1) EREIRARGREEIETZ Y]
3,262,411,2008% f& 15
Notes: (1)  These Shares are held by Whole Good, the entire issued MiaE: (1) LEHERAHDBEWhole Good
share capital of which is solely and beneficially owned by B HE2PERTREARS
Mr Shi Zhongan. Mr Shi Zhongan is the sole director of HE R EE RS i
Whole Good. R4 2Whole GoodHd
M—EEo
(2)  The calculation is based on the total number of @ Z=B a2k RER®
5,635,809,800 Shares in issue as at 31 December 2021. 2021512831 HE#
5,635,809,8008% B 217 5%
HmstERE

REEBARRE T —FFK 99
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(2) Long positions in underlying shares of the Company:

As at 31 December 2021, none of the Directors and chief executives
of the Company had or were deemed under the SFO to have any
interests or short positions in the Shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of SFO) as recorded in the register
required to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the

Model Code.

(8) Long positions in shares of the associated
corporation

Number of shares held and nature of interest in CNC, a non-wholly
owned subsidiary of the Company, whose shares are listed on the

Stock Exchange:

@

AR EHERARMDBIT R !

R2021F12B31H > EERARNE +
BITHAEMER QNS REBE X
B (REH R BEERASEXVEBFTIEZ
W) 2B ERARD R EREEES
B ARIEE H R HE KA 553521%
GFEZERMzEAERIRAE X
RIFIZZEFRI BB TG AA B Bt
R 2 A ARERmERE -

REAZEARRMDIEE
RAARIF2EMBATFEH RS

(R P BE PR 7)) PR IR 19 B
BriEmMtE :

Approximate

Capacity and Number and class of percentage of Long/Short

Name of Director  nature of interest securities held interest position

EENEY BRREDEE FRFiE 58 B RER AT WA

Mr Shi Zhongan Interest of controlled 31,308,594 shares of HK$0.1 1.56% Long
corporation (Note) each in the capital of CNC

skt REGEEER (1a) REHB TR AREREE wE

0.17%752.31,303,594 8% f& 1%

Note: These shares are held by Whole Good, the entire issued share
capital of which is solely and beneficially owned by Mr Shi
Zhongan. Mr Shi Zhongan is the sole director of Whole Good.

CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

No contracts of significance in relation to the Group’s business in which the
Company, any of its subsidiaries, fellow subsidiaries or its parent company
was a party and in which a Director had a material interest, whether directly

or indirectly, subsisted during or at the end of the year under review.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTEREST IN THE
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 December 2021, to the best knowledge of the Company, the
following parties (other than Directors or chief executives of the Company)
were recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under
Section 336 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company, as being
directly or indirectly interested or deemed to be interested in 5% or more of
the issued share capital of the Company:
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I

FERRNEABREFNED

BARATIFTEN > 1R2021FE12831H » [RESE
FARNBEBTHABI XABIRIEES
KHBE KB 55336 FEE 2 B MATat &%
HEFTHEARRE  BEFENEIZER AW
BABREARNBBETRAS%HMU LD

Z AW

Approximate
percentage of
the Company’s

Number of issued share Long/Short
Name Capacity Shares held capital (Note 2) position
FRAFBET
RABNESLT
EuY &1 FriERz#E (fyzt2) W,/ KB
Whole Good (Note 1) (ftz£1) Beneficial owner 3,262,411,200 57.89% Long
A A e
Haitong Securities Co., Ltd. Interest of controlled corporation 1,200,405,461 21.3% Long
(“Haitong Securities”) (Note 3)
REGEEER (523 =
Interest of controlled corporation 10,000,000 0.18% Short
(Note 4)
REHEEER (it4) d=
Unlisted derivations 181,818,181 3.23% Long
FLHITETR wE
Notes: Wt

(1) Whole Good is wholly and beneficially owned by Mr Shi Zhongan, its sole
director. Mr Shi is the the chairman of the Company and an executive
Director. Mr Shi is deemed or taken to be interested in the 3,262,411,200
Shares held by Whole Good by virtue of Part XV of the SFO.

2) The calculation is based on the total number of 5,635,809,800 Shares in
issue as at 31 December 2021.

(3) 1,200,405,461 Shares (long position) are beneficially owned by Fountain
| Limited, Haitong International Financial Solutions Limited and Haitong
International Securities Company Limited, which are indirect subsidiaries
of Haitong Securities.

(4) 10,000,000 Shares (short position) are beneficially owned by Haitong
International Financial Solutions Limited, which is an indirect subsidiary of
Haitong Securities.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2021 and the date of this
report, no person, other than a Director or chief executive of the Company,
had interests or short positions in the Shares and underlying shares of the
Company as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
under Section 336 of the SFO.

(1) Whole GoodH HM—EEHRZAEELE
REREE PR ELEAABDERFR
BITES - RIFFSH R BEKG HEXVI
BRI BT E EFRWhole Good 155
#93,262,411,2008% B 19 P #E B o

(2 ZEDLEHIRER2021FE12831HEH
5,635,809,8008 B # 1T R M 5T EISH o

(3)  1,200,405,461/& (4 &) HFountain |
Limited, Haitong International Financial
Solutions Limited Az Haitong International
Securities Company Limited B # A » %
% /N\B) AHaitong Securitiesf B 3% T /A 5] ©

(4)  10,000,0008% (3% 7&) HiHaitong International
Financial Solutions LimitedE 3 \I‘;ﬁﬁ ZA
5] AHaitong SecuritiesB f#EF A
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RELATED PARTY AND CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Details of significant related party transactions of the Group are set out in
note 39 to the financial statements.

None of the related party transactions constituted non-exempt connected
transactions or non-exempt continuing connected transactions in
accordance with the Listing Rules during the year ended 31 December
2021, and the Company confirms that it has complied with the applicable
disclosure requirements in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules in respect of
the relevant transactions.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and within
the knowledge of the Directors, as at the latest practicable date prior to the
issue of this annual report, the Company has maintained the prescribed
public float under the Listing Rules.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the year ended 31
December 2021.

DIRECTORS’ INDEMNITIES

The Company has arranged liability insurance for Directors and senior
management officers of the Company with appropriate coverage to
indemnify them from and against any legal actions arising from the
execution of their duties, and such insurance and indemnity was in force
during the year ended 31 December 2021 and remain effective as at the
date of this annual report.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

During the year under review, the Group made charitable donations
amounting to approximately RMB6,608,000 (2020: RMB21,189,000).

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group’s principal risks and uncertainties are set out in the paragraphs
under “Principal Risks and Uncertainties” in the section headed
“Management Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report.
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Company strives to balance business growth with environmental
protection.

As the major businesses of the Group are property development, leasing
and hotel operation in China, we (i) evaluate, manage and mitigate from
time to time environmental issues within the context of the Group’s
business activities and objectives for the conservation of energy and other
natural resources; (i) devise environmental policies and measures for the
Group so as to keep them in line with the standards required under the
applicable laws, rules and regulations to the extent practicable; and (iii)
apply our philosophy on environment protection to our supply chain and
operations. These include but not limited to the scrutiny in the selection
of our business partners or services providers and award the bids of
construction and other projects of which the Group is involved to reputable
and environmentally-conscientious corporations and contractors with good
compliant and environmental records.

Several hotels as operated by the Group have been promoting
environmental protection policies for energy management, water
management and waste management to minimize the ecological footprint
of the hotel operation for years. To name a few, all lightings and appliances
will be replaced in phases by energy saving ones. Guest rooms have room
card insert energy saving switches and reduction in paper usage in the
office and promote storage of files in electronic forms instead of in paper
files. On the front of our leasing business, we are careful in the selection of
our lessees and implemented environmental policies and measures in the
operation of leasing business, including the management of the properties
leased by the Group.

The Group has also implemented energy saving practices in the workplace
through (i) appropriately designing, constructing, maintaining and, if
required, modifying facilities wherever applicable; (ii) using or to replacing
gradually existing appliances with more energy efficient appliances for
lighting, heating and ventilation systems to reduce energy consumption and
(iiiy raising awareness of environmental protection at workplace.

During the year under review, there had been no record of material breach
or violation by the Group of applicable environmental laws, rules or
regulations.
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COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group has kept itself abreast with the development of laws, rules and
regulations which have or may have an impact on, and has been abiding
the laws, rules and regulations applicable to, the operation of its business.

The Group has implemented procedures and policies, employed
suitable personnel and engaged professional advisers to ensure that (i)
such approvals, permits and licences necessary for the operation of its
businesses are obtained; and (i) its operations are being run in line with the
applicable laws, rules and regulations. During the year under review, there
had been no material violation of the applicable laws, rules and regulations
by the Group.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES, CUSTOMERS
AND SUPPLIERS

The Company is committed to maintaining, and has maintained good
relationships with, its employees, customers and suppliers with a view to
fostering better mutual understanding and/or a sense of belonging towards
the Company. This is conducive to implementing the Group’s strategies
and business objectives, as well as the Group’s business development and
sustainability in the long run.

The Group believes that our people are critical success factors to the
Group’s competitiveness in the market. To attract high calibre people
and solidify the management of the Group, eligible participants (including
employees of the Group) may be granted options to subscribe for Shares
pursuant to the share option scheme adopted by the Company. The
Group also provides continuous learning and training programs to its
employees to enhance their skills and knowledge, so as to maintain their
competitiveness.

Customer satisfaction with our services and products has a profound
effects on our profitability. Our dedicated team of sales people are in
constant communication with our customers and potential customers to
uncover and create customer needs and help customers make informed
decisions. To grasp the market trend is critical for the Group to timely adjust
our operating strategies to fit the market requirement.

Collaborative and mutual beneficial business relationship with our strategic
suppliers and contractors is of important to achieve higher levels of
efficiency and competitive advantage. The Group evaluates the capabilities
of our supplier and contractors to determine if they are able to meet the
requirement and needs of the Group from time to time.
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Developing and maintaining good relationship with various commercial
banks and financial institutions always are our main tasks because our
capital-intensive projects require on-going funding to maintain continuous
growth.

ISSUE OF EQUITY SECURITIES

The Company did not carry out any fund raising activities by way of issue of
equity securities for the year ended 31 December 2021.

CHANGE IN DIRECTORS’ INFORMATION

Pursuant to Rule 13.51B of the Listing Rules, the changes in Directors’
information are set out below:

Mr Fung Che Wai Anthony was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director of the Company, and a member of the Audit Committee,
the Nomination Committee and the Remuneration Committee, with effect
from 26 November 2021.

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Details of the matters that occurred and bore significant effect to the Group
between the year end date and the date of this report are set out in the
section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” of this annual
report.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed from Thursday,
2 June 2022 to Thursday, 9 June 2022 (both days inclusive), during which
period no transfer of shares can be registered. In order to qualify for
attending and voting at the AGM, all transfers accompanied by the relevant
share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s Hong Kong branch
share registrar and transfer office, Tricor Investor Services Limited at Level
54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong, not later than
4:30 p.m. on Wednesday, 1 June 2022.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and administration of the whole
or any substantial part of the business of the Company was entered into or
existed during the year.
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Directors’ Report (Continued)

ERGHRS (@)

DISCLOSURE UNDER RULE 13.20 OF THE LISTING
RULES

The Directors were not aware of any circumstances resulting in the

responsibility of disclosure under Rule 13.20 of the Listing Rules regarding
the provision of advances by the Company to an entity.

AUDITOR

Ernst & Young will retire and a resolution for its re-appointment as auditor of
the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming AGM.

On behalf of the Board

Zhong An Group Limited

Shi Zhongan

Chairman

The People’s Republic of China, 24 March 2022
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Independent Auditor’s Report

EY:x

To the shareholders of Zhong An Group Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted company with limited
liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Zhong An
Group Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out
on pages 114 to 285, which comprise the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 December 2021, and the consolidated statement
of profit or loss, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income,
the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant
accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December
2021, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board (the “IASB”) and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (‘HKSAs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”). Our responsibilities under those standards
are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of
the consolidated financial statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
BizEmRS (&)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters. For each matter below, our description of how
our audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
section of our report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly,
our audit included the performance of procedures designed to respond to
our assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements. The results of our audit procedures, including the
procedures performed to address the matters below, provide the basis for
our audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated financial statements.
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Key audit matter

How our audit addressed the key audit
matter

E e

EANBENAREE
EENEE

Valuation of investment properties

As at 31 December 2021, the Group’s investment
properties amounted to RMB5,291 million, which
represented 9% of the Group’s total assets.
Investment properties were stated at fair value.
Management was required to exercise significant
judgement in determining the fair value of investment
properties as disclosed in note 3 to the consolidated
financial statements.

The Group engaged an external valuation expert
to perform the valuation of investment properties.
The valuation methods applied included the direct
comparison approach and income approach which
involved various assumptions, such as estimated
rental revenues, discount rates, occupancy rates,
historical transactions and market knowledge.

The related disclosures are included in notes 2.4, 3
and 13 to the consolidated financial statements.

We performed audit procedures including:

We evaluated the competence and independence
of the external valuation expert engaged by the
Group. We reviewed rental contracts, compared
the prices of the investment properties with the
unit prices of adjacent similar properties that were
benchmarked in the valuation process, assessed
assumptions relating to future market rents,
compared the current prices in the active market
for adjacent similar properties, and assessed
the discount rates and future maintenance costs
applied based on historical experiences with the
involvement of our internal valuation specialists,
who focused on the term yield, reversionary
yield and market unit rent. We also assessed the
adequacy of the disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

BiuHEmRS (B)

EERFE (B)

Key audit matter

How our audit addressed the key audit
matter

TEBUEH

EANBENAREE
EENREE

Net realisable value of completed properties held for sale and properties under development

As at 31 December 2021, the Group’s properties
under development and completed properties held
for sale amounted to RMB33,868 million, which
represented 59% of the Group’s total assets. These
properties were stated at the lower of cost and
net realisable value. The net realisable value was
estimated by management based on expected selling
prices, the cost of completion of properties under
development, and the costs to be incurred in selling
the properties based on prevailing market conditions.
The estimation of the net realisable value involved
significant judgement.

The related disclosures are included in notes 2.4, 3,
14 and 25 to the consolidated financial statements.

We performed audit procedures including:

We reviewed the Group’s net realisable value
estimation and checked the expected selling
prices to prices of similar properties presold
by the Group recently or adjacent properties
sold. For the cost of completion of properties
under development and the costs to be
incurred in selling the properties, we evaluated
management’s estimation methodology,
which had been updated to reflect the latest
information and the refined construction and
selling costs budget process.

Impairment assessment of goodwill acquired in business combinations

As at 31 December 2021, goodwill, arising from
the acquisition of subsidiaries, was fully impaired
and the carrying value of goodwill amounted to nil.
Under IFRSs, the Group is required to perform an
impairment test for goodwill at least on an annual
basis and adjust the carrying amount based on
the test result. The impairment test is based on
the recoverable value of the cash-generating units
(“CGUs" to which the goodwill was allocated.
An impairment loss of RMB99 million has been
recognised for goodwill for the year ended 31
December 2021.

Management's assessment process was complex
and significant judgement was involved, including the
degree of subjectivity of expected future cash flow
forecasts, associated growth rates and the discount
rate applied.

The related disclosures are included in notes 2.4, 3
and 16 to the consolidated financial statements.

We performed audit procedures including:

We have evaluated the basis of goodwill
allocation to CGUs.

We involved our internal valuation specialists
to assist us in evaluating the models and
certain assumptions used by the Group in the
impairment testing of goodwill, and evaluated
the rationality and reasonableness of the cash
flow forecast model and management’s key
assumptions including the discount rate and
long-term average growth rate.

We also assessed the adequacy of the
disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
BizEmRS (&)

OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE ANNUAL
REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises the information included in the Annual Report,
other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion
thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we
have performed we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with IFRSs issued by the IASB and the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control
as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors of
the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations or
have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in

discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as a
body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users
taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.

BiuHEmRS (B)

BRYMEZSHMBHRRNEME

HANEREMNEHYBFTREREEEST
FEEARERL (FREMFHERE
B BRSAERE THASSHMERDN
ZHEARE - HMIER SRF2EREIR
HRMAER WA FEEMBR - AR
MARENANBSREMEMRALTEF K
BEAEE-

BEBREE—BEKTENRE B RE
RIBEBZBERNETHEZEIEXIRR
FAENERKE R - K BRI n] e R HEE
EERMAEL > BRI HEE S ETRHARI A
FERPERNZEAHYBTRRFHE
BERE  RIBEK-

ERIEBREBRBEAETEZN—& D
T 972 B2 M8 25 1% HA T 1F B8 28 ) i 0 (R 55
BHIREE - RFITF :

s HAIKNLEHMBRETEELE
REBRL (T EIRFFH#ERER)
BREER > e RATEEZER BN
BEZERF IRERDBEENEZLE
B BRMANEREHER RER
HEFEREARERAN ARSI HE
RENBARBERANEREE  REZE
HEFRIAES R Mg RGN
JE R PRt S B PO AR B 4% o

o  HISEBRARMAINEER R
U EENEZER BENILLIF
Y BSEEABEFNBEREEXRE
Ho

e TMEESEMRASSERNBEENER
PR{EH EEH ATV S EME -

REEBERAT T —FEFRK

111



112

Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
BizEmRS (&)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(CONTINUED)

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going

concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair

presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the

group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we

identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence and
to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,

actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report
unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should
not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s
report is Cheung Ng.

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

24 March 2022
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

BHEmR

Year ended 31 December 2021

HZE2021F12831HIEEE
2021 2020
HaE 20214 20204
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT NEBEFT
Revenue WA 5 4,968,682 7,438,948
Cost of sales HE A (3,492,546) (5,194,014)
Gross profit EF 1,476,136 2,244,934
Other income and gains, net H AU A B Wz 5 58 5 310,119 162,617
Selling and distribution expenses HERDIHES (431,929) (322,479)
Administrative expenses THRX (764,509) (525,092)
Other expenses Hs 5 (210,720) (107,919)
Finance costs === 7 (225,076) (250,089)
Fair value gain upon transfer to EREREYEN R DEBEN T
investment properties 13 - 356,806
Changes in fair value of KEMENRABEES
investment properties 13 (60,311) 23,030
Share of profits or losses of: PEN BT
Joint ventures BERE 20 (22,353) 108,824
Associates B bR 154,654 (12,695)
Profit before tax R A8 A AR 6 226,011 1,677,937
Income tax expense FRSMAX 10 (187,485) (566,692)
Profit for the year FARMHE 38,526 1,111,245
Attributable to: DUR P& -
Owners of the parent ISYNCIEZ 2N 73,132 827,874
Non-controlling interests JEVE R (34,606) 283,371
38,526 1,111,245
Earnings per share attributable to BARLBERIEE ARG
ordinary equity holders of the parent =Si&ZF| 11
Basic =N RMB1.3 cents RMB14.6 cents
AR #1.35 AE14.67
Diluted e RMB1.3 cents RMB14.6 cents

AR#1.359

AR#14.69
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

BHEEN=R

Year ended 31 December 2021

HZE2021F12A31HLEFE
2021 2020
20214 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000

AEREFT N

Profit for the year FRFHE 38,526 1,111,245

Other comprehensive income/(loss) Hihz2mues ~ (5518)

Other comprehensive income/(loss) that may REBPEENDEEERNEM
be reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent 2EWE (B8

periods:
Exchange differences: PEREEE .
Exchange differences on translation of foreign ~ H#AE G/ EFSE £ RIE R =%E

operations 26,026 (82,544)
Net other comprehensive income/(loss) that RERPBEN S EEEmNEM

may be reclassified to profit or loss in 2EE, (B518) F2E

subsequent periods 26,026 (82,544)
Other comprehensive (loss)/income that will REBPEEFEEMDEEER

not be reclassified to profit or loss in HEMEE (B18) W

subsequent periods:

Equity investments designated at fair value fEEARANEEFEAEEHE

through other comprehensive income: AREMEERENERRE .
Changes in fair value ’\ﬁﬂﬁfﬁﬁ@] (49,029) 17,200
Income tax effect FriSin s 2 16,370 (4,300)
Net other comprehensive (loss)/income that RERPBEEIEEMDEEER

will not be reclassified to profit or loss in HEMEE BB K358

subsequent periods (32,659) 12,900
Total comprehensive income for the year FR2EUNELEEE 31,893 1,091,601
Attributable to: DURFE(S
Owners of the parent ISYNCIEZZ=PN 65,894 813,563
Non-controlling interests JEVERG = (34,001) 278,038

31,893 1,091,601
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

BHMBIRRR

31 December 2021
20215%12831H

2021 2020
k=3 20214 20204
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
ANBHEFT NEHEFT
Non-current assets EREEE
Property and equipment EEKEE 12 2,524,317 2,607,286
Investment properties KEYE 13 5,245,954 5,359,845
Properties under development FEERgasky/E S 14 2,475,637 1,411,214
Right-of-use assets FEREEE 15 160,807 348,223
Goodwill B 16 - 98,995
Other intangible assets HittmpEEE 17 30,787 32,522
Restricted cash SRHIIRS 29 145,003 71,389
Equity investments designated at IEEABAREEE
fair value through other BHEFHIAEMEE
comprehensive income W R E 18 504,131 539,922
Long term prepayments REATANR 19 677,918 1,301,580
Investments in joint ventures REELENKE 20 635,298 312,236
Investments in associates REE AR E 22 1,145,297 102,603
Deferred tax assets IRIEIRIEE B 23 286,428 181,073
Total non-current assets HIERBEE 13,831,577 12,366,888
Current assets MENEE
Completed properties held for sale FIELEEEMYE 25 5,893,841 2,926,871
Properties under development FElEasky/ES 14 25,648,975 17,286,659
Inventories 75 42,591 31,261
Trade receivables FE U & 5 BR X 27 113,329 84,717
Prepayments, other receivables and AT W IE R H &
other assets E 28 2,539,954 2,573,997
Financial assets at fair value through MUAnEEFEBEEA
profit or loss EHERNEREE 26 132,795 109,618
Loans to joint ventures BERFEEhE 21 462,872 544,886
Loans to associates BRFHE AT 22 779,135 =
Restricted cash ZIR&IIRE 29 2,518,037 1,047,767
Cash and cash equivalents RERREEED 29 5,232,657 4,792,545
Investment properties classified as DEAFIEHENKEYE
held for sale 13 44,546 54,755
Total current assets EREEE 43,408,732 29,453,076
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position (Continued)

SRR

31 De

= (@)

cember 2021

2021%12A31H

2021 2020
HaE 202145 20204
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT NEBEFT
Current liabilities B =R
Trade payables FEfT B SR 30 2,131,544 1,487,283
Other payables and accruals HithERIBE R ESt &R 31 1,039,381 1,011,204
Contract liabilities aHaE 32 21,176,187 8,592,628
Lease liabilities HEaE 15 39,267 45,434
Advances from joint ventures HEPERR 768,306 408,703
Advances from associates i /NTEA 374,257 19,600
Interest-bearing bank and other T EIRTT R EMER
borrowings S8 3,618,903 3,653,485
Tax payable FESTRIE 10 1,700,955 2,062,459
Total current liabilities mrnsaf 30,848,800 17,280,796
Net current assets MENEEFEE 12,559,932 12,172,280
Total assets less current liabilities REERREAR 26,391,509 24,539,168
Non-current liabilities EREEE
Interest-bearing bank and other s EIRTT R EMER
borrowings 88 13,374,958 11,839,944
Deferred tax liabilities EERIEEE 23 936,358 947,932
Lease liabilities HESE 15 150,109 337,355
Total non-current liabilities WIERBAER 14,461,425 13,125,231
Net assets FEE 11,930,084 11,413,937
Equity S
Equity attributable to owners of the parent & ‘A Bl ¥ A A B
Share capital [ 34 498,653 498,653
Reserves ] 36 8,746,065 8,629,393
9,244,718 9,128,046
Non-controlling interests JEIER =S 2,685,366 2,285,891
Total equity RS 11,930,084 11,413,937
Shi Zhongan Shen Tiaojuan ﬁeﬂ:q:?t *}E,{I,%tlﬁ
Director Director EF BEFE
REEBRRRE T —FFR
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
SHEREHR

Year ended 31 December 2021

HE2021F12B31HLEFE
Attributable to owners of the parent
BATRAAEE
Share Share  Statutory  Statutory Exchange Non-
Share  premium Contributed Capital option surplus reserve  Fairvalue  fluctuation  Retained controlling Total
capital account surplus reserve reserve reserve fund reserve reserve profits Total interests equity
R RiEEE REBEER  REHE BRERE GERREE tEHEEE MAREEE ERRBER  REEH @ ERER B
AMBOO  RMBOOO  AMBOGO  AMBO)  AMBOO0  RMBUDD  RMBOODO  RMBOOO  RMBUO  AMBO0O  AMBO  AMBOIO  RUBODD
NEEFr NEETT ABEFr AEETn ABEFr AEETn AEEFr AREFn AEETT ABEFn ARETn AREFr ARETn
Note 34 Note 36 Note 360)  Note 36() Note 35 Note 360)  Note 3600
Wis  Bdme Wiy MEmo Wy WEww  KEseo
At 1 January 2020 1R2020F1818 506,181  2,999,320* 30318*  331817* 50331 195,530" 8,239* 6,750* (66375 43%,182° 8436298 2084393 10520686
Proft for the year ERFE = = = = - - - - - BTgT4e BT8TA 283871 1111245
Other comprehensive income for the year: EREtEENE:
Exchange differences related to ERENERZERER
foreign operations - - - - - - - - r.211) - 27.211) (6,333 (32,544)
Changes in fair value of equity investment &t~ BARBEFEEEEHHA
fair valug through other comprehensive EtzEbanEGERE
income, net of tax MEESE NHRE = = = = - - - 12900 - - 12900 - 12900
Total comprehensive income for the year ER2ENREE - - - - - - - 12,900 [er211) 827,874 813563 278038 1,091,601
Addtion of non-controling interests FEFERER - - - - - - - - - - - 20535 20,535
Repurchase of shares BER (7,528) (9,937) = = - - - - - - (17,465) - (17,465)
Change in ownership interests due to KEATEERAS 2L E
repurchase of shares by a subsidiary 525 - - - (641) - - - - - - (641) (1,579 2,220
Dividends declared =) - o = = = = = = = (103,704) (103,704) = (103,704)
Disposal of a subsidiary HE-EHBAR - - - - - - - - - - - 95,496) 95,496)
Transfer from retained profits REEHEA = - - - - 1,186 - - - (1,186) - - -
At 31 December 2020 120205128318 498653 2,989,383 " 39318*  331,176* 59331 196,716" 8239* 19,650 (93,586) 5079,166* 9128046 2285891 11413937
Profit for the year FRRE - - - - - - - - - 73,132 73,132 (34,606) 38,526
Other comprehensive income for the year: EREMRENE:
Exchange differences reated to BEENERZERER
foreign operations - - - - - - - - 25,421 - 25,421 605 26,026
Changes in far value of equity investment &t~ AR BREEEELHHA
fair value through other comprehensive Et2ENGHRERE
income, net of tax AREERS NIRRE - - - - - - - (32,659) - - (32,659) - (32,659)
Total comprehensive income for the year ERRENGEE - - - - - - - (82,659) 25421 73,132 65,364 (34,001) 31,803
Addtion of non-controling interests REFERER - - - - - - - - - - - 510200 510200
Acquisiton of non-controling interests 6ty 3o - - - 39,390 - - - - - - 39,390 (16724) (37,334
Transfer of share option reserve upon the REREERNERRERERE
expiry of share options - - - - (55,056) - - - - 55,056 - - -
Equity-settled share option arrangements WREEEz BRERS - - - - 11,388 - - - - - 11,388 - 11,388
Transfer from retained prots REEHEA - - - - - (4,844) - - - 4844 - - -
31 Deceber 2021 1128318 w8 2093 WIE OS5GN 620 (30000  (BI6S 521218 92478 2685365 11930084
* These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of RMBS8,746,065,000 (2020: RMB8,629,393,000) in the

consolidated statement of financial position.

* ZERBRE QEAMYBRRRA G E AR 8,746,065,0007T (20204 : A R158,629,393,0007T) °
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

BHRERER

Year ended 31 De

cember 2021

HZE2021F12831HIEEE
2021 2020
g3 20214 2020£
Notes RMB’000 RMB 000
ARBEFT ANEHFT
Cash flows from operating activities EEE£ENIRERE
Profit before tax PRI ATA)H 226,011 1,677,937
Adjustments for: R
Depreciation of property and equipment =R kR #HTE 12 121,326 109,742
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ERREEITE 15 59,961 51,603
Amortisation of other intangible assets ~ ELfth#E & E# i 17 1,735 1,735
Fair value gain upon transfer to HIBEREYENADEBK
investment properties m 13 - (356,806)
Changes in fair value of investment KEMENAABEES
properties 13 60,311 (23,030)
Changes in fair value of financial assets AR EEFE2EEEH A
at fair value through profit or loss BafEmEEAANEE
=) 6 (50,309) (13,935)
Realisation and recognition of BRI EENEEY
completed properties held for sale XF O EIFEE
to net realisable value 25 - (671)
Loss on disposal of investment HEXREYENER
properties 6 3,977 36,322
Loss/(gain) on disposal of a subsidiary ~ HE—BH B AT NERE,
(G 23,854 (84,937)
Gain on disposal of right-of-use assets ~ HEFRESENE (25,823) =
Gain on disposal of items of HERERFZRBEEBEN WS
property and equipment (14,427) -
Equity-settled share option expense DS HEEE BB R X 11,388 -
Finance costs A5 & A 7 225,076 250,089
Share of profits or losses of: DIEL TR E SRS
Joint ventures HERE 22,353 (108,824)
Associates & AT (154,654) 12,695
Impairment provision for property and BEREENRERE
equipment 12 11,436 =
Impairment of financial assets EHEENRE 27 6,279 =
Impairment of goodwill EEREAE! 16 98,995 =
Dividend income from equity RKERANBEFEZEHES
investments at fair value through SFAREMEEWE IR
other comprehensive income KRERE WA (54,315) =
573,174 1,552,020
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (Continued)

aHRERESR (B)

Year ended 31 December 2021
HE2021FE128B31HILEEE

2021 2020
HiaE 20214 20204
Notes RMB’000 RMB 000
ABEFT ANEBEFT
Increase in properties under development B2 #4721 10 (15,179,257) (12,949,876)
Decrease in completed properties held 1 1EEER & E YR
for sale 3,364,398 4,796,623
Increase in trade receivables B 5 e IEE N (34,910) (4,652)
Decrease/(increase) in deposits and other 1% K H fth FEUR 2018
receivables B () 605,302 (993,852)
(Increase)/decrease in prepayments and FEfTR E B E (L0 b
other assets (572,859) 240,899
Decrease/(increase) in long term FEEEAREURL 7 (80
prepayments 623,662 (111,204)
(Increase)/decrease in inventories =F8 (g //)I"‘ (12,621) 3,486
Increase in restricted cash for pre-sale A& Fﬁ’%?’ﬂ R H3R 18 00
proceeds (1,446,766) (139,361)
Increase in trade payables FE(T B 5 BRI 10 680,592 189,049
Decrease in other payables and accruals EfthfE{F 5k E&F’E.ﬁﬁﬂﬂ/ﬂl"\ (48,123) (216,058)
Increase in contract liabilities BREEEM 12,604,492 1,929,108
Cash generated from/(used in) REHEEY  (BR) NRE
operations 1,157,084 (5,703,818)
Interest paid BETFE (776,425) (705,495)
Income tax and land appreciation tax paid Eﬁﬁﬁﬁ#‘ﬁ&ii&i‘ B (649,547) (271,613)
Net cash used in operating activities EEEEFEANIEEREFEE (268,888) (6,680,926)
Cash flows from investing activities EEXHEWIRETHE
Investments in joint ventures RESEHE (345,415) (152,418)
Repayment from/(loans to) joint ventures &EtEER (AEE %
g0 82,014 (454,378)
(Loans to)/repayment from associates (ABMENTER) HEAT
BN (424,478) 135,784
Purchase of investment on financial assetsfg B#% A N EET £ HE &)
at fair value through profit or loss STAERNEREERES (26,706) (43,283)
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets tH &% A A (EE 8 B 2 &)
at fair value through profit or loss FABERNEREEFESRIE 52,139 1,032
Increase in investment properties KRB EL I (12,705) (71,883)
Proceeds from disposal of investment HEREYEFRERIA
properties 51,589 592,234
Purchases of items of property and BAEERZHER
equipment (128,430) (71,525)
Proceeds from disposal of items of HEREKKEBIEBMEMNIE
property and equipment 26,978 24,673
Advance from joint ventures FEEE BN 359,603 252,184
Investment on equity investments REREEARBRRANEEE
designated at fair value through other BHZF5I A tEEmED
comprehensive income HmBE (13,424) (46,412)
Dividends received from equity BiEERARANEESIEEEE
investments designated at fair value et AHMEER @R
through other comprehensive income ELENGEDISE 54,315 =
Increase in restricted cash ZREHIIRSIE 0 (97,118) (53,508)
Investments in associates KREHE AT (888,040) (115,298)
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—FERB AR (56) 2,112)
Net cash used in investing activities REXEFEANREREFEE (1,309,734) (4,910)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (Continued)
aHRERER (&)

Year ended 31 December 2021
HZE2021FE12831HIEEE

2021 2020
HaE 20214 20204
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

AEREFT N

Cash flows from financing activities REEFBEENEERE

Dividend paid TR - (103,704)
New interest-bearing bank and other Mt BIRITTREMMBER

borrowings 10,603,425 10,720,809
Repurchase of shares AR - (17,465)
Change in ownership interests due to WEA B RERMDSIENmEE

repurchase of shares by a subsidiary T ) - (2,220)
Repayment of interest-bearing bank and {Ei& st BIR1T R EHMER

other borrowings (9,102,993) (2,448,155)
Capital injected by non-controlling JEER R FEAER

interests 510,200 20,535
Principal portion of lease payments HENRNAEI D (40,135) (33,301)
Acquisition of non-controlling interests YR BB IEIZRGfE (37,334) -
Increase in an amount due to a non- FE T FE 2 AR BG SR RN IE 5 N

controlling shareholder 31 89,989 227,603

Net cash generated from financing RIEEFHELENRESHREFLE

activities 2,023,152 8,364,102
Net increase in cash and cash RERREEBYILMFEE

equivalents 444,530 1,678,266
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning E#IR& RS EEY

of year 4,792,545 3,132,577
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, EXEEHRIS 2L B8

net (4,418) (18,298)

Cash and cash equivalents at end of F£RRERFESZXEY

year 5,232,657 4,792,545
Analysis of balances of HEeERREEEBMERIHT

cash and cash equivalents
Cash and bank balances RERMIRITEEER 29 5,232,657 4,792,545
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Notes to Financial Statements

AT R M 5L

31 December 2021
20215%12831H

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

Zhong An Group Limited (formerly known as Zhong An Real Estate
Limited) (the “Company”) is a limited liability company incorporated
as an exempted company in the Cayman Islands on 13 March 2007
under the Companies Law (revised) of the Cayman Islands. The
registered office address of the Company is Cricket Square, Hutchins
Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman Islands.

The Company and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) are
principally engaged in property development, property leasing and
hotel operations. The Group’s property development projects during
the year were mostly located in Zhejiang, Anhui, Jiangsu, Shandong
and Yunnan provinces, the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”).
There were no significant changes in the nature of the Group’s
principal activities during the year.

The Company was listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “HKSE”) with the stock code “00672” on
13 November 2007 and raised capital amounting to HK$3,621 million
from the market.

In the opinion of the Company’s directors (the “Directors”), the
holding company and the ultimate holding company of the Company
is Whole Good Management Limited, a company incorporated in
the British Virgin Islands on 3 May 2007. Whole Good Management
Limited is wholly owned by Mr. Shi Zhongan, the Chairman of the
Company.

Zhong An Group Limited 2021 Annual Report
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

MR MtE (8)

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

Information about subsidiaries

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows:

31 December 2021
2021FE12831H

RNEIREEER (8)
BERENBABNER

TEMBATFEUT :

Place and date of

Issued ordinary
shares/registered

Percentage of

incorporation/ capital as equity attributable
registration and place of at 31 December to the Group as
Name of company business 2021 at 31 December Principal activities
20215128318
AR FL R BETLERGR FEER12A318H
ASEL EBHERAMS LN FEfLRRER 2 TEEE
2021 2020
202145 20206
Zhejiang Zhong An Property Development  PRC/Mainland China RMB2,000,000 53.4% 51.7% Property development
Xiaoshan Co., Ltd.* 3 April 1997 AR 2,000,000 MR
MIRZEHERLUBEERAT FE/ R E R
1997445 3H
Zhong An Group Co., Ltd.® PRC/Mainland China RMB1,200,000,000 90.0% 90.0% Property development and
REEEBRAFO 26 December 1997 AE#1,200,000,0007% leasing
FE/ R E R MEREREE
1997128268
Zhejiang Zhong An Property PRC/Mainland China RMB100,000,000 100.0% 90.0% Property management
Co., Ltd.“ 18 November 1998 AR #100,000,0007c MEEE
MIRENERBBRATY FE,/FERH,
19984118181
Anhui Zhong An Real Estate Development PRC/Mainland China US$5,000,000 100.0% 100.0% Property development
Co., Ltd.® 9 August 2001 5,000,000 7T e E
ZURZEHEREERAFY FE/ R E R
200148H9H
Anhui Zhong An Real Estate PRC/Mainland China RMB57,000,000 84.2% 84.2% Property development
Co., Ltd.# 17 January 2003 AR 57,000,0007% MERE
ZURRBERRAFY FE/ R E R
2003F1817H
Hangzhou Danube Real Estate PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000,000 92.6% 92.6% Property development
Co., Ltd.® 7 March 2003 AR #50,000,0007T b/
MBI BEEBRATO FE,/FERH,
2003F387H
Chunan Minfu Property Co., Ltd.® PRC/Mainland China RMB6,000,000 65.9% 63.9% Property development
BEZRBRBEXBRAT 24 QOctober 2003 AR 6,000,000 MR
FE/ R E R
2003108248

RLEBERAT

R —EEW
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

B mRMEE (8)
31 December 2021
2021%E12831H

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

(CONTINUED)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows: (continued)

1. QAFREEEN (B

BERMEBATNER (8

TEMBATFBUT : (@)

Place and date of

Issued ordinary
shares/registered

Percentage of

incorporation/ capital as equity attributable
registration and place of at 31 December to the Group as
Name of company business 2021 at 31 December Principal activities
20215128310
AR LR BETLERGR/ FEEM12A318H
ASEL EBHERAN HMEE FEfGRRE R 23 bt TEEH
2021 2020
20214 20206
Anhui Zhong An Property Management ~ PRC/Mainland China RMB3,000,000 90.0% 90.0% Property management
Co., Ltd.® 24 November 2003 AR 3,000,000 MEER
ZURRMEERBERARY HERE R
2003115248
Shanghai Zhong An Property PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 59.3% 57.5% Property leasing
Development Co., Ltd. 19 January 2004 AR #10,000,0007c MERE
LERZEHEREERAFY FE/ R E R
200415198
Zhejiang Huijun Real Estate PRC/Mainland China US$27,600,000 65.9% 63.9% Property development
Co., Ltd.® 1 April 2005 27,600,000% 7% ES
MIEREERRAR HE/HRE R
2005%4F1H
Hangzhou Zhong An Highlong Commercial PRC/Mainland China RMB1,000,000 59.3% 57.5% Project management
Buildings Co., Ltd.* 20 September 2005 AE1,000,00075 EEEE
MMRZIEEEEERARY FERE R
2005595208
Hangzhou Zheng Jiang Real Estate PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000,000 61.0% 59.0% Property development
Development Co., Ltd. 16 March 2006 AR #50,000,0007T Y
MMEIEMEREFRARY FE/ RE R
2006538168
Henlly Enterprise Management PRC/Mainland China US$149,061,280 65.9% 63.9% Property development
(Hangzhou) Co., Ltd." 4 December 2006 149,061,280% 75 Y E
BREEERE (M) BRAFY HE/HRE R
20065F1284H
Hangzhou Xiaoshan Zhong'an PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 59.3% 57.5% Hotel management
Holiday Inn Co., Ltd.* 28 May 2007 AE#10,000,0007T BREE
MMNELRZBREBEEERARY HE/RE R
2007455 28H
HeFei Green Bay Property PRC/Mainland China RMB500,000 100.0% 90.0% Property management
Management Co., Ltd. 1 August 2007 AE#500,0007¢ MEEE
BRGEEENEERERATY FE/ R E R
2007%8H1H
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

MR MtE (8)

31 December 2021
2021FE12831H

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

(CONTINUED)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows: (continued)

RNEIREEER (8)

BERMBATNER (8

TEMBATFBUT : (8

Place and date of

Issued ordinary
shares/registered

Percentage of

incorporation/ capital as equity attributable
registration and place of at 31 December to the Group as
Name of company business 2021 at 31 December Principal activities
20215128310
AR LR BETLERSR FEEM12A318H
ASEL EBHERAMS LN FEfLRRER 2 TEEH
2021 2020
20214 20206
Zhejiang Anyuan Agriculture PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 90.0% 90.0% Agriculture development
Development Co., Ltd.® 11 June 2009 AE#10,000,0007T BERE
WIZRRERERRARY FE/RE R
2009565118
Hangzhou Zhong An Property PRC/Mainland China RMB200,000,000 90.0% 90.0% Project management
Co., Ltd.“ 1 February 2010 AR #200,000,0007T HEEE
MMRZEERRAFY FE/ R E R
2010%281H
Yuyao Zhong An Property PRC/Mainland China RMB100,000,000 90.0% 90.0% Property development
Development Co., Ltd." 5 March 2010 AR #100,000,0007 MR
RRZEMERERRAY FE/ R E R
201053A5H
Hangzhou Anyuan Property PRC/Mainland China RMB5,000,000 45.9% 45.9% Property development
Development Co., Ltd. @ 14 September 2010 AR 15,000,00075 G
MMNZREHEREFRAF O FE/RE R
2010595148
Yuyao Zhong An Property Co., Ltd.? PRC/Mainland China US$15,000,000 93.0% 93.0% Property development
RERREXFRAF? 10 December 2010 15,000,000% 7T b/
FE/ R E R
20105128100
Zhejiang Zhong An Property PRC/Mainland China RMB?20,000,000 90.0% 90.0% Property development
Development Co., Ltd.# 4 August 2011 B 20,000,0007% e E
WIRZEHEREERAFY FE/ R E R
201148H4H
Yuyao Zhong An Times Square PRC/Mainland China RMB5,000,000 59.3% 57.5% Project management
Commercial Management Co., Ltd.* 6 December 2011 AR 15,000,00075 EEEE
AUBZRAESBEERERATY B/ FERM
201151286H
Cixi Zhong An Real Estate PRC/Mainland China RMB100,000,000 90.0% 90.0% Project management
Development Co., Ltd.* 28 February 2013 AR #100,000,0007T EEEE
BERZEHEREFRAFY FE/ R E R
2013528280
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
BRI (8)

31 December 2021

20215128311

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

(CONTINUED)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows: (continued)

1. QAFREEEN (B

BERMEBATNER (8

TEMBATFBUT : (@)

Place and date of

Issued ordinary
shares/registered

Percentage of

incorporation/ capital as equity attributable
registration and place of at 31 December to the Group as
Name of company business 2021 at 31 December Principal activities
2021512831H
AR LR BETLERGR/ FEEM12A318H
ASEL EBNERAH g FEMLREE AL TEEE
2021 2020
20214 20206
Yuyao Zhong An Times Square PRC/Mainland China RMB100,000,000 59.3% 57.5% Property development
Development Co., Ltd.® 5 August 2013 A E#100,000,0007c Y
RRZRAESHEBRARY FE/ R E R
201358F5H
Yuyao Zhong An Times Square PRC/Mainland China US$16,000,000 61.3% 59.4% Property development
Property Co., Ltd.? 13 August 2013 16,000,000% 7T ESEE
ARRZERESEERRAT FE/ R E R
2013488130
Zhejiang Zhong An Sheng Long PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000,000 59.3% 57.5% Project management
Commercial Co., Ltd. 9 September 2013 AR #50,000,00075 EREE
MIREREFERRATY FE/ R E R
2013%9H9H
Cixi Zhong An Property Co., Ltd. PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000,000 59.3% 57.5% Property development
BERZEXRRAGY 6 December 2013 AE50,000,0007% MERE
FE/ R E R
2013F1286H
Hangzhou Zhong An Property PRC/Mainland China RMB200,000,000 90.0% 90.0% Property development
Co., Ltd.“e 18 April 2014 AE#200,000,0007% MERE
MR L B it R 3R IR A B0 FE/ RE R
201445188
Hangzhou Zhong An Sheng Long PRC/Mainland China RMB?20,000,000 59.3% 57.5% Property development
Liyumen Property Co., Ltd.# 21 April 2014 B 20,000,0007% Y E
MM RZEERAPIBEEBRAFY FE/ R E R
2014F4821H
Hangzhou Xixi Huijin Property PRC/Mainland China US$60,000,000 65.9% 63.9% Property development
Co., Ltd.?” 18 November 2015 60,000,000% 7T MERE
MNEZEEELARATY FE/ R E R
2015115188
Bright Hotels & Resorts Management British Virgin Islands US$1 65.9% 63.9% Investment holding
Limited® 8 July 2014 1E7T RERR
ARFEENERNEEERAFY EBMARES
2014%788H
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

MR MtE (8)

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

(CONTINUED)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows: (continued)

31 December 2021
2021FE12831H

RNEIREEER (8)

BERMBATNER (8

TEMBATFBUT : (8

Place and date of

Issued ordinary
shares/registered

Percentage of

incorporation/ capital as equity attributable
registration and place of at 31 December to the Group as
Name of company business 2021 at 31 December Principal activities
20215128310
AR LR BETLERSR FEEM12A318H
ASEL EBHERAMS LN FEfLRRER 2 TEEH
2021 2020
20214 20206
China New City Commercial Cayman Islands HK$173,800,000 65.9% 63.9% Investment holding
Development Limited!” 2 July 2013 173,800,000 7T REER
FEMETEEERARAT HEHS
20135 7H2H
Hangzhou Run'an Property PRC/Mainland China RMB100,000,000 90.0% 90.0% Project management
Co., Ltd.“ 27 July 2015 AR #100,000,0007T EEEE
MM BREEERAFY FE/ R E R
2015%7H27H
Zhejiang New Screen Theatre PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 65.9% 63.9% Theatre management
Management Co., Ltd.* 29 November 2016 AE#10,000,0007% A =g
MIMBE RECEERERATY FE/ R E R
20165115298
Huaibei Brilliant Hotel Co., Ltd.“ PRC/Mainland China RMB6,900,000 65.9% 63.9% Hotel management
EILERRBEARATY 16 October 2013 AE 6,900,000 BEER
FE/RE R
2013108 16H
Laizhou New Screen Theatre PRC/Mainland China RMB1,000,000 59.3% 57.5% Theatre management
Management Co., Ltd.“) 2 May 2017 AEK#1,000,00075 ThEE
N B RCEERERATY FE/ R E R
201745828
Huijun (International) Holdings Hong Kong HK$100,000 65.9% 63.9% Investment holding
Limited® 4 March 2005 100,000/ 7% REER
B ER) ZRERAFY aE
200553F4H
Hong Kong Bo Kai Construction Hong Kong HK$1 100.0% 100.0% Construction design
Design Limited 26 February 2008 187 BERs
ERBYBRERSBRATY aE
200852526H
Hong Kong Hui Yuan Real Hong Kong HK$1 100.0% 100.0% Property development
Estate Limited® 26 February 2008 187 ESEE
BRBERMEBRLAAY &E
200852526 H
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
BRI (8)

31 December 2021
2021%E12831H

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

1. QAFREEEN (B

(CONTINUED)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows: (continued)

BERMEBATNER (8

TEMBATFBUT : (@)

Place and date of

Issued ordinary
shares/registered

Percentage of

incorporation/ capital as equity attributable
registration and place of at 31 December to the Group as
Name of company business 2021 at 31 December Principal activities
20215128310
AR LR BETLERGR/ FEEM12A318H
ASEL EBHERAN HMEE FEfGRRE R 23 bt TEEH
2021 2020
20214 20206
Zhong An International Shipping Hong Kong HK$387,683 65.9% 63.9% Shipping
(Hong Kong) Limited 11 October 2011 387,683% 7T fE
RRZERHE (B8 BRAAY aE
2011108118
Hengyuan Properties Limited!” Hong Kong HK$1 100.0% 100.0% Investment holding
ERMERRAE" 27 December 2013 1T REER
&E
2013&12827H
Zerun Management Limited) Hong Kong HK$1 100.0% 100.0% Investment holding
EEEEERATY 31 December 2013 T RELR
aE
2013128318
Shengze Management Limited” Hong Kong HK$1 100.0% 100.0% Investment holding
REEEFRAFY 19 February 2014 187 REZR
aE
201425190
Glorious Days Management Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100.0% 100.0% Investment holding
FEEEARAR 23 June 2014 1T RERR
&E
2014568230
Grand Sail International Trading Limited®  Hong Kong US$1 65.9% 63.9% Investment holding
ZRERES (B8 BRAFY 15 September 2014 e REER
aE
2014495 15H
Kunming New Screen Theatre PRC/Mainland China RMB1,000,000 59.3% 57.5% Theatre management
Management Co., Ltd.“) 27 April 2017 AE1,000,00075 ThEE
BRNMBERRCEERERATY FE/RE R
201754827H
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

MR MtE (8)

31 December 2021
2021FE12831H

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

(CONTINUED)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows: (continued)

RNEIREEER (8)

BERMBATNER (8

TEMBATFBUT : (8

Place and date of

Issued ordinary
shares/registered

Percentage of

incorporation/ capital as equity attributable
registration and place of at 31 December to the Group as
Name of company business 2021 at 31 December Principal activities
20215128310
AR LR BETLERSR FEEM12A318H
ASEL EBHERAMS LN FEfLRRER 2 TEEH
2021 2020
20214 20206
Yuyao New Screen Theatre PRC/Mainland China RMB1,000,000 59.3% 57.5% Theatre management
Management Co., Ltd.“) 26 September 2017 AE1,000,00075 ThEE
RN RERCSEERARATY FEL/ R E R
2017595 26H
Hangzhou Qiandao Lake Beverly PRC/Mainland China RMB20,000,000 90.0% 90.0% Property development
Resort Development Co., Ltd. 26 September 2003 AR #20,000,0007% ESEE
RMNFERLENERNBEZEERAR HE,/RERM
2003595 26H
Hangzhou Xinxin Real Estate PRC/Mainland China RMB?20,000,000 90.0% 90.0% Property development
Development Co., Ltd.# 29 May 2001 A E#20,000,0007% e E
NMH B ERERRATY FE/ R E R
20014E5829H
Yunnan Pujin Real Estate PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 49.5% 49.5% Property development
Development Co., Ltd. @ 6 September 2017 AE#10,000,0007T G
EHEREHEREERAFO FE/RE R
201759F6H
Foshan Xinmu Cinema PRC/Mainland China RMB5,000,000 59.3% 57.5% Theatre management
Management Co., Ltd.“) 11 October 2017 A #5,000,00075 ThEE
BLUTHERXRAEEEERAFY FE/ R E R
20178108118
Chaoyang International Trading Hong Kong US$1 65.9% 63.9% Investment holding
Limited® 15 September 2014 127 wERk
HAHERES (FH) BRATY &%
2014495 15H
Hong Kong Time Honour Hong Kong US$1 65.9% 63.9% Investment holding
Property Limited 15 September 2014 1E7T REZR
ERREHERRATY aE
2014595150
Pannix Industrial (Hong Kong) Hong Kong USs$1 65.9% 63.9% Investment holding
Limited® 15 September 2014 1£7T KEEK
EHEE EB) FRARY &E
2014598150
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
BRI (8)

31 December 2021
2021%E12831H

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

(CONTINUED)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows: (continued)

1. QAFREEEN (B

BERMEBATNER (8

TEMBATFBUT : (@)

Place and date of

Issued ordinary
shares/registered

Percentage of

incorporation/ capital as equity attributable
registration and place of at 31 December to the Group as
Name of company business 2021 at 31 December Principal activities
20215128310
AR LR BETLERGR/ FEEM12A318H
ASEL EBHERAN HMEE FEfGRRE R 23 bt TEEH
2021 2020
20214 20206
Bright (Hong Kong) Hotels Hong Kong US$1 65.9% 63.9% Investment holding
Management Limited® 15 September 2014 1E7T REZR
B (B8) BEERERARY aE
201459F15H
Ideal World Investments Limited British Virgin Islands US$1 100.0% 100.0% Investment holding
6 November 2003 1E7T REER
HEERRES
2003%1156H
China Bright Management Limited British Virgin Islands US$1 100.0% 100.0% Investment holding
13 November 2007 127 wERk
HELRRES
2007115138
Esteem High Enterprises Limited® British Virgin Islands US$1 100.0% 100.0% Investment holding
13 November 2007 %7 REZR
HBEARES
2007118138
Everplus Management Limited® British Virgin Islands Us$1 100.0% 100.0% Investment holding
13 November 2007 1%£7T RELER
HEERRES
20075118130
Gain Large Enterprises Limited® British Virgin Islands US$1 100.0% 100.0% Investment holding
13 November 2007 127 wERk
HEERRHS
2007115138
Plenty Management Limited® British Virgin Islands US$1 100.0% 100.0% Investment holding
SREEFRAFY 13 November 2007 %7 REZR
HBEARES
2007118138
Zhong An Properties (China) Ltd." British Virgin Islands USs$1 100.0% 100.0% Project management
RLEZE (hE) BEAF" 20 June 2013 =7 BHEERE
HEERRES
2013568208
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

MR MtE (8)

31 December 2021
2021FE12831H

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

(CONTINUED)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows: (continued)

RNEIREEER (8)

BERMBATNER (8

TEMBATFBUT : (8

Place and date of

Issued ordinary
shares/registered

Percentage of

incorporation/ capital as equity attributable
registration and place of at 31 December to the Group as
Name of company business 2021 at 31 December Principal activities
20215128310
AR LR BETLERSR FEEM12A318H
ASEL EBHERAMS LN FEfLRRER 2 TEEH
2021 2020
20214 20206
Greenfield Investment Limited") British Virgin Islands US$1 100.0% 100.0% Investment holding
19 May 2014 e REZR
HBERRHEE
2014555198
Hui Sheng Global Limited® British Virgin Islands USs$1 65.9% 63.9% Investment holding
BRRKARAFY 11 July 2014 S RELR
HEERRES
2014F7H118
Time Honour Global Limited® British Virgin Islands US$1 65.9% 63.9% Investment holding
BEERKBRATY 11 July 2014 e REER
HELRRHS
2014%7811H
Shengda Developments Limited® British Virgin Islands US$1 65.9% 63.9% Investment holding
REZEBRAFY 31 July 2014 e REZR
HBERREE
2014F7831H
First Achiever Holdings Limited® British Virgin Islands US$1 65.9% 63.9% Investment holding
BEZRBRAFY 13 August 2014 T RERR
HEERRES
2014488130
Zhong An Real Estate Development Canada CA$100 100.0% 100.0% Project management
(Canada) Ltd.” 15 January 2014 100M07T HEEE
MEX
2014415150
Zhongjiale Tourism Co., Ltd.!" Japan JPY5,010,000 65.9% 63.9% Tourism management
RRLENERBHO 21 December 2015 5,010,0008 7% TRBER
=N
2015128218
Easy Rich Corporation Limited® Hong Kong HK$1 65.9% 63.9% Investment holding
IEEEEBRARY 1 Apri 2016 18T RELR
&E
2016F481H
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

B mRMEE (8)
31 December 2021
2021%E12831H

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

(CONTINUED)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows: (continued)

1. QAFREEEN (B

BERMEBATNER (8

TEMBATFBUT : (@)

Place and date of

Issued ordinary
shares/registered

Percentage of

incorporation/ capital as equity attributable
registration and place of at 31 December to the Group as
Name of company business 2021 at 31 December Principal activities
2021512831H
AR LR BETLERGR/ FEEM12A318H
ASEL EBHERAN HMEE FEfGRRE R 23 bt TEEH
2021 2020
20214 20206
KCJ International Co., Ltd." Japan JPY10,000,000 59.3% 57.5% Property development
KCJBIRR # &3t 9 May 2016 10,000,000H 75 MERE
Ba
201655590
Capital Yield Global Limited® British Virgin Islands US$1 65.9% 63.9% Investment holding
FIRERBRARY 1 April 2016 S RERR
HEERRES
2016F481H
Easy Success Investments Limited® British Virgin Islands US$1 65.9% 63.9% Investment holding
PBREBRATY 11 April 2016 e REER
HELRRHS
20165F4811H
Ultra Nice International Limited® Hong Kong HK$1 65.9% 63.9% Investment holding
LEEBRERAFY 7 October 2016 187 REZR
aE
201651087H
Verdania Properties Limited Partnership”  Canada 29 July 2016 CA$100 100.0% 100.0% Property development
MEX 100f7T MERE
201647 529H
Zhong An Financial Holdings Ltd.* British Virgin Islands US$1 100.0% 100.0% Investment holding
RETHERBRATY 23 Feb 2017 e REZR
HBERRHEE
201782523H
Zhong An Asset Management Hong Kong HK$2,000,000 100.0% 100.0% Asset management
Limited® 9 March 2017 2,000,0007 75 BEEE
REEEEBERAFY &E
201743890
Zhong An Corporate Finance British Virgin Islands HK$2,000,000 100.0% 100.0% Corporate finance
Limited® 9 March 2017 2,000,000%7¢ tERE
REMERRAFY HELRRHS
201743A9H
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

MR MtE (8)

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

(CONTINUED)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows: (continued)

31 December 2021
2021FE12831H

RNEIREEER (8)

BERMBATNER (8

TEMBATFBUT : (8

Place and date of

Issued ordinary
shares/registered

Percentage of

incorporation/ capital as equity attributable
registration and place of at 31 December to the Group as
Name of company business 2021 at 31 December Principal activities
20215128318
AR LR BETLERSR FEEM12A318H
ASEL EBHERAMS LN FEfLRRER 2 TEEH
2021 2020
20214 20206
Zhong An Finance Limited. Hong Kong HK$2,000,000 100.0% 100.0% Finance management
REMBHRAFY 9 March 2017 2,000,000 75 HEER
aE
201743590
Zhong An Securities Co. Limited® Hong Kong HK$2,000,000 100.0% 100.0% Securities management
REFSBRARY 10 March 2017 2,000,000/ 7% EHEE
&E
2017438108
Canada Zhong An Energy Canada CAD100 100.0% 100.0% Energy investment
Investment Co., Ltd.” 23 January 2017 100/07T BERIRE
MERRZAEREEAD" MEX
2017418230
Complete Victory Enterprise Limited® British Virgin Islands US$1 65.9% 63.9% Investment management
EBEEFRAFY 29 September 2017 1E7T REER
HBERREE
2017495290
Maggie & Rose (Great China) Group Hong Kong HK$1 45.3% 43.9% Education development
Limited® 23 October 2017 1T HEER
&E
20174108230
Million Vast (Hong Kong) Ltd.* Hong Kong HK$1 100.0% 100.0% Investment holding
EE &8 BRATY 26 March 2017 187 REER
aE
201743526H
Allied Power Ventures Ltd. British Virgin Islands US$1 100.0% 100.0% Investment holding
BREBIRERATY 28 November 2016 e REZR
HBERRHEE
20165E11528H
Rosy Omen Ltd.* British Virgin Islands US$1 100.0% 100.0% Investment holding
BRERATY 2 August 2017 1E7T RELR
HEERRES
2017%8H2H
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
BRI (8)

31 December 2021

20215128311

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

(CONTINUED)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows: (continued)

1. QAFREEEN (B

BERMEBATNER (8

TEMBATFBUT : (@)

Place and date of

Issued ordinary
shares/registered

Percentage of

incorporation/ capital as equity attributable
registration and place of at 31 December to the Group as
Name of company business 2021 at 31 December Principal activities
20215128310
AR LR BETLERGR/ FEEM12A318H
ASEL EBHERAN HMEE FEfGRRE R 23 bt TEEH
2021 2020
20214 20206
Fine Multitude Ltd.* British Virgin Islands US$1 100.0% 100.0% Investment holding
ERBERATY 6 July 2015 e REZR
HBEARES
20155 7H6H
Acme Dragon Investments Ltd.“ British Virgin Islands USs$1 100.0% 100.0% Investment holding
ERRERRAFY 22 January 2016 S RERR
HEERRES
2016518228
Rui Kai Management Ltd.® Hong Kong HK$100 100.0% 100.0% Project management
Y EBBRATY 20 November 2015 100%7¢ HEEE
aE
20155115208
Zhong An Capital Investment Ltd.* British Virgin Islands US$1 100.0% 100.0% Investment holding
REBAREHRATY 28 August 2018 e REZR
HBEARES
2018585 28H
Zhong An Capital Ltd.® Hong Kong HK$1 100.0% 100.0% Investment holding
REBABRATY 14 September 2018 187 REER
&E
2018598148
Zhong An Capital (China) Ltd.* Hong Kong HK$1 100.0% 100.0% Investment holding
RZEX (PE) BRAFY 19 November 2018 187 REER
aE
2018115198
Beyond Horizon Investment Limited® British Virgin Islands US$1 65.9% 63.9% Investment management
REKEBRAFY 3 September 2018 1E7T REEE
HBEARES
201859F3H
Alpha Talent Global Limited® British Virgin Islands USs$1 65.9% 63.9% Investment management
HERKBRARY 3 September 2018 1E7T REEE
HEERRES
2018F9H3H
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

MR MtE (8)

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

(CONTINUED)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows: (continued)

31 December 2021
2021FE12831H

RNEIREEER (8)

BERMBATNER (8

TEMBATFBUT : (8

Place and date of

Issued ordinary
shares/registered

Percentage of

incorporation/ capital as equity attributable
registration and place of at 31 December to the Group as
Name of company business 2021 at 31 December Principal activities
20215128310
AR LR BETLERSR FEEM12A318H
ASEL EBHERAMS LN FEfLRRER 2 TEEH
2021 2020
20214 20206
Union Win International Trading Hong Kong HK$1 65.9% 63.9% Investment management
Limited® 8 August 2018 1A REER
HEREREZARARY aE
201858F8H
Full Moon International Trading Hong Kong HK$1 65.9% 63.9% Investment management
Limited® 5 June 2018 18T REER
BEEREZARAFY &E
2018F6H5H
Zhong An Education Investments British Virgin Islands US$1 65.9% 63.9% Education development
Holdings Limited® 8 May 2018 ES HEERE
REHBERBERBRAAY HELRRHS
201855H8H
Perfect Honour Investments Limited® Samoa uss$10 65.9% 63.9% Investment holding
ZELEFRAFY 28 March 2018 10%70 REZR
EES
2018535 28H
Tiptop Global Group Limited© Samoa USs$4 49.4% 47.9% Investment holding
8 January 2018 4ETT REER
EED
2018%188H
Hefei Xinmu Cinema Management PRC/Mainland China RMB1,000,000 59.3% 57.56% Theatre management
Co., Ltd.® 19 March 2018 AR #1,000,0007% FhER
BB RERERATY FE/ R E R
201843519H
Zhenjiang Anyuan Agricultural PRC/Mainland China RMB200,000,000 59.3% 57.5% Agricultural development
Development Co., Ltd. 7 February 2018 A E#200,000,0007% BEER
BIREREERARAAY FE/RE R
201852H7H
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
BRI (8)
31 December 2021
20215128311

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

(CONTINUED)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows: (continued)

QNEIREEER (8)

BERMEBATNER (8

TEMBATFBUT : (@)

Place and date of

Issued ordinary
shares/registered

Percentage of

incorporation/ capital as equity attributable
registration and place of at 31 December to the Group as
Name of company business 2021 at 31 December Principal activities
2021512831H
AR LR BETLERGR/ FEEM12A318H
AR EBNERAH g FEMLREE AL TEEE
2021 2020
20214 20206
Xuzhou Wanxiang Real Estate PRC/Mainland China RMB258,000,000 30.3% 29.3% Property development
Development Co., Ltd. @ 28 September 2018 R #258,000,0007¢ Y
BNTEREZERBRAR FE/ R E R
2018595 28H
Hangzhou Xiaoshan Maggie & Rose PRC/Mainland China RMB1,000,000 45.3% 43.9% Education development
Culture Co., Ltd.®! 20 September 2018 AE#1,000,0007T HRER
MR L ERBEA B R AT FE,/FRERH,
2018598208
Hangzhou Zhongan Jinyun Investment PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000,000 59.3% 57.5% Investment management
Co., Ltd.® 7 December 2018 AR #50,000,0007% REEE
MMNRZHEBEREBRAFY FE/ R E R
2018%F1287H
Ningbo Xinmu Cinema Management PRC/Mainland China RMB1,000,000 59.3% 57.5% Theatre management
Co., Ltd.® 10 May 2018 AR 1,000,0007¢ FIRER
BERMBRERERARATY FE/ R E R
2018555108
Taizhou Xinmu Cinema Management PRC/Mainland China RMB1,000,000 59.3% 57.5% Theatre management
Co., Ltd.“ 31 October 2018 AEK#1,000,00075 ThEE
EMNHBEERERBRATY FE,/FRERH
20185108310
Hangzhou Xinhuan Cinema PRC/Mainland China RMB1,000,000 29.7% 28.8% Theatre management
Management Co., Ltd.® 25 April 2018 AE#1,000,0007 FIRER
TN B RCEEERR AT FE/ R E R
2018%F4525H
Hangzhou Xinhua Garden Real Estate PRC/Mainland China RMB493,542,500 59.9% 59.9% Property development
Development Co., Ltd.® 5 March 2009 R #493,542,5007T e
MNBEEEHERZEBRAFY FE/ R E R
2009535 5H
Zhongan (Yunnan) Real Estate PRC/Mainland China RMB100,000,000 90.0% 90.0% Property development
Development Co., Ltd.* 20 June 2018 AR #100,000,0007T ESEE
RZ (Ef) BHERZAERAFY FE/ RE R
2018568208
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

MR MtE (8)

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

(CONTINUED)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows: (continued)

31 December 2021
2021FE12831H

RNEIREEER (8)

BERMBATNER (8

TEMBATFBUT : (8

Place and date of

Issued ordinary
shares/registered

Percentage of

incorporation/ capital as equity attributable
registration and place of at 31 December to the Group as
Name of company business 2021 at 31 December Principal activities
20215128318
AR LR BETLERSR FEEM12A318H
ASEL EBHERAMS LN FEfLRRER 2 TEEH
2021 2020
20214 20206
Lishui Zhongan Real Estate PRC/Mainland China RMB100,000,000 90.0% 90.0% Property development
Development Co., Ltd.® 11 May 2018 AE#10,000,0007T Y
BARZEMERZERRAZY FE/RE R
2018555118
Yiwu Zhongyao Real Estate PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 58.5% 58.5% Property development
Development Co., Ltd. 21 November 2018 AR #10,000,0007c Y
EERBEHEREERAFY FE/ R E R
20185118210
Hangzhou Ruixie Real Estate PRC/Mainland China RMB1,400,000,000 100.0% 100.0% Property development
Development Co., Ltd." 25 December 2019 AR #1,400,000,0007% MR
R REERERRARY FE/ R E R
20195125258
Hangzhou Zhonghe Enterprise PRC/Mainland China RMB100,000 90.0% 90.0% Development management
Management Co., Ltd.“) 7 August 2019 AE100,00075 HEEE
MNRHEEERBRATY FEL/ R E R
201958F7H
Hangzhou Yixin Enterprise PRC/Mainland China RMB100,000 90.0% 90.0% Investment management
Management Co., Ltd. 7 August 2019 AE#100,0007¢ REEE
MM EEEERERARY FE/ R E R
2019%8A7H
Beijing Xingwang Junrun Science and PRC/Mainland China RMB100,000,000 100% 100% Technology development
Trade Co., Ltd Trade Co., Ltd.“® 11 June 2019 AR #100,000,0007T b
TRERSHHRBERARYO FE/ R E R
201946511H
Hangzhou Zhongan Health PRC/Mainland China RMB5,000,000 59.3% 57.5% Health management
Management Co., Ltd.“) 8 January 2019 AR 15,000,00075 REEE
MMNRZRREBRERARY FEL/ R E R
20195158H

REEBERAT T —FEFRK

137



Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
BRI (8)

31 December 2021

20215128311

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

(CONTINUED)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows: (continued)

1. QAFREEEN (B

BERMEBATNER (8

TEMBATFBUT : (@)

Place and date of

Issued ordinary
shares/registered

Percentage of

incorporation/ capital as equity attributable
registration and place of at 31 December to the Group as
Name of company business 2021 at 31 December Principal activities
2021512831H
AR LR BETLERGR/ FEEM12A318H
ASEL EBHERAN HMEE FEfGRRE R 23 bt TEEH
2021 2020
20214 20206
Chendu Xinhuan Cinema PRC/Mainland China RMB1,000,000 59.3% 57.5% Theatre management
Management Co., Ltd.“) 4 April 2019 AE1,000,00075 ThEE
AN ER RERARATY FEL/ R E R
201954548
Maggie and Rose Limited () England 11 December 2007 GBP1 30.7% 29.7% Education development
HE 158 HEER
2007128118
Zhongan (Shandong) Urban PRC/Mainland China RMB100,000,000 100% 100% Property development
Development Co., Ltd.® 20 June 2019 A E#100,000,0007c Y
RZ (LFR) BmEEARARY FE/ R E R
2019565208
Zhongan (Shandong) Business PRC/Mainland China RMB100,000,000 100% 100% Property development
Development Co., Ltd.* 20 June 2019 AR #100,000,0007T ESEE
FZ (LR BEEEERAFY FE/ R E R
2019468208
Fine Earn Limited® Hong Kong HK$1 100% 100% Investment holding
BREERAF 1 November 2019 187 REER
aE
20191181H
Fund Huge Limited® Hong Kong HK$1 100% 100% Investment holding
EHERATY 8 November 2019 187 REZR
aE
201951188H
Zhong An Intelligent Living Service Cayman Islands HK$38,000,000 100% 100% Investment holding
Limited™ 16 November 2020 38,000,000/ ¢ RERR

RREBEERBRRATO
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)
Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows: (continued)

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the
opinion of the directors, principally affected the results for the year or
formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the Group. To give
details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors,
result in particulars of excessive length.

Notes:

N/A: Not yet incorporated/established/acquired or liquidated by the
Group

(a) Types of legal entities:
(1) Wholly-foreign-owned enterprise
2) Sino-foreign equity joint venture

(3) Limited liability company invested by foreign-invested
enterprise

(4) Limited liability company

(b) The capital of these subsidiaries has not been fully injected in
2021.

(c) These subsidiaries are subsidiaries held by non-wholly-owned
subsidiaries of the Group and, accordingly, are accounted for as
subsidiaries by virtue of the Group’s unilateral control over the
subsidiaries.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
BRI (8)

31 December 2021
2021%E12831H

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

2.1 Basis of preparation

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”),
which comprise standards and interpretations approved by
the International Accounting Standards Board (the “IASB”),
and International Accounting Standards and Standing
Interpretations Committee interpretations approved by the
International Accounting Standards Committee and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. They have been prepared under the historical
cost convention, except for investment properties, investment
properties classified as held for sale, equity investments
designated at fair value through other comprehensive income
and financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
which have been measured at fair value as explained in the
accounting policies set out below. These financial statements
are presented in Renminbi (“RMB”) and all values are rounded
to the nearest thousand except when otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries for the year
ended 31 December 2021. A subsidiary is an entity (including
a structured entity), directly or indirectly, controlled by the
Company. Control is achieved when the Group is exposed,
or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the
investee and has the ability to affect those returns through
its power over the investee (i.e., existing rights that give the
Group the current ability to direct the relevant activities of the
investee).
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

MR MtE (8)

31 December 2021
2021FE12831H

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND ACCOUNTING 2.
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

mREERESEER (8)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued) 21 REEE B

Basis of consolidation (continued)

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a
majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group
considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing
whether it has power over an investee, including:

(@  the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders
of the investee;

(b)  rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared
for the same reporting period as the Company, using
consistent accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries
are consolidated from the date on which the Group obtains
control, and continue to be consolidated until the date that
such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the parent of the Group
and to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. All intra-
group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash
flows relating to transactions between members of the Group
are eliminated in full on consolidation.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
BRI (8)

31 December 2021

20215128311

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)
Basis of consolidation (continued)

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one
or more of the three elements of control described above. A
change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss
of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i)
the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary,
(i) the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest and (iii)
the cumulative translation differences recorded in equity; and
recognises (i) the fair value of the consideration received, (i)
the fair value of any investment retained and (jii) any resulting
surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s share of
components previously recognised in other comprehensive
income is reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as
appropriate, on the same basis as would be required if the
Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

2.2 Changes in accounting policies and disclosures

The Group has adopted the following revised IFRSs for the first
time for the current year’s financial statements.

Amendments to IFRS 9, Interest Rate Benchmark Reform
IAS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4 — Phase 2
and IFRS 16

Amendments to IFRS 16 Covid-19-Related Rent
Concessions beyond 30 June
2021

The revised standards have had no significant financial effect
on these financial statements.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

MR MtE (8)

31 December 2021
2021FE12831H

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND ACCOUNTING 2.
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

mREERESEER (8)

2.3 DEMEBREARENBIEE

2.3 lIssued but not yet effective International

Financial Reporting Standards

The Group has not applied the following new and revised
IFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet effective, in these

financial statements.

Amendments to IFRS 3

Amendments to IFRS 10 and
IAS 28

IFRS 17

Amendments to IFRS 17

Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS

Practice Statement 2

Amendments to IAS 1

Amendments to IAS 8

Amendments to IAS 12

Amendments to IAS 16

Amendments to IAS 37

Annual Improvements fo IFRSs
2018-2020

Reference to the Conceptual Framework’

Sale or Contribution of Assets between
an Investor and its Associate or Joint
Venture’®

Insurance Contracts®

Insurance Contracts®*

Disclosure of Accounting Policies?

Classification of Liabilties as Current or
Non-current?
Definition of Accounting Estimates®

Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities
arising from a Single Transactior?

Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds
before Intended Use’

Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfiling a
Contract!

Amendments to IFRS 1, IFRS 9, lllustrative
Examples accompanying IFRS 16,
and IAS 41
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
BRI (8)

31 December 2021

20215128311

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.3 Issued but not yet effective International
Financial Reporting Standards (continued)

L Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January

2022

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2023

9 No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for
adoption

& As a consequence of the amendments to IFRS 17 issued in

June 2020, IFRS 4 was amended to extend the temporary
exemption that permits insurers to apply IAS 39 rather than
IFRS 9 for annual periods beginning before 1 January 2023

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of the
impact of these new and revised IFRSs upon initial application.
So far, the Group considers that, these new and revised IFRSs
are unlikely to have a significant impact on the Group’s results
of operations and financial position.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

MR MtE (8)

31 December 2021
2021FE12831H

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND ACCOUNTING 2.
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

mREERESEER (8)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies 24 FESTERBE
Investments in associates and joint ventures REE AT REERENIRE

An associate is an entity in which the Group has a long term
interest of generally not less than 20% of the equity voting
rights and over which it is in a position to exercise significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in the
financial and operating policy decisions of the investee, but is
not control or joint control over those policies.

A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby the
parties that have joint control of the arrangement have rights
to the net assets of the joint venture. Joint control is the
contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement,
which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities
require the unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.

The Group’s investments in associates and joint ventures are
stated in the consolidated statement of financial position at
the Group’s share of net assets under the equity method of
accounting, less any impairment losses.

The Group’s share of the post-acquisition results and other
comprehensive income of associates and joint ventures is
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
consolidated other comprehensive income, respectively. In
addition, when there has been a change recognised directly
in the equity of the associate and joint venture, the Group
recognises its share of any changes, when applicable, in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity. Unrealised gains
and losses resulting from transactions between the Group and
its joint ventures are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s
investments in the joint ventures, except where unrealised
losses provide evidence of an impairment of the assets
transferred. Goodwill arising from the acquisition of associates
or joint ventures is included as part of the Group’s investments
in associates or joint ventures.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
BRI (8)

31 December 2021
2021%E12831H

2.

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)

Investments in associates and joint ventures
(continued)

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment
in a joint venture or vice versa, the retained interest is
not remeasured. Instead, the investment continues to be
accounted for under the equity method. In all other cases,
upon loss of significant influence over the associate or joint
control over the joint venture, the Group measures and
recognises any retained investment at its fair value. Any
difference between the carrying amount of the associate or
joint venture upon loss of significant influence or joint control
and the fair value of the retained investment and proceeds from
disposal is recognised in profit or loss.

When an investment in a joint venture is classified as held for
sale, it is accounted for in accordance with IFRS 5 Non-current
Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations.

Business combinations and goodwiill

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred is measured at the
acquisition date fair value which is the sum of the acquisition
date fair values of assets transferred by the Group, liabilities
assumed by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree
and the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for
control of the acquiree. For each business combination, the
Group elects whether to measure the non-controlling interests
in the acquiree that are present ownership interests and entitle
their holders to a proportionate share of net assets in the event
of liquidation at fair value or at the proportionate share of the
acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other components of non-
controlling interests are measured at fair value. Acquisition-
related costs are expensed as incurred.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)
Business combinations and goodwill (continued)

The Group determines that it has acquired a business when
the acquired set of activities and assets includes an input and a
substantive process that together significantly contribute to the
ability to create outputs.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial
assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification
and designation in accordance with the contractual terms,
economic circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the
acquisition date. This includes the separation of embedded
derivatives in host contracts of the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the
previously held equity interest is remeasured at its acquisition
date fair value and any resulting gain or loss is recognised in
profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer
is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Contingent
consideration classified as an asset or liability is measured
at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or
loss. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not
remeasured and subsequent settlement is accounted for within
equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of
the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount
recognised for non-controlling interests and any fair value of
the Group’s previously held equity interests in the acquiree
over the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed.
If the sum of this consideration and other items is lower than
the fair value of the net assets acquired, the difference is, after
reassessment, recognised in profit or loss as a gain on bargain
purchase.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
BRI (8)

31 December 2021
2021%E12831H

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)
Business combinations and goodwill (continued)

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less
any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for
impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be
impaired. The Group performs its annual impairment test of
goodwill as at 31 December. For the purpose of impairment
testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from
the acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group’s cash-
generating units, or groups of cash-generating units, that are
expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination,
irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the Group
are assigned to those units or groups of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating
units) to which the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating
units) is less than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is
recognised. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not
reversed in a subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit
(or group of cash-generating units) and part of the operation
within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the
operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the
operation when determining the gain or loss on the disposal.
Goodwill disposed of in these circumstances is measured
based on the relative value of the operation disposed of and
the portion of the cash-generating unit retained.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)
Fair value measurement

The Group measures its investment properties and equity
investments at fair value at the end of each reporting period.
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset
or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date. The fair value
measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction
to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either in
the principal market for the asset or liability, or in the absence
of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for
the asset or liability. The principal or the most advantageous
market must be accessible by the Group. The fair value of
an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions
that market participants would use when pricing the asset or
liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic
best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the asset
in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in
the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to
measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable
inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
BRI (8)

31 December 2021
2021%E12831H

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)
Fair value measurement (continued)

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or
disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within the
fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a
whole:

Level 1 - based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 - based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is observable, either directly or
indirectly

Level 3 - based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines whether
transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by
reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input that
is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the
end of each reporting period.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than
inventories, deferred tax assets, financial assets, completed
properties held for sale, properties under development,
investment properties and non-current assets), the asset’s
recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s recoverable
amount is the higher of the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s
value in use and its fair value less costs of disposal, and is
determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not
generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those
from other assets or groups of assets, in which case the
recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating unit
to which the asset belongs. In testing a cash-generating unit
for impairment, a portion of the carrying amount of a corporate
asset (e.g., a headquarters building) is allocated to an individual
cash-generating unit if it can be allocated on a reasonable and
consistent basis or, otherwise, to the smallest group of cash-
generating units.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)
Impairment of non-financial assets (continued)

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount
of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to
their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money and
the risks specific to the asset. An impairment loss is charged
to the statement of profit or loss in the period in which it arises
in those expense categories consistent with the function of
the impaired asset, unless the asset is carried at a revalued
amount, in which case the impairment loss is accounted for
in accordance with the relevant accounting policy for that
revalued asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as
to whether there is any indication that previously recognised
impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased.
If such an indication exists, the recoverable amount is
estimated. A previously recognised impairment loss of an
asset other than goodwill is reversed only if there has been a
change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable
amount of that asset, but not to an amount higher than the
carrying amount that would have been determined (net of
any depreciation/amortisation) had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of such an
impairment loss is credited to the statement of profit or loss
in the period in which it arises, unless the asset is carried at a
revalued amount, in which case the reversal of the impairment
loss is accounted for in accordance with the relevant
accounting policy for that revalued asset.

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@) the party is a person or a close member of that person’s
family and that person
(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(ii) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management personnel of
the Group or of a parent of the Group;
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

PR M (

31 December 2021
2021%E12831H

)

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies
(continued)

Related parties (continued)

or

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies:

(i)

(V)

(vi)

(vii)

(viil)

the entity and the Group are members of the same
group;

one entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow
subsidiary of the other entity);

the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the
same third party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or an
entity related to the Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a);

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent
of the entity); and

the entity, or any member of a group of which it
is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group or to the parent of the
Group.
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2.

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)
Property and equipment and depreciation

Property and equipment, other than construction in progress,
are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any
impairment losses. The cost of an item of property and
equipment comprises its purchase price and any directly
attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working condition
and location for its intended use. Cost may also include
transfers from equity of any gains or losses on qualifying cash
flow hedges of foreign currency purchases of property and
equipment.

Expenditure incurred after items of property and equipment
have been put into operation, such as repairs and
maintenance, is normally charged to the statement of profit or
loss in the period in which it is incurred. In situations where the
recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a major
inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount of the asset
as a replacement. Where significant parts of property and
equipment are required to be replaced at intervals, the Group
recognises such parts as individual assets with specific useful
lives and depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off
the cost of each item of property and equipment to its residual
value over its estimated useful life. The principal annual rates
used for this purpose are as follows:

Properties 2.38% t0 4.75%
Machinery 9.5%
Office equipment 19%
Motor vehicles 19%

Leasehold improvements Over the shorter of the lease terms and 19%
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
BRI (8)

31 December 2021
2021%E12831H

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)
Property and equipment and depreciation (continued)

Where parts of an item of property and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a
reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated
separately. Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation
method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at
each financial year end.

An item of property and equipment including any significant
part initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal or when
no future economic benefits are expected from its use or
disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or retirement recognised
in the statement of profit or loss in the year the asset is
derecognised is the difference between the net sales proceeds
and the carrying amount of the relevant asset.

Construction in progress represents a building under
construction, which is stated at cost less any impairment
losses, and is not depreciated. Cost comprises the direct costs
of construction and capitalised borrowing costs on related
borrowed funds during the period of construction. Construction
in progress is reclassified to the appropriate category of
property and equipment when completed and ready for use.

Investment properties

Investment properties are interests in land and buildings
(including the leasehold property held as a right-of-use asset
which would otherwise meet the definition of an investment
property) held to earn rental income and/or for capital
appreciation, rather than for use in the production or supply
of goods or services or for administrative purposes; or for
sale in the ordinary course of business. Investment properties
comprise completed investment properties and investment
properties under construction. Such properties are measured
initially at cost, including transaction costs. Subsequent to
initial recognition, investment properties are stated at fair value,
which reflects market conditions at the end of the reporting
period.

Zhong An Group Limited 2021 Annual Report

2.

mREERESEER (8)

24 TEGSERME (@

BERRERITE (@)

HESDFERRREEBERT
BRI ERER > BIZIEE AR
PBUGEREERE D DK
BB DRFHRITE - 7R E 7
ERERRITE R AR &Y
HEEREHEERRBES

o

st EANHEREBRRE
T8 B R A BE A5 2R AE R R 2R AS K
o RIS I E B R ar
RAERERE D AL IEFESD -
REBEEX LSS ER  $HE
S EREE A E ERE MRS SE
B IZAMEEHEFSRIEF
ERFHMEEREEME BN
E RN IRm AR o

FRIRIEEEERNVET R
B AR R R E BB AR A
SHEITE - A B AR R AR R
RNBEENTREBEAES
NWEXCEER A -ERITERN
ERA ARRBEERNEND
BEME BB R

REWME

REMERBEUERFSEGERA
R/ HERGERER > MIEA
REEFIRUERIRFTXE
HERARHNBHEXERBRENE
EMmFA LM REFET (8
BEUKEHERABEAME
ERNEREVEEENES
V%R - REVEBREER
BARBYERTTRREYE 2
EMERNUABERZ HEH
A E-RYPHERE KE
MEZRBRBSHART RO A
ABETIR



Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)
Investment properties (continued)

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values of
investment properties are included in the statement of profit or
loss in the year in which they arise.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an
investment property are recognised in the statement of profit or
loss in the year of the retirement or disposal.

The Group determines whether completed properties held for
sale and properties under development would be transferred
to investment properties when, only when, there is a change
in use, evidenced by the following criteria: (a) the Group has
prepared a business plan that reflects the future rental income
generated by the property and this is supported with evidence
that there is demand for rental space; (b) the Group can
demonstrate that it has the resources, including the necessary
financing or capital, to hold and manage an investment
property; (c) the change in use is legally permissible; (d) if the
property must be further developed for the change in use, the
development has commenced and (e) the change in use is
approved by the board.

Properties under development

Properties under development are stated at the lower of cost
and net realisable value and comprise land costs, construction
costs, borrowing costs, professional fees and other costs
directly attributable to such properties incurred during the
development period.

Properties under development which are already under
construction or expected to be under construction within
twelve months or have an explicit business plan for
construction are classified as current assets. Other properties
under development are classified as non-current assets.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
BRI (8)

31 December 2021
2021%E12831H

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)
Completed properties held for sale

Completed properties held for sale are stated at the lower
of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined by
an apportionment of the total costs of land and buildings
attributable to the unsold properties. Net realisable value takes
into account the selling price, less estimated costs to be
incurred in selling the properties based on prevailing market
conditions.

Other intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Other intangible assets acquired separately are measured on
initial recognition at cost. The cost of other intangible assets
acquired in a business combination is the fair value at the date
of the acquisition. The useful lives of other intangible assets are
assessed to be either finite or indefinite. Other intangible assets
with finite lives are subsequently amortised over the useful
economic life and assessed for impairment whenever there is
an indication that the other intangible asset may be impaired.
The amortisation period and the amortisation method for an
intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at
each reporting period.

The principal estimated useful lives of other intangible assets
are as follows:

Category Estimated useful life

Brandname 20 years
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)
Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract
is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the
contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified
asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement
approach for all leases, except for short-term leases and leases
of low-value assets. The Group recognises lease liabilities to
make lease payments and right-of-use assets representing the
right to use the underlying assets.

(@  Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the
commencement date of the lease (that is the date
the underlying asset is available for use). Right-of-use
assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses, and adjusted
for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost of
right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease liabilities
recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and lease
payments made at or before the commencement date
less any lease incentives received. Right-of-use assets
are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter
of the lease terms and the estimated useful lives of the
assets as follows:

Buildings 5 to 20 years

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group
by the end of the lease term or the cost reflects the
exercise of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated
using the estimated useful life of the asset.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
BRI (8)

31 December 2021

2021%12A31H

2.

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies
(continued)

Leases (continued)

Group as a lessee (continued)

(b)

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease at the present value of lease payments
to be made over the lease term. The lease payments
include fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments) less any lease incentives receivable, variable
lease payments that depend on an index or a rate,
and amounts expected to be paid under residual value
guarantees. The lease payments also include the
exercise price of a purchase option reasonably certain to
be exercised by the Group and payments of penalties for
termination of a lease, if the lease term reflects the Group
exercising the option to terminate the lease. The variable
lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate
are recognised as an expense in the period in which the
event or condition that triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments,
the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at the
lease commencement date because the interest rate
implicit in the lease is not readily determinable. After the
commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is
increased to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced
for the lease payments made. In addition, the carrying
amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a
modification, a change in the lease term, a change in
lease payments (e.g., a change to future lease payments
resulting from a change in an index or rate) or a change
in assessment of an option to purchase the underlying
asset.
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2.

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)
Leases (continued)
Group as a lessee (continued)

(c)  Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to its short-term leases of machinery and
equipment (that is those leases that have a lease term
of 12 months or less from the commencement date and
do not contain a purchase option). It also applies the
recognition exemption for leases of low-value assets to
leases of office equipment and laptop computers that are
considered to be of low value.

Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-
value assets are recognised as an expense on a straight-
line basis over the lease term.

Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease inception
(or when there is a lease modification) each of its leases as
either an operating lease or a finance lease.

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially
all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset
are classified as operating leases. When a contract contains
lease and non-lease components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the contract to each component on a relative
stand-alone selling price basis. Rental income is accounted for
on a straight-line basis over the lease terms and is included in
revenue in the statement of profit or loss due to its operating
nature. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging
an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the
leased asset and recognised over the lease term on the same
basis as rental income. Contingent rents are recognised as
revenue in the period in which they are earned.

2.

MR MtE (8)

31 December 2021
2021FE12831H

mREERESEER (8)

24 TEGSHERME (@

HE (@
FEREEREAN (B)

© FEREHEREEEEEN

=

RERR = E
HATE S RS0 28 o FE R A2 HA
HE (BIEEER®BEE
REETFHER 1218 B st X
T UETEEREEERE
EHNEE) - HEEEE
HERFED SRR IERR
WRBEEENPRLAER
BheaXBEAS-

EHAEREEEEEME
ERAENMTRNERRNZ
EEmER AR

KEF R HAN

EXEEMFEAHBEAR HRL
HERMBE (REHRBEEN
R RIS EREEHE I
B

FIEAEBLREEEEMA
FEFF Mt 75 RO 4B K 38 0 BB K [B]
FNEERERKEHEE-ES
NEZEERIFAEHNOE &
EEZENEBEEEERS
HNHEREDEEERS D%
WA RBIR R ERET R
sPAREE (AEKEMRE) o
REBRZHKEHERESE
WA BBEEM AL AREE
ERREE > MR EARNIZAER
AR AEZIA - SHAEE
TS 1% B Bk B A HA 8 P B 58 4 LI
m o AT ELE RS
Wead o

REEBERAT T —FEFRK

159



160

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
BRI (8)

31 December 2021
2021%E12831H

2.

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)
Investments and other financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value through
other comprehensive income, and fair value through profit or
loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group’s business model for managing
them. With the exception of trade receivables that do not
contain a significant financing component or for which the
Group has applied the practical expedient of not adjusting
the effect of a significant financing component, the Group
initially measures a financial asset at its fair value, plus in the
case of a financial asset not at fair value through profit or
loss, transaction costs. Trade receivables that do not contain
a significant financing component or for which the Group has
applied the practical expedient are measured at the transaction
price determined under IFRS 15 in accordance with the
policies set out for “Revenue recognition” below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured
at amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive
income, it needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest (“SPPI”) on the principal
amount outstanding. Financial assets with cash flows that are
not SPPI are classified and measured at fair value through
profit or loss, irrespective of the business model.
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2.

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)
Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Initial recognition and measurement (continued)

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets
refers to how it manages its financial assets in order to
generate cash flows. The business model determines whether
cash flows will result from collecting contractual cash flows,
selling the financial assets, or both. Financial assets classified
and measured at amortised cost are held within a business
model with the objective to hold financial assets in order to
collect contractual cash flows, while financial assets classified
and measured at fair value through other comprehensive
income are held within a business model with the objective
of both holding to collect contractual cash flows and selling.
Financial assets which are not held within the aforementioned
business models are classified and measured at fair value
through profit or loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases
or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the period generally established by
regulation or convention in the marketplace.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on
their classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured
using the effective interest method and are subject to
impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in the statement
of profit or loss when the asset is derecognised, modified or
impaired.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
BRI (8)

31 December 2021
2021%E12831H

2.

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)
Investments and other financial assets (continued)

Financial assets designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income (equity investments)

Upon initial recognition, the Group can elect to classify
irrevocably its equity investments as equity investments
designated at fair value through other comprehensive income
when they meet the definition of equity under IAS 32 Financial
Instruments: Presentation and are not held for trading. The
classification is determined on an instrument-by-instrument
basis.

Gains and losses on these financial assets are never recycled
to the statement of profit or loss. Dividends are recognised
as other income in the statement of profit or loss when the
right of payment has been established, it is probable that the
economic benefits associated with the dividend will flow to
the Group and the amount of the dividend can be measured
reliably, except when the Group benefits from such proceeds
as a recovery of part of the cost of the financial asset, in
which case such gains are recorded in other comprehensive
income. Equity investments designated at fair value through
other comprehensive income are not subject to impairment
assessment.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in
the statement of financial position at fair value with net changes
in fair value recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

This category includes equity investments which the Group
had not irrevocably elected to classify at fair value through
other comprehensive income. Dividends on equity investments
classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
are also recognised as other income in the statement of profit
or loss when the right of payment has been established, it
is probable that the economic benefits associated with the
dividend will flow to the Group and the amount of the dividend
can be measured reliably.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

MR MtE (8)

31 December 2021
2021FE12831H

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND ACCOUNTING 2. FHBEREHER (&)
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies 24 FESHEERBE @)

(continued)
Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily
derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group’s consolidated
statement of financial position) when:

° the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired; or

° the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay
the received cash flows in full without material delay to
a third party under a “pass-through” arrangement; and
either (a) the Group has transferred substantially all the
risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has
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and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of KB R bz A B3 » 54 (b)
the asset. RER mERENREZ

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement,
it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has retained the risk
and rewards of ownership of the asset. When it has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards
of the asset nor transferred control of the ass et, the Group
continues to recognise the transferred asset to the extent of
the Group’s continuing involvement. In that case, the Group
also recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset
and the associated liability are measured on a basis that
reflects the rights and obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over
the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original
carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of
consideration that the Group could be required to repay.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
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31 December 2021
2021%E12831H

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)
Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses
(“ECLS”) for all debt instruments not held at fair value through
profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the
contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract
and all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive,
discounted at an approximation of the original effective interest
rate. The expected cash flows will include cash flows from the
sale of collateral held or other credit enhancements that are
integral to the contractual terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for
which there has not been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses
that result from default events that are possible within the next
12 months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for
which there has been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit losses
expected over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of
the timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the
credit risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly
since initial recognition. When making the assessment,
the Group compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a
default occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of
initial recognition and considers reasonable and supportable
information that is available without undue cost or effort,
including historical and forward-looking information.
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2.

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)
General approach (continueq)

The Group considers a financial asset in default when
contractual payments are 90 days past due. However, in
certain cases, the Group may also consider a financial asset
to be in default when internal or external information indicates
that the Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual
amounts in full before taking into account any credit
enhancements held by the Group. A financial asset is written
off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovering the
contractual cash flows.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject to impairment
under the general approach and they are classified within the
following stages for measurement of ECLs except for trade
receivables which apply the simplified approach as detailed
below.

Stage 1 — Financial instruments for which credit risk has not
increased significantly since initial recognition and
for which the loss allowance is measured at an
amount equal to 12-month ECLs

Stage 2 — Financial instruments for which credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition but
that are not credit-impaired financial assets and
for which the loss allowance is measured at an
amount equal to lifetime ECLs

Stage 3 — Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the
reporting date (but that are not purchased or
originated credit-impaired) and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal to
lifetime ECLs
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
BRI (8)

31 December 2021
2021%E12831H

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies
(continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
Simplified approach

For trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component or when the Group applies the practical expedient
of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing component,
the Group applies the simplified approach in calculating ECLs.
Under the simplified approach, the Group does not track
changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance
based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The Group has
established a provision matrix that is based on its historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors
specific to the debtors and the economic environment.

For trade receivables that contain a significant financing
component and lease receivables, the Group chooses as
its accounting policy to adopt the simplified approach in
calculating ECLs with policies as described above.

Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement
Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as loans

and borrowings, or payables, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in
the case of loans and borrowings and payables, net of directly
attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and other
payables, amounts due to related companies, lease liabilities
and interest-bearing bank and other borrowings.
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2.

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)
Financial liabilities (continued)
Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on
their classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (loans and borrowings)

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings
are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest rate method unless the effect of discounting
would be immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.
Gains and losses are recognised in the statement of profit or
loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the
effective interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that
are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The effective
interest rate amortisation is included in finance costs in the
statement of profit or loss.

Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are those
contracts that require a payment to be made to reimburse
the holder for a loss it incurs because the specified debtor
fails to make a payment when due in accordance with the
terms of a debt instrument. A financial guarantee contract is
recognised initially as a liability at its fair value, adjusted for
transaction costs that are directly attributable to the issuance
of the guarantee. Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group
measures the financial guarantee contracts at the higher of: (i)
the ECL allowance determined in accordance with the policy as
set out in “Impairment of financial assets”; and (i) the amount
initially recognised less, when appropriate, the cumulative
amount of income recognised.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
BRI (8)

31 December 2021
2021%E12831H

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)
Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under
the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from
the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of
an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange
or modification is treated as a derecognition of the original
liability and a recognition of a new liability, and the difference
between the respective carrying amounts is recognised in the
statement of profit or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net
amount is reported in the statement of financial position if there
is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised
amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to
realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined on the weighted average basis. Net
realisable value is based on estimated selling prices less any
estimated costs to be incurred to completion and on disposal.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and
demand deposits, and short term highly liquid investments that
are readily convertible into known amounts of cash, are subject
to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a short
maturity of generally within three months when acquired, less
bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an
integral part of the Group’s cash management.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

MR MtE (8)

31 December 2021
2021FE12831H

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND ACCOUNTING 2, RUBEREER (B
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies 24 FESHEERBE @)
(continued)
Cash and cash equivalents (continued) RERBAEEEY (@

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial
position, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand
and at banks, including term deposits, and assets similar in
nature to cash, which are not restricted as to use.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is
probable that a future outflow of resources will be required to
settle the obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be
made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the end of
the reporting period of the future expenditures expected to be
required to settle the obligation. The increase in the discounted
present value amount arising from the passage of time is
included in finance costs in the statement of profit or loss.

A contingent liability recognised in a business combination is
initially measured at its fair value. Subsequently, it is measured
at the higher of (i) the amount that would be recognised in
accordance with the general policy for provisions above; and
(il the amount initially recognised less, when appropriate, the
amount of income recognised in accordance with the policy for
revenue recognition.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
BRI (8)

31 December 2021
2021%E12831H

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)
Employee retirement benefits

Pursuant to the relevant regulations of the PRC government,
the companies comprising the Group operating in Mainland
China (the “PRC group companies”) have participated in a
local municipal government retirement benefit scheme (the
“Scheme”), whereby the PRC group companies are required
to contribute a certain percentage of the salaries of their
employees to the Scheme to fund their retirement benefits.
The only obligation of the Group with respect to the Scheme
is to pay the ongoing contributions under the Scheme.
Contributions under the Scheme are charged to the statement
of profit of loss as incurred. Contributions paid to the Scheme
for an employee are not available to reduce the Group’s future
obligations to the Scheme even if the employee leaves.

Employee benefits to all eligible employees of the overseas
subsidiaries are made in accordance with the rules set forth in
the collective labor agreement, and recorded as an expense in
the period they are due as a charge to the statement of profit
or loss.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax and land
appreciation tax. Income tax relating to items recognised
outside profit or loss is recognised outside profit or loss, either
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation
authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period, taking into consideration interpretations and practices
prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

MR MtE (8)

31 December 2021
2021FE12831H

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND ACCOUNTING 2, RUBEREER (B
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies 24 FESHHEERBME @)

(continued)
Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

° when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and, at
the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting
profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

o in respect of taxable temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and
associates, when the timing of the reversal of the
temporary differences can be controlled and it is
probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in
the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, and the carryforward of unused tax credits and
any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to
the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available
against which the deductible temporary differences, and the
carryforward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can
be utilised, except:

o when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition of
an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss;
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with investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and
associates, deferred tax assets are only recognised
to the extent that it is probable that the temporary
differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and
taxable profit will be available against which the
temporary differences can be utilised.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
BRI (8)

31 December 2021
2021%E12831H

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)
Income tax (continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be
available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be
utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at
the end of each reporting period and are recognised to the
extent that it has become probable that sufficient taxable profit
will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to
be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is
realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax
laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a
legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the
same taxable entity and the same taxation authority on either
the same taxable entity or different taxable entities which intend
either to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis,
or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously,
in each future period in which significant amounts of deferred
tax liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or recovered.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

MR MtE (8)

31 December 2021
2021FE12831H

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND ACCOUNTING 2, RUBEREER (B
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies 24 FESHEERBE @)
(continued)
AT 4R

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where
there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received
and all attaching conditions will be complied with. When the
grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised as income on
a systematic basis over the periods that the costs, for which it
is intended to compensate, are expensed.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is credited to
a deferred income account and is released to the statement of
profit or loss over the expected useful life of the relevant asset
by equal annual instalments or deducted from the carrying
amount of the asset and released to the statement of profit or
loss by way of a reduced depreciation charge.

Revenue recognition
Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when
control of goods or services is transferred to the customers at
an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Group
expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable
amount, the amount of consideration is estimated to which
the Group will be entitled in exchange for transferring the
goods or services to the customer. The variable consideration
is estimated at contract inception and constrained until it
is highly probable that a significant revenue reversal in the
amount of cumulative revenue recognised will not occur when
the associated uncertainty with the variable consideration is
subsequently resolved.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
BRI (8)

31 December 2021
2021%E12831H

2.

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)
Revenue recognition (continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

When the contract contains a financing component which
provides the customer with a significant benefit of financing
the transfer of goods or services to the customer for more
than one year, revenue is measured at the present value of
the amount receivable, discounted using the discount rate
that would be reflected in a separate financing transaction
between the Group and the customer at contract inception.
When the contract contains a financing component which
provides the Group with a significant financial benefit for more
than one year, revenue recognised under the contract includes
the interest expense accreted on the contract liability under
the effective interest method. For a contract where the period
between the payment by the customer and the transfer of the
promised goods or services is one year or less, the transaction
price is not adjusted for the effects of a significant financing
component, using the practical expedient in IFRS 15.

(@  Revenue from the sales of properties

For property development and sales contracts for which
the control of the property is transferred at a point in
time, revenue is recognised when the purchasers obtain
the physical possession or the legal title of the completed
properties and the Group has the present right to
payment from the purchasers.

(o)  Revenue from hotel operation

Revenue from hotel operation is derived from room
rental, food and beverage sales and income from the
provision of other ancillary services, and is recognised
when the services are rendered.

(c)  Revenue from property management and other services

Revenue from property management and other services
is recognised over the scheduled period on a straight-line
basis because the customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the Group.
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2.

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)
Revenue recognition (continued)
Revenue from other sources

Rental income is recognised on a time proportion basis
over the lease terms. Variable lease payments that do not
depend on an index or a rate are recognised as income in the
accounting period in which they are incurred.

Other income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the
effective interest method by applying the rate that exactly
discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the expected
life of the financial instrument or a shorter period, when
appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders’ right
to receive payment has been established, it is probable that
the economic benefits associated with the dividend will flow to
the Group and the amount of the dividend can be measured
reliably.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is received or
a payment is due (whichever is earlier) from a customer before
the Group transfers the related goods or services. Contract
liabilities are recognised as revenue when the Group performs
under the contract (i.e., transfers control of the related goods
or services to the customer).
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
BRI (8)

31 December 2021
2021%E12831H

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)
Share-based payments

The Company operates a share option scheme for the
purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible
participants who contribute to the success of the Group’s
operations. Employees (including directors) of the Group
receive remuneration in the form of share-based payments,
whereby employees render services as consideration for equity
instruments (“equity-settled transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees for
grants after 7 November 2002 is measured by reference to the
fair value at the date at which they are granted. The fair value
is determined by an external valuer using a binomial model,
further details of which are given in note 35 to the financial
statements.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in
employee benefit expense, together with a corresponding
increase in equity, over the period in which the performance
and/or service conditions are fulfilled. The cumulative expense
recognised for equity-settled transactions at the end of each
reporting period until the vesting date reflects the extent to
which the vesting period has expired and the Group’s best
estimate of the number of equity instruments that will ultimately
vest. The charge or credit to the statement of profit or loss for
a period represents the movement in the cumulative expense
recognised as at the beginning and end of that period.

Service and non-market performance conditions are not
taken into account when determining the grant date fair
value of awards, but the likelihood of the conditions being
met is assessed as part of the Group’s best estimate of the
number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. Market
performance conditions are reflected within the grant date fair
value. Any other conditions attached to an award, but without
an associated service requirement, are considered to be non-
vesting conditions. Non-vesting conditions are reflected in the
fair value of an award and lead to an immediate expensing of
an award unless there are also service and/or performance
conditions.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)
Share-based payments (continued)

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market
performance and/or service conditions have not been met,
no expense is recognised. Where awards include a market or
non-vesting condition, the transactions are treated as vesting
irrespective of whether the market or non-vesting condition is
satisfied, provided that all other performance and/or service
conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as
a minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not
been modified, if the original terms of the award are met. In
addition, an expense is recognised for any modification that
increases the total fair value of the share-based payments, or is
otherwise beneficial to the employee as measured at the date
of modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if
it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense
not yet recognised for the award is recognised immediately.
This includes any award where non-vesting conditions within
the control of either the Group or the employee are not met.
However, if a new award is substituted for the cancelled award,
and is designated as a replacement award on the date that it
is granted, the cancelled and new awards are treated as if they
were a modification of the original award, as described in the
previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as
additional share dilution in the computation of earnings per
share.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
BRI (8)

31 December 2021
2021%E12831H

2.

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)
Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready
for their intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the
cost of those assets. The capitalisation of such borrowing
costs ceases when the assets are substantially ready for
their intended use or sale. Investment income earned on
the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending
their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the
borrowing costs capitalised. All other borrowing costs are
expensed in the period in which they are incurred. Borrowing
costs consist of interest and other costs that an entity incurs in
connection with the borrowing of funds.

Where funds have been borrowed generally and used for the
purpose of obtaining qualifying assets, a capitalisation rate of
4.73% (2020: 4.13%) has been applied to the expenditure on
the individual assets.

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are
approved by the shareholders in a general meeting.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared.
Consequently, interim dividends are recognised immediately as
a liability when they are proposed and declared.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)
Foreign currencies

The functional currency of the Company is the Hong Kong
dollar (“HK$”), and the functional currencies of subsidiaries
incorporated outside Mainland China are the “HK$”, the
United States dollar (“US$”) and the Great Britain Pound
(“GBP”), respectively. The functional currency of Mainland
China subsidiaries is the RMB. As the Group mainly operates
in Mainland China, the RMB is used as the presentation
currency of the Group. Each entity in the Group determines
its own functional currency and items included in the
financial statements of each entity are measured using that
functional currency. Foreign currency transactions recorded
by the entities in the Group are initially recorded using their
respective functional currency rates prevailing at the dates of
the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated
in foreign currencies are translated at the functional currency
rates of exchange ruling at the end of the reporting period.
Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary
items are recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary
items are recognised in the statement of profit or loss with
the exception of monetary items that are designated as
part of the hedge of the Group’s net investment of a foreign
operation. These are recognised in other comprehensive
income until the net investment is disposed of, at which time
the cumulative amount is reclassified to the statement of profit
or loss. Tax charges and credits attributable to exchange
differences on those monetary items are also recorded in other
comprehensive income.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
BRI (8)

31 December 2021
2021%E12831H

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)
Foreign currencies (continued)

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary
items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated
using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was
measured. The gain or loss arising on translation of a non-
monetary item measured at fair value is treated in line with the
recognition of the gain or loss on change in fair value of the
item (i.e., translation difference on the item whose fair value
gain or loss is recognised in other comprehensive income or
profit or loss is also recognised in other comprehensive income
or profit or loss, respectively).

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of the
related asset, expense or income on the derecognition of a
non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability relating to an
advance consideration, the date of initial transaction is the
date on which the Group initially recognises the non-monetary
asset or non-monetary liability arising from the advance
consideration. If there are multiple payments or receipts in
advance, the Group determines the transaction date for each
payment or receipt of the advance consideration.

The functional currencies of non-PRC established subsidiaries
are currencies other than the RMB. As at the end of the
reporting period, the assets and liabilities of these entities are
translated into RMB at the exchange rates prevailing at the end
of the reporting period and their statements of profit or loss are
translated into RMB at the exchange rates that approximate to
those prevailing at the dates of the transactions.

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange
fluctuation reserve. On disposal of a foreign operation, the
component of other comprehensive income relating to that
particular foreign operation is recognised in the statement of
profit or loss.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies
(continued)

Foreign currencies (continued)

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation
and any fair value adjustments to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities arising on acquisition are treated as assets
and liabilities of the foreign operation and translated at the
closing rate.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
the cash flows of non-PRC established subsidiaries are
translated into RMB at the exchange rates ruling at the dates
of the cash flows. Frequently recurring cash flows of non-PRC
established companies which arise throughout the year are
translated into RMB at the weighted average exchange rates
for the year.

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets
and liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and the
disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these
assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that could
require a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of the
assets or liabilities affected in the future.

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following judgements, apart from those
involving estimations, which have the most significant effect on the
amounts recognised in the financial statements:
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
BRI (8)

31 December 2021
2021%E12831H

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Judgements (continued)

(M

(i)

(iii)

Property lease classification — Group as a lessor

The Group has entered into commercial property leases on
its investment property portfolio. The Group has determined,
based on an evaluation of the terms and conditions of the
arrangements, such as the lease term not constituting a major
part of the economic life of the commercial property and the
present value of the minimum lease payments not amounting
to substantially all the fair value of the commercial property,
that it retains substantially all the significant risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of these properties which are leased
out and accounts for the contracts as operating leases.

Classification between investment properties,
completed properties held for sale and owner-
occupied properties

The Group determines whether a property qualifies as an
investment property, and has developed criteria in making
that judgement. Investment property is a property held to earn
rentals or for capital appreciation or both. Therefore, the Group
considers whether a property generates cash flows largely
independently of the other assets held by the Group.

Some properties comprise a portion that is held to earn rentals
or for capital appreciation and another portion that is held
for use in the production or supply of goods or services or
for administrative purposes. If these portions could be sold
separately, the Group accounts for the portions separately. If
the portions could not be sold separately, the property is an
investment property only if an insignificant portion is held for
use in the production or supply of goods or services or for
administrative purposes. Judgement is made on an individual
property basis to determine whether ancillary services are so
significant that a property does not qualify as an investment
property.

Classification of current and non-current properties
under development

The Group classifies properties under development according
to the construction progress and estimated commencement
date of pre-sale. Properties under development are classified
as current assets after the construction commences or having
a clear plan for construction. As for the rest properties under
development, the Group classify them as non-current.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of
estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that have
a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are
described below:

(i)

Fair value of investment properties

Investment properties were revalued based on the appraised
market value by independent professional valuers. Such
valuations were based on certain assumptions, which are
subject to uncertainty and might materially differ from the
actual results. In making the estimate, the Group considers
information from current prices in an active market for similar
properties and uses assumptions that are mainly based on
market conditions existing at the end of the reporting period.

In the absence of current prices in an active market for similar
properties, the Group considers information from a variety of
sources, including:

(@ current prices in an active market for properties of
a different nature, condition or location or subject to
different leases or other contracts, adjusted to reflect
those differences;

(b)  recent prices of similar properties on less active markets,
with adjustments to reflect any changes in economic
conditions since the dates of the transactions that
occurred at those prices; and

(c) discounted cash flow projections based on reliable
estimates of future cash flows, supported by the terms
of any existing lease and other contracts and (when
possible) by external evidence such as current market
rents for similar properties in the same location and
condition, and using discount rates that reflect current
market assessments of the uncertainty in the amount
and timing of the cash flows.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
BRI (8)

31 December 2021
2021%E12831H

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

@)

(i)

Fair value of investment properties (continued)

The principal assumptions for the Group’s estimation of
the fair value include those related to current market rents
for similar properties in the same location and condition,
appropriate discount rates, expected future market rents and
future maintenance costs. The carrying amount of investment
properties at 31 December 2021 was RMB5,290,500,000
(2020: RMB5,414,600,000). Further details, including the key
assumptions used for fair value measurement and a sensitivity
analysis, are given in note 13 to the financial statements.

Net realisable value of properties under development
and completed properties held for sale

The Group’s properties under development and completed
properties held for sale are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Based on the Group’s historical experience
and the nature of the subject properties, the Group makes
estimates of the selling prices, the costs of completion of
properties under development, and the costs to be incurred in
selling the properties based on prevailing market conditions.

If there is an increase in costs to completion or a decrease in
net sales value, the net realisable value will decrease and this
may result in a provision for properties under development and
completed properties held for sale. Such provision requires
the use of judgements and estimates. Where the expectation
is different from the original estimate, the carrying value and
provision for properties in the period in which the estimate is
changed will be adjusted accordingly.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

(iii)

(iv)

PRC land appreciation tax (“LAT”)

LAT in the PRC is levied at progressive rates ranging from 30%
to 60% on the appreciation of land value, being the proceeds
from the sale of properties less deductible expenditures
including land costs, borrowing costs and other property
development expenditures.

The subsidiaries of the Group engaging in the property
development business in Mainland China are subject to LAT.
However, the implementation of these taxes varies amongst
various cities in Mainland China and the Group has not finalised
its LAT returns with various tax authorities. Accordingly,
significant judgement is required in determining the amount
of land appreciation and its related taxes. The ultimate tax
determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of
business. The Group recognises these liabilities based on
management’s best estimates. Where the final tax outcome of
these matters is different from the amounts that were initially
recorded, such differences will impact the statement of profit
or loss and the provision for LAT in the period in which such
determination is made.

Impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least
on an annual basis. This requires an estimation of the value
in use of the cash-generating units to which the goodwill is
allocated. Estimating the value in use requires the Group to
make an estimate of the expected future cash flows from the
cash-generating units and also to choose a suitable discount
rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash flows.
The carrying amount of goodwill at 31 December 2021 was nil
(2020: RMB98,995,000). Further details are given in note 16 to
the financial statements.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
BRI (8)

31 December 2021
2021%E12831H

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)
(v) Leases - Estimating the incremental borrowing rate

The Group cannot readily determine the interest rate implicit in
a lease, and therefore, it uses an incremental borrowing rate
(“IBR”) to measure lease liabilities. The IBR is the rate of interest
that the Group would have to pay to borrow over a similar
term, and with a similar security, the funds necessary to obtain
an asset of a similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar
economic environment. The IBR therefore reflects what the
Group “would have to pay”, which requires estimation when
no observable rates are available (such as for subsidiaries that
do not enter into financing transactions) or when it needs to
be adjusted to reflect the terms and conditions of the lease
(for example, when leases are not in the subsidiary’s functional
currency). The Group estimates the IBR using observable
inputs (such as market interest rates) when available and is
required to make certain entity-specific estimates (such as the
subsidiary’s stand-alone credit rating).

(vi) Impairment of non-financial assets (other than
goodwill)

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of
impairment for all non-financial assets (including the right-of-
use assets) at the end of each reporting period. Other non-
financial assets are tested for impairment when there are
indicators that the carrying amounts may not be recoverable.
An impairment exists when the carrying value of an asset or a
cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount, which is
the higher of its fair value less costs of disposal and its value
in use. The calculation of the fair value less costs of disposal
is based on available data from binding sales transactions in
an arm’s length transaction of similar assets or observable
market prices less incremental costs for disposing of the asset.
When value in use calculations are undertaken, management
must estimate the expected future cash flows from the asset
or cash-generating unit and choose a suitable discount rate in
order to calculate the present value of those cash flows.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

(vii)

(viii)

Fair value of unlisted equity investment

The unlisted equity investments have been valued based
on a market-based valuation technique as detailed in note
43 to the financial statements. The valuation requires the
Group to determine the comparable public companies
(peers) and select the price multiple. In addition, the Group
makes estimates about the discount for illiquidity and size
differences. The Group classifies the fair value of these
investments as Level 3. The fair value of the unlisted equity
investments at 31 December 2021 was RMB504,131,000
(2020: RMB539,922,000). Further details are included in note
18 to the financial statements.

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences and unused tax losses to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profit will be available against which the
deductible temporary differences and losses can be utilised.
Significant management judgement is required to determine
the amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognised,
based upon the likely timing and level of future taxable profits
together with future tax planning strategies.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
BRI (8)

31 December 2021
2021%E12831H

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

(ix) Provision for ECLs on trade receivables and other
financial assets

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for trade
receivables and other financial assets. The provision rates are
based on days past due for groupings of various customer
segments that have similar loss patterns (i.e. by service type,
customer type and rating).

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group’s historical
observed default rates. The Group will calibrate the matrix
to adjust the historical credit loss experience with forward-
looking information. For instance, if forecast economic
conditions are expected to deteriorate over the next year which
can lead to an increased number of defaults in the property
development sector, the historical default rates are adjusted.
At each reporting date, the historical observed default rates
are updated and changes in the forward-looking estimates are
analysed.

The assessment of the correlation among historical observed
default rates, forecast economic conditions and ECLs is
a significant estimate. The amount of ECLs is sensitive to
changes in circumstances and forecast economic conditions.
The Group’s historical credit loss experience and forecast
of economic conditions may also not be representative of a
customer’s actual default in the future.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is organised into business
units based on income derived from business and has two reportable
operating segments as follows:

(@  the residential segment develops and sells residential
properties, and provides property management services,
project management services and other services to residential
properties in Mainland China and Canada;

(b)  the commercial segment develops and sells commercial
properties, leases investment properties, owns and operates
hotels and provides property management services, project
management services and other services to commercial
properties in Mainland China, Japan and United Kingdom.

Management monitors the results of the Group’s operating segments
separately for the purpose of making decisions about resource
allocation and performance assessment. Segment performance
is evaluated based on reportable segment profit/loss, which is
a measure of profit/loss before tax from continuing operations.
Intersegment sales and transfers are transacted with reference to
the selling prices used for sales made to third parties at the then
prevailing market prices.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
BRI (8)

31 December 2021
2021%E12831H

4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4, RBEDEEE (48)

(CONTINUED)
Residential Commercial Total
€ [5ES Hast
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Year ended 31 December 2021 B E2021F128311LEE ANREFT AREFT AREFT
Segment revenue DEUA
Sales to external customers HINERPIHE 4,097,616 871,066 4,968,682
Intersegment sales DEBEHE 4,440 - 4,440
Sales to external customers HINHERIEHE 4,102,056 871,066 4,973,122
Reconciliation: e
Elimination of intersegment sales HED 2 ENHE (4,440) - (4,440)
Revenue from continuing operations 2R B i@ A= 2 AU A 4,968,682
Segment results pak:E 692,441 (466,430) 226,011
Segment assets ABEE 42,553,703 15,504,840 58,058,543
Reconciliation: e
Elimination of intersegment receivables 43 &8 &5 UL FUIB 1 85 (818,234)
Total assets mEE 41,735,469 15,504,840 57,240,309
Segment liabilities pak: =R 36,124,020 9,771,245 45,895,265
Reconciliation: e
Elimination of intersegment payables 43 &8 & & {4 FUB 1 85 (585,040)
Total liabilities Bmaf 35,538,980 9,771,245 45,310,225
Other segment information: Hth3EpEH
Share of (profits) or losses of: a1 F)H) A

Associates BE AT (154,654) - (154,654)

Joint ventures BEhE 21,548 805 22,353
Impairment losses recognised in BmRAED 2 RERE

the statement of profit or loss 6,279 110,431 116,710
Investments in joint ventures REELENEZE 602,857 32,441 635,298
Investments in associates REERBNEKE 1,145,297 - 1,145,297
Depreciation and amortisation HrEe Rk i 20,747 162,275 183,022
Capital expenditure BARY 9,489 118,941 128,430
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

MR MtE (8)
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OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4, RBEDEIEER (4B&)
(CONTINUED)

Residential Commercial Total
FE [GES 4Est
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB 000
Year ended 31 December 2020 B ZE2020F 1231 L FE ANEEFT NEBTFT NEBTFT
Segment revenue DEUA
Sales to external customers HIMNBEFHE 6,738,578 700,370 7,438,948
Intersegment sales D EPEHE 5,882 - 5,882
Sales to external customers HINHERIHE 6,744,460 700,370 7,444,830
Reconciliation: B .
Elimination of intersegment sales HED 2 ENHE (5,882)
Revenue from continuing operations 2R B 5 & 1S & £ H AU A 7,438,948
Segment results pak:E 1,569,093 108,844 1,677,937
Segment assets PBEE 27,250,018 15,175,856 42,425,874
Reconciliation: B .
Elimination of intersegment receivables 43 &8 & FEUL B 1 8% (605,910)
Total assets mEE 26,644,108 15,175,856 41,819,964
Segment liabilities NHBEE 22,317,558 9,098,438 31,415,996
Reconciliation:. B .
Elimination of intersegment payables 43 &8 5 & {4 FUIB T 85 (1,009,969)
Total liabilities mar 21,307,589 9,098,438 30,406,027
Other segment information: Hth3EpEH
Share of (profits) or losses of: a1 F)H) A
Associates BE AT 12,695 - 12,695
Joint ventures aEdhE (108,824) - (108,824)
Realisation of completed properties R F(EHE B E MY E
held for sale to net realisable value ~ EIRE R &IH B (& (571) - (571)
Investments in joint ventures REaEhENTE 312,236 = 312,236
Investments in associates REEARNEE 102,603 - 102,603
Depreciation and amortisation HrEe Rk i 20,943 142,137 163,080
Capital expenditure BEARER 9,219 62,306 71,525
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
BRI (8)

31 December 2021

20215128311

4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Geographical information

(@) Revenue from external customers

REDBER (B)

B
@ ZRBEIMNPERMA

2021 2020
20214 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETFT ARETT

Mainland China B K 4,934,185 7,404,996
Others HAth 34,497 33,952
4,968,682 7,438,948

The revenue information above is based on the locations of the
customers.

(b) Non-current assets

LB AERTHIRBERRFRE

bk 1P

b) IERBEE

2021 2020
20214 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETFT AERETT

Mainland China B K 12,876,007 11,380,134
Japan HZs 86,249 91,780
Others HAth 78,762 173,979

13,041,018 11,645,893

The non-current asset information above is based on the locations of
the assets and excludes equity investments designated at fair value
through other comprehensive income and deferred tax assets.

Information about major customers
No sales to a single customer or a group of customers under

common control accounted for 10% or more of the Group’s revenue
for the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
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5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS, NET, 5. WA-HEtMWWARKZFEE

AND OTHER EXPENSES MUK B At %
An analysis of revenue is as follows: WARNDITWT :
2021 2020
20214 2020£
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETFT ARETT

Revenue from contracts with customers B ESAMA 4,846,400 7,294,103
Revenue from other sources H A RIIA
Gross rental income from investment property % &4 ¥ & ETH SR AALEE
operating leases 122,282 144,845
4,968,682 7,438,948
Revenue from contracts with customers BREHA
() Disaggregated revenue information () SDIFWAER
For the year ended 31 December 2021 HE2021F12831HILLEE
Property
management
Property and other Hotel
Segments pax:i] development services operations Total
MEEER
ESE HitiRss  BEELEEH st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ABBFT ABEFRT AREFRT AREFRT

Types of goods or services EmdiR%EEE

Sale of properties HEME 4,278,005 - - 4,278,005
Hotel operation services BEEERS - - 173,177 173,177
Property management and other services  #12 & 12 K EL A IR %5 - 395,218 - 395,218
Total revenue from contracts with customers &2 & &I A 858 4,278,005 395,218 173,177 4,846,400
Timing of revenue recognition W g2 ) e 2 R P

At a point in time RE—RREH% 4,278,005 - 173,177 4,451,182
Over time S - 395,218 - 395,218
Total revenue from contracts with customers &2 & &I A B 58 4,278,005 395,218 173,177 4,846,400
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
BRI (8)

31 December 2021

20215128311

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS, NET, 5. WA-HEtMIWARWKZFEEE

AND OTHER EXPENSES (CONTINUED) UK HMER (&)
Revenue from contracts with customers (continued) ZFRGHWA @)
() Disaggregated revenue information (continued) () SDIFBRAER @&
For the year ended 31 December 2020 HZE20205F 128331 HILEE
Property
management
Property and other Hotel
Segments GaR: development services operations Total
NEEEK BIE
MERE HAtn R REEH 1Rt
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000

ABETT NRET T ANRETT ANRE T

Types of goods or services Emy R ES

Sale of properties HEME 6,750,134 = = 6,750,134
Hotel operation services BIEEERS - - 182,516 182,516
Property management and other services  #12 & 12 & EL iR #5 = 361,453 = 361,453
Total revenue from contracts with customers &5 & #JU A 4858 6,750,134 361,453 182,516 7,294,103
Timing of revenue recognition W g2 ) e 5 R

At a point in time RE—FFEE 6,750,134 - 182,516 6,932,650
Over time BERS = 361,453 - 361,453
Total revenue from contracts with customers &5 & #JU A 4858 6,750,134 361,453 182,516 7,294,103
Revenue from the sale of properties recognised that NAREHBYESEESNE
was included in contract liabilities at the beginning of the BEPRPHNERIEYEEERES
reporting period was amounted to RMB3,030,507,000 AR #3,030,507,0007% (2020
(2020: RMB5,066,536,000). F . AR #85,066,536,0007T) ©
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REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS, NET, 5.

MR MtE (8)

31 December 2021
2021FE12831H

WE A ~ Efth U A B Uk 7 3% BB

AND OTHER EXPENSES (CONTINUED) Uk EMME% (&)
2021 2020
20214 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT NEBEFT
Other income Hg A
Bank interest income RITH BEWA 45,476 39,883
Subsidy income* R RE U A 18,972 7,829
Others HAth 100,797 16,033
165,245 63,745
Gains Wz
Gain on disposal of right-of-use assets HEFERREE T 25,823 =
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE—BH B AR W - 84,937
Gain on disposal of items of HEREKRFZEER W=
property and equipment 14,427 -
Dividend income from equity BAREBEFAHMEZE RS
investments at fair value through HERREIRERA
other comprehensive income 54,315 -
Changes in fair value of financial assets UAnBEFEBEEHTA
at fair value through profit or loss ERERNETHMEEN
RABEEH 50,309 13,935
144,874 08,872
310,119 162,617
* There are no unfulfiled conditions or contingencies relating to * A R84/ Bh I 4 5K 52 AR B 6 14 o i 22

these grants.

S
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
BRI (8)

31 December 2021
2021%E12831H

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS, NET, 5. WA-HEtMIWARWKZFEEE

AND OTHER EXPENSES (CONTINUED) UK EMBEX (48)
2021 2020
20214 20204F
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETFT AERETT

Other expenses Hhpsz
Impairment of goodwill P E R E (98,995) =
Impairment provision for property and ERKRERENRERE
equipment (11,436) -
Impairment of financial assets B ENRIE (6,279) -
Loss on disposal of a subsidiary HE—BWB AR ZEIE (23,854) =
Loss on disposal of investment properties HEREYENEIE (3,977) (36,322)
Donations B (6,608) (21,189
Foreign exchange loss fERE1E (2,176) (12,774)
Compensation wE (48,671) (31,789
Others HAth (8,724) (5,845)
(210,720) (107,919)
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PROFIT BEFORE TAX 6.

The Group’s profit before tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting):

MR MtE (8)

31 December 2021
2021FE12831H

PRIE A F)

RAEBFRAFEENR GIA) T
5 &IE

2021 2020
Hitst 20214 20204
Notes RMB’000 RMB 000
AREFT NEEFT
Cost of properties sold BHEYERA 25 3,364,398 4,796,052
Depreciation of property EERERZEITE
and equipment 12 121,326 109,742
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FAEEETE 15 59,961 51,603
Amortisation of other intangible Hitnmp & E
assets 17 1,735 1,735
Lease payments not included in the A E3EstER EGEHNHEE N
measurement of lease liabilities 15 62,484 45,078
Auditor’'s remuneration IZELEMB = 5,040 4,800
Staff costs including directors’ and B T4 (BIEZEEK
chief executive’s remuneration: FETERAEME) : 8
— Salaries and other staff costs —TEREME THAE 478,293 367,031
— Pension scheme contributions*  —RB k& st IR 62,779 23,950
Foreign exchange differences, net [ERZE%E 2 ;2 E 2,176 12,774
Direct operating expenses HEQCERY (BEREME
(including repairs and EENEERERE)
maintenance arising on
investment properties) 7,783 5,414
Loss on disposal of investment HEREYXEEE
properties 3,977 36,322
Gain on disposal of right-of-use HEFRAREER TR
assets (25,823) -
Gain on disposal of items of HEMEKRFZHEEE K&
property and equipment (14,427) -
Loss/(gain) on disposal of a HE—RNBARERE, (W)
subsidiary 37 23,854 (84,937)
Dividend income from equity BAREESAEMEERGRH
investments at fair value through T E IR S WA
other comprehensive income (54,315) -
Fair value losses/(gains), net: NAEERFE (W @ F5E .
Changes upon transfer to BEREREYENES)
investment properties 13 - (356,806)
Changes in fair value of KEMENAABEE
investment properties 18 60,311 (23,030)
Changes in fair value of financial LA R EBEFEEHEESN A
assets at fair value through EfEaNEMEEN
profit or loss NABEBEES (50,309) (13,935)
Reversal and realisation of RREHE BRI E R D K&
completed properties held for IR T A IR E
sale to net realisable value 25 - (671)
Impairment of goodwill** B E 16 98,995 =
Impairment provision for property — #)2 K =% & BB B E
and equipment ** 12 11,436 -
Impairment of financial assets** EREERE 27 6,279 =
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

B mRMEE (8)
31 December 2021
2021%E12831H

6. PROFIT BEFORE TAX (CONTINUED) 6.

*

There are no forfeited contributions that may be used by the Group

as the employer to reduce the existing level of contributions.

ok

profit or loss.

Included in “Other expenses” in the consolidated statement of

PRIZAIFLE (48)

* BEE R HR A A EEER
EERBIRED B #l Rk F o

* stAGHBmRZ TEMEES -

7. FINANCE COSTS 7. HBEH
An analysis of the Group’s finance costs is as follows: REBNTBERSTUWT :
2021 2020
20214 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR EFT AERETT

Interest on bank and other borrowings IRIT R EMBERF]E 793,432 697,118
Interest on lease liabilities HEaEFE 10,494 16,344
Total interest expense on financial liabilities WIEE A REBEF ABEN
not at fair value through profit or loss THREENH EEZ A8 803,926 713,462
Less: Interest capitalised in properties under & : BEE 2N B AREFI R
development (578,850) (463,373)
225,076 250,089
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
REMUNERATION

Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the year, disclosed
pursuant to the Listing Rules, section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and (f) of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies
(Disclosure of Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is
as follows:

MR MtE (8)

31 December 2021
2021FE12831H

EERFEBITHRASME

RELTRI -BFBBQAIKEAEE
383(1)(a) ~ (b) ~ (C)Fe(NE LA B /A E) (K EE
BEEMmER) BAFE2%  FRES
REETHAEMESHBOT !

2021 2020
20214 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETFT ARETT

Fees e 851 1,008
Other emoluments: ELfthErEN

Salaries, bonuses and allowances i TEAL BoRRL 6,166 9,081

Pension scheme contributions BAREETEHRR 130 64

6,296 9,145

7,147 10,153

(@) Independent non-executive directors

The fees paid to independent non-executive directors during

@ BIUFRTES
EREMBUFRTEENR

the year were as follows: Ea (I
2021 2020
20215 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000
Fees e AREFT ANEBEFT
Professor Pei Ker Wei BREHE 336 336
Mr. Zhang Huagiao RIEFB A E 336 336
Mr. Fung Che Wai Anthony® EEE S EN 30 _
Dr Loke Yu® FESMIE L0 149 336
851 1,008

O Dr Loke Yu resigned on 10 June 2021.

U Mr. Fung Che Wai Anthony was appointed on 26 November
2021.

0] BE B M R 2021FE6810
HEHE-

(ii) EEREENR2021F11826
HEZRE-
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
BRI (8)

31 December 2021

20215128311

8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 8. EEKRFEITHAEMNS

REMUNERATION (CONTINUED) (48)
(b) Executive directors and the chief executive b BITESEREFETHAER
Pension
Salaries and scheme
allowances Bonuses contributions Total
HERER e BUEEEER st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ABBFT AREFRT AREFRT AREFRT

2021 20214
Executive directors HiTEE
Mr. Shi Zhongan ke 1,801 - 5 1,806
Ms. Jin Ni ERZ L 875 - 7 882
Ms. Shi Jinfan i e 1,205 108 97 1,410
Ms. Shen Tiaojuan hEELt 1,001 101 - 1,102
Chief executive and executive director FETHANSR
HiTEZE
Mr. Zhang Jiangang REHLE 1,075 - 21 1,096
5,957 209 130 6,296
Pension
Salaries and scheme
allowances Bonuses contributions Total
e RER AL BARESEEHRR Rt
RMB’000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB'000
ANRETFT NEBEFT NEEFT NEEF
2020 2020
Executive directors HITEE
Mr. Shi Zhongan il 1,808 - 3 1,806
Ms. Jin Ni? L L0 877 21 7 905
Ms. Shi Jinfan® i) pequnl 1,279 198 - 1,477
Ms. Shen Tiaojuan mEEZ L 998 56 3 1,057
Ms. Wang Shuiyun® ERELLO 1,391 - 9 1,400
Mr. Jin Jianrong™ FERELE 877 354 21 1,252
Chief executive and executive director FETHANSR
HiTEE
Mr. Zhang Jiangang REH L E 1,027 - 21 1,048
Non-executive director FHTES
Ms. Shen Li® LEZ LY 200 - - 200
8,452 629 64 9,145
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
REMUNERATION (CONTINUED)

(i) Ms. Jin Ni was appointed on 3 April 2020.

(if) Mr. Shi Jinfan was appointed on 3 April 2020.

(iii) Ms. Wang Shuiyun resigned on 2 July 2020.
(iv) Mr. Jin Jianrong resigned on 3 April 2020.
(v) Ms. Shen Li resigned on 3 April 2020.

There was no arrangement under which a director waived or agreed
to waive any remuneration during the year (2020: Nil).

FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

The five highest paid employees during the year included one (2020:
three) directors, details of whose remuneration are set out in note 8
above. Details of the remuneration of the remaining four (2020: two)
non-director, highest paid employees for the year are as follows:

MR MtE (8)

31 December 2021
2021FE12831H

EERFBITHRASHNE

(%)
0] SR L TH2020F483HER T -

(ii) M N EFR2020FE4 B30 E S
Fo

iy EKRELZLR2020FE7H2B B EC
(v) SEZLENR2020FE4H3AF T

v) SEBh & £H 202048 3H BEfE o

ERNBEEENEARERETMHF
FM B9 22 HE (20204 : 4E) o

IBEESHAL

ERNALBEEHFALTRBE—%
(2020%F : =) 2% HE £ BE
B ESCPIEE8 c FE PN ER T PU4 (2020
F M%) FEEREIH AT S
1BUF

2021 2020
20214 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETFT ARETT

Salaries, bonuses and allowances e~ TEAL B2 RL 7,095 5,034
Pension scheme contributions BAREETEHRR 72 55
7,167 5,089

The number of non-director, highest paid employees whose
remuneration fell within the following bands is as follows:

FEEEFMES ZMETE TS
EHERZ ABWMT :

Number of employees

BEEAHE
2021 2020
20214 20204
HK$1,000,000 to HK$2,000,000 1,000,0007 7T 22,000,000 7 2
Over HK$2,000,000 #B3E2,000,0007 7T 2 2
4 2
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
BRI (8)

31 December 2021
2021%E12831H

10.

INCOME TAX 10. FRiEM
The Group’s subsidiaries incorporated in Hong Kong, Canada and HRAEBEREE - NMEAREBRMRK
United Kingdom are not liable for income tax as they did not have INRBAEREKEEREAE -NE
any assessable profits arising in Hong Kong, Canada and United A e B2 B o e = A FEERAR A H M
Kingdom during the year (2020: Nil). BEHER MEAREBRFSHE
1% (20204 : #|®) o
The provision for the PRC income tax has been provided at the FR B P 1S R B 7t A & B 72 AR B AY BY
applicable income tax rate of 25% (2020: 25%) on the assessable B ABIERRIR A H25% (20204 :
profits of the Group’s subsidiaries in Mainland China. 25%) VB TSR EEHEE -
LAT is levied at progressive rates ranging from 30% to 60% on THIBEREM TS BRI E
the appreciation of land value, being the proceeds from the sale FRASARIER AR A 2 (B 4G T A
of properties less deductible expenditures including land costs, T EERAREMY)EFREERS) &2
borrowing costs and other property development expenditures. The A H30% ZE60% HY 3 1 77 A UK © 248
Group has estimated, made and included in taxation a provision for EEERBTIEBRAMBER LR
LAT according to the requirements set forth in the relevant PRC tax et EH R ERBEAG A LG E
laws and regulations. Prior to the actual cash settlement of the LAT MEF - FELURESEREE T IEE
liabilities, the LAT liabilities are subject to the final review/approval by MEEZA THIEEREEBEHER
the tax authorities. BERRKEE ke
2021 2020
Hitat 20214 20204
Note RMB’000 RMB 000
AREFT AEHEFT
Current — PRC corporate income  BVEAFRIE—F R hE b2
tax for the year Frfg 39,126 478,582
Current — PRC LAT for the year BVARRIE —F A R B+ it
1REH 254,402 236,976
Deferred IEIEFRIE 23 (106,043) (148,866)
Total tax charge for the year FRRIESL HAERE 187,485 566,692
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

MR MtE (8)

31 December 2021
2021FE12831H

10. INCOME TAX (CONTINUED) 10. FRER (48)

REAATDREASHMBATFE
B3 B MK T M K 5 B B R AT RIS
BRARIERT RREEERESEY

A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit before tax
using the statutory rate for the jurisdiction in which the Company and
the majority of its subsidiaries are domiciled to the tax expense at the

effective tax rate is as follows: MBS HIRNT ¢
2021 2020
20214 2020£
RMB’000 RMB 000
ANBEFT NEHEFT
Profit before tax PRI AT R A 226,011 1,677,937
Tax at the statutory tax rate of 25% #25% (20204F : 25%) JETE
(2020: 25%) MEFTENRIE 56,503 419,484
Different tax rate for specific provinces BERSMH S IEEAER
or enacted by local authority AEMR=E 228 1,446
Effect of withholding tax at 10% on A & B P B Y S 8 B A
the distributable profits of the Group’s DIKiE ) BAN10%TE0HR
PRC subsidiaries N Z 128 9,807
Utilised tax losses not recognised in & A B 3 AR A AR AR SR Y
previous periods RIEEE (179,117) (105,427)
Income not subject to tax BIERRR 2 WA (35,516) (47,953)
Expenses not deductible for tax AERFEE 5,433 25,670
Tax losses not recognised REESBIRIEE 18 149,025 85,933
Provision for LAT T IR EIR AV B 254,402 236,976
Tax effect on LAT THIBER MRS (63,601) (59,244)
Tax charge at the Group’s effective rate FEBRBERRENIRERZ 187,485 566,692

REHMBRRROEAIRIE :

Tax payable in the consolidated statement of financial position
represents:

2021 2020
20214 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000
ABBFiT NEBETFT
PRC corporate income tax Rl ZEPTR 692,583 897,479
PRC LAT HH R IR (E R 1,008,372 1,164,980
1,700,955 2,062,459
BRLREBERAE —_T_—FER



Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
BRI (8)

31 December 2021

20215128311

11. EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO 11. BATISERIEFEAEGS

ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT B & F

The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on the profit KREXABRINEREZSI A EZE
for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent of KEERFEAEBLERMNBAR
RMB73,132,000 (2020: RMB827,874,000) and the weighted average #73,132,0007z (20204 : AR
number of ordinary shares of 5,635,809,800 (2020: 5,654,833,497) 827,874,0007T) > UM ERFETHEZ
in the issue of shares during the year, as adjusted to reflect the rights 38 B% B 10 4 - ¥9 8405,635,809,800 %
issued during the year. (20204 : 5,654,833,497f%) 5t & B

TR BRERRHRET-

The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on: STESRERBFLER
2021 2020
2021% 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETFT ARETT

Earnings &BF)
Profit attributable to ordinary equity holders A B ERIRERFE A
of the parent FEALF) 73,132 827,874
Number of shares
g E
2021 2020
202145 20204
Shares B
Weighted average number of FABETEBRRMETLDE
ordinary shares in issue during the year 5,635,809,800 5,654,833,497
No adjustment has been made to the basic earnings per share AEBHERE E20215E 5202045
amounts presented for the years ended 31 December 2021 and 1283 1HIEFEEHRNSRELREF
2020 in respect of a dilution as the Group had no potential dilutive SEREHEERAE RRAXEBRR
ordinary shares in issue during the year ended 31 December 2021 HZE2021FE12831H EEEARBED
(2020: Nil). BITBITEE T @R (20204 @ ) o
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MR MtE (8)

31 December 2021
2021FE12831H

12. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT 12. ERR=HE
Office Motor Leasehold  Construction
Properties Machinery equipment vehicles  improvements in progress Total
mE #m MAERE HE HEREE HEIR st

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ANBETT ARETn ARETn ARBETn ARBETw ARETn ARBETw

At 31 December 2019, net of 122019128318 »

accumulated depreciation MEREHTE 2,347,012 49,480 33,639 13,568 142,913 4,024 2,590,636
Additions 21m 3,079 24,482 10,947 19,527 1,000 - 59,035
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—EHBAR

(note 37) (HzE37) - - (68) (100) - - (168)
Transfer from properties under E & EEEY %

development - - - - - 48,088 48,088
Transfer from completed BREERELHECEMRNE

properties held for sale 44110 - - - - - 44110
Construction in progress HETEEN

completed - - 100 - 1,816 (1,916) -
Disposals i = (18,030) (5,591) 1,052) - - (24,673)
Depreciation provided during R EHRINE

the year (73,304) (7,300) (10,155) (5,575) (13,408) - (109,742)

At 31 December 2020, net of 122020128318 »

accumulated depreciation MEREHTE 2,320,897 48,632 28,872 26,368 132,321 50,196 2,607,286
At 31 December 2020 120205128318
Cost MAE 2,602,285 60,358 87,689 79,005 172,136 50,196 3,051,669
Accumulated depreciation  EEHFE (281,389) (11,726) (58,817) (52,637) (39,815) - (444,383)
Net carrying amount IREFE 2,320,897 48,632 28,872 26,368 132,321 50,196 2,607,286
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
BRI (8)

31 December 2021

20215128311

12. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)

12. EEKR=E (@)

Office
Properties Machinery equipment

RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARETFT ARETT  ARETRT

Motor Leasehold Construction
vehicles improvements  in progress Total
RE HERE AEIE st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBEFT AREFT AREFT AREFT

At 31 December 2020, net of 1320205128318 2 41

accumulated depreciation FREFHTE 2,320,897 48,632 28,872 26,368 132,321 50,196 2,607,286
Additions #m 3,086 10,758 14,234 8,178 75,814 16,360 128,430
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—HEHBAR

(note 37) (Hz¥37) - (23,666) (558) (1,375) (40,013) (474) (66,086)
Disposals HE (9,355) (14) (455) (2,477) - (250) (12,551)
Depreciation provided during R EHEINE

the year (73,314) (6,562) (8,688) (4,674) (28,088) - (121,326)
Impairment RE - (45) (721) - (10,670) - (11,436)
At 31 December 2021, net of  1A2021F12831H

accumulated depreciation R E 2,241,314 29,103 32,684 26,020 129,364 65,832 2,524,317
At 31 December 2021 20214128310
Cost A& 2,594,723 40,034 94,574 80,994 199,221 65,832 3,075,378
Accumulated depreciation Rt & (353,409) (10,931) (61,890) (54,974) (69,857) - (551,061)
Net carrying amount IRESE 2,241,314 29,103 32,684 26,020 129,364 65,832 2,524,317

Although the Group had obtained the land use right certificates of
construction in progress, building ownership certificates may be not
obtained before the completion of construction work.

At 31 December 2021, certain items of the Group’s property
and equipment with a net carrying amount of approximately
RMB1,185,490,000 (2020: RMB1,236,965,000) were pledged to
secure interest-bearing bank and other borrowings granted to the
Group as disclosed in note 33.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

MR MtE (8)

31 December 2021
2021FE12831H

13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 13. BEME
Completed Investment
investment properties
properties held for sale Total
=534 FEHE
KEME REYE #act
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ANEETT AERETT ARETT

At 31 December 2019 and 1R2019F 12831 %

1 January 2020 2020FE1H1H 5,358,640 320,500 5,679,140
Transfers from completed EBAFFHEERRYE

properties held for sale 143,194 - 143,194
Fair value gain upon transfer BERENANEBRR 356,806 - 356,806
Increase in investment properties ¥ E#) £ 1N 71,883 = 71,883
Transfers to investment properties EEFEIFEIHER EY £

held for sale (689,977) 589,977 -
Disposal H&E - (859,453) (859,453)
Changes in fair value of KREVMEANBEES

investment properties 19,299 3,731 23,030
At 31 December 2020 and 12020128310 &

1 January 2021 2021FE1H1H 5,359,845 54,755 5,414,600
Increase in investment properties ¥ E#) 1 N 8,728 = 8,728
Transfers to investment properties EEFEIFEIHER EY

held for sale (59,660) 59,660 -
Disposal HE - (72,517) (72,517)
Changes in fair value of KREVMEANBEES

investment properties (62,959) 2,648 (60,311)
At 31 December 2021 7R2021FE12831H 5,245,954 44,546 5,290,500
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
BRI (8)

31 December 2021
2021%E12831H

13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)

13. KREME (@)

bzt
Note

2021 2020
20214 20204
RMB’000 RMB'000

AREFT AERETT

Non-current assets EREBEE 5,245,954 5,359,845
Current assets TENE E (e) 44,546 54,755
5,290,500 5,414,600

(@  All investment properties of the Group were revalued at the
end of the year by an independent professionally qualified
valuer, CBRE Limited, at fair value. CBRE Limited is an
industry specialist in investment property valuation. The fair
value represents the amount at which the assets could be
exchanged between a knowledgeable and willing buyer and a
seller in an arm’s length transaction at the date of valuation, in
accordance with International Valuation Standards.

The following table gives information about how the fair values
of these investment properties are determined (in particular,
the valuation techniques and inputs used), as well as the fair
value hierarchy into which the fair value measurements are
categorised (Levels 1 to 3) based on the degree to which the
inputs to the fair value measurements are observable.

Investment properties held by the Group in the consolidated
statement of financial position were valued into fair value
hierarchy level 3 listed below. During the year, there were no
transfers of fair value measurements between Level 1 and
Level 2 and no transfers into or out of Level 3 (2020: Nil). The
valuation techniques are the direct comparison approach and
the income approach (term and reversion approach), and key
inputs are:

(1)  Term vyield: the higher the term yield, the lower the fair
value;

(2)  Reversionary yield: the higher the reversionary yield, the
lower the fair value;

(8)  Market unit rent: the higher the market unit rent, the
higher the fair value; and
(4)  Price per square metre: the higher the price, the higher

the fair value.
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FEEEBREVENFRLA
BUFEXSBERGEMEHRE
BEABARRABDEAANEBEE
flg o WHBERIEEH R AT THEFT
AREVEGLENTEER R
REEEEENRNEERE
R BRI G E B R EERE
HEREERAFRGXBEE
By ER

TREFUMAEELSREY
ENAREE (LHZ TR
i ERM A EE) BER KRR
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

MR MtE (8)

31 December 2021
2021FE12831H

13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED) 13. BEWE (B
(@  (continued) @) (#&)
The significant unobservable inputs BEARAIHREA SR

Investment properties
held by the Group

Significant unobservable inputs

FEEFFAEREYE BEAFRTHRH AR
Property 1 — Term vyield, taking into account yield of 4% for office portion and 5.5% for

Property in Hangzhou

(Guomao Building)
1SR ZE —HUINAZE

(EEKRE)

retail portion, generated from comparable properties and adjustment to
reflect the certainty of term income secured and to be received.

Rt AR ZEELEOW T GA SN 4% ZE B D 75.5%) K BRFR
W 1R Al W ER AR BR UL A RO B TE 14 USRS L VAR ERUR s =K o

Reversionary yield of 5.5% for office portion and 6% for retail portion, taking
into account annual unit market rental income and unit market value of the
comparable properties.

Kt ABAMSFEERSRARBEYENEMHE WA MmERE
K 75.5% % T E D 76% °

Market unit rent of RMB1.7/sgm/day for office portion and RMB4.9/sgm/day
for retail portion, using direct market comparables and taking into account
location and other individual factors such as road frontage, size of property
and facilities.

FREEMSLERG AL T RO E R EAHER  MERNREHEEME
BHEZ mBBEUASERAESTARERARE. 70 RAEH) RETFHK
BRARML9TT (BEZM) ©

Price of RMB9,461/sgm for office portion and RMB15,807/sgm for retail
portion, using market direct comparables and taking into account location
and other individual factors such as road frontage and size of property.
FREEMBEER AT RUSHEEHBRE - MERRSHMEANRER
BRAETHRKARK 61T BAEH) KEFHKRKARK15,8077T (F
E&MD) ©

REEBERAT T —FEFRK
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

MmN (8)

31 December 2021
2021%E12831H

13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED) 13. BEME (B)

(@  (continued)

(a) (n\g)

The significant unobservable inputs (continued) BEARAIHREA SR @)

Investment properties
held by the Group

Significant unobservable inputs

TEBREAEREYME BEATAHRE® AR

Property 2 — Term vyield, taking into account yield of 5%, generated from comparable
Property in Shanghai properties and adjustment to reflect the certainty of term income secured
(La Vie) and to be received.

2SEMFE— IR E ST A B EE W) 2 2 S HY5 % 2 W o e [z PR PIT 92 1R sz s W B AR R WA B9 1 7E
(R 4LET) MAEARRS ARG

Zhong An Group Limited 2021 Annual Report

Reversionary yield of 5.5%, taking into account annual unit market rental
income and unit market value of the comparable properties.
RAABUMBFEERESWARBEMENBATE ERKEES
5.5%¢°

Market unit rent of RMB7.8/sqm/day, using direct market comparables
and taking into account location and other individual factors such as road
frontage, size of property and facilities.
FREFEDHILRE EL T RUEREFHER MERNRRIEEEMSE
BHRR mHBUBEERAETHRERAREBT.8T

Price of RMB50,464/sgm, using market direct comparables and taking into
account location and other individual factors such as road frontage and size
of property.
FREEMBHER AT RAUSHEEHRE - MERESHMEANRE
BRAETHKARES0,4647T



Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

MR MtE (8)

31 December 2021
2021FE12831H

13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED) 13. BEME (@)
(@  (continued) @) (#&)
The significant unobservable inputs (continued) BEARAHREA SR @)

Investment properties
held by the Group

Significant unobservable inputs

TEBREEREYE BEATAHR@ AR
Property 3 — Term vyield, taking into account yield of 5.5%, generated from comparable

Property in Hangzhou

(Integrated Service Center)
WY E - E

(ER BRI L)

properties and adjustment to reflect the certainty of term income secured
and to be received.

AR5t A EIERY) 2 A A 195.5% 2 W i e I BR P 472 {7 e S Wi B AL BR U A RO B
EMR RS HAE AR @R -

Reversionary yield of 6%, taking into account annual unit market rental
income and unit market value of the comparable properties.
BETABUMBFERESWAKRBEEYENS T E BEKGEE56% -

Market unit rent of RMB3.7/sqgm/day, using direct market comparables
and taking into account location and other individual factors such as road
frontage, size of property and facilities.
FREFEDHILRE EL ST RUE REHER MERNRRIEEEMSE
HRR mHBUBEERAETHRERAREBE3. 7T

Price of RMB13,562/sgm, using market direct comparables and taking into
account location and other individual factors such as road frontage and size
of property.
FREEMBLEER AT RAUSHEEGHBRE - MERESHMAENRER
BRAETHKARE13,6627T

REEBERAT T —FEFRK
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

MmN (8)

31 December 2021
2021%E12831H

13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED) 13. BEME (B)

(@  (continued)

(a) (n\g)

The significant unobservable inputs (continued) BEARAIHREA SR @)

Investment properties
held by the Group

Significant unobservable inputs

TEBREAEREYME BEATAHRE® AR
Property 4 — Term vyield, taking into account yield of 5.5%, generated from comparable

Property in Hangzhou

(Retail portion of Highlong Plaza)
AR — N2

(IEfE RS )

Zhong An Group Limited 2021 Annual Report

properties and adjustment to reflect the certainty of term income secured
and to be received.

AR5t A EIERY) 2 A A 195.5% 2 W i e I BR P 472 {7 e S Wi B AL BR U A RO B
EMR RS HAE AR @R -

Reversionary yield of 6%, taking into account annual unit market rental
income and unit market value of the comparable properties.
BETABUMBFERESWAKRBEEYENS T E BEKGEE56% -

Market unit rent of RMB6.4/sqm/day, using direct market comparables
and taking into account location and other individual factors such as road
frontage, size of property and facilities.
FREFEDHILRE EL T RUE REHER MERNRRIEEEME
BHRR mHBUBEERAETHRERAREB6.47T

Price of RMB21,645/sgm, using market direct comparables and taking into
account location and other individual factors such as road frontage and size
of property.
FREEMBLEER AT RAUSHEEGHBRE - MERESHMAENRER
BRAETHKARE21,6457T°



Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

MR MtE (8)

31 December 2021
2021FE12831H

13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED) 13. BEME (@)
(@  (continued) @) (#&)
The significant unobservable inputs (continued) BEARAHREA SR @)

Investment properties
held by the Group
TEBREEREYE

Significant unobservable inputs

BEAFTHERARE

Property 5 — Property in Hangzhou
(Landscape Garden)

SR — TN 2 (LLK2E)

Term yield, taking into account yield of 5.75%, generated from comparable
properties and adjustment to reflect the certainty of term income secured
and to be received.

AR 5T AR ARV 2 A 42 595.75% 2 W o e S BR BT 42 1R Jsz e W B AR B WA RO B
EMR RS HAE AR @R -

Reversionary vyield of 6.25%, taking into account annual unit market rental
income and unit market value of the comparable properties.

KA ANBUMBSEERERARBEMENEUTE ERREXSR
6.25% °

Market unit rent of RMB2.3/sqm/day, using direct market comparables
and taking into account location and other individual factors such as road
frontage, size of property and facilities.

FREFED SR EL ST RUEREHER - MERNRRIEEEMSE
BHRR mHBUBEERAETHRERAREB23T

Price of RMB9,429/sgm, using market direct comparables and taking into
account location and other individual factors such as road frontage and size
of property.
FREEMBHER AT RAUSHEEHRE - MERESHMEANRE
BEABTAHRKARE 4297 -

REEBERAT T —FEFRK
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

MmN (8)

31 December 2021
2021%E12831H

13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED) 13. BEME (B)

(@  (continued)

(a) (n\g)

The significant unobservable inputs (continued) BEARAIHREA SR @)

Investment properties
held by the Group

Significant unobservable inputs

TEBREAEREYME BEATAHRE® AR
Property 6 — Term vyield, taking into account yield of 5%, generated from comparable

Property in Hangzhou
(Hidden Dragon Bay)
CRIE — M E (ERE)

Zhong An Group Limited 2021 Annual Report

properties and adjustment to reflect the certainty of term income secured
and to be received.

AT A (R 4B ) 25 B A 95 % 2 WS a e iz BER P 412 R R ik U B AR HR U A RO e 2
MAEARRS ARG

Reversionary yield of 6%, taking into account annual unit market rental
income and unit market value of the comparable properties.
BETABUMBFERESWAKRBEEYENS T E BEKGEE56% -

Market unit rent of RMB4.4/sqm/day, using direct market comparables
and taking into account location and other individual factors such as road
frontage, size of property and facilities.
FREFEDHILRE EL T RUE REHER MERNRRIEEEME
BHRR mHBUBEEAETHRERARB44TT

Price of RMB13,282/sgm, using market direct comparables and taking into
account location and other individual factors such as road frontage and size
of property.
FREEMBLEER AT RAUSHEEGHBRE - MERESHMAENRER
BRAETHKARE13,2827T



Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

MR MtE (8)

31 December 2021
2021FE12831H

13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED) 13. BEME (@)
(@  (continued) @) (#&)
The significant unobservable inputs (continued) BEARAHREA SR @)

Investment properties
held by the Group
TEBREEREYE

Significant unobservable inputs

BEAFTHERARE

Property 7 — Property in Yuyao
(Intime City)
TSR — Rk 2= GRERIR)

Term yield, taking into account yield of 5.75%, generated from comparable
properties and adjustment to reflect the certainty of term income secured
and to be received.

AR 5T AR ARV 2 A 42 595.75% 2 W o e S BR BT 42 1R Jsz e W B AR B WA RO B
EMR RS HAE AR @R -

Reversionary vyield of 6.25%, taking into account annual unit market rental
income and unit market value of the comparable properties.

KA ANBUMBSEERERARBEMENEUTE ERREXSR
6.25% °

Market unit rent of RMB4.2/sqm/day, using direct market comparables
and taking into account location and other individual factors such as road
frontage, size of property and facilities.

FREFED SR EL ST RUEREHER - MERNRRIEEEMSE
HRR mHBUBEERAESTHRERARB4L2TT

Price of RMB11,461/sgm, using market direct comparables and taking into
account location and other individual factors such as road frontage and size
of property.
FREEMBHER AT RAUSHEEHRE - MERESHMEANRE
BRAETHRKARE11,4617T0

REEBERAT T —FEFRK
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

MmN (8)

31 December 2021
2021%E12831H

13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED) 13. BEME (B)

(@  (continued)

(a) (n\g)

The significant unobservable inputs (continued) BEARAIHREA SR @)

Investment properties
held by the Group
TEBREAEREYME

Significant unobservable inputs

BEAFTHEHARE

Property 8 — Property in Yuyao
(Retail portion of Time Square |)
8ERMIZE — BRIk ==
(BES D)

Zhong An Group Limited 2021 Annual Report

Term yield, taking into account yield of 5.75%, generated from comparable
properties and adjustment to reflect the certainty of term income secured
and to be received.

AR 5T AR ARV 2 A 42 595.75% 2 W o e S BR BT 42 1R Jsz e W B AR B WA RO B
EMR RS HAE AR @R -

Reversionary vyield of 6.25%, taking into account annual unit market rental
income and unit market value of the comparable properties.

KA ANBUMBSEERERARBEMENEUTE ERREXSR
6.25% °

Market unit rent of RMB3.0/sqgm/day, using direct market comparables
and taking into account location and other individual factors such as road
frontage, size of property and facilities.
FREFEDHILRE EL T RUEREFHER MERNRRIEEEMSE
HRR mHBUBEERAETHRKERARES.0T

Price of RMB11,389/sgm, using market direct comparables and taking into
account location and other individual factors such as road frontage and size
of property.
FREEMBHER AT RAUSHEEHRE - MERESHMEANRE
BEABTFAHRARKE1,3897T



13.

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)

(@)

(continued)

Reconciliation of fair value measurements categorised within
Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy:

MR MtE (8)

31 December 2021
2021FE12831H

13. REME (@)
(@) €=

DEERAANBEFRFIE=R
AR BESEHK:

Commercial

properties

[EEXY/ES

RMB’000

ANEBEFT

Carrying amount at 1 January 2020 720201 B1HEREE 2,920,300
Net loss from a fair value adjustment recognised in 1 &ﬁ’-‘r@% N EEEE IR

changes in fair value of investment properties N EBEREGIRFE (20,000)

Carrying amount at 31 December 2020 and 112020512831 H K2021F1A1HH

1 January 2021 EREE 2,900,300
Net loss from a fair value adjustment recognised in EA&§¢@¥ N EEEE R

changes in fair value of investment properties N EBEREGEFE (20,900)

Carrying amount at 31 December 2021 7R2021FE12831 HERE & 2,879,400

Under the discounted cash flow method, fair value is estimated
using assumptions regarding the benefits and liabilities of
ownership over the asset’s life including an exit or terminal
value. This method involves the projection of a series of cash
flows on a property interest. A market-derived discount rate
is applied to the projected cash flow in order to establish the
present value of the income stream associated with the asset.
The exit yield is normally separately determined and differs from
the discount rate.

The duration of the cash flows and the specific timing of
inflows and outflows are determined by events such as rent
reviews, lease renewal and related reletting, redevelopment or
refurbishment. The appropriate duration is driven by market
behaviour that is a characteristic of the class of property. The
periodic cash flow is estimated as gross income less vacancy,
non-recoverable expenses, collection losses, lease incentives,
maintenance costs, agent and commission costs and other
operating and management expenses. The series of periodic
net operating income, along with an estimate of the terminal
value anticipated at the end of the projection period, is then
discounted.

REBFRREMNZE AAEE
BDIRBEEESHABA B
PREENT mREENERR (8
BRIEBENALER ETH
ste AR R E R SR —
RIS MAITRR - HIHITER
r IR AR AE AR FROR IR 0 XU
B B E E A R A e R A
RE-REWZXBEEERR
EEFRRIFRE-

BE MM IFERE &om AZEM
THEEN B RS R Ty HEE WA
SBEIZ OB KEREE
BERYIMESHRATE -EEN
FEREZMSTR (RYEE
B — BRI R E - THHRE
MBI R NREE A7 (O
W& A~ BRI R - THE 2R~
HERER RENAEcERRE
fﬁﬁ“%frﬂ BER -Z—ERTE

ARSI AR RE ERITASTIN TR
E'J,HHEE SRR IFEE®ET S
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

j?iﬁ%l‘ﬁﬂki (H\E)

31 December 2021
2021%E12831H

13.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)

(@)

(continued)

A significant increase (decrease) in the estimated rental value
and the market rent growth rate per annum in isolation would
result in a significant increase (decrease) in the fair value of the
investment properties. A significant increase (decrease) in the
long term vacancy rate and the discount rate in isolation would
result in a significant decrease (increase) in the fair value of the
investment properties. Generally, a change in the assumption
made for the estimated rental value is accompanied by a
directionally similar change in the rent growth per annum and
the discount rate and an opposite change in the long term
vacancy rate.

There are six properties — the International Office Center, the
Office portion of Highlong Plaza, the Serviced apartment
portion of Highlong Plaza and the Retail and Serviced
apartment of Xixi New City, four properties in Hangzhou and
the Retail portion and Office portion of Times Square I, a
property in Yuyao are valued and categorised into Level 2 of
the fair value hierarchy. The valuation technique adopted is the
direct comparison approach, and the key input is the price per
square metre. The higher the price, the higher the fair value.

The significant observable input for the International Office
Center is the price which ranges from RMB36,500/sgm,
using market direct comparables and taking into account
location and other individual factors such as road frontage
and size of property. As at 31 December 2021, the investment
property part of the International Office Center was valued
and categorised into Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy
with a carrying amount of RMB1,693,000,000 (2020:
RMB1,767,000,000).

The significant observable input for the Office portion of
Highlong Plaza is the price which ranges from RMB12,000/
sgm, using market direct comparables and taking into account
location and other individual factors such as road frontage
and size of property. As at 31 December 2021, the investment
property part of the Office portion of Highlong Plaza was valued
and categorised into Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy with a
carrying amount of RMB34,700,000 (2020: RMB38,000,000).

Zhong An Group Limited 2021 Annual Report

13. KREME (@)

@)

()

st AEEERTHEEFE

REEFAEBIEM CRL) KE
B BEMEN R A BEARIEEM
(B) - REAZEBERRITRE
BFAEIEM Gil) RERIR
é%%ﬁ’]’&ﬁﬁ@kmmﬂ”\ (18

m e—fRms it E
BEFENRRNESEENHE
T EERRRITRER L IRAML
HFRZHREZRRATERH
Rk @

NEYE-BEM AL ERE

B A B BIREZRD
A1 R R B R
BB MBI INEI L
EZH%TJEK%_HH (IR BRI A —
B NEERMAEEMN—
RE_MRAABETIERSD
2 AR AN EERTAERELL
A MEBRABESETS
RERK BIBFHRERES
ARBEEES-

B AFR LB E K HR
MABBEANFEEFTFB KA
R 36,5000 B > THfE B
BEEMHBLER S AL KRA
ERGEHEREYERNNE
H (B B K & o R2021412
H318 > ERBEARLHNIKE
MELDABE _HAAEBE
FEERDE REEAARE
1,693,000,0007T (20204 : AE
#1,767,000,0007T) °

18 EGIHATMHEKRTE
BHMABBANFEEFEL KA
E#12,0007c89E8#%  ThERE
BHBLERA AT RAE K&
RS T 78 B R ) 2= KNS E (@
BEZE - 1R2021%F 128318 0 18
ﬁzﬁim—#ﬂ#/“ MR EYES
DAE_RAABEIGERD
+E ) BIREE 2 A R 134,700,000
7t (20204 : AR 38,000,000
7T) ©



Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)

(@)

(continued)

The significant observable input for the Serviced apartment
portion of Highlong Plaza is the price which ranges from
RMB14,300/sgm, using market direct comparables and taking
into account location and other individual factors such as road
frontage and size of property. As at 31 December 2021, the
investment property part of the Serviced apartment portion of
Highlong Plaza was valued and categorised into Level 2 of the
fair value hierarchy with a carrying amount of RMB14,000,000
(2020: RMB14,000,000).

The significant observable input for the investment property
part of the Retail portion of Xixi New City is the price of
RMB47,100/sgm, using market direct comparables and
taking into account location and other individual factors such
as road frontage and size of property. As at 31 December
2021, the investment property part of the Retail portion of Xixi
New City was valued and categorised into Level 2 fair value
hierarchy with a carrying amount of RMB19,400,000 (2020:
RMB28,300,000).

The significant observable input for the Retail portion of Times
Square Il is the price of RMB4,900/sgm and for the Office
portion of Times Square Il is the price of RMB5,400/sgm, using
market direct comparables and taking into account location
and other individual factors such as road frontage and size of
property. As at 31 December 2021, the investment property
part of the Retail and Office portion of Times Square Il was
valued and categorised into Level 2 fair value hierarchy with a
carrying amount of RMB33,000,000 (2020: RMB50,000,000).

The significant observable input for the investment property
part of the serviced apartment portion of Xixi New City is the
price of 37,000RMB/sgm, using market direct comparables
and taking into account location and other individual factors
such as road frontage and size of property. As at 31 December
2021, the investment property part of the Serviced apartment
portion of Xixi New City was valued and categorised into
Level 2 fair value hierarchy with a carrying amount of
RMB617,000,000 (2020: RMB617,000,000).

MR MtE (8)

31 December 2021
2021FE12831H

13. KREME (@)

@)

(I\g)

BERESREAAELMHE
AROBERAABEANFEET
F K AR 14, 300 HIBAR  Th
FREETBLERAFT &
NEMRBEHBERRYERNE
HE R R & o 1R2021F128
31EIEREZREXAEI
DR EYER D EE RN
AEEFGERSE REEAA
E#14,000,0007 (20204 : A
R #14,000,0007T) °

FAENPEHREYESIDNE
AAERBABEASESTHAK
AR ¥47 1007 A EHS > THfEFE
BEEDGLERA AL RUE
KREREERRYERNEEM
B RIRZ o 1R2021FE12831H »
FAEFNBTNREYESES
MAEBE_RAABEI GRS
$8 IREE A AR 119,400,000
7t (2020% @ A R 528,300,000
7T) °©

RRES _BHEEILTHNEKX
AR ARBEAEEFTH KA
R 184,900t B > ML E
BB AR AT TS K
ANER#85,4007cFIBH > THE
BEEMGLERAALFRUE
KRERAER R ERNEEM
B RIRZ o 1R2021FE12831H »
RRES _HSERRBAIED
ABE_MAABEITGERD
18 BRMEE A A R #33,000,000
7t (2020£F : A EB#50,000,000
7T) °©

FZH IR N ABZE DR
EATHERHARBEASTF
7K AR 37,000 0B
ThEREET SR A AN st
RABREHERKRYERK
INEEME R R 2R o 5220214
128310 AEHFEHRBER
NBENDALE _RANEAE
FEERSE REEAARE
617,000,0007T (20204 : AR #&
617,000,0007T) °
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
BRI (8)

31 December 2021

20215128311

13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED) 13. IREWE (18)
(@)  (continued) (@) (#&)
Fair value hierarchy ARBEEEE

TERAFEAEBREYENA
RBEFERR :

The following table illustrates the fair value measurement
hierarchy of the Group’s investment properties:

Fair value measurement as at 31 December 2021 using

2021512831 BN AR BEHERA

Quoted
prices in Significant Significant
active observable  Unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
TEEE EXT ERRA
TmENRE BREGAYE BROAYNE
(F—#) (B4R (B=#®) &zt
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ABBFT AEBFT AEEFT AEBFTT
Recurring fair value measurement for: EEUAAEEE
Commercial properties EEYE - 2,411,100 2,879,400 5,290,500
Fair value measurement as at 31 December 2020 using
2020612831 HM AR BEF ERA
Quoted
prices in Significant Significant
active observable Unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
EIE BAT BART
THENRE BRGAHE BROANE
E—® EZH (FE=H) it
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB 000 RMB 000
ANEETFT ANEETFT ANEETFT ANEETFT
Recurring fair value measurement for: REMEARBEESTE:
Commercial properties [GEZYES - 2,514,300 2,900,300 5,414,600
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)

(b)

MR MtE (8)

31 December 2021
2021FE12831H

13. KREME (@)

The Group’s investment properties situated on the leasehold b FAEBMURFABEAMPNBEE LT
land in Mainland China are leased between 30 and 50 years. MR EYEBEHEABI0EE
504 °
Investment properties leased out under operating leases © REKLCSHEESHHNEEY
ES
The Group leases out investment properties under operating AEERBESESHEELHAEN
lease arrangements. All leases run for a period of one to fifteen KEM*-FMEHREANR—=
years, with an option to renew the leases after the expiry +HE > W BEEFEREHAEHR
dates, at which time all terms will be renegotiated. The Group’s EENEEEBERTEE
total future minimum lease receivables under non-cancellable B o AEERBERAIEUHZ S
operating leases arising from investment properties are as EHREMEMSHNBERRE
follows: FAERIBLZEWT .
2021 2020
20214 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT NEHEFT
Within one year —FR 49,561 68,417
In the second to fifth years, inclusive E_EEREREF
(BEEMFEEETEA) 98,411 140,728
After five years AEE 17,585 33,942
165,557 243,087
At 31 December 2021, certain of the Group’s investment d F2021FE12831H IR 5
properties with a carrying amount of RMB2,681,570,000 AR E  AEEKREEASA
(2020: RMBS3,185,130,000) were pledged to secure interest- 12 681,570,0007T (20204 :
bearing bank and other borrowings granted to the Group as AR #3,185,130,0007T) BYE T
disclosed in note 33. KEMECBELIEBESHE
IRITE I R E M SR AR o
As at 31 December 2021, the Group entered into certain sales © FR2021F12831HK&EEGTIL

agreements to sell certain investment properties with a carrying
amount of RMB44,546,000 (2020: RMB54,755,000). The
Group had received deposits of approximately RMB37,710,000
(2020: RMB35,338,000), which was recognised as contract
liabilities as at 31 December 2021.

aTHEDSE, HEREESR
AR #44,546,0007 (20204 :
AR #54,755,00070) & T
BEME AEBBWMNARE
37,710,0007¢ (20204 : AR#&
35,338,0007T) By < > AT UL EX
MR IR A 52021412331
HMEEE-

REEBERAT T —FEFRK
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
BRI (8)

31 December 2021

20215128311

14. PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT 14. FERYE
2021 2020
k=3 20214 20204
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETFT ANEETT

Carrying amount at 1 January 1B1BEEE 18,697,873 10,149,927
Additions = 15,758,107 13,413,249
Transfer to construction in progress & E 2 T2 12 - (48,088)
Transfer to completed properties B FIFFIHEBZMYIE
held for sale 25 (6,331,368) (4,817,215)
Carrying amount at 31 December 12831 HREE 28,124,612 18,697,873
Current assets MEEE 25,648,975 17,286,659
Non-current assets JERENE E 2,475,637 142104
28,124,612 18,697,873
Except for one property located in Canada and one property located Pr—RAIRMEANR—EMR BAHN
in Japan, the Group’s properties under development are all located in WSS RERBBEE Y EHMR A
Mainland China. Pl o
2021 2020
20214 20204
RMB’000 RMB 000

ARETFT ANEETT

Canada MmEX

Freehold KAFERE 308,825 299,794
Japan Bz

Freehold KAFERE 76,274 80,037
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

MR MtE (8)

31 December 2021
2021FE12831H

PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT 14. REPYE (B
(CONTINUED)
The carrying amounts of the properties under development situated IR E A E a3
on the leasehold land in Mainland China are as follows: ZIEREAEWT
Mainland China R P it
2021 2020
20215 20204
RMB’000 RMB 000
ARBBFT NEEFT
Lease terms of over 50 years A B850 24,922,139 16,906,828
Lease terms between 30 and 50 years FHEASOF 505 2,817,374 1,411,214
27,739,513 18,318,042
At 31 December 2021, certain of the Group’s properties under R2021E 12831 H B #E K £33
development with a carrying amount of RMB24,188,953,000 (2020: FTigsE  AEH E HEAAREK
RMB8,989,476,000) were pledged to secure interest-bearing bank 24,188,953,0007T (20204 : AR#E
and other borrowings granted to the Group as disclosed in note 33. 8,989,476, OO_Q71:) NP kY
CEAEEER S BTHERREM
BRI o
At 31 December 2021, the ownership rights of some of the Group’s R20215FE128 ) $$‘ Al
properties under development may be declared limited. %% = WP EW HEEREMAA
LEASES 15. &
The Group as a lessee REBEREEA
The Group has lease contracts for buildings used in its operations. REBMEKRESFTREFFEEES
Leases of buildings generally have lease terms between 5 and WoRFHENBM—RNF5E18
18 years. Generally, the Group is restricted from assigning and Fo—feMzs  BUEXREBRTAER
subleasing the leased assets outside the Group. Do ER R AR EEE -
(a) Right-of-use assets (@) ERAEEE
The carrying amounts of the Group’s right-of-use assets and K%lﬁﬁﬁ’%éﬁﬁ’] REEK
the movements during the year are as follows: FEREEFUT
Buildings
(EES
RMB'000
ANEEFT
As at 1 January 2020 R2020FE181H 354,339
Additions m% 45,487
Depreciation charge e (51,603)
As at 31 December 2020 and 1 January 2021 12020%F12831H %20214F181H 348,223
Additions m% 73,687
Depreciation charge e (59,961)
Disposals HE (201,142)
As at 31 December 2021 722021FE12831H 160,807
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

B mRMEE (8)
31 December 2021
2021%E12831H

15. LEASES (CONTINUED)

15.

The Group as a lessee (continued)

(b)

(c)

Lease liabilities

The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the movements

HE (&)
AEBEEREAEA @
b) HEEEMHE

HEBENREERENED

during the year are as follows: s
2021 2020
20214 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT NEBEFT
Carrying amount at 1 January 1B1HKREE 382,789 370,603
New leases S 73,687 45,487
Accretion of interest recognised during IR 2 AIA B 10
the year 10,494 16,344
Payments (BN (50,629) (49,645)
Disposals HE (226,965) =
Carrying amount at 31 December 12831HREE 189,376 382,789
Analysed into DA
Current portion TRENER 39,267 45,434
Non-current portion JERENEL 150,109 337,355

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in note 44

HEBBNIBBERDTKE

to the financial statements. R FEER R MI5T44 o
The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to () FAEENEEEINERENT:
leases are as follows:
2021 2020
20215 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT NBEFiT
Interest on lease liabilities HEaEMNE 10,494 16,344
Depreciation charge of right-of-use FREESENERS
assets 59,961 51,603
Expense relating to short-term leases ~ B4 HAHERBEEEEERE
and leases of low-value assets BEMNER GtATTER
(included in administrative expenses) 62,484 45,078
Total amount recognised in profit or loss 18z FEsRAYAR £ 28 132,939 113,025
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

15. LEASES (CONTINUED)

The Group as a lessee (continued)
(d) Extension and termination options:

The Group has no lease contracts that include extension and
termination options.

(e) Variable lease payments:

The Group has no lease contracts that contain variable
payments.

() The total cash outflow for leases is disclosed in note
38(c) to the financial statements

The Group as a lessor

The Group leases its investment properties (note 13) consisting of
one commercial property in Shanghai, two commercial properties in
Yuyao and five commercial properties in Hangzhou under operating
lease arrangements. The terms of the leases generally require
the tenants to pay security deposits and provide for periodic rent
adjustments according to the then prevailing market conditions.
Rental income recognised by the Group during the year was
RMB122,282,000 (2020: RMB144,845,000), details of which are
included in note 5 to the financial statements.

At 31 December 2021, the undiscounted lease payments receivable
by the Group in future periods under non-cancellable operating
leases with its tenants are as follows:

MR MtE (8)

31 December 2021
2021FE12831H

15. A8 (B)

AEBEEREAEA @
() EHARARIEEIER

Z!K%%Iﬁﬁ B IEEE
ERNEEEN-

€ FIEBEEMR

AEBTES S EMRE
5%

(N EEZBRERHIRBIRME
#RRMI5E38(c)

AEREERELHEA

AEBERBEEHEZHFHLBEHEL
By (W:E13) » B EEHN—187
EYE BRI M IBRE EWE RN
NEBEREYE HENER—RE
KEALZ NG REERIBERTHER
%ET;%EE@%H@%E%OZI&%@E?EME
RHEE WA S A ERE122,282,0007T
(20204 : AR ¥144,845,0007T) &%
1B R FEIRERMI 55 0

12021FE12831H » XEEIR B A0l
B EHEN R BRI EERE
WHIRBEIRFEE AT o

2021 2020

2021% 20204

RMB’000 RMB’000

AREFT ARETFT

Within one year —FRN 49,561 68,417
After one year but within two years —FRERMENRN 26,575 38,143
After two years but within three years MEBER=FNAN 25,234 35,956
After three years but within four years —FBREREFERN 23,913 34,574
After four years but within five years MEBEREEAN 22,689 32,055
After five years AEE 17,585 33,942
165,557 243,087
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

B mRMEE (8)
31 December 2021
2021%E12831H

16. GOODWILL 16. BHE

RMB’000
ARETFT
Cost at 1 January 2020, net of accumulated impairment 532020518 1B B2 > IR R 5HRE 98,995
Impairment during the year FRRE -
Cost and net carrying amount at 31 December 2020 112020512831 H M A K& EREFE 98,995

At 31 December 2020: 7220205128318 :
Cost % 7 98,995
Accumulated impairment KetEE -
Net carrying amount REFE 98,995
Cost at 1 January 2021, net of accumulated impairment 7202141818 A7 > MNBE B 5t E1E 98,995
Impairment during the year FERHE (98,995)
Cost and net carrying amount at 31 December 2021 2021512831 BN A K ERE ZE -

At 31 December 2021: 2021128318
Cost DN 98,995
Accumulated impairment RETEE (98,995)
Net carrying amount REEE -
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

16. GOODWILL (CONTINUED)

Impairment testing of goodwill

Goodwill acquired through business combinations is allocated to the
pre-education business cash-generating unit for impairment testing:

The recoverable amount of the pre-education business cash-
generating unit has been determined based on a value in use
calculation using cash flow projections based on financial budgets
covering a five-year period approved by senior management. The
discount rate applied to the cash flow projections was 19.76%
(2020: 21.52%) and cash flows beyond the five-year period were
extrapolated using a growth rate of 2.24% (2020: 2.85%), which was
the same as the long term average growth rate of the pre-education
industry.

Assumptions were used in the value in use calculation of the pre-
education business cash-generating unit for 31 December 2021. The
following describes each key assumption on which management has
based its cash flow projections to undertake impairment testing of
goodwiill:

Budgeted gross margins — The basis used to determine the value
assigned to the budgeted gross margins is the average gross
margins achieved in the year immediately before the budget year,
increased for expected efficiency improvements, and expected
market development.

Discount rate — The discount rate used is before tax and reflects
specific risks relating to the relevant unit.

The values assigned to the key assumptions on the market
development of the pre-education business and discount rates are
consistent with external information sources.

During the year, Covid-19 has negatively continued to affect the pre-
education business operation, leading to decrease in pre-education
business development and triggering the impairment provision. The
directors have consequently determined impairment of goodwill
based on the valuation report issued by an independent professional
valuer.

As the recoverable amount of the pre-education business cash-
generating unit was less than the carrying amount, impairment loss
of RMB98,995,000 was recognised in the consolidated financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2021.

16.

MR MtE (8)

31 December 2021
2021FE12831H

EmE (&)
B ERRERIE

BREZCHIEBHNEERDEEES
BB EBREELEEMW ETRE
AlE

BB BEEBRSES BTG
SHELENEHER KASREE
AETitE A FHRMEEENIRER
EEAETE RERETBAERRG
K A19.76% (20204 : 21.52%) >
MBBREHZREREFALE
D 24%E A (20204 : 2.85%) » B1E2
BIHBTENRHFHEREERER -

st E2021E12831 B2 F ¥ 5 £751R
STEEBUZFEREBRERRE
TXHAEEBETEERENEN
REREBARATRIBESEARE -

BEEHE-AREEARTRES
AN BEARENEES SRS
EER—ENFERNTHENE
RN E RE R DR BET
20

MIRE—FrAMIRERRINGRIE I
[ BR 75 R EE (LAY 45 E R B

ERBRHBEEBITETSERNE
2 RREKREREREINEE R RIRE

—Ho

RAEER R a b R B S F 2
FEBERAEETE CERHEE
BRI ERAFHRERS -
Hit > EFERBBIIF XM EME
EHEERESEEHERE

HR RS ESREEEBEMUN
AWESEERNREE MEREE
2021F12B31HIEFEEZ 5 HY
R ESDRERE A R 1598,995,000

T ©
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
BRI (8)

31 December 2021

20215128311

17. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS 17. HttmEEE
31 December 2021 Brandname
20215128318 mhE g
RMB 000
ANEBEFir
Cost at 1 January 2021, net of accumulated amortisation 5320214181 H B A4S » 0k R 5T i# 5 32,522
Amortisation provided during the year FREHEEE (1,735)
At 31 December 2021 72021F12831H 30,787
At 31 December 2021: R20214128318 :
Cost D% 34,690
Accumulated amortisation RET Y (3,903
Net carrying amount REEE 30,787
Cost at 1 January 2020, net of accumulated amortisation 202041818 B2 > 0B& B 5T 64 34,257
Amortisation provided during the year FEREIEEE (1,735)
At 31 December 2020 722020FE12831H 32,522
At 31 December 2020: 72020128318
Cost DN 34,690
Accumulated amortisation RET#H (2,168)
Net carrying amount EREFE 32,522
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

18. EQUITY INVESTMENTS DESIGNATED AT FAIR
VALUE THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE
INCOME

18.

MR MtE (8)

31 December 2021
2021FE12831H

EESBRANEESNERH
L85t A Hfth 2 m U s a9
miRE

T/

2021 2020
2021% 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT ARETFT
Equity investments designated IEEAKRAARBES AHM
at fair value through other 2EKENIRERE
comprehensive income
Unlisted equity investments, at fair JEEMRERE  BAREE
value
Zhejiang Xinnongdu Industrial Co., Ltd. MIHBEHMEERRAR 335,050 358,290
Guangzhou Yuncong Information Technology &M E# (= BRI A A S
Co., Ltd. 60,000 60,000
Emotibot Technologies Limited MEEEREERAR 57,744 35,809
Forehope Electronic (Ningbo) Co., Ltd. RWET (BR RHBERAE 25,000 25,000
Baweitong Technology Co., Ltd. NEBREBRAE 20,000 20,000
CSl CSl 6,337 6,523
Qian Ning Health Industry Co., Ltd. M1 EREEXRRAE - 25,000
Shenzhen Xin Shi City Development FINEARMEREERRAE
Investment Co., Ltd. - 6,000
Anhui Five Star Food Co., Ltd. ZHAEBRRDERAR - 3,300
504,131 539,922

The above equity investments were irrevocably designated at fair
value through other comprehensive income as the Group considers
these investments to be strategic in nature.

L BRI IR E AR A
AEBEAEBHEEZHFAELMEE K
ENEDRE RESETEEDBAZ
EREBEBRIE -
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
BRI (8)

31 December 2021

20215128311

19. LONG TERM PREPAYMENTS 19.RHATE(T R
2021 2020
2021% 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARBETFT
Prepayment for equity investment* AR ERIE 509,443 234,484
Prepayments for land acquisition AT LU BB R IE 74,762 859,836
Maintenance fund HEES 60,884 63,339
Deposits for construction completion B TERR 31,827 32,765
Prepaid expense AR - 8,089
Others HAth 1,002 103,067
677,918 1,301,580

As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, financial assets included in long
term prepayments of the Group were considered to be low credit
risk and thus the Group assessed that there was no significant loss
allowance recognised in accordance with the ECL model under IFRS
9 as at 31 December 2021 and 2020.

The prepayment for acquisition of 22.65% of equity interests
in Zhejiang Xinnongdu Industrial Co., Ltd. (“XND”) is inclued in
prepayment for equity investment. The detail is disclosed in note
41.

20. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES

R20214F %2020 12H31H » AEH
EERBBEIRTHNEREENRS
BEERRE > FIt > A5 B IR KRR
53R 5 2E A S OSR T 702021 & K
202012831 H » FBHiE EREEL
15N E R E KSR o

* WA IHEHMEBEERRAR (TH
E2HR1) 22.65%/ N TR ET A TE
IR ERERIE F BB
410

20. REEEENKE

2021 2020

20214 2020£

RMB’000 RMB 000

ANBHEFT NEIEFT

Share of net assets DMEEEFE 635,298 312,236
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

MR MtE (8)

31 December 2021
2021FE12831H

EEENKRE (B

BERENFBNT

20. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES (CONTINUED) 20. &

Particulars of the joint ventures are as follows:

Percentage attributable to the Group

FEERGERIT
Particulars
of issued Place of Ownership Voting Profit Principal
Name shares held registration interest power sharing activities
RAEEEfT
&g RIARIGEE At FRAEED REMR M FTEEH
Hangzhou Zhongxu Real Estate Registered capital of Zhejiang PRC 24% 24% 24% Project management
Co, Ltd." RMB375,000,000 HEIHT EHEE
MNREEXBRAT" AR
AR #375,000,0007T
Hangzhou Jieyao Investment Registered capital of Zhejiang PRC 20% 20% 20% Investment management
Management Co., Ltd.? RMB10,000,000 HEIHT REEHE
MINEEREEEERAF Aftie A
AR #10,000,0007c
Hangzhou Bijin Property Co., Ltd.® Registered capital of Zhejiang PRC 20% 20% 20% Project management
MMNEBREXBRAF RMB20,000,000 FEHT BEEE
AR
A K #20,000,0007T
Hangzhou Jiayi Property Co., Ltd.“) Registered capital of Zhejiang PRC 25% 25% 25% Project management
MNEREXBRARY RMB150,000,000 HEIHT EHEE
AR
A #150,000,0007T
Hangzhou Jinanxing Enterprise Registered capital of Zhejiang PRC 70% 50% 70% Enterprise management
Management Consulting Partnership RMB490,000,000 HEIHT TrEERE
(Limited) Partnership)®! A
MNBZECEERANACY AE:#490,000,0007T
X (BRER)O
Taizhou Huahao Enterprise Registered capital of Zhejiang PRC 69% 50% 69% Enterprise management
Management Consulting Co., Ltd.® RMB210,000,000 HEIHT TrEERE
BMNEECEERAANERAFC SR
AR #210,000,000
Zhejiang Renhe Health Industry Registered capital of Zhejiang PRC 69% 50% 69% Project management
Co., Ltd.? RMB300,000,000 FEHT BEEE
WLCMEREZERAT SR
AR #300,000,0007%
Wenzhou Liang'ao Real Estate Co., Ltd.®  Registered capital of Zhejiang PRC 25% 25% 25% Project management
BNTRAEXFRAFE RMB450,000,000 HEIHT EHEE
AR
A #450,000,0007T
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
BRI (8)
31 December 2021
20215128311

20. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES (CONTINUED)

Particulars of the joint ventures are as follows: (continued)

20. &

EEENKRE (B

BETENFENT © (@

Percentage attributable to the Group

FEREEGE AT
Particulars
of issued Place of Ownership Voting Profit Principal
Name shares held registration interest power sharing activities
REEET
&g RIARIGEE At FRAEED FiE M TEEY
Zhejiang Zhonghe Boyuan Real Registered capital of Zhejiang PRC 35% 25% 35% Project management
Estate Co., Ltd.® RMB500,000,000 FEHT BEEER
WIRABEEZERATO AR
AR #500,000,0007%
Lishui Zhongyang Qinglin Real Estate Registered capital of Zhejiang PRC 35% 25% 35% Project management
Co., Ltd.1® RMB500,000,000 alETipan EEER
BARGEHREEBRARM AR
A #500,000,0007T
Hangzhou Kangguang Real Estate Registered capital of Zhejiang PRC 25% 33% 25% Project management
Development Co., Ltd. RMB10,000,000 HEIHT EEEE
N B EREERAT Aftie A
AR #10,000,0007c
Ningbo Guangrun Real Estate Registered capital of Zhejiang PRC 25% 33% 25% Project management
Co,, Ltd."2 RMB300,000,000 FEHT BEEER
EROCEEXRRAFM AR
AR #300,000,0007%
Shaoxing Zhongming Enterprise Registered capital of Zhejiang PRC 57% 50% 57% Project management
Management Co., Ltd. RMB100,000 HEAT EHEE
REFACEBEEREBRAFM AR
AR 100,0007%
Chun’an Qiandao Lake Yulang Registered capital of Zhejiang PRC 59% 33% 59% Project management
Superstar Cultural Creativity RMB184,957,300 HEIHT EEEE
Co., Ltd." SR
FRTEHEBEEN AR AR
BRAFM 184,957,3007¢
Hangzhou Tianai Real Estate Registered capital of Zhejiang PRC 40% 40% 40% Project management
Co., Ltd.09 RMB250,000,000 FEHT BEEER
MMKEFEEFRAF SR
AR #250,000,0007%
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20. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES (CONTINUED) 20.

Particulars of the joint ventures are as follows: (continued)

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

MR MtE (8)

31 December 2021
2021FE12831H

BEEENKRE (B

BERENFENT (@

(1) Established on 14 April 2016 (1)  R2016F4814A ML
(2)  Established on 12 January 2018 (@)  K2018F1812H A IL
(38)  Established on 13 September 2017 (B) 201798138 AL
(4)  Established on 15 May 2019 @ 72019458158 AL
(5)  Established on 20 November 2018 (6)  F2018F11820H miL
(6)  Established on 22 December 2015 6) H20155F12822H AL
(7)  Established on 30 June 2014 (7)  7201446830H AL
(8)  Established on 9 March 2020 (8)  K2020FE389H ALIL
(9)  Established on 6 May 2020 Q)  KR20205F586H AL
(10) Established on 20 May 2020 (10)  H20205F5820H A% L
(11) Established on 15 September 2020 (11)  K2020F98 158 AL
(12) Established on 13 March 2020 (12)  K20205F38 138 AL
(13) Established on 23 April 2021 (13)  #202144 82308 ML
(14) Established on 5 July 2016 (14)  K2016FE7B5H ALIL
(15)  Established on 22 July 2020 (15) 722020578 22H AL
The movements in the investments in joint ventures during the REEhENRERRSHRNNES)
reporting period are as follows: wmr
2021 2020
2021% 20204
RMB’000 RMB’'000

ARETFT ARETT

At 1 January 2021 202151818 312,236 50,994
Investment in joint ventures KEREDLE 345,415 152,418
Share of (loss)/profits ok (B518) FH (22,353) 108,824
At 31 December 2021 1R2021F12831H 635,298 312,236
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

:1$2$E$§HHTDI Cﬁi)

31 December 2021
2021%E12831H

20. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES (CONTINUED) 20.

The 20% equity interest in Hangzhou Bijin Real Estate Co., Ltd. is
held through two subsidiaries with 90% equity interests attributable
to the Company. The amounts of the Group’s recognised share of
profits of this joint venture for the current year and cumulatively were
RMB19,946,000 and RMB17,946,000.

The following table illustrates the summarised financial information
of Hangzhou Bijin Real Estate Co., Ltd. adjusted for any differences
in accounting policies and reconciled to the carrying amount in the
financial statements:

REEEENKRE ()

N 4R B A RA B AI20% 8% 74 1
% Jh B B 7 5 B B (590 % AR A #E 2 1Y
MENBABDRE AEARZEE
TENREEDRIDEGERN R
D RAE ANRK19,946,0007T % A R
17,946,0007T ©

TREFITINEREERRATRY
BERRE  sER S BEREE(F
AR R AR S ER AR BV BRE (B AR D

2021

20214

RMB’000

AERBFT

Cash and cash equivalents BERIEEEEY 27,976
Other current assets HMREEE 878,955

Current assets MENEE 906,931
Non-current assets EmENE E 323
Current liabilities mENEE (817,524)
Net assets, excluding goodwill BEFE FTEiEEE 89,730
Proportion of the Group’s ownership NEBEEAREB DL 20%
Group’s share of net assets of the joint venture rEBEEEECEEEFE 17,946
Carrying amount of the investment KEREE 17,946

Revenue ON 2,326,201
Total expenses Bz 48 %8 (2,226,471)
Profit and total comprehensive income for the year FRAERE2EW R EEE 99,730
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

MR MtE (8)

31 December 2021
2021FE12831H

20. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES (CONTINUED) 20. REELENKLE (B

The following table illustrates the summarised financial information of TREHTINRBEXEFRR BN
Hangzhou Zhongxu Real Estate Co., Ltd. adjusted for any differences BERBE AU BEEZRE
in accounting policies and reconciled to the carrying amount in the AR I BB PSR R PV AR T B SR Ef

financial statements:

2020

20204

RMB 000

ARETFT

Cash and cash equivalents REMREEEY 288,407

Other current assets HRs&EE 866,405

Current assets MENEE 1,154,812

Non-current assets FFRBEE 87

Current liabilities mEAE (445,983)

Net assets, excluding goodwill BEFE FTEiEEE 708,916

Proportion of the Group’s ownership AEBBEAEB DL 24%

Group’s share of net assets of the joint venture rEERLSECEEERE 170,140

Carrying amount of the investment KREREE 170,140

Revenue A 2,348,702

Total expenses Bz 48 %8 (1,694,509)

Profit and total comprehensive income for the year FRAEREZEW R EEE 654,193
The following table illustrates the aggregate financial information of TRINRTAEBZBEBAFREANEG

the Group’s joint ventures that are not individually material: ENRNERTEER

2021 2020

20214 20204

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETFT ARETT

Share of the joint ventures’ loss for the year  E{h & & ABERNEE (42,299) (48,182)
Aggregate carrying amount of the Group’s KEBRGEATRNKEN
investments in the joint ventures AERRTEAE 617,352 142,096
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

B mRMEE (8)
31 December 2021
2021%E12831H

21. LOANS TO JOINT VENTURES

21. MEEEEEM

2021 2020
2021% 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT ARBETFT
Principal: K
Shaoxing Zhongming Real Estate Co., Ltd. HEREEEARAE 204,448 =
Zhejiang Renhe Health Industry Co., Ltd. I CMEREXBRAE 141,508 88,508
Hangzhou Tiangi Real Estate Co., Ltd. MMNKBEXERAR 107,201 82,911
Wenzhou Liang’ao Real Estate Co.,Ltd. BNTRREXFTRAR 4,403 =
Ningbo Guangrun Real Estate Co., Ltd. ERCHEERRRE 4,147 74,970
Hangzhou Zhongxu Real Estate Co., Ltd. MMNREEXERAR 1,165 1,165
Hangzhou Kangguang Real Estate MMNENEHERZEFRAR
Development Co., Ltd. - 158,550
Zhejiang Zhonghe Boyuan Real Estate MIREEEEXBRAE
Co., Ltd. - 138,782
462,872 544,886

ERN FEERGEEENERAE
IR R R WARERERE -

During the year, the Group’s loans to joint ventures were unsecured
and interest-free and repayable on demand.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

R e R B

i (&)

31 December 2021
2021FE12831H

INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES/LOANS TO 22, RIEGERSE RSt
ASSOCIATES N
2021 2020
20214 20204F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBEFT NRIEFT
Share of net assets DMEEEFE 1,145,297 102,603

The movements in the investments in associates during the reporting

period are as follows:

REEEENRENRENNNES)

2021 2020
20215 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT NBE¥FiT
At 1 January 2021 R2021FE1B1H 102,603 -
Investment in associates KREMS D 888,040 115,298
Share of profits/(loss) DMEFE, (B518) 154,654 (12,695)
At 31 December 2021 7R2021F12831H 1,145,297 102,603
2021 2020
20214 20204
RMB’000 RMB 000
ABEFT NBEFiT
Loans to associates mEEPEER

Hangzhou Lvzhen Real Estate Co., Ltd. MMNEEREXERAR 450,490 =

Ningbo Haiya Zhongxiang Development and  ZE3¢ /83 RIS 12 %

Construction Co., Ltd. BIRAE 279,593 =
Wenzhou Lvxin Real Estate Co., Ltd. BRINAEREEEBRAR 48,130 =
Yiwu Dongxin Real Estate Development EETEMEMERZEBRAE

Co., Ltd. 922 -

779,135 -

During the year, the Group’s loans to associates were unsecured,

interest-free and repayable on demand.

RER AEBRZE]

EEENE

RREERRRE LARENRE

REERFRAR

R —EEW
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B mRMEE (8)
31 December 2021
2021%E12831H

22,
ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)

Particulars of the associates are as follows:

INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES/LOANS TO 22, PIECERSE RS

iy

E

B hERFIRNT

™ (4%)

=}

=

Percentage attributable to the Group

FERERGERIT
Particulars
of issued Place of Ownership Voting Profit Principal
Name shares held registration interest power sharing activities
218 RAEETRMIE AftE  FRAEED BRI wHAME TEEY
Yiwu Longrui Real Estate Co., Ltd.(" Registered capital of Zhejiang, PRC 35% 35% 35% Project management
EERBEHERERRATY RMB10,000,000 FEIHL BEEE
AR
AK#10,000,0007T
Hangzhou Yugui Industrial Co., Ltd.? Registered capital of Zhejiang, PRC 24% 24% 24% Investment management
MMNSEEXBRAR RMB470,000,000 HEIHT REERE
AR
AR #470,000,0007T
Hangzhou Lvzhen Real Estate Co., Ltd.® Registered capital of Zhejiang, PRC 25% 25% 25% Project management
MNEEEXBRATO RMB10,000,000 BT BEEERE
Aftie A
AR #10,000,0007c
Ningbo Haiya Zhongxiang Registered capital of Zhejiang, PRC 15% 15% 15% Project management
Development and Construction RMB50,000,000 HEIHT EREE
Co., Ltd.# AR A
ERMEERAEERRERAFY B #50,000,0007
Yiwu Dongxin Real Estate Registered capital of Zhejiang, PRC 35% 35% 35% Project management
Development Co., Ltd.® RMB50,000,000 HEAT EHEE
EEMEMBEHERERRAFO AR
AR #50,000,0007T
Wenzhou Lvxin Real Estate Co., Ltd.® Registered capital of Zhejiang, PRC 25% 25% 25% Project management
BNGEEXRRAFO USD95,394,800 BT BEEERE
st
95,394,800% 7T

(1) Established on 21 November 2018

2) Established on 17 July 2019

(3) Established on 19 October 2020

(4) Established on 14 September 2020

(5) Established on 24 September 2020

(6) Established on 22 March 2021
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

MR MtE (8)

31 December 2021
2021FE12831H

INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES/LOANS TO 22. WHE Tt ERE MEEt
ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED) Fam (@
The 35% equity interests in Yiwu Longrui Real Estate Co., Ltd. is EREmEHMERZFRATMNI5%
held through two subsidiaries with 90% equity interest attributable % 7S 18 2 5 335 48 7S &2 B FE (90 % f& 2
to the Company. The amounts of the Group’s recognised share of BmmENBABREE KAEER
profits of the associate for the current year and cumulatively were ZEEEENAFERRTEREIE
RMB175,802,000 and RMB172,302,000. @A 2 AR 175,802,000t &2 A
E #§172,302,0007T ©
The following table illustrates the summarised financial information TRV ESELEHEREFRR
of Yiwu Longrui Real Estate Co., Ltd. adjusted for any differences Bl Z M BERE > siEM & 5 EER
in accounting policies and reconciled to the carrying amount in the ERMFHARKREATERRNVREE
financial statements: FHED
2021
20214
RMB’000
ARKTFT
Cash and cash equivalents REMIREEEY 32,248
Other current assets HiRe&EE 1,010,624
Current assets MENEE 1,042,872
Non-current assets ERBEE 9
Current liabilities mENEE (550,589)
Net assets BEEFE 492,292
Proportion of the Group’s ownership AEEEREBDL 35%
Group’s share of net assets of the associate NEBEEHECEXEEEE 172,302
Carrying amount of the investment KERmEE 172,302
Revenue WA 1,786,734
Total expenses F sz 4828 (1,284,443)
Profit and total comprehensive income for the year FRRENEEE T AERE 502,291
RLEBMBRLAE —T-—FFR 239
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BRI (8)

31 December 2021

20215128311
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22. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES/LOANS TO 22 WEi&E 28T HHED
ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED) FEW (@)
The following table illustrates the aggregate financial information of TRINRTAEBZBEBAREANEG
the Group’s associates that are not individually material: EhENERYEER
2021 2020
20214 2020£
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ANEHEFT
Share of the associates’ loss for the year FE{LEH S (DX FANEIE (21,148) (12,695)
Aggregate carrying amount of the Group’s AEBRRBERENKREN
investments in the associates HREE 972,995 102,603
23. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES 23. RIEREEEREE
The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities are as follows: RERIBE ERIEERIES EE 8N
T
Deferred tax assets FIERRIEE
Impairment Fair value
of financial Losses adjustment
assets and Right-of-use available at fair value
properties Unrealised assetsand  for offsetting Prepaid  through other
under intragroup lease  against future corporate  comprehensive
development  profit or loss liabilities ~ taxable profits income tax income Total
RAREE
GtEAHER
BIfsiis AR
EHEER RER EREEE FREEH AEftt% 2EREH
RERMERE E@MBEE REEERE bilbel:ol 3 Figl  ARBEESEER szt
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB'000
NEETFT NEETFT NEEFT NEEFT NEETFT NEETFT NEETFT
At 1 January 2020 #2020E1818 15,863 19,087 4,632 28,209 1,627 - 69,418
Deferred tax (charged)/credited ~ ERRBRH (1K) /3t A
to the statement of HIELRE
profit or loss during the year (143) 30,477 4,012 77,309 - - 111,655
At 31 December 2020 and #20205128318 K
1 January 2021 202141818 15,720 49,564 8,644 105,518 1,627 - 181,073
Deferred tax credited/(charged) ~ ERREB@ER A/ (1K)
to the statement of HIERERE
profit or loss during the year 1,570 16,338 (1,499) 79,126 - - 95,535
Deferred tax credited to FRREMEERGERA
the statement of other HIELRE
comprehensive income
during the year - - - - - 9,820 9,820
At 31 December 2021 12021128318 17,290 65,902 7,145 184,644 1,627 9,820 286,428
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

23. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

(CONTINUED)
Deferred tax assets (continued)

In accordance with the PRC laws and regulations, tax losses could
be carried forward for five years to offset against its future taxable
profits. Deferred tax assets relating to unutilised tax losses are
recognised to the extent that it is probable that sufficient taxable
profit will be available to allow such deferred tax assets to be utilised.

The Group has no accumulated tax losses arising in Hong Kong
that are available indefinitely for offsetting against future taxable
profits of the companies in which the losses arose. The Group
also has accumulated tax losses arising in Mainland China of
RMB1,385,817,000 (2020: RMB901,485,000) that will expire in one
to five years for offsetting against future taxable profits. Deferred
tax assets have not been recognised in respect of these losses
as they have arisen in subsidiaries that have been loss-making for
some time and it is not considered probable that taxable profits
will be available against which the tax losses can be utilised. The
carrying value of deferred tax assets relating to recognised deductible
temporary differences and tax losses at 31 December 2021 was
RMB286,428,000 (2020: RMB181,073,000). The amount of
unrecognised tax losses during the year ended 31 December 2021
was RMB5983,249,000 (2020: RMB343,732,000).

23.

MR MtE (8)

31 December 2021
2021FE12831H

EEREEE KRR (&)

PEMIREE (8

RIFPEAR AR M HIRAAS
ERFELIREHEHBRERRAE
BRAMABARBHENELERIES
ERETERE RHERRTIEUE
ZERERBEEESHHERH SR
Sl
REBRERABRBESET ALK
ZEHIRBIE AT HENERRFE
HWRAMEBEEIE - AEBE PP ERA
HMTEENRFAREBEBEEASARK
1,385,817,0007T (20204 : AR
901,485,0007T) > R —ERHFRE
HB DURSE H B MERRA B B
ZEWB AR CEE BB —KRIERE
BR3A W En] 55 A o BN E
EBHNERRFE B EmZEEE
MESIRERRIEE & © 172021912831
B> BRCHEIREIRNER %8
KEENRERBE ENREEASA
FE15286,428,0007T (20204 : AR
181,073,0007T) ° & E20214F12531
HIESEEZ A BRRBEBESESA
FE16593,249,0007T (20204 : AR
343,732,0007T) °

REEBERAT T —FEFRK
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MmN (8)

31 December 2021
2021%E12831H

23. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

23. IEEMEEEREE (@)

(CONTINUED)
Deferred tax liabilities FIERRIEE R
Fair value
adjustment
of equity
investments
designated Fair value
at fair value Fair value adjustment
through other adjustment arising from
comprehensive  of investment  acquisition of
income properties a subsidiary Withholding tax Others* Total
BER
BAAEE
STEEHEE
STAELM -
il 6| Lol
RERE REME EEW
ARBERE QAAEERE  ALEEEE fiEi Htr st
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
NEEFT ANEEFT NE#F NE®T NEEF NEEFT
At 1 January 2020 120201 A1H 2,250 779,448 5,897 56,310 136,938 980,843
Realised during the year FRER - (132,273) (434) - (22,110) (154,817)
Deferred tax charged to FAREMEERGR
the statement of other HIBREGEIER IS
comprehensive income
during the year 4,300 - - - - 4,300
Deferred tax charged to the FRRBEERING
statement of profit or loss HIRERTE
during the year - 94,959 - 9,807 12,840 117,606
At 31 December 2020 and R2020F12A31B K
1 January 2021 20211818 6,550 742,134 5,463 66,117 127,668 947,932
Realised during the year FRER - (10,263) (230) - (4,261) (14,754)
Deferred tax credited to FRAEMEEBER
the statement of other HIRERIE
comprehensive l0ss
during the year (1,066) - - - - (1,066)
Deferred tax (credited)/charged to FRPMEZER Gt A) /
the statement of profit or loss MBRMELERE
during the year - (15,078) - 128 19,196 4,246
At 31 December 2021 112021125315 5,484 716,793 5,233 66,245 142,603 936,358
* Others mainly include temporary differences relating to capitalised * HthFEGEHBEXRMEFFERA

finance costs.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

23. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
(CONTINUED)

Deferred tax liabilities (continued)

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law (the “New CIT
Law”), a 10% withholding tax is levied on dividends declared to
foreign investors from the foreign investment enterprises established
in the PRC. The requirement is effective from 1 January 2008 and
applies to earnings after 31 December 2007. A lower withholding
tax rate may be applied if there is a tax treaty between Mainland
China and the jurisdiction of the foreign investors. For the Group, the
applicable rate is 10%. The Group is therefore liable for withholding
taxes on dividends distributed by those subsidiaries established in
the PRC in respect of earnings generated from 1 January 2008.

Other than the above deferred tax liability in relation to the PRC
withholding income tax provided, no deferred taxation has been
provided for the distributable retained profits of approximately
RMB3, 795,130,000 (2020: RMB3,195,697,000), which were derived
from the PRC subsidiaries as the Group is able to control the timing
of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable that the
temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

24. PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARY WITH MATERIAL
NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

Details of the Group’s subsidiary that has material non-controlling
interests are set out below:

Percentage of equity interest held by non-controlling interests:

23.

24.

MR MtE (8)

31 December 2021
2021FE12831H

EEREEE KRR (&)

FEERIERR (8

RGP ERERE (HEERS
M) AN ELEREETIREK
BREAMEIINIIEREZRE
HUR10%FEINR - B REFRE 520084
1B1B_EER > WA R2007F128
S1HBRRELE Z&F o fif #r E 7 ih 2
NEREEMBEZEEGZEEAR
FEBA T IRBREENREIHR 4
EEZBRLEERAE10% AL &
B BMZEN PN Z B A
BIF2008FE1 B1HREEE Z B M D
TR R EHATEING

PR X E RPN FR SR 1E R
FURIERIBEEIN  BEFIR A B
/8 A B B4 A R #£3,795,130,0007T

(20204 : AR"3,195,697,0007T)
REBBAMEHIEIERIBREE  AAAX
EE ARSI R AR R A
TR EBEN T TER KRR AREER S B
@o

S B B AR
3 RO BB A )

BERERFEREGNAEEREA
BIREEESIRIT

FFERETEFAERET DL

2021 2020
20214 20204

China New City Commercial PRI A EZEREBR A
Development Limited (‘CNC”) (TrREEFT IR ) 34.08% 36.12%

Accumulated balances of non-controlling interests at the reporting

PR B HA IR IR I R AT A AR

date:
2021 2020
20214 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT NBEFiT
CNC FEFTI T 1,426,516 1,610,378

BLREBERAT —T-_—FEFR
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20215128311

24. PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARY WITH MATERIAL 24. i3 AN B E K IEIZRR

NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS (CONTINUED) EZHHMEAR (8
(Loss)/profit for the year allocated to non-controlling interests: FADIRTIFERERH (B5B) &
o

2021 2020

20214 2020£

RMB’000 RMB’000

ANBEFT NEHEFT

CNC FREIFTI T (97,307) 14,465

The following tables illustrate the summarised financial information of TERETIA LM A BB B S & R R
the above subsidiary. Fo

PR BT A MERA B B H HAT

The amounts disclosed are before any inter-company eliminations:

ZEEE

2021 20214
CNC
FRE i T
RMB’000
ARHEFT
Revenue A 871,066
Other income and gains H AU A B Wz 374,689
Changes in fair value of investment properties REMENEEE (60,311)
Total expenses Fisz 48 %8 (1,488,259)
Loss for the year FREE (302,815)
Total comprehensive loss for the year FREEEIBILEE (353,703)
Current assets REEE 5,933,227
Non-current assets EREEE 9,571,613
Current liabilities REEE 5,659,449
Non-current liabilities EREEE 4,111,796
Net cash flows generated from operating activities EEENELRERE R 813,019
Net cash flows generated from investing activities KREEBELRENEFEHE 447,899
Net cash flows used in financing activities MEESIERIREREFEE (651,253)
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents B RIS EBYIL N F2E 609,665
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MR MtE (8)

31 December 2021
2021FE12831H

24. PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARY WITH MATERIAL 24, BREEMBEKRIEZER

NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS (CONTINUED) EZHMEAT (B
The amounts disclosed are before any inter-company eliminations: FTi% B2 Y & BB A& (A2 B B 8 Al
(continued) 2 )
2020 20204
CNC
FR BT
RMB 000
ANERIEFIT
Revenue WA 700,370
Other income and gains HAUWA S W a8 186,665
Changes in fair value of investment properties KEMEANEEES) 23,030
Fair value gain upon transfer to investment properties HEBEFHEMERNAAEERE 356,806
Total expenses Pz 4858 (1,241,790)
Profit for the year FREF 25,081
Total comprehensive income for the year FAZEREIEEE 23,226
Current assets MENE E 5,184,148
Non-current assets JERENE E 9,991,708
Current liabilities MENEE 3,071,385
Non-current liabilities ERBEE 6,027,053
Net cash flows used in operating activities HEEEERRESRE T (800,862)
Net cash flows generated from investing activities CERHELIREREFEE 507,441
Net cash flows generated from financing activities MEETHELIRE NS F5E 880,286
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents BERIREEBEYILINFEE 586,865

REEBERAT —TB_—FFR
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20215128311

25. COMPLETED PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE 25. IF1EHECERME
2021 2020
k=3 20214 20204
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETFT ANEETT

Carrying amount at 1 January 1B1HZRAEE 2,926,871 3,167,154
Transfer from properties under EEREMERYE
development 14 6,331,368 4,817,215
Transfer to investment properties BB E R B )£ 13 - (143,194)
Cost of properties sold BHEMERSE 6 (3,364,398) (4,796,052)
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—FERB AR 37 - (74,142)
Transfer to property and equipment s =4 % & 5 12 - (44,110)
Carrying amount at 31 December 12831H Z REE 5,893,841 2,926,871
Net carrying amount at 12831 HZ iREFE
31 December 5,893,841 2,926,871
The movements in provision for write-down of completed properties WRM B EEMEE&IRF
held for sale to net realisable value are as follows: ENEEESWT -
2021 2020
k=3 20214 20204
Note RMB’000 RMB 000

ARETFTT ANEETT

At 1 January M1B1H - 571
Reversal and realise of completed ~ #&[e] & S IR F 5 2 & Al
properties held for sale to net HFEMERAJEIRFE
realisable value 6 - (671)
At 31 December ®12831H - -
As at 31 December 2021, certain of the Group’s completed properties R2021FE12831H > A&EBET
held for sale of RMB823,744,000 (2020: RMB1,325,895,000) FREHEEZEMYWEALA AR
were pledged to secure interest-bearing bank and other borrowings 823,744,0007t (2020%F : AR
granted to the Group as disclosed in note 33. 1,325,895,0007T) > WK sE33FT I 2=
BEEARTAERS ERITERKE
HEFRAVIEIR o
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

MR MtE (8)

31 December 2021
2021FE12831H

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH  26. AR EfE2 B HE g5
PROFIT OR LOSS AEHEENEMEE
2021 2020
20214 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT ARETFT
Listed equity investments at fair value hEREE BARER 132,795 109,618
The above equity investments were classified as financial assets at FiEREEESEAUAREBETE
fair value through profit or loss as they were held for trading. BHEFEHAEHERNEMEE-
TRADE RECEIVABLES 27. FEKE ZFIRM

The Group’s trading terms with its customers are mainly on credit,
except for new customers, where payment in advance is normally
required. The credit period is generally one month, extending up to
three months for major customers. Each customer has a maximum
credit limit. The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its
outstanding receivables to minimise credit risk. Overdue balances
are reviewed regularly by senior management. In view of the
aforementioned and the fact that the Group’s trade receivables relate
to various diversified customers, there is no significant concentration
of credit risk. The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit
enhancements over its trade receivable balances. The balances of
trade receivables are non-interest-bearing and unsecured.

AEBEEERTUZRZHRRE
EUEERT EHFRABERRE
At -EEHMBES—BR &2
ERE=ER GIEBZRME) ° &
LERPERBEERE -AEERN
B H 5 R EE B WCRIRME R BB B R
B RABRUREEERRK A
HErHeREEEEHER R
EXFrihAERE ZERRIARS
BFrEEFERNEE RWIEEEKR
ERETAR FEBTEREEUY
8 2 RIGE BRI A E IR fm s A Ath
RERE BUREZSRTEH/SRE
R AR

BLREBERAT —T-_—FEFR
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B mRMEE (8)
31 December 2021
2021%E12831H

27. TRADE RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)

An ageing analysis of the trade receivables as at the end of the

27. BWE IR (B)

FEWE ZERMIN R SR Z IR DA

reporting period is as follows: (I
2021 2020
2021% 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT ARETFT
Within six months ~NMEB R 98,880 56,037
Over six months but within one year BENEAE—FER 10,175 12,563
Over one year but within two years B —FEmERN 6,655 9,685
Over two years but within three years BEMEE=FR 2,520 6,432
Over three years B =1 1,378 =
119,608 84,717
Impairment A (6,279) -
113,329 84,717

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date using
a provision matrix to measure ECLs. The provision rates are based
on days past due for groupings of various customer segments with
similar loss patterns (i.e., by customer type and rating, and forms of
credit insurance). The calculation reflects the probability-weighted
outcome, the time value of money and reasonable and supportable
information that is available at the reporting date about past events,
current conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions. For
the sale of properties, rentals under operating leases, hotel operation
businesses and other business of the Group, management has
assessed that the expected credit loss rate for trade receivables is
minimal as at 31 December 2021 and 2020. In the opinion of the
directors of the Company, the Group'’s trade receivables relate to
a large number of diversified customers with no recent history of
default and the balances are considered fully recoverable considering
the historical records and forward-looking information.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

MR MtE (8)

31 December 2021
2021FE12831H

28. PREPAYMENTS, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND 28. FEfdm - HtmEWHRIERE

OTHER ASSETS b3
2021 2020
Vg2 20215 20206
Note RMB’000 RMB 000
AB¥BFiT NEEFT
Prepaid other tax FEfT EAMiRIE 1,215,121 600,185
Recoverable deposit for land B #EE T U B A Uk Bl 3% &
acquisition cancelled 129,632 902,492
Advance to suppliers TE(T L FE R 7R IE 160,294 200,696
Project construction guarantee BHEHERFRESE
deposits 315,089 267,751
Recoverable payments on behalf AR EM A YA UK [BIRIE
of other parties 4,369 3,429
Other receivables HpEWRIE 778,415 662,410
2,602,920 2,636,963
Impairment A (a) (62,966) (62,966)
2,539,954 2,573,997

(@ Included in the above provision for impairment of other
receivables was a full provision for individually impaired other
receivables of RMB62,966,000 with a carrying amount before
provision of RMB62,966,000 as at 31 December 2021 (2020:
RMB62,966,000).

@  EaUEfhAE U R IE AR (E B
BEFE R B R E R E UL
HBEBEHNE2HEEARE
62,966,0007T » MR 5T EHRTH
EREER2021F12831HA A
R #62,966,00075 (20204 : A
E#£62,966,0007T) °

BIER LSRR EWFIER RN
ERNE AT B M N R B A B
%80 R20214F % 2020FE12831H 7 5
BEHT AR

The financial assets included in the above balances relate to
receivables for which there was no recent history of default and
past due amounts. As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, the loss
allowance was assessed to be minimal.
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28. PREPAYMENTS, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND 28. FAfdHR-HMMEKWHIERE

250

OTHER ASSETS (CONTINUED) e E (48)
The movement in the loss allowance for impairment of prepayments, BT EtEREEREMEERN
other receivables and other assets is as follows: EIEBRHEBWT -
2021 2020
20214 20204
RMB’000 RMB 000
ABHEFT NEHEFT
At beginning of year REH) 62,966 62,966
Impairment losses HERE - =
At end of year REXR 62,966 62,966

29. CASH AND CASH

EQUIVALENTS AND

20 BERREFEYRZRE

RESTRICTED CASH R
2021 2020
20214 20204
RMB’000 RMB 000
ABEFT ANEB¥EFT
Cash and bank balances R R IR1T4EER 7,750,694 5,840,312
Time deposits TEHRER 145,003 71,389
7,895,697 5,911,701
Less: Restricted cash B ZREIIRE (2,663,040) (1,119,156)
Cash and cash equivalents BEREEEEY 5,232,657 4,792,545
Current assets MENEE 2,518,037 1,047,767
Non-current assets EREBEE 145,003 71,389
Restricted cash ZRHIIRE 2,663,040 1,119,156

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank
deposit rates. Short term time deposits are made for varying periods
of between one day and three months depending on the immediate
cash requirements of the Group, and earn interest at the respective
short term time deposit rates. The bank balances and restricted
cash are deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent history of

default.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

29. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND

RESTRICTED CASH (CONTINUED)

Pursuant to relevant regulations in the PRC, certain property
development companies of the Group are required to place certain
amounts of cash in the designated bank accounts for a specified
use, and therefore the cash disbursement from these accounts
is subjected to some restriction. As at 31 December 2021, such
guarantee deposits amounted to approximately RMB2,453,927,000
(2020: RMB1,007,161,000).

As at 31 December 2021, certain of the Group’s non-current time
deposits of RMB135,003,000 (2020: RMB71,389,000) were pledged
to banks as guarantees for mortgage facilities granted to purchasers
of the Group’s properties.

Besides, certain of the Group’s bank accounts of approximately
RMB64,110,000 (2020: RMB40,606,000) were pledged to banks for
the timely repayment of the loans as disclosed in note 33.

As at 31 December 2021, pursuant to relevant regulations in the
local government, certain of the Group’s non-current time deposits
amounted to approximately RMB10,000,000 (2020: Nil) were
required to place in designated bank accounts as guarantee deposits
for the construction of the related properties.

At the end of the reporting period, the cash and bank balances of
the Group denominated in RMB amounted to RMB7,526,824,000
(2020: RMB5,850,750,000). The RMB is not freely convertible into
other currencies, however, under Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange
Control Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale and
Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted
to exchange RMB for other currencies through banks authorised to
conduct foreign exchange business.
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31 December 2021
2021FE12831H
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BRI (8)

31 December 2021

20215128311

30. TRADE PAYABLES 30. BB ZAR™W

RERENEZ RN | S HREN
MEEA B ERIRE DTN

An ageing analysis of the Group’s trade payables as at the end of the
reporting period, based on the payment due dates, is as follows:

2021 2020

20214 20204

RMB’000 RMB’000

AREFT ARETFT

Within six months ~NMEB R 1,796,918 1,332,994
Over six months but within one year BENEAE—FER 291,426 99,063
Over one year B —F 43,200 55,226
2,131,544 1,487,283

The above balances are unsecured and interest-free and are normally
settled based on the progress of construction.

31. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

EHERDERRRRE R —RITE

FEEZR -

31. HthBIRIEREER

2021 2020

20214 2020£

RMB’000 RMB 000

ANBETFT NEHFT

Due to a non-controlling shareholder FEAT IR R RS BRIV FRIE 345,489 255,500
Deposits related to construction EREENZE 200,400 128,536
Receivables collected on behalf of other parties 7= & fth 75 & U [C] & U 3k 18 98,124 98,124
Guarantee deposits fREEE 55,881 46,044
Interest expenses accrued FEstH B 52,781 25,280
Other payables HAE A RIB 286,706 457,720
1,039,381 1,011,204

Other payables are unsecured, interest-free and have terms of 3 to
12 months.
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MR MtE (8)

31 December 2021
2021FE12831H

32. CONTRACT LIABILITIES 32. A E
2021 2020
20214 20204F
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETFT ARETT

Advances received from customers BWER AN 21,176,187 8,592,628
Contract liabilities represent sales proceeds received from buyers EHNEEERESMAEEYETE
in connection with the Group’s pre-sale of properties. As at 31 EBBNIEEMESRIE B E20214F
December 2021, the increase was primarily due to the pre-sale of 1283 1H ERTERNFRYETE
properties this year. o

33. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER 33. stEIRITREMBER
BORROWINGS

2021 2020
20214 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000

AREFT ANEETT

Group &
Current: BPHA -
Bank loans — secured RITER—FIKH 2,811,760 2,936,555
Other loans — secured HER—FEH 807,143 716,930
3,618,903 3,653,485
Non-current: JEBPAR -
Bank loans - secured RITER—FILH 10,310,077 9,261,944
Other loans — secured HER—FEH 3,064,881 2,578,000
13,374,958 11,839,944
16,993,861 15,493,429
Repayable: AR TEIEAREE
Within one year or on demand —E Py E K EF 3,618,903 3,653,485
Over one year but within two years ZR—FEBDORME 7,608,194 4,146,616
Over two years but within five years ZRMEBDRAE 4,715,491 6,482,697
Over five years EEMUE 1,051,273 1,210,631
16,993,861 15,493,429
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B mRMEE (8)
31 December 2021
2021%E12831H

33. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER 33. ;T ERITREMMBERR (&)

BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

Except for certain bank and other borrowings amounting to
RMB10,379,121,000 (2020: RMB1,207,120,000) that bear interest at
fixed rates, all bank loans bear interest at floating rates.

The Group’s bank and other borrowings bear interest at average

Sh A IRTTEM

BRETROREMBERABARKE
10,379,121,0007% (20204 : AE#E
1,207,120,0007T) HEEF X E
IFEAESTE o

RERBIRITREMBRIZUT T

effective interest rates as follows: BRFIEFE
2021 2020
20214 20204
Effective interest rates B RF = 6.20% 6.27%

The carrying amounts of all the Group’s borrowings during the year

AEBRFERMMAERNREED

were as follows: B
2021 2020
20214 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000
AEBEFT NBEFir
RMB loans and borrowings AEBBERRER 16,990,633 15,489,651
GBP loans and borrowings HIEER AR 3,228 3,778
16,993,861 15,493,429

Zhong An Group Limited 2021 Annual Report
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34.

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

MR MtE (8)

31 December 2021

2021%12A31H

INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER  33. :ER{ITREMMBER &
BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)
At 31 December 2021, the Group’s bank and other borrowings were F22021F12831H » REBEBIRITK
secured by: HMERBEUTEIER
2021 2020
byt 20214 20204
Notes RMB’000 RMB 000
ABEFT ANE¥FT
Carrying value of the Group’s AEBEEZR@EE
assets:
Investment properties KEYE 13 2,681,570 3,185,130
Properties under development BRI 14 24,188,953 8,989,476
Property and equipment LY EYE ] 12 1,185,490 1,236,965
Completed properties held for sale #H1EHE B Z Y 25 823,744 1,325,895
Restricted cash ZRHIIRS 29 64,110 40,606
100% equity interest in a subsidiary Z<%& & — &Y /& A 51100% /% 1
of the Group 40,000 40,000
28,083,867 14,818,072
At 31 December 2021, the Group’s borrowings of RMB50,000,000 FR20215128318 » REBEMBRA
(2020: RMB50,000,000) were guaranteed by Mr. Shi Zhongan (note R #£50,000,0007T (20204 : AR
39(c)). 50,000,0007t) F 22 fe LR (T
££39(c)) °
SHARE CAPITAL 34. g
Shares abl
2021 2020
20214 20204
’000 ‘000
FIT FT
Authorised: JERE

10,000,000,000 (2020: 10,000,000,000)
ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each

10,000,000,0008%
(20204 : 10,000,000,0000%)

HK$1,000,000

HK$1,000,000

SREECI10EB TN ER #751,000,000 E7t1,000,000
Issued and fully paid: BETRERE
5,635,809,800 (2020: 5,635,809,800) 5,635,809,800%
ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each (20204 : 5,635,809,300/%) RMB498,653 RMB498,653
SREEC.10B T B AR #498,653 A R£498,653

RLEBERAT
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B mRMEE (8)
31 December 2021
2021%E12831H

34. SHARE CAPITAL (CONTINUED) 34. g7 (&)
A summary of movements in the Company’s issued share capital is RN EBITRRAZ SEBMUT :
as follows:

Share

Share premium
capital account Total
A fein s B 1ot
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000

NRE T ANRE T ANRE T

At 31 December 2021 and 2020

122021 R20205F

498,653 2,989,383 3,488,036

35. SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company operates a share option scheme (the “Scheme”)
for the purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible
participants who contribute to the success of the Group’s
operations. Eligible participants of the Scheme include the directors,
including independent non-executive directors, other employees of
the Group, suppliers of goods or services to the Group, customers of
the Group, the Company’s shareholders, third parties, and any non-
controlling shareholder in the Company’s subsidiaries. The Scheme
became effective on 15 May 2009 and, unless otherwise cancelled or
amended, will remain in force for 10 years from the offer date.

Zhong An Group Limited 2021 Annual Report
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

35. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (CONTINUED)

The initial maximum number of shares which may be allotted and
issued upon exercise of all options granted (excluding options which
have lapsed in accordance with the terms of the Scheme and other
share option schemes of the Group, if any) under the Scheme and
other share option schemes of the Group (if any) must not exceed
10% of the shares of the Company in issue as at 15 May 2009,
being the date of approval of the Scheme by the shareholders at the
annual general meeting of the Company. Such maximum number
may however be refreshed at a general meeting of the Company
by shareholders. In addition, no options may be granted under the
Scheme or other share option schemes adopted by the Group (if
any) if the grant of such options will result in the maximum number
of shares which may be allotted and issued upon exercise of all
outstanding options granted but yet to be exercised under the
Scheme and other share option schemes adopted by the Group
(if any) exceeding 30% of the issued share capital of the Company
from time to time. The maximum number of shares issuable under
share options to each eligible participant in the Scheme within any
12-month period is limited to 1% of the shares of the Company in
issue at any time. Any further grant of share options in excess of this
limit is subject to shareholders’ approval in a general meeting.

Share options granted to a director, chief executive or substantial
shareholder of the Company, or to any of their associates, are subject
to approval in advance by the independent non-executive directors.
In addition, any share options granted to a substantial shareholder or
an independent non-executive director of the Company, or to any of
their associates, in excess of 0.1% of the shares of the Company in
issue at any time or with an aggregate value (based on the price of
the Company’s shares at the date of grant) in excess of HK$5 million,
within any 12-month period, are subject to shareholders’ approval in
advance in a general meeting.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted by the grantee
within 21 days from the date of offer at a consideration of HK$1.00.
The exercise period of the share options granted is determinable by
the directors, and commences after a vesting period of one to five
years and ends on a date which is not later than 10 years from the
date of offer of the share options or the expiry date of the Scheme, if
earlier.

35.
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31 December 2021

20215128311

35. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (CONTINUED)

The exercise price of share options is determinable by the directors,
but may not be less than the highest of:

(i) the Stock Exchange closing price of the Company’s shares on
the date of offer of the share options;

(i)  the average Stock Exchange closing price of the Company’s
shares for the five trading days immediately preceding the date
of offer; and

(i) the nominal value of a share of the Company.

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to dividends or to
vote at shareholders’ meetings.

The following share options were outstanding under the Scheme

35. MEhetEstE (48)

BREZTEERESET  EFH
BRUTES

) TRIROEBREZLNEE
TEMR PR 2 W 1B 5

i) FTREARMGREZZHEHA
LEEXEBEMNZ I
e ; &

(i)  FABDERERMHPOEE-

BRErERFRFAAZARENN
RERE EREZHER -

FERZtEIETHRTERREND

during the year: K
2021 2020
Weighted 2021 Weighted 2020
average Number average Number
exercise price of options exercise price of options
20215 20205
T 20215 LR RE| 20205
168 fEREHE 1B fERe YA
HK$ HK$
per share ‘000 per share ‘000
BRAET T SRET F17
At 1 January K818 0.87 172,400 0.87 172,400
Expired during the year FREIH 0.93 (121,400) = =
At 31 December 128318 0.73 51,000 0.87 172,400
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35. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (CONTINUED)

The exercise prices and exercise periods of the share options
outstanding as at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

2021

MR MtE (8)

31 December 2021
2021FE12831H

35. MEhetEstE (48)

REBEHRHERITEBREZTEE
FATERRWT

20214

Number of options

Exercise price*

Exercise period

BREHE TEE  1TEH
‘000 per share
F7 e
51,000 HK$0.73 10 July 2013 to 9 July 2023
0.738757t 20135F7H10H F£2023%F7H9H
2020 20204

Number of options

Exercise price*

Exercise period

EREHE TEE. 17
‘000 per share
F15 (=5
51,000 HK$0.73 10 July 2013 to 9 July 2023
0.73%87c 2013F7H10HZE2023F7H9H
121,400 HK$0.93 22 January 2014 to 21 January 2021
0.93%87c 2014F1H22HZE2021F1821H
172,400

*

The exercise price of the share options is subject to adjustment in

the case of rights or bonus issues, or other similar changes in the

Company’s share capital.

The Group recognised no share option expense under the Scheme
during the year ended 31 December 2021 (2020: Nil).

© O RENTEEE R AR ET
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31 December 2021
2021%E12831H

35.

36.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (CONTINUED)

The expected life of the options is the validity of the options upon
the grant date and until expiry. It is not necessarily indicative of the
exercise patterns that may occur. The suboptimal exercise behaviour
multiple is applied to the exercise price, and indicates the stock price
at which the holders of the option may exercise prior to expiration.
The expected volatility reflects the assumption that the historical
volatility is indicative of future trends, which may also not necessarily
be the actual outcome.

No other feature of the options granted was incorporated into the
measurement of fair value.

The Company had no (2020: Nil) share options exercised during the
year.

At the end of the reporting period, the Company had 51,000,000
share options outstanding under the Scheme. The exercise in full
of the outstanding share options would, under the present capital
structure of the Company, result in the issue of 51,000,000 additional
ordinary shares of the Company and additional share capital of
RMB4,170,000 (before issue expenses).

RESERVES
(@) Share premium

The share premium represents the excess of ordinary shares
paid by the shareholders over their nominal value.

(b) Contributed surplus

The contributed surplus of the Group represents the difference
between the aggregate of the nominal value of the paid-
up capital of the subsidiaries acquired pursuant to the
reorganisation of the Group from 2006 to 2007 for the purpose
of preparation for the listing of the shares of the Company on
the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong, and the
nominal value of the Company’s shares issued in exchange
therefor. Prior to the incorporation of the Company, the
contributed surplus represented the aggregate of the nominal
values of the paid-up capital of the subsidiaries of the Group.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

36. RESERVES (CONTINUED)

(©)

Capital reserve

Capital reserve represents the additional contribution made
by the shareholders of the Company’s subsidiaries and, in the
case of acquisition of an additional non-controlling interest of a
subsidiary, the difference between the cost of acquisition and
the book value of the non-controlling interest acquired.

Statutory surplus reserve and statutory reserve
fund

In accordance with the Company Law of the PRC and the
respective articles of association of the PRC group companies,
each of the subsidiaries of the Group that is domiciled in
Mainland China is required to allocate 10% of its profit after
tax, as determined in accordance with the PRC Accounting
Regulations, to the statutory surplus reserve (the “SSR”) until
such reserve reaches 50% of its registered capital.

In addition, certain of the PRC group companies are foreign
investment enterprises which are not subject to the SSR
allocation. According to the relevant PRC regulations applicable
to foreign investment enterprises, each of these subsidiaries
is required to allocate a certain portion (not less than 10%) of
its profit after tax, as determined in accordance with the PRC
Accounting Regulations, to the statutory reserve fund until such
reserve reaches 50% of its registered capital.

MR MtE (8)

31 December 2021
2021FE12831H

36. f#E (&)
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B mRMEE (8)
31 December 2021
2021%E12831H

37. DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY 37. HE—RIWEAT
2021
Ktz 20214
Notes RMB’000
AR#EFT
Net assets disposed of: HEBEEFEE .
Property and equipment LY EYe 4] 12 66,086
Cash and cash equivalents REMIREEEY 56
Prepayments, other receivables and AT EthER B R EtMEE
other assets 1,600
Trade receivables B 5 eI 19
Inventory 58 1,291
Trade payables B2 EAmIE (36,331)
Other payables and accruals HthEARIBRESTER (8,862)
Contract liabilities aHaE (5)
23,854
Loss on disposal of a subsidiary HE—TEHRB AR ZEIE 6 (23,854)

Satisfied by:
Consideration

wEA
HE
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MR MtE (8)

31 December 2021
2021FE12831H

37. DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY (CONTINUED) 37. HE—RMMBARE (&
2020
izt 20204
Notes RMB 000
NEEFT
Net assets disposed of: HEEEFEE !
Property and equipment MR E 12 168
Cash and cash equivalents REMIREEEY 2,112
Completed properties held for sale FIELENBEMYZE 25 74,142
Prepayments, other receivables and other AR At ER R IE R E &S E
assets 246,043
Long term prepayments RHBFENRIB 4,397
Trade payables B SN RIE (17,181)
Other payables and accruals HMEARIE KR ESTE R (26,208)
Contract liabilities aHaE (9,829)
Tax payable FE(ITRIE (76,929)
Non-controlling interests FEER R (95,496)
101,219
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE—ENE AR W 5 84,937
186,156
Satisfied by: EEA
Waiver of liabilities* HeaE 186,156
* The disposal of the subsidiary is non-cash transaction as disclosed o HE KB AT 2 M 5E38(a)Fr i B2 Y
in note 38(a). JFRERH
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31 December 2021

20215128311

37. DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY (CONTINUED) 37. HE—MHMEBAE (4&B)
An analysis of the net outflow of cash and cash equivalents in respect AL E—HERBARNRERRE
of the disposal of a subsidiary is as follows: EEWZERHATUWT :
2021 2020
20214 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETFT AERETT

Cash consideration REHE - =
Cash and cash equivalents disposed of a HE—BHBABSMNIRER
subsidiary HEEEY (56) 2,112

Net outflow of cash and cash equivalents in ~ BRIHE—FEIRBATNIRES K
respect of the disposal of a subsidiary BEEFEY R FEE (56) (2,112)

38. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 38. &fHIE&HE&RM =
OF CASH FLOWS

(@) Major non-cash transactions @ TEIFRERH
During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group had REZE2021FE12831HIEE
non-cash additions to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities B AEER2021F12831H
of RMB73,687,000 and RMB73,687,000 as at 31 December MERREREZHEZBIFR
2021, respectively, in respect of lease arrangements for EAREBEEFAREEKREES
property and equipment (2020: RMB45,487,000 and BN RA ANEHT73,687,0007T
RMB45,487,000). The Group had non-cash transactions R ANER®73,687,0007T (2020
related with disposal of a subsidiary as disclosed in note F: NR#545,487,000c K A B
37 and non-cash transactions related with disposal of lease #%45,487,0007T) ° A& B A R
liabilities as disclosed in note 15, respectively. HE—BRBARNIERER

SIWBERMW 37 UREBEREE
EREEENIFREXSFHE
RHIEE150
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38. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT

(b)

38.

MR MtE (8)

31 December 2021
2021FE12831H

aHRERERME

OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED) (#&)
Changes in financial liabilities arising from b MEIBFMEEESMER
financing activities 2 EE)
Interest-
bearing bank
and other Lease
borrowings liabilities
HERITR
HmEE HeasE
RMB’000 RMB’000
ANEHFT ANEHFT
At 1 January 2021 2021F181H 15,493,429 382,789
Changes from financing cash flows MERESREESH) 1,500,432 (40,135)
New leases miEE - 73,687
Disposals HE - (226,965)
Interest expense A EREX - 10,494
Interest paid classified as operating DEAREHEREL
cash flows BFE - (10,494)
At 31 December 2021 72021F12H31H 16,993,861 189,376
At 1 January 2020 7120201818 7,220,775 370,603
Changes from financing cash flows MERERELE 8,272,654 (33,301)
New leases MEE - 45,487
Interest expense B = 16,344
Interest paid classified as operating DERAKEREREZ
cash flows BENHE - (16,344)
At 31 December 2020 7202012831 H 15,493,429 382,789

Total cash outflow for leases

The total cash outflow for leases included in the statement of

© MEEZREMHNEEE

SARESREXRZEAEHRER

cash flows is as follows: HABZEAN T -
2021 2020
20214 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT AERBTFT
Within operating activities R RS E N 10,494 16,344
Within financing activities ERE RN HE A 40,135 33,301
50,629 49,645
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B mRMEE (8)
31 December 2021
2021%E12831H

39. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

39. FABA RS

40.

In addition to the transactions and balances detailed elsewhere in
these consolidated financial statements, the Group had the following
material transactions with related parties during the year:

(@)

Compensation of key management personnel of the Group
which comprises the remuneration of the directors is disclosed
in note 8.

Except for loan to joint ventures and associates and advance
from joint ventures and associates, which were unsecured
and interest-free and repayable on demand, the Group had
no other balance due from/to related parties at 31 December
2021 and 2020.

As disclosed in note 33, the Group’s borrowings of
RMB50,000,000 (2020: RMB50,000,000) of the Group were
guaranteed by Mr. Shi Zhongan at 31 December 2021 at nil
consideration.

COMMITMENTS

The Group had the following commitments for property development
expenditure at the end of the reporting period:

40.

BRI HUBRERMIKENRZ RS
BRON REEPRENERRB S ETT
TIERRS :

@ AEEZZEEASHHFH (8
BEFRF) SO ESIKEE

() KEeErtEREEEERME
BRRFEEEPERBE D
ENBIINAEEE - RER
BRBREERI R2021F K
20205128310 » A& & Il &
HAhpEUR e RS /5 4R o

() UM EE33FTIFEE > 7220214
12B31H AEBEEBRARK
50,000,0007T (20204 : AR#E
50,000,0007T) HA A 22 St 4
BIERo

R

REBEEHR  AEEMBEEREX
A RIEU T :

2021 2020
2021% 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT ARETFT

Contracted, but not provided for: B AEREE
Properties under development ek ES 6,750,818 2,186,067
Acquisition of a joint venture WE—EaEhzx 233,200 331,200
6,984,018 2,517,267
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

41. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

(@)

Mortgage facilities granted by banks

The Group provided guarantees in respect of the mortgage
facilities granted by certain banks to the purchasers of the
Group’s properties. Pursuant to the terms of the guarantee
arrangements, in case of default on mortgage payments by
the purchasers, the Group is responsible for repaying the
outstanding mortgage loans together with any accrued interest
and penalty owed by the defaulted purchasers to the banks.
The Group is then entitled to take over the legal titles of the
related properties. The Group’s guarantee periods commence
from the dates of grant of the relevant mortgage loans and
end after the execution of individual purchasers’ collateral
agreements.

The Group did not incur any material losses during the
reporting period in respect of the guarantees provided for
mortgage facilities granted to the purchasers of the Group’s
properties. The directors consider that in case of default on
payments, the net realisable value of the related properties
can cover the repayment of the outstanding mortgage
loans together with any accrued interest and penalty, and
therefore no provision has been made in connection with the
guarantees.

MR MtE (8)

31 December 2021
2021FE12831H

4. HBEEE

@

IRTTIRMH I ER

AEEMRETRTAETERY
FHNERRHNZIBEELA
ER - RBERZHHRR HE
SRAEEERIGNIE  AEEA
BEEMIBTEEE KGR
THRIBER KRB E KR
S o AEEH B AR WARRE
MENTIEPTA R - REEAVE
REAE R HAAR RIS E A #3
%§1BU§?KETTL¢&W%§%T§

PR A RS @ L A S
BEYMENERER THRIBE
EFFfREMERMELEEMNE
RE51R - BRI W HIRAREE
BREIET BRIV R D] 217
FERUERG THIRIBEMR
RAEfRIFE ST B R &1k > FE I
B ZFRRFLEE-

2021 2020
20214 20204
RMB’000 RMB 000
AEREFT ARETFT
Guarantees given to banks for: MU TIEEA T IRITHER -
Mortgage facilities granted to REBRYEBRERIET
purchasers of the Group’s BIRE™
properties 7,438,234 4,933,415
Claim arising from the litigation b FREEZRE

As disclosed in note 19, China New City Commercial
Development Limited (“the Subsidiary”) allotted and issued
178,280,000 shares to Hangzhou Oriental Culture Tourism
Group Co., Ltd. (“the Seller”) for the purpose of acquiring
22.65% of equity interests in Zhejiang Xinnongdu Industrial Co.,
Ltd. ("XND”) under the equity transfer agreement announced
on 20 July 2018 (“the Transaction”). However, the Seller had
filed a lawsuit against the Subsidiary to cancel the Transaction.
The Subsidiary had lost the lawsuit in the first trial verdict, and
had appealed to higher court. Currently, the lawsuit is still in
process. The directors, based on the advice from the Group’s
legal counsel, believe that they have a valid defence against the
allegation in their appeal to higher court, and have not provided
for the claim arising from litigation, other than the related legal
and other costs.

9N B 5E1OPT 4R B > o BT 4 T
BEZERAERAE ((WBAR
8l1) ATMNERA XIEERESE
BERAR (TE75)) Ao ke
13178,280,0008% f 15 » FB LR
2018575200 A HHIRRHEHE
ERERBIOINEEEXSR
RaE (HhEH) 122.65%8
# (x25)) -AM> BXERN
BRBRENRNR BREUHR
ZoMBAR—FHRAMGFILE
m&E AR Eif o B A &
M TEETT - RBAEBARR
BINER EERR KEFEN
FEREFERRE LR Z
IBEET A MR B H KRR
SAEEERYR SR 44 o EABRE
AR R E AR AR o
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
BRI (8)

31 December 2021
2021%E12831H

42. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 42. BB EMTA
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial FHEEMTARSBREHAERNEREEN
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows: T 3
2021 20214

Financial assets
at fair value Financial assets

through other at fair value

comprehensive through

income profit or loss
BAREE

STEAHEZE HanEE
AN GHEREEH
EEKEN STAREN

EHMEE EHEE
Financial
assets at Mandatorily
amortised Equity designated
cost investments as such Total
REBHERE
5llARRY
EHEE EEkE HIETE EHy
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

AREFT ARETFT ARETFT ARETT

Financial assets EREE
Equiity investments designated at fair value through  $5TE A#A A EBESE
other comprehensive income BEEEH AHM
E2ENENEGRRE - 504,131 - 504,131
Financial assets included in long term prepayments 5t A EEATE AT FUHY
EREE 92,711 - - 92,711
Trade receivables B REWNFIE 113,329 - - 113,329
Financial assets at fair value through profit orloss A A BEERE
#Est ABEMN
SHEE - - 132,795 132,795
Loans to joint ventures AEELEEN 462,872 - - 462,872
Loans to associates BBERARER 779,135 - - 779,135
Financial assets included in prepayments, other st A BT 2 EL A FELR
receivables and other assets HEREMEEN
EHEE 1,164,539 - - 1,164,539
Restricted cash RREIRE 2,663,040 - - 2,663,040
Cash and cash equivalents ReMEEEEY 5,232,657 - - 5,232,657
At 31 December 2021 1R2021E12831H 10,508,283 504,131 132,795 11,145,209
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42. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

MR MtE (8)

31 December 2021

2021%12A31H

42. LERESNERTA (8)

(CONTINUED)
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial FHEEMTARSBRESHAERNEREEND
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows: T @
(continued)
2021 20214
Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost
¥ 2 B s
5l AR EY
ERa%E
RMB’000
AREFT
Financial liabilities ERAE
Trade payables FE{T E 5 AR 2,131,544
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings st EIRIT R EMER 16,993,861
Financial liabilities included in other payables and FAEMBENTIBERESERTHN
accruals THEE 988,856
Lease liabilities HEaE 189,376
Advances from joint ventures HEPERR 768,306
Advances from associates =R 374,257
At 31 December 2021 122021F12831H 21,446,200

REEBERAT T —FEFRK
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
BRI (8)

31 December 2021
2021%E12831H

42. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 42. UM SN E/M T A (8)

(CONTINUED)

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial ZHEcMTARRSHARNEREEN
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows: )

(continued)

2020 20204

Financial assets
at fair value  Financial assets

through other at fair value
comprehensive through
income profit or loss
BAREBE
HTEREE MAREE
SAHM  FEAHEH
2ENEN HABEN
TREE THEE
Financial
assets at Mandatorily
amortised Equity designated
cost investments as such Total
R A
FIRMNERMEE BREE REEE &t
RMB 000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB 000
NEBEFT NEBEFT NEEFT NEEFr
Financial assets EREE
Equiity investments designated at fair value through $5TE A#A A BESE
other comprehensive income BEEHH AHM
E2ENGENEGRRE - 539,922 - 539,922
Financial assets included in long term prepayments 5t A RAFFE(TFH
SHEE 96,104 - - 96,104
Trade receivables B ENIE 84,717 = = 84,717
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss A A BEEBE
EH ABEN
EHEE - - 109,618 109,618
Loans to joint ventures BAAELEER 544,886 - - 544,886
Financial assets included in prepayments, other 5t ATE{I 7~ EL A FELL
receivables and other assets HEREMEEN
SHMEE 1,773,116 - - 1,773,116
Restricted cash ZRARE 1,119,156 - - 1,119,156
Cash and cash equivalents RERBEEEY 4,792,545 - - 4,792,545
At 31 December 2020 R2020%12831H 8,410,524 539,922 109,618 9,060,064
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42. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

MR MtE (8)

31 December 2021
2021FE12831H

42. LERESNERTA (8)

(CONTINUED)
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial ZHEcMTARKRSHARNEREEN
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows: T @
(continued)
2020 20205
Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost
PR P AN
HIEREY
B =N
RMB’000
ANEHFT
Financial liabilities TRIBE
Trade payables EANP=RZE A 1,487,283
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings 5T EIRIT M EMER 15,493,429
Financial liabilities included in other payables and sTAE S RUR K st 8 AR
accruals TRIBE 903,385
Lease liabilities HEa®E 382,789
Advances from joint ventures HEPERR 408,703
Advances from associates NS 19,600
At 31 December 2020 7202012831 H 18,695,189
RLEBMBRLAE —T-—FFR
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BRI (8)

31 December 2021
2021%E12831H

43. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The carrying amounts and fair values of the Group’s financial
instruments, other than those with carrying amounts that reasonably
approximate to fair values, are as follows:

43. TR IANAREBERAR

BEERE

FERSRMTENKREERANEE
W EREEREARBEGERS
EERON

Carrying amounts Fair values
IREE AREE
2021 2020 2021 2020
20214 2020F 20214 2020
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB 000
ABEFT ANRETFT AEEFT ANEEFT
Financial liabilities THEaR

Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings st ESRTREMER 16,993,861 15,493,429 16,110,168 14,906,636

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and cash
equivalents, the current portion of restricted cash, trade receivables,
loans to joint ventures, loans to associates, trade payables, financial
assets included in prepayments, other receivables and other assets,
advances from joint ventures, advances from associates and financial
liabilities included in other payables and accruals approximate to their
carrying amounts largely due to the short term maturities of these
instruments.

The fair values of the non-current portions of restricted cash, financial
assets included in long term prepayments, financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss and financial assets at fair value through
other comprehensive income have been calculated by discounting
the expected future cash flows using rates currently available for
instruments with similar terms, credit risk and remaining maturities.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are included
at the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a
current transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced or
liquidation sale. The following methods and assumptions were used
to estimate the fair values:

The fair values of the interest-bearing bank and other borrowings
have been calculated by discounting the expected future cash flows
using rates currently available for instruments with similar terms,
credit risk and remaining maturities.

Zhong An Group Limited 2021 Annual Report
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

43. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

The fair values of listed equity investments are based on quoted
market prices. The fair values of unlisted equity investments
designated at fair value through other comprehensive income, have
been estimated using a market-based valuation technique based on
assumptions that are not supported by observable market prices or
rates. The valuation requires the directors to determine comparable
public companies (peers) based on industry, size, leverage and
strategy, and to calculate an appropriate price multiple, such as
price to book ratio (“P/B”) multiple and price to earnings (“P/E”)
multiple, for each comparable company identified. The multiple
is calculated by dividing the enterprise value of the comparable
company by an earnings measure. The trading multiple is then
discounted for considerations such as illiquidity and size differences
between the comparable companies based on company-specific
facts and circumstances. The discounted multiple is applied to the
corresponding earnings measure of the unlisted equity investments
to measure the fair value. The directors believe that the estimated
fair values resulting from the valuation technique, which are recorded
in the consolidated statement of financial position, and the related
changes in fair values, which are recorded in other comprehensive
income, are reasonable, and that they were the most appropriate
values at the end of the reporting period.

For the fair value of the unlisted equity investments at fair value
through other comprehensive income, management has estimated
the potential effect of using reasonably possible alternatives as inputs
to the valuation model.

43.

MR MtE (8)

31 December 2021
2021FE12831H

THMIANARBERAR
BEEXRE (@

BRARBEFEN LHRERENE
KRBT EFE - EER/RAAEE
StEEHEFF AR MEEWERIIF
EHRERENAABERAERS
SR ERMEE > ZEERMTER
FRETBREN TS ER A R H R
REEEREFGRBETE - RE
B ERNBEEER L EHAE (A
¥) U BT —EEENF LA
BHNERLEX (HERXETE
) BN E LT ERRKALAF
NEEEERUANESE AREE
AERENSFEMNE R TREALE
AEZERZABMNREERSTH
FOHXSEEETINR - RITRE
HEANIF Lm iR BRI G
StE U EEARBE -BEFIR
EEHMBFREPCBROGERME
ERNEHRARBEUAKREEMEEK
mAEEHER AN BEESESE
B EEEMERESHREREENE
=K

HRNBARBESEEEEH S AR
theERENIFETRERENAR
BE EEECRGERTHNERS
HERGERERA -
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31 December 2021
2021%E12831H

43. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF 43.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Set out below is a summary of significant unobservable inputs to
the valuation of financial instruments together with a quantitative
sensitivity analysis as at 31 December 2021 and 2020:

SHMIANARBERAR
fEEZEMH ()
LURTEE20214F 5202058128 31

AT AEGENERTTRESR
ABBERESHREDTHHE

Significant
Valuation unobservable
technique inputs Range Sensitivity of fair value to the input
EARTHE
fh{ER M BARIE #[E ARBEHBABBENSRE
RMB'000
ANERETF T
Unlisted equity Valuation Average P/B 2021: 1.6 5% (2020: 5%) increase/decrease in
investments multiples multiple of peers (2020: 1.6) multiple would result in increase/
decrease in fair value by 16,753 (2020:
17,914)
FLmEREE HEBH R FmiRE 20214 1 1.6 EEILIN,/R5% (20204 : 5%)
EH (2020 1 1.6)  BERAMEEELM,HI16,753
(20204 : 17,914)
Discount for lack of 2021: 25% 5% (2020: 5%) increase/decrease in
marketability (2020: 25%) discount would result in decrease/

TR 3

5 i AR

20214 : 25%
(20204 : 25%)

The discount for lack of marketability represents the amounts of
premiums and discounts determined by the Group that market
participants would take into account when pricing the investments.

All financial instruments for which fair value is recognised or disclosed
are categorised within the fair value hierarchy described as follows
based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value

measurement as a whole:

Quoted market prices in an active market (that are

Valuation techniques (for which the lowest level input

that is significant to the fair value measurement is

Level 1 -

unadjusted) for identical assets or liabilities
Level 2 -

directly or indirectly observable)
Level 3 -

Valuation techniques (for which the lowest level input

that is significant to the fair value measurement is

unobservable)
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increase in fair value by 5,584 (2020:
5 ,971)

g0,/ 5% (20204 © 5%)
A%tﬁz NAEBERD 05,584
(20204 : 5,971)

FAZ I RE T R e N R E AY
TH2AERREEERE BE
BRI

BREIRIEENABENE SR

TEARRABERENDE WA

o BERBAABENEEREMS

HEEANRBEERBAMERT :

F—Hh — EEABEEREBRIERE
MIZENTIHRE CREKHA
)

FH — HELE EHTEZAE
BERNRAAEETE
BEARENREBER
B A)

F=H — HELERATERA
AREEFEBEARLE
HREZRBEA)
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MR MtE (8)

31 December 2021
2021FE12831H

43. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF 43. THTEAMNARBERAR

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) BEZRE (&)

Fair value hierarchy NAEEZE

All the above financial assets and liabilities had Level 2 inputs other FELihcmEERBEERS 4K
than the financial assets at fair value through profit or loss and equity WA ERARNBEFABENER
investment designated at fair value through other comprehensive BEEABF SRR AKRIEEARAR
income which had Level 1 and Level 3 inputs respectively. The fair BEEAEFARMEZEARENER
value hierarchy of investment properties is disclosed in note 13 to the KEABE=RBARII -REYE
financial statements. HNAREEREREN T BRI

130

The following table illustrates the fair value measurement hierarchy of TRITAEBEHMTENRABE
the Group’s financial instruments: STE%RE

Fair value measurement using

ARBEFERAAE
Quoted

prices in Significant Significant

active observable unobservable

markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total

G ia ERTHZR ERRA

RE Yk BzyR
F— B B=R @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ABBFT ABEFRT AREFRT AREFRT

Financial assets at fair value through MAnEEstEEE
profit or loss 2E): AEHEREN
EHEE 132,795 - - 132,795
Equity investments designated at fair value through 15/ A% A A BE
other comprehensive income SAHMEENEN
BakE - - 504,131 504,131
As at 31 December 2021 12021%E12831H 132,795 - 504,131 636,926
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BRI (8)

31 December 2021

20215128311

43.

44.

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Fair value hierarchy (continued)

43.

THMIANARBERAR
BEEXRE (@

AREERE (@

Fair value measurement using

PRBESERMAL A
Quoted
prices in Significant Significant
active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
EBTS BAAEER BART
RE iz BRYE
B ] E=R st
RMB 000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB 000
ANBETFT ANBETFT ANEETFT ANEEFT
Financial assets at fair value through MAnEEstEEE
profit or loss 2E): A EHEREN
EHEE 109,618 - - 109,618
Equity investments designated at fair value through 35 A% A A EEE A
other comprehensive income Hith2mamm
BakE = - 539,922 539,922
As at 31 December 2020 12020%F12831H 109,618 - 539,922 649,540

During the reporting period, there were no transfers of fair value
measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers into or
out of Level 3.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise cash and
cash equivalents, restricted cash, lease liabilities and interest-
bearing bank and other borrowings. The main purpose of these
financial instruments is to raise finance for the Group’s operations.
The Group has various other financial assets and liabilities such as
trade receivables and trade payables, which arise directly from its
operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are
interest rate risk, foreign currency risk, credit risk and liquidity risk.
The Group does not hold or issue derivative financial instruments for
trading purposes. The board of directors reviews and agrees policies
for managing each of these risks and they are summarised below:
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44. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

MR MtE (8)

31 December 2021
2021FE12831H

4. BHFERAKEEBERKE

AND POLICIES (CONTINUED) (&)

(@) Interest rate risk @) FIEREE
The Group has no significant interest-bearing assets. The AEBLTEBAFEEE R
Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market interest EEMTIEHEEEHPTATH
rates relates primarily to the Group’s bank and other B EZRAERNT ERIT
borrowings with floating interest rates. The Group has not used REMERBRE ~EEXE

any interest rate swaps to hedge its interest rate risk.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to change
in interest rates, with all other variables held constant, of
the Group’s profit before tax (through the impact on floating
rate borrowings) and the Group’s equity, assuming all the
increases or decreases are dealt with in profit or loss, without
consideration of interest capitalisation.

EREMF RS A P EA X
JE R o

TRINEFNERBEGH T BBF
BHEREENTE  2EER
750 A1 1) 8 e 7 £ [ 2 B BRURK
E FrAEMERFRERE I
R &% P A 8 N SR A iR AR I AR
B> BFREEHBEAIL) -

(Decrease)/
Increase/ increase (Decrease)/
(decrease) in in profit increase
basis points before tax in equity
HEs B AR A AT HE
gm, G GRZ) /38 GRe2L) /3&hn
RMB’000 RMB’000
ANEHEFT ANEEFT
2021 20214
RMB AR 50 (61,793) (46,345)
RMB AR (50) 61,793 46,345
2020 20205
RMB AR 50 (50,124) (37,593)
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44. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(b) Foreign currency risk

The Group has transactional currency exposures. Such
exposures arise from sales or purchases by operating units and
financing activities in currencies other than the units’ functional
currencies.

In addition, the Group has currency exposures from its interest-
bearing bank borrowings.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the end of
the reporting period to a reasonably possible change in the
US$ and HK$ exchange rates, with all other variables hold
constant, of the Group’s profit before tax and the Group’s

(ﬂ‘;‘ﬂ P EERBRKREE

(o)

HINEE LB

REBEARZRZHEEERER-
ZERRMOCEREB MK
niﬁé@]uiulﬂ E& ¥ LLSh
Z2EETER

UESh > A5 H i B2k B B 5T R
IRITEMBIE IR

T RIT A& B R A R
AEERENREHAREET
Fe 7 70 B 2 & 32 B Sk B4 B A B
RE FrEEMAI2AZFRES

equity. &) o
Increase/ Increase/
(decrease) (decrease) Increase/
in foreign in profit (decrease)
currency rate before tax in equity
MRS BRAR G FI T
G i, GRL) i, GR)
% RMB’000 RMB’000
NEEFT ANEEFT
2021 20214
If HK$ weakens against US$ WARITRETEZE 5 1,278 959
If HK$ strengthens against US$  feBt R =T E (5) (1,278) (959)
2020 20204
If HK$ weakens against US$ B TRETRE 5 6,910 5,182
If HK$ strengthens against US$ {88t R ETHHE (5) (6,910) (5,182)
(c) Credit risk © EERE
The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy SEEETEZIITRES

third parties. It is the Group’s policy that all customers who

REFHNE=FETT

wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit verification
procedures. In addition, receivable balances are monitored on
an ongoing basis and the Group’s exposure to bad debts is
not significant.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

MR MtE (8)

31 December 2021
2021FE12831H

44. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 4. BHEEREEEEBERER

AND POLICIES (CONTINUED) (&)

(c) Credit risk (continued) © EERR @
Maximum exposure and year-end staging BRA B R O B AR P B
The tables below shows the credit quality and the maximum TRETREAEEBGSEERE
exposure to credit risk based on the Group’s credit policy, NEEEERREAEE AR
which is mainly based on past due information unless other D EFEENBEARER
information is available without undue cost or effort, and year- HEHMENSBENHAIKE
end staging classification as at 31 December. The amounts B AL AR A ERIG & K
presented are gross carrying amounts for financial assets and BBRIN U128 31 B E
the exposure to credit risk for the financial guarantee contracts. RIEEDE-FIZ2INEER

TRIBEENGREERMBE
REMNEERR RO

12-month ECLs

As at 31 December 2021 128 B &L Lifetime ECLs
120215128315 FEFE HRBEERA
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
& BIME F=PEE [kl st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETT ARETT AREFT ARETT AREFT

Trade receivables* FEWE 5 IR - - - 119,608 119,608
Loans to joint ventures AEEEEER 462,872 - - - 462,872
Loans to associates REE AT ER 779,135 - - - 779,135
Financial assets included in ABAR EftEK

prepayments, other receivables  FIBREMBER

and other assets TREE

- Not yet past due — MR 1,164,539 - - - 1,164,539
Financial assets included inlong st AREATE T

term prepayment EREE

— Not yet past due e Nk 92,711 - - - 92,711
Restricted cash ZREIRE

— Not yet past due —HRBE 2,663,040 - - - 2,663,040
Cash and cash equivalents RERREEEY

— Not yet past due — AR 5,232,657 - - - 5,232,657

10,394,954 - - 119,608 10,514,562
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
BRI (8)

31 December 2021

20215128311

44. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 4. BHEREEEEBERER
(48)

AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(c) Credit risk (continued)

Maximum exposure and year-end staging (continued)

©

EERE (@

RAEREM O R FERER (&)

12-month ECLs

As at 31 December 2020 1285 T8 Lifetime ECLs
2020125315 FEEA 2HRBEEER
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
F—MEE BIREE F=RE [kl @t
RMB000 RMB’000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB'000

ARETT ANRETT

ARETT ARETT ANRETT

Trade receivables® UL B 3R - - - 84,717 84,717
Loans to joint ventures AREREER 544,886 - - - 544,886
Financial assets included in AR EftFEK

prepayments, other receivables  FIBREMEEN

and other assets EHEE

~ Not yet past due e N 1,773,116 - - - 1,773,116
Financial assets included in long 5t AREITEITFEY

term prepayment TREE

— Not yet past due —EREHA 96,104 - - - 96,104
Restricted cash XRHRE

— Not yet past due —HREE 1,119,156 = - = 1,119,156
Cash and cash equivalents RERREEEY

- Not yet past due — MR 4,792,545 - - - 4,792,545

8,325,807 - - 84,717 8,410,524

For trade receivables to which the Group applies the
simplified approach for impairment, information is disclosed
in note 27 to the financial statements.

(d) Liquidity risk

The Group monitors its risk to a shortage of funds using a
recurring liquidity planning tool. This tool considers the maturity
of both its financial instruments and financial assets (e.g., trade
receivables) and projected cash flows from operations.

The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between
continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of lease
liabilities, bank and other borrowings.
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44. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 44,

AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(d)

Liguidity risk (continued)

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

MR MtE (8)

31 December 2021
2021FE12831H

The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as at
the end of the reporting period, based on the contractual

MHEEAREEBRERER

(%)

@ A

ExERE (@

RBFTMRBRGTR £EH
TRBENRSHARNERAA

undiscounted payments, is as follows: BERUT
2021 20214
Less than 3to
3 months or less than 1to5 Over 5
on demand 12 months years years Total
Gz e 3ERE
BEX DiM2(ER 1E5% 5EL E st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT ARETT AREFT ANRETFT AREFT
Interest-bearing bank and S ERTREMBR
other borrowings 63,840 3,555,063 12,323,685 1,051,273 16,993,861
Interest payable in relation to BHRTREMBERN
bank and other borrowings FEFIS 78,086 212,960 257,601 60,164 608,811
Advances from joint ventures BELERD 632,549 135,757 - - 768,306
Advances from associates YNGR 211,057 163,200 - - 374,257
Trade payables ERTEZ R 1,796,918 334,626 - - 2,131,544
Lease liabilties HESE 18,335 29,973 104,238 84,977 237,523
Financial liabilities included in STAHMERFIER
other payables and accruals EAERNEREE 788,456 200,400 - - 988,856
3,589,241 4,631,979 12,685,524 1,196,414 22,103,158
RLEBMBRLAE —T-—FFR
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
BRI (8)

31 December 2021

20215128311

44. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 4. BHEREEEEBERER

AND POLICIES (CONTINUED) (#8)
(d) Liquidity risk (continued) O mEETRME @
2020 20204
Less than 310
3 months or less than 1t05 Over 5
on demand 12 months years years Total
DR3ER ERE
BEXR DiM2{ER i[ETE 5ENE st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
NEBETFT NEETFT NBETFT NEBETFT NEEFT
Interest-bearing bank and S ERTREMBR
other borrowings 1,819,760 1,833,725 10,629,313 1,210,631 15,493,429
Interest payable in relation to BHRTREMBERN
bank and other borrowings FE(SH 8 235,283 654,602 957,902 111,813 1,959,600
Advances from joint ventures BEERR 408,703 - - - 408,703
Advances from associates NI 19,600 = = = 19,600
Trade payables RSN 1,332,994 154,289 - - 1,487,283
Lease liabilities HES® 10,048 40,039 193,606 266,919 510,612
Financial liabilties included in s ARMERNFIBER
other payables and accruals s ERANERER 757,488 128,536 17,361 = 903,385
4,583,876 2,811,191 11,798,182 1,589,363 20,782,612
(e) Capital management e BAREE

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management are
to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern
and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its
business and maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it in the light of changes in economic conditions
and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets. To
maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust
the dividend payment to shareholders, return capital to
shareholders or issue new shares. The Group is not subject to
any externally imposed capital requirements. No changes were
made in the objectives, policies or processes for managing
capital during the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

44. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(e) Capital management (continued)

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is
net debt divided by capital plus net debt. Net debt includes
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings, trade payables,
other payables and accruals, and lease liabilities, less cash
and cash equivalents. Capital represents equity attributable to
owners of the parent. The gearing ratios as at the end of the

reporting periods were as follows:

44,

MR MtE (8)

31 December 2021
2021FE12831H

BHEREEEBRRBR
(%)

© BXEIE @@

rEEEREEARILRER
BEA ZEBEERBIEXAZE
EENERIFEIE - FEA
BEFBRTRAMMERN  E
18 Z IR R H AN FE T RUIE K
BtBERAKEEARE ARE
RBEEEEBY -BEXTHE AT
IRRE G ERE - N REHR
NWEESBLERNT :

As at 31 December

#12831H
2021 2020
20214 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETFT ARETT

Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings 5t B R{T R EHMER 16,993,861 15,493,429
Trade payables [EfT B SR 2,131,544 1,487,283
Other payables and accruals HENRIBRESTER 1,039,381 1,011,204
Lease liabilities HESRE 189,376 382,789
Less: Cash and cash equivalents B BRBERIREEEY (5,232,657) (4,792,545)
Net debt FEE 15,495,762 13,582,160
Equity attributable to owners of the parent BATEA AELER 9,244,718 9,128,046
Capital and net debt BEARMNZFEE 24,740,480 22,710,206
Gearing ratio BEBMRLEE 63% 60%
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
BRI (8)

31 December 2021

20215128311

45. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 45. ATHBHRRER

COMPANY
Information about the statement of financial position of the Company BREAERABINRERR 2RI
at the end of the reporting period is as follows: BT
2021 2020
20214 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000
ANB¥EFT ANERIEFIT
Non-current assets EREMEE
Investments in subsidiaries KENB AR 2,928,367 2,931,728
Property and equipment ER KK E 1,075 432
Equity investments designated at EEARANEBEFSEREH
fair value through other gzt AEtMEmEmlEn
comprehensive income HRkE 6,336 6,522
Total non-current assets EMEBEEME 2,935,778 2,938,682
Current assets RENEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries JFE U B /BB A B 3R I8 100,000 100,000
Prepayments, other receivables and AR~ AR IE &
other assets Hih&EE 15,011 15,452
Financial assets at fair value through UAnEBEFTEBEEHTA
profit or loss EHERNEREE 1,320 106
Cash and cash equivalents HERIREEFEY 534 1,032
Total current assets MENEEEE 116,865 116,590
Current liabilities Gt p=RE
Amounts due to subsidiaries FE{S B B A B 3R I8 427,050 417,856
Other payables and accruals HthEARIBRESTER 1,040 1,020
Total current liabilities B & (B4R 428,090 418,876
Net current liabilities mENERIPRE (311,225) (302,286)
Total assets less current liabilities WEERTEAR 2,624,553 2,636,396
Net assets FEE 2,624,553 2,636,396
Equity ¥
Share capital i 498,653 498,653
Reserves (note) & (MIE) 2,125,900 2,137,743
Total equity dERE 2,624,553 2,636,396
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

45. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE

46.

47.

COMPANY (CONTINUED)
Note:

A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows:

MR MtE (8)

31 December 2021
2021FE12831H

45. QBB IRRE (B)

Mt -

KRB EFEHLNT

Share Exchange Share
premium fluctuation  Accumulated option
account reserve losses reserve Total
RIVEER ERRBHEE BEtEHE FRRR R st
RMB000 RMB’000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB'000
ANEETFT NEETFT ANEETFT NEEFT ANEETFT
At 1 January 2020 120201818 2,999,320 (667,290) (230,539) 59,331 2,260,822
Total comprehensive loss for the year FRNEEBELRE - 8,213 (121,355) = (113,142)
Repurchase of shares BRI (9,937) - - - (9,937)
At 31 December 2020 and R2020E12A318 K
1 January 2021 202141 81H 2,989,383 (559,077) (351,894) 59,331 2,137,743
Total comprehensive loss for the year FNEHEBELR - (805) (11,038) - (11,843)
Transfer of share option reserve upon the  REERR 2 ISR
forfeiture or expiry of share options E RS ERERE - - 55,056 (55,056) -
At 31 December 2021 12021512 831H 2,989,383 (559,882) (307,876) 4,275 2,125,900

The share option reserve comprises the fair value of share options
granted which are yet to be exercised, as further explained in the
accounting policy for share-based payments in note 35 to the
financial statements. The amount will either be transferred to the
share premium account when the related options are exercised, or be
transferred to retained profits should the related options expire or be
forfeited.

EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

There are no material subsequent events undertaken by the
Company or by the Group after 31 December 2021.

APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by
the board of directors on 24 March 2022.

46.

47.

BRERBOEHRTENSREE
REZ AREE RYBREMEEIS
BRAMURG AERNZ A Z S5 BER
Wil o SRR IS AE R B AR R R 1T 1
R E RO HERSK AERER
REmMEERY) BEERERTN

HERREE

B AN AEER2021F128
IIHBETZEAIPREE

HEMBHRE

B ImRENR2022F3824HEEE
GHLE RIS A o
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Properties Held for Investment

FIERBERNYE

As at 31 December 2021
R2021FE12831H

% of interest

Existing use at attributable to  Lease term
31 December 2021 GFA (sq.m.) the Group  of land
Address 1#2021%12831H BEER AEEREG  DHNEY
it HIRERE (FrR) REWEIL R
1 Basement 1 to Level 15, Guomao Building, No. 93 Shops and portion of it is 12,225 53.4%  Medium
Shixin Road, Chengxiang Town, Xiaoshan District, vacant, and serviced
Hangzhou, Zhejiang Province, the PRC apartments
FREL T A 2% LU @ 3hi e SR T 0 BB 9355% i A B 1R 22 B R AR = 12,225 53.4%
BEBAEMEIEEE15E N=
2 A retail shop unit on L1, Shanghai La Vie, No. 433 Shop 341 59.3%  Medium
Chang Le Road, Xuhui District, Shanghai, the PRC
HE EETRERRERIN LERRTFFIE  EH 341 59.3% A
A1 1875
3 Portion of Level 1, the whole of Level 2 to Level 4, Shops and portion of 5,913 59.3%  Medium
Integrated Service Center, East Xiaoran Road and it is vacant
Jinjiagiao Road, Xiaoshan District, Hangzhou,
Zhejiang Province, the PRC
HEMIEMMN TR LEEARERERKBE BN EE 5913 59.3% WA
SAERBROEIENINE2ESIE
4 Retail shop units of Level 1 to Level 5 in Block 2 Shops and portion of 60,014 59.3%  Medium
to Block 5 of Highlong Plaza, Shanyin Road and it is vacant
Gongren Road, Xiaoshan District, Hangzhou,
Zhejiang Province, the PRC
FEFTIEMMN TR LBLERERNTARERES BEISBMHEE 60,014 59.3% A
FREFE R F1EEOENHEHE
® Office units in Block 2 of Highlong Plaza, Office and portion of 2,894 59.3%  Medium
Shanyin Road, Xiaoshan District, Hangzhou, it is vacant
Zhejiang Province, the PRC
REI BN T L& WA 1B /2 E 5 521 WABRS N EE 2,894 59.3% A
ZHAIRE AL
6 Serviced apartment units in Block 3 and 4 of Serviced apartments 980 59.3%  Medium
Highlong Plaza, Shanyin Road and Gongren Road,
Xiaoshan District, Hangzhou, Zhejiang Province,
the PRC
HEMIEMMNTRLE LN TARERES REAASE 980 59.3% A

FIRRBIRZBBALE
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Properties Held for Investment (Continued)

RiERENYE (B)

As at 31 December 2021
R2021F12831H

% of interest

Existing use at attributable to  Lease term
31 December 2021 GFA (sq.m.) the Group  of land
Address 1#2021512831H EEER FEEEL  DHNEY
ik HIRERE (FrAK) H@EBEDE HER
7 Retail shop units of Level 1 (Phase 1) and the whole  Shops and portion of 8,781 59.3%  Medium
block of No. 43 building (Phase 2), it is vacant
Landscape Garden, Shushan Road and Panshui
Road, Xiaoshan District, Hangzhou,
Zhejiang Province, the PRC
FREIAT B i A8 L & & LU BR A& K B LU 7k 58 M NEE 8,781 59.3%
SRS B 10 K B2 HA R 1435712
8 Retail shop units of Hidden Dragon Bay, Shops and portion of 17,814 61.0%  Medium
Wenxing Village, Wenyan Town Xiaoshan District, it is vacant
Hangzhou, Zhejiang Province, the PRC
HEFCIENMN TR I REERRENEREEEE BRSO TE 17,814 61.0%  H#
9 Blocks 1, 2, 3, 4, and 6 of Hangzhou Office and shops and 59,305 65.9%  Medium
International Office Centre, Ningwei Town, portion of it is vacant
Xiaoshan District, Hangzhou, Zhejiang Province,
the PRC
HEFIENMN DR LREEEMMNERRARL  BARNEHEESMEZE 59,305 65.9%
12273 4K%61%
10 Zhong An Square, No. 217, Xinjian North Road, Shops and portion of 92,489 59.3%  Medium
Urban Area, Yuyao, Zhejiang Province, the PRC it is vacant
HEHNIERR T HEN IR TRRLES M NEE 92,489 59.3%
11 Time Square |, No. 271 Xinjian North Road, Shops and portion of 2,160 59.3%  Medium
Urban Area, Yuyao, Zhejiang Province, the PRC it is vacant
PEIERkHMEMRIRATRERES 8 BHnSnEE 2,160 59.3%
12 Time Square Il, No. 181 Xinjian North Road, Office and shops and 6,648 61.3%  Medium
Urban Area, Yuyao, Zhejiang Province, the PRC portion of it is vacant
HEHNIE R T HENEILRISIREAESZ B BABNERASNEE 6,648 61.3%
13 Shops and apartments in Xixi New City, Xihu District, ~ Shops and apartments 17,092 65.9%  Medium
Hangzhou City, Zhejiang Province, the PRC
HEIEMN D ERRAZNME TS EERERAE BHkABET 17,092 65.9%
REEBERAT T —FEFRK
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Properties Held for Development and/or Sale

FERRR NIHEHYE

Land Cost
per sq.m. Total % of interest
(RMB) Land Cost  attributable to
BFHXK (RMB'000) the Group
Project City/district Project type EmiE THERE FEBREGER
R Him/& MERAME NE#E7T)  NEETT) i ERa
Zhejiang
il
1 Landscape Bay Hangzhou Residential 485 145,367 92.6%
B2 AN =
2 Hidden Dragon Bay Hangzhou Residential/retail/office 1,491 360,360 61.0%
B AN /B HA
3 White Horse Palace Hangzhou Residential 3,322 280,671 90.0%
B SHH AN =
4 International Office Centre (I0C) Phase A Hangzhou Commercial 269 215,246 65.9%
EIRRIAFDAH AN [EES
5 International Office Centre (I0C) Phase Band G Hangzhou Commercial 458 502,512 65.9%
BRI AF0B,CH AN [EES
6 White Horse Manor Hangzhou Residential 2,259 550,000 90.0%
SFETES LRl =
7 Qiaodao Lake Hotel Hangzhou Residential/hotel 4,728 220,747 65.9%
TERBE AN %/ BE
8 |deal Bay Hangzhou Residential/Retail 1,548 834,000 45.9%
%D AN EE /55
9 Chaoyang No. 8 (including Chaoyang Yinzuo) ~ Hangzhou Residential/Retail 3,696 736,390 90.0%
HAlReR (FHHRE) AN EE /55
10 College Square Hangzhou Residential/Retail 1,328 259,380 90.0%
BEE AN EE /55
11 Xixi New City Hangzhou Commercial 3,371 281,100 65.9%
i) Sip AN [EES
12 Xixi Manhattan Hangzhou Commercial 343 37,470 30.3%
i =Lt AN [EES
13 Xixi Future Square Hangzhou Residential 6,285 689,939 90.0%
FERRE LRl =
14 Beverly Hangzhou Residential 6,198 160,000 90.0%
el AN =
15 Xinnongdu Hangzhou Residential/commercial 559 679,994 25.2%
il AN e/ B
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Properties Held for Development and/or Sale (Continued)

BIERRR,/HENYE (8)

Land Bank (sg.m.)
TiEtE (F oK)
Project GFA* Development Phases Types
Site Area sam) BERE Gl et

(sq.m.) BELE| Completed for Under Hold for future  Residential & Commercial &
wkER W AREER Total GFA* sale**”  development?  development® Facilities | Hotel Il Office Ill
(FHHR) (Frr)  BREER BIRGE REDT HERRREY  GEREER BEN EERBAN
215,334 300,012 1,579 1,579 - - 1,435 - 143

89,173 241,695 81,318 81,318 - - 65,837 - 15,481

27,497 84,480 237 237 237 -

92,610 798,795 553,417 82,618 263,555 207,244 190,012 101,500 261,905
207,390 1,098,065 1,098,065 - 1,098,065 1,098,065 - -
145,265 243,497 4,617 4617 - - 4,617 -

119,398 46,691 46,691 35,114 11,577 - 11,577 35,114 -
158,743 538,856 3,796 3,796 - - 1,669 - 2,127

46,703 199,224 211 211 - - 211 - -

52,359 195,293 775 775 - 775 - -

39,703 83,391 30,350 30,350 - - - 30,350

24,534 109,173 33,150 33,150 - 16,205 - 16,945

65,796 109,782 3,181 3,181 2,886 - 295

89,991 25,816 25,816 - 25,816 25,816 - -
991,736 1,217,335 1,152,734 969,356 183,378 75,120 68,168 1,009,447
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Properties Held for Development and/or Sale (Continued)

BERRR,/HHENYE (8)

Land Cost

per sq.m. Total % of interest

(RMB) Land Cost  attributable to

BEAK (RMB'000) the Group

Project City/district Project type EmiE THERE FEBREGER

R /& MERAME NE#E7T)  NEETT) i ERa

16 Nan Hu Ming Yu Hangzhou Residential 984 400,000 59.9%
A AN =

17 Tuankou Fenghuangshan Hotspring Hotel Hangzhou Commercial 630 40,000 65.9%
wHBBLERBE AN [EES

18 Xiaoshan Lotus Mansion Hangzhou Residential 16,460 1,641,600 90.0%
E LR AN =

19 Shunyuan Mansion Hangzhou Residential 7,627 997,500 90.0%
B AN =

20 Fashion Color City Hangzhou Commercial 2,939 230,000 59.3%
¥ AN [EES

21 Chenhan Mansion Hangzhou Residential 9,503 1,313,000 22.5%
=5 LRl =

22 Yungigiling Hangzhou Residential 6,449 492,000 36.0%
ZEHE AN =

23 Cloud Land Hangzhou Residential 27,949 2,090,000 90.0%
EHRED AN =

24 Lin Qi Yun Fu Hangzhou Residential 8,732 464,990 22.5%
BEER AN =

25 Majestic Mansion Hangzhou Residential 5,546 1,169,000 18.0%
RN AN =

26 Ruiyuan Mansion Hangzhou Residential 9,973 945,000 90.0%
IR AN =

27 Chun’an Lotus Mansion Hangzhou Residential/hotel 5,492 268,370 100.0%

E R M %/ BE

28 Beigan Project Hangzhou Commercial 5,700 255,740 59.3%
I%ER AN [EES

29 Dragon Bay Yuyao Residential 8,892 1,750,013 90.0%
1RaEE Rk =

30 Jade Mansion Yuyao Residential 3,804 1,113,754 93.0%
HREE Rk =

31 Zhong An Times Square Phase | Yuyao Commercial/hotel 1,154 352,640 59.3%

TEERES—H Rk EEYA
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Properties Held for Development and/or Sale (Continued)

BIERRR,/HENYE (8)

Land Bank (sg.m.)
TiEtE (F oK)
Project GFA* Development Phases Types
Site Area sam) BERE Gl et
(sq.m.) BELE| Completed for Under Hold for future  Residential & Commercial &
wkER W AREER Total GFA* sale**”  development?  development® Facilities | Hotel Il Office Ill
(FHHR) (Frr)  BREER BIRGE REDT HERRREY  GEREER BEN EERBAN
121,900 406,664 259,940 7,671 252,269 257,883 2,057
37,500 63,502 63,502 63,502 63,502
45,333 99,732 99,732 99,732 - 99,732
54,493 130,783 130,783 130,783 129,750 1,033
26,087 78,261 78,261 78,261 72,966 5,295
60,074 138,170 138,170 138,170 117,012 21,158
69,357 76,293 76,293 76,293 76,293
46,737 74,779 74,779 74,779 74,779
44,374 53,249 53,249 53,249 53,249
59,600 210,800 58,284 58,284 58,284
39,480 94,752 94,752 94,752 81,329 13,423
22,417 48,870 48,870 48,870 48,870
12,819 44,867 44,867 44,867 44,867
330,135 196,809 16,145 16,145 - - 13,625 - 2,520
271,458 292,807 599 599 - 599 - -
65,159 305,473 132,475 132,475 - - 6,890 20,692 104,893
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Properties Held for Development and/or Sale (Continued)

BERRR,/HHENYE (8)

Land Cost
per sq.m. Total % of interest
(RMB) Land Cost  attributable to
BEAK (RMB'000) the Group
Project City/district Project type EmiE THERE FEBREGER
THE &8 wH/e WERBME NE#T)  ANEEFT) MESL
32 Zhong An Times Square Phase |l Yuyao Residential/office/hotel 1,030 332,760 61.3%
REERES S Rk 8 /R BE
88 Cixi New City Cixi Residential/office/ 467 238,080 65.9%
BEmEm % Commercial
E/BFE/ ¥
34 Shunyuan Mansion Ningbo Residential 12,340 983,572 44.1%
JERE 2R e
35 New Gulin Ningbo Residential 8,600 1,875,000 13.5%
i 1 *=x
36 Chaoyue Mansion Ningbo Residential 19,187 600,700 90.0%
HIRE 1 =
37 Comphor Tree Bay Lishui Residential 4,756 1,364,000 90.0%
EhE Bk e
38 |deal Era Home Lishui Residential 3,603 801,000 13.5%
BERARE Bk e
39 Jiang Lin Mansion Lishui Residential 13,276 794,000 31.5%
TLBAED Bk e
40 Typha Lotus Garden Yiwu Residential 4,216 1,190,900 58.5%
SEETESR £5 =
4 Baolong House Yiwu Residential/commercial 3,975 584,300 31.5%
BREHR £5 5/
42 Xiuhu Lotus Garden Yiwu Residential 31,026 1,620,000 58.5%
A &5 e
43 Chaoming Yiwu Residential 16,707 1,561,000 31.5%
il £5 =
44 Lakeside Mansion Yiwu Residential 28,967 946,000 90.0%
B R £5 =
45 Casa Banyan Wenzhou Residential/commercial 8,610 928,200 21.6%
RERE bl 5/
46 Shunyuan Mansion Wenzhou Residential 13,218 1,123,000 90.0%
JBRE M e
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Properties Held for Development and/or Sale (Continued)

BIERRR,/HENYE (8)

Land Bank (sg.m.)
TiEtE (F oK)
Project GFA* Development Phases Types
Site Area (sq.m) RRIEE REME

(sq.m.) BELE| Completed for Under Hold for future  Residential & Commercial &
wkER W AREER Total GFA* sale**”  development?  development® Facilities | Hotel Il Office Ill
(FHHR) (Frr)  BREER BIRGE REDT HERRREY  GEREER BEN EERBAN
71,519 322,912 105,692 105,692 - - - 82,697 22,995
197,655 510,125 19,295 3,174 16,121 11,638 - 7,657

36,230 79,706 79,706 79,706 79,706

106,924 218,017 218,017 218,017 218,017

17,393 31,307 31,307 31,307 31,307

115,890 286,769 15,143 15,143 15,143

79,247 222,313 222,313 222,313 222,313

33,226 59,807 59,807 59,807 59,807

106,757 282,505 9,635 9,635 9,635

81,671 147,007 40,767 40,767 40,767

49,428 52,214 52,214 52,214 52,214
41,410 99,384 99,384 99,384 93,981 5,403
20,411 32,658 32,658 32,658 29,748 2,909
43,630 109,074 109,074 109,074 106,353 2,721
30,236 84,963 84,963 84,963 84,963 -
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Properties Held for Development and/or Sale (Continued)

BERRR,/HHENYE (8)

Land Cost
per sq.m. Total % of interest
(RMB) Land Cost  attributable to
BEAK (RMB'000) the Group
Project City/district Project type EmiE THERE FEBREGER
THE &8 Him/& WERBME NE#T)  ANEEFT) MESL
47 Glory One Wenzhou Residential 7,336 1,104,300 22.5%
HEE bl =
48 Sky Tree (Commercial) Wenzhou Residential/commercial 6,567 1,430,000 22.5%
K2 (%) bl /¥
49 Sky Tree (Residential) Wenzhou Residential 6,489 675,500 22.5%
K2 (%) bl =
50 Wenzhou Future City Wenzhou Residential 6,263 1,053,000 45.0%
BINRRALE bl =
51 Guyue Mansion Shaoxing Residential 21,569 1,133,000 90.0%
G BE =
52 Tang Song He Ming Shaoxing Residential 20,524 2,165,000 44.1%
FIBH®B BE =
53 Shaoxing Future City Shaoxing Residential 4,548 963,680 51.3%
BERRLE BE =
54 Cloud Chen Square Quzhou Residential 8,901 945,700 45.9%
EZRE M =
55 Ruyi Mansion Zhoushan Residential 5,382 242,000 90.0%
B il =
56 Heyuan Mansion Taizhou Residential 7,036 611,000 90.0%
MR am =
57 Taizhou Future City Taizhou Residential 6,570 1,860,000 90.0%
BMARHE am =
Subtotal for Zhejiang
HT0et 3,991 46,602,476
Anhui
ZH
58 Green Harbour Hefei Residential 492 350,453 84.2%
nEEE aiE 3
59 Vancouver City Huaibei Residential 32 50,993 100.0%
B EFE L 3
Subtotal for Anhui
RN 173 401,446
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Properties Held for Development and/or Sale (Continued)

BIERRR,/HENYE (8)

Land Bank (sg.m.)
TiEtE (F oK)
Project GFA* Development Phases Types
Site Area sam) BERE Gl et
(sq.m.) BELE| Completed for Under Hold for future  Residential & Commercial &
wkER W AREER Total GFA* sale**”  development?  development® Facilities | Hotel Il Office Ill
(FHHR) (Frr)  BREER BIRGE REDT HERRREY  GEREER BEN EERBAN
49,508 150,527 150,527 150,527 148,337 2,190
87,108 217,770 217,770 217,770 155,048 20,000 42,722
41,640 104,100 104,100 104,100 104,100
69,369 168,141 168,141 168,141 163,199 4,942
43,412 52,528 52,528 52,528 49,534 2,994
100,462 105,485 105,485 105,485 104,485 1,000
78,484 211,907 211,907 211,907 202,787 9,120
72,774 106,250 106,250 106,250 99,296 6,954
22,484 44,968 44,968 44,968 44,581 387
39,742 86,838 86,838 86,838 86,838
122,354 283,088 283,088 283,088 283,088
5,431,119 11,678,279 7,118,216 1,635,888 4,087,700 1,394,627 5,082,611 391,673 1,643,932
1,728,376 712,218 673,870 5,370 - 668,500 669,207 - 4,663
1,638,758 1,609,250 560,134 84,030 100,167 375,937 355,608 67,061 137,464
3,367,135 2,321,468 1,234,004 89,400 100,167 1,044,437 1,024,815 67,061 142,127
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Properties Held for Development and/or Sale (Continued)

BERRR,/HHENYE (8)

Land Cost
per sq.m. Total % of interest
(RMB) Land Cost  attributable to
BEAK (RMB'000) the Group
Project City/district Project type EmiE THERE FEBREGER
R Him/& MERAME NE#T)  ANEEFT) MESL
Jiangsu
L&
60 Xuzhou New City Xuzhou Commercial 320 180,000 30.3%
RINFTIE o [EES
61 Nanjing Future City Nanjing Residential 2,674 412,600 90.0%
ARARE MR =
62 Jiangyin Future City Wuxi Residential 6,642 318,300 90.0%
IERRE BH =
Subtotal for Jiangsu
LBt 1,191 910,900
Shandong
IS
63 Qingdao New City Qingdao Residential/commercial 3,000 384,449 100.0%
ot E5 g/ HE
64 Zhong An Future City Qingdao Residential 1,681 266,000 90.0%
REARRE E5 s
65 Zhong An Square Qingdao Commercial 2,215 88,000 90.0%
s 55 [EES
Subtotal for Shandong
eI 2,225 688,449
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Properties Held for Development and/or Sale (Continued)

BIERRR,/HENYE (8)

Land Bank (sg.m.)
TiEtE (F oK)
Project GFA* Development Phases Types
Site Area sam) BERE Gl et
(sq.m.) BELE| Completed for Under Hold for future  Residential & Commercial &
wkER W AREER Total GFA* sale**”  development?  development® Facilities | Hotel Il Office Ill
(FHHR) (Frr)  BREER BIRGE REDT HERRREY  GEREER BEN EERBAN
154,802 562,371 562,371 562,371 562,371
67,085 154,297 154,297 154,297 154,297
29,952 47,928 47,928 47,928 47,928
251,839 764,591 764,591 - 202,220 562,371 202,220 - 562,371
51,736 111,483 101,184 23,003 78,181 83,337 17,847
58,596 158,209 158,209 158,209 158,209
26,486 39,729 39,729 39,729 9,934 10,385 19,410
136,818 309,421 299,122 23,003 197,938 78,181 251,480 10,385 37,257
BREMARAT B —F£R
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Properties Held for Development and/or Sale (Continued)

BERRR,/HHENYE (8)

Land Cost
per sq.m. Total % of interest
(RMB) Land Cost  attributable to
BEAK (RMB'000) the Group
Project City/district Project type EmiE THERE FEBREGER
R Him/& WERBME NE#T)  ANEEFT) MESL
Yunnan
£
66 Yunxing Imperial Palace Kunming Residential/commercial 2,251 638,708 49.5%
SR Ef e/ B
Hunan
i
67 Xiangtan Project Xiangtan Residential 1,106 850,000 36.0%
HEEE HE =
Overseas
5
68 Amber Rise Vancouver, British Residential 11,206 86,497 100.0%
Columbia e
AEFRLDETS
Total 3,110 50,178,476
st
% including those with land use right certificate and contractual interests = BIEEIE I M ERAEEURERS S HE
2 T
# Total GFA = O+@+®@= 1 + Il + Il s WEABMB=0D+Q+@=1+ 1l + Il
**including contracted and not recognized completed section > OEBENRERNEIID
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Properties Held for Development and/or Sale (Continued)

BIERRR,/HENYE (8)

Land Bank (sg.m.)
TiEtE (F oK)
Project GFA* Development Phases Types
Site Area sam) BERE Gl et
(sq.m.) BELE| Completed for Under Hold for future  Residential & Commercial &
wkER W AREER Total GFA* sale**”  development?  development® Facilities | Hotel Il Office Ill
(FHHR) (Frr)  BREER BIRGE REDT HERRREY  GEREER BEN EERBAN
37,020 283,785 283,785 283,785 278,010 5,775
292,671 768,255 768,255 768,255 768,255
15,715 7,719 7,719 - 7,719 - 7,719 - -
9,532,317 16,133,518 10,475,691 1,748,291 4,879,529 3,847,871 7,615,110 469,119 2,391,462
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Summary of Financial Information

MR E

RESULTS e
2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
20214 20204 20194 20184 20174
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ANEBFT ANR®FT ANREFT ANEEFT ANREFT
Revenue N 4,968,682 7,438,948 6,204,683 5,169,369 4,395,117
Profit before tax BRAFIE 226,011 1,677,937 1,920,559 883,572 1,302,039
Income Tax g (187,485) (566,692) (916,528 (520,509) (493,635)
Profit for the year ERFIE 38,526 1,111,245 1,004,031 363,063 808,404
Owners of the parent ISYN=IEZZ=PN 73,132 827,874 637,144 286,881 547,435
Non-controlling interests R ER (34,606) 283,371 366,887 76,182 260,969
38,526 1,111,245 1,004,031 363,063 808,404
ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND NON-CONTROLLING ZE -S@RIEZEREZ
INTERESTS
2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
20214 20204 20194 20184 20174
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ANEBFT ANREFT ANBEFT ANEEFT ANEEFT
Total Assets mEE 57,240,309 41,819,964 30,172,439 25,065,934 22,597,702
Total Liabilties meE (45,310,225) (30,406,027) (19,651,759) (15,515,815) (13,538,538
Non-controling Interests MRS (2,685,366) (2,285,891) (2,084,399) (1,794,909) (1,607,806)
9,244,718 9,128,046 8,436,293 7,755,210 7,451,358
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